Socioeconomic factors influencing equitable access to intensive insulin regimens for adults with type 1 diabetes

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Anne Scott

School of Health and Related Research University of Sheffield

February 2016

Acknowledgements

I am particularly grateful to my supervisors, Professor Alicia O'Cathain and Professor Elizabeth Goyder, for their excellent advice, insightful comments and help throughout the PhD. I would not have completed this thesis without their support.

I would like to thank the patients and the health care professionals who gave generously of their time to participate in this study but who must remain anonymous.

I also gratefully acknowledge the support of the Economic and Social Research Council for providing the funding for this PhD study and the support I received from the ScHARR Data Collection Fund for the transcription of interviews.

I am grateful to Dr Merran Toerien and Dr Clare Jackson for allowing me to attend a module of the Social Interaction and Conversation Analysis course at the University of York and to ScHARR for contributing towards the cost.

Finally and importantly my thanks goes to my family: to Richard, my husband who encouraged me to embark on the PhD and has always supported me; to John and Nick for proof reading and moral support; and to my mother Elizabeth Midgley for continuous encouragement and generous help.

Contents

Tables, F	igures and Boxesviii
Glossary	x
Abbrevia	tionsx
Abstract	xii
Chapter :	1. Introduction1
1.1	Rationale for the Study1
1.1.1	Self-Management in Type 1 Diabetes2
1.1.2	Inequalities in Health Outcomes in Type 1 Diabetes2
1.1.3	The Importance of Access to Health Care for Adults with Type 1 Diabetes
1.1.4	Treatment Decision-making in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes
1.2	Research Question
1.3	Methods
1.4	Thesis Structure
Chapter 2	2. Background6
2.1	Diabetes
2.1.1	The Financial Costs of Diabetes Incurred by the NHS
2.1.2	The Impact of Complications for Individuals with Diabetes
2.2	Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes
2.3	Treatment Objectives in Type 1 Diabetes
2.4	The Delivery of Care for Individuals with Type 1 Diabetes
2.5	Use of Technology to Manage Type 1 Diabetes
2.5.1	Self-Monitoring of Blood Glucose Levels (SMBG)11
2.5.2	Continuous Glucose Monitoring System (CGMS)12
2.5.3	Insulin Regimens
2.5.4	Insulin Pumps
2.6	Summary

Chapter	3. Literature Review15
3.1	Introduction
3.1.1	Inequalities in Health and the Role of Equitable Health Services
3.1.2	Socioeconomic Status and the Health of Individuals with Diabetes
3.2	Socioeconomic Inequalities in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes
3.2.1	Search Strategy 17
3.2.2	Mortality 20
3.2.3	Morbidity in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes 24
3.2.4	Diabetes Management 28
3.2.5	Summary of Socioeconomic Inequalities Review for Adults with Type 1 Diabetes 35
3.3	Equity of Access to Health Care
3.3.1	Defining Aspects of Access to Health Care
3.3.2	Categorisation of Equitable Access
3.3.3	Evidence on Access Varies according to Measures Used and Type of Service
3.3.4	Factors Influencing Equitable Access
3.3.5	Methodological Problems with the Evidence on Access to Health Care
3.3.6	Providing a Theory of Access to Health Care by Vulnerable Groups
3.3.7	Reflections on Equitable Access to Diabetes Care
3.3.8	Summary for Equity of Access to Health Care 44
3.4	Patient-Provider Communication
3.4.1	Patient-Centred Care and Involvement in Decision-Making
3.4.2	Patient-Provider Communication and Socioeconomic Status
3.4.3	Health literacy: Issues Relating to Access and Health Care Communication
3.4.4	The Impact of Depressive Symptoms on Patient-Provider Communication
3.4.5	Patient-Provider Communication in Diabetes Care
3.4.6	Summary of Patient-Provider Communication Review
3.5	The Research Gap
3.5.1	Thesis Aims and Objectives

Chapter	4. Methods	
4.1	Introduction	70
4.2	Aims and Objectives	
4.3	Design	70
4.3.1	Parts One and Two - Observations and Interviews (Specialist Diabetes	Services) 71

4.3.2	Part Three - Interviews (Primary Care)	71
4.4	Rationale for Design	72
4.4.1	Rationale for Qualitative Research	72
4.4.2	Theoretical Stance	72
4.4.3	Rationale for Combining Qualitative Methods	75
4.4.4	Rationale for Observational Methods	76
4.4.5	Rationale for Interview Methods	79
4.5	Research Quality	81
4.5.1	Triangulation	82
4.5.2	Respondent Validation	82
4.5.3	Reflexivity	83
4.5.4	Transparency of Methods and Analysis	83
4.5.5	Alternative Explanations and Negative Cases	83
4.5.6	Fair Dealing	84
4.6	Other Study Considerations	84
4.6.1	Ethics	84
4.6.2	Patient and Public Involvement	87
4.7	Data Collection: Part One – Observations (Specialist Diabetes Services)	87
4.7.1	Study Setting	88
4.7.2	Sample for Observations	90
4.7.3	Recruitment for Observations	90
4.7.4	Data Collection for Observations	92
4.8	Data Collection: Part Two - Interviews (Specialist Diabetes Services)	96
4.8.1	Sample for Interviews	96
4.8.2	Recruitment for Interviews	96
4.8.3	Data Collection for Interviews	97
4.8.4	Interview Preparation	99
4.9	Data Collection: Part Three - Interviews (Primary Care)	. 100
4.9.1	Study Setting for Primary Care Interviews	.100
4.9.2	Sample for Primary Care Interviews	.100
4.9.3	Recruitment for Primary Care Interviews	.101
4.9.4	Data Collection for Primary Care Interviews	.101
4.10	Difficulties with Data Collection	102
4.11	Analysis	105
4.11.1	Preparing the Data	. 105

4.11.2	Analysis of Clinic Observations	105
4.11.3	Analysis of Interviews	111
4.11.4	Relationship between Analysis of Interviews and Consultations	115
4.11.5	Presentation of Findings	116

Chapter !	5. Gaining Access to Intensive Insulin Regimens	117
5.1	Introduction	117
5.2	Description of the Sample	117
5.3	Study Context	120
5.3.1	Pathways through the Health Care System	120
5.3.2	Access to Intensive Insulin Regimens through Specialist Services	122
5.4	Framing Study Findings using Candidacy Theory	126
5.5	Permeability and Navigation	127
5.5.1	Introduction	127
5.5.2	Disparities in Access to Specialist Services	128
5.5.3	The Role of Health Literacy in Navigating Health Care Services	134
5.6	Presentation, Adjudications, Offers and Resistance	137
5.6.1	Introduction	137
5.6.2	'Proactive' Approach	139
5.6.3	'Collaborative' Approach	149
5.6.4	'Support-Seeking' Approach	155
5.6.5	Aspects of the Service Ameliorating Socioeconomic Disparities	166
5.7	Summary	173

Chapter	6. Maintaining Access to Intensive Insulin Regimens	175
6.1	Introduction	175
6.2	Description of the Sample	175
6.3	Framing the Findings of Consultations	178
6.3.1	Consultations: Content and Purpose	178
6.3.2	Analysis	179
6.3.3	Introduction to Themes	181
6.3.4	Structure of Themes within the Chapter	184
6.4	Aspects of Patient Alignment Influencing Communication	185
6.4.1	The Doctor's Agenda	185

6.4.2	Patient Alignment with the HbA1c Target1	87
6.4.3	Alignment with other Medical Goals1	90
6.4.4	HbA1c Target Non-Alignment1	94
6.5	The Impact of Patient Involvement on Maintaining Access to an IIR 1	97
6.5.1	Agreeing with the Doctor about Poor Outcomes1	98
6.5.2	Pre-empting the Doctor's Remarks about the HbA1c Result	00
6.5.3	Displaying Commitment to the Regimen20	06
6.5.4	Influencing the Doctor's Agenda2	11
6.5.5	Involvement in Decision-making: the Impact of both the Patient and the Doctor 2	14
6.6	Summary 2	34

Chapter 7	7. Discussion and Conclusions	237
7.1	Introduction	237
7.2	Factors Influencing Equitable Access to an IIR	238
7.2.1	Specialist Services are not Permeable for Patients of Low Socioeconomic Status	. 238
7.2.2	Issues of Alignment Affect Equitable Access to an IIR	. 240
7.2.3	Permeable Services: Diabetes Specialist Nurses Facilitate Access to an IIR	. 245
7.2.4	Diabetes Education Minimises Disparities in Access to an IIR	. 246
7.2.5	Continuity of Care is Important for Vulnerable Groups	.248
7.2.6	Patient Involvement is a Principal Factor in Maintaining Access to an IIR	. 249
7.2.7	The Multi-Disciplinary Team Assists Vulnerable Groups in Maintaining Access	. 252
7.3	Study Contributions	253
7.3.1	Systematic Review	. 254
7.3.2	Candidacy Theory Explains Inequitable Access to an IIR	. 254
7.3.3	Patient-Provider Communication Influences Equitable Access	. 254
7.4	Strengths and Limitations of the Study	256
7.4.1	Strengths	. 256
7.4.2	Limitations	. 257
7.4.3	Transferability	. 259
7.4.4	Reflexivity	. 260
7.4.5	Reflections on the Study and Methods Used	. 260
7.5	Implications for Policy and Practice	263
7.5.1	Improving Access to Care for Vulnerable Groups with Type 1 Diabetes	. 263
7.5.2	Patient-Provider Communication	. 266
7.6	Summary of Key Recommendations	271

7.7	Future Research 27	2
7.8	Conclusions 27	2
Appendix	1: Example Search Strategy 27	4
Appendix	2: Data Extraction Checklist 27	5
Appendix	3: Study Appraisal Form 27	6
Appendix	4: Study Characteristics – Systematic Review 27	7
Appendix	5: Socioeconomic Status and Mortality in Type 1 Diabetes	7
Appendix	6: Socioeconomic Status and Morbidity in Type 1 Diabetes	0
Appendix	7: Study Documents 29	4
Appendix	8: Conversation Analysis - Transcription Conventions	7
Appendix	9: Individual Characteristics of Patient Participants	8
Reference	es	9

Tables, Figures and Boxes

Tables

Table 2.1	Different characteristics of type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Watkins 2003)
Table 2.2	The annual nine care processes (National Audit Office 2012)11
Table 3.1	Socioeconomic associations with mortality in type 1 diabetes
Table 3.2	Socioeconomic associations with microvascular and macrovascular complications .26
Table 3.3	Socioeconomic associations with ketoacidosis and hypoglycaemia27
Table 3.4	Associations between diabetes management and socioeconomic status
Table 3.5	Socioeconomic associations with glycaemic control measured by HbA1c32
Table 4.1	Interviews and consultations
Table 4.2	Health care professionals involved in each consultation94
Table 4.3	Recruitment of patient participants (March – December 2012)
Table 5.1	Socio-demographic characteristics of patients in the sample118
Table 5.2	Clinical characteristics of patients in the sample119
Table 5.3	Regular attenders and recent attenders121
Table 5.4	Themes mapped to Candidacy theory concepts (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005)
Table 5.5	Socioeconomic status for patient categories139
Table 6.1	Socio-demographic characteristics of patients in the sample
Table 6.2	Clinical characteristics of the patients in the sample
Table 6.3	HbA1c comparison with National Diabetes Audit data for type 1 diabetes

Table 6.4	Duration of Insulin Pump Clinic Consultations	179
Table 6.5	'High' and 'low' involvement patients attending the insulin pump clinic	184
Table 6.6	Matrix showing patient involvement and alignment	236

Figures

Figure 2.1 I	Insulin pump	. 14
Figure 3.1 F	PRISMA Flow Diagram showing included/excluded studies	. 19
Figure 3.2	The key concepts of Candidacy theory (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005)	. 41
Figure 4.1	Patients recruited at the general diabetes clinic	103
Figure 4.2	Patients recruited at the insulin pump clinic	104
Figure 5.1 P	Pathways to specialist services in the sample	122
Figure 5.2 T	hree stages of access relating to an IIR	123

Boxes

Box 3.1	Measures of literacy and numeracy55
Box 4.1	Diary Extract 1
Box 4.2	Diary Extract 2 100
Box 4.3	Discussions in relation to HbA1c and blood glucose levels
Box 6.1	Summary of regimen change proposals and decisions for Patient 21 216

Glossary

Diabetic Ketoacidosis A potentially life-threatening condition resulting from a lack of insulin

Diabetic Nephropathy A long-term complication of diabetes that may result in end stage renal failure

Diabetic Neuropathy A long-term complication of diabetes that causes damage to the peripheral nerves and commonly affects the feet

Diabetic Retinopathy A long-term complication of diabetes affecting the eyes that may result in blindness

HbA1c A measure of average glycaemia over 2 to 3 months

Hyperglycaemia Elevated blood glucose levels

Hypoglycaemia Abnormally low blood glucose levels

Insulin A hormone released into the blood in order to reduce blood glucose to normal levels.

Insulin Regimen Treatment involving an insulin pump or one or more daily injections

Type 1 Diabetes A disease caused by the destruction of β -cells in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans resulting in the loss of insulin production. Insulin replacement therapy is required for survival.

Type 2 Diabetes A progressive disease due to insulin resistance and or decline in insulin secretion.

Abbreviations

CAQDAS	Computer Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software
CGMS	Continuous Glucose Monitoring System
CSII	Continuous Subcutaneous Insulin Infusion
DAFNE	Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating
DH	Department of Health
DKA	Diabetic Ketoacidosis
GP	General Practitioner
HbA1c	Haemoglobin A1c
IDDM	Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus
IIR	Intensive Insulin Regimen
MDI	Multiple Daily Injections

NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NS-SEC	National Statistics – Socioeconomic Class
PPI	Patient and Public Involvement
QOF	Quality and Outcomes Framework
ScHARR	School of Health and Related Research
SES	Socioeconomic Status
SMBG	Self-Monitoring of Blood Glucose
TAR	Tape-Assisted Recall
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organisation

Abstract

Introduction

Type 1 diabetes is a chronic condition in which self-care is critical to successful outcomes. Intensive insulin regimens can reduce morbidity and mortality associated with the condition. However, socioeconomic inequalities have been demonstrated in both access to treatment and health outcomes for adults with the disease. This study investigates how socioeconomic factors influence access to intensive regimens.

Methods

A qualitative study of a specialist diabetes service was undertaken. Interviews with 28 patients and 6 health care professionals explored factors influencing equity in gaining access to an intensive regimen. Conversation analysis of 25 consultations between patients and specialists explored factors influencing equity in maintaining access. Analysis was framed using the Candidacy theory for access to health care for vulnerable groups.

Findings

Gaining access to intensive regimens was dependent on accessing specialist services. Disparities in the utilisation of specialist services appeared to relate to the permeability of these services, personal social circumstances (low paid work and transport difficulties) and the variable ability of patients to navigate the health care system. Factors diminishing candidacy for intensive regimens were low health literacy, non-alignment with health care professional goals, psychosocial problems and poor quality patient-provider communication. Conversation analysis identified that patient involvement with health care professionals was important for maintaining access. In this sample, 'low involvement' patients were at risk of losing access and were from lower socioeconomic groups. Some barriers to access were modifiable through contact with diabetes specialist nurses, a Structured Education Programme and continuity of care with specialists.

Discussion

Equitable access to intensive regimens was impeded for people from lower socioeconomic groups by a complex mix of factors relating to the permeability of specialist services and patient interactions with health care providers. Efforts to facilitate access to specialist services and to improve the quality of communication could lessen inequities in access to intensive regimens.

xii

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Rationale for the Study

The NHS faces enormous challenges with an ageing population and the increasing prevalence of chronic disease (Liddell et al. 2008). Patient involvement in self-care has been promoted by successive governments and is seen as the optimum way for chronic illness to be managed (Department of Health 2005). Increasingly technology is being incorporated into health care in chronic illness. However, although the use of technology has the potential to counter the increasing demographic burden on NHS resources and the importance of technology in improving health outcomes is acknowledged, it is known that the adoption of health care technology in the NHS is 'often slow and disparate' (Liddell et al. 2008, p. 2).

This thesis focuses on type 1 diabetes as an example of a chronic disease with several treatment options involving technology. In recent years there has been a growth in the use of insulin pumps for the treatment of type 1 diabetes (White et al. 2014). However, the UK lags behind other countries in the use of insulin pumps (White et al. 2014) and concerns have been expressed that patients experience a 'postcode lottery' in terms of access to the technology (Diabetes UK 2011a). Insulin pump technology is more expensive than multiple daily injection therapy (Cummins et al. 2010) and is subject to restrictions on allocation in the NHS (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2008).

It appears that issues relating to the allocation of insulin pump technology may be compounded by socioeconomic disparities in access to intensive insulin regimens (IIRs) (see systematic review, Chapter 3). The current study was prompted by a need to ask how and why these disparities might occur. Although initially envisaged as a study aiming to investigate accessibility of insulin pump technology for disadvantaged groups, the primary research was widened to include access to multiple daily injections, based on carbohydrate counting, since both types of regimen offer better health outcomes (DCCT Research Group 1989).

In order to investigate equitable access to an IIR this study combines three areas of research: first, inequalities and equitable access to health care; second, treatment decision-making in relation to an IIR in type 1 diabetes; and finally, the use of technology in chronic disease. The justification for taking this approach was that:

1

- Type 1 diabetes is a chronic disease in which self-management involving technology is a crucial influence on health outcomes.
- Socioeconomic inequalities in health outcomes persist in adults with type 1 diabetes.
- Access to health care is crucial; however, it is subject to socioeconomic disparities.

1.1.1 Self-Management in Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetes is a chronic disease in which self-care is critical to successful outcomes (DAFNE Study Group 2002). Central to the management of type 1 diabetes is control of blood glucose levels and adults are advised to maintain their HbA1c within a range consistent with minimising the long term complications of diabetes (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015)¹. Technology supporting diabetes self-management comprises methods of insulin delivery and also equipment to check blood glucose levels. Despite the progress in new forms of technology to treat type 1 diabetes there has not been a commensurate improvement in outcomes (Barnard 2012). Although IIRs offer better health outcomes (DCCT Research Group 1989), it is also known that there are socioeconomic disparities in the uptake of these more complicated regimens (Mühlhauser et al. 1998).

The aim of the current research was to investigate socioeconomic disparities in access to IIRs for adults with type 1 diabetes. Although other inequities such as those relating to race/ethnicity, gender and age are important areas to research, this thesis focuses on socioeconomic inequity.

1.1.2 Inequalities in Health Outcomes in Type 1 Diabetes

This thesis documents evidence of the persistence of socioeconomic inequalities in health outcomes, including: mortality and morbidity; diabetes management; and access to health care, diabetes education and an IIR (see Chapter 3). Socioeconomic inequalities relate to the systematic differences in health outcomes experienced by the affluent in society compared with the less well off (Marmot 2010; Townsend et al. 1988a; Whitehead 1988). Although acknowledged as high profile targets of health care policy, socioeconomic inequalities have proved consistently difficult to eliminate in England's NHS (National Audit Office 2010). It has been postulated that socioeconomic inequalities in health outcomes for individuals with

¹ NICE guideline CG15 was current during the study (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2004) but has since been superseded by NICE guideline NG17 (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015).

diabetes may be a result of one or more of the following: the effects of deprivation impacting on health outcomes; the health care behaviours of low socioeconomic status individuals; or poorer access to health care by those in greatest need (the 'Inverse Care Law' (Tudor Hart 1971)) (Edwards et al. 2003).

1.1.3 The Importance of Access to Health Care for Adults with Type 1 Diabetes

Access to health care is one influence amongst many other determinants of health outcomes (National Audit Office 2010) and therefore has the potential both to enable treatment and improve health (Gulliford 2003). Preventive health care is of paramount importance in minimising the onset of diabetes complications (Zgibor et al. 2001) and successful partnerships between patients and health care professionals are essential if improvements in health outcomes are to be achieved for people with diabetes (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013). This thesis explores the reasons for inequitable access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes since underlying socioeconomic inequalities in health status may be ameliorated by access to good quality care (Bäz et al. 2012).

Equitable access to health care has been a goal of the NHS since its establishment in 1948 and remains a stated priority by successive governments. However, it remains difficult to assess the extent of potential inequities (Goddard et al. 2001). This is partly due to the difficulties relating to the concept of access (Gulliford et al. 2003). The complexity of issues related to access to health care and equitable access to health care are a central part of this thesis and the relevant literature is presented in Chapter 3.

1.1.4 Treatment Decision-making in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes

Self-care in type 1 diabetes requires individuals with the condition to be constantly vigilant to ensure that their blood glucose levels neither drop too low (hypoglycaemia) nor are raised too high (hyperglycaemia). The adoption of intensive regimens involving frequent blood glucose testing and insulin injections may assist individuals to achieve near normal blood glucose levels (DCCT Research Group 1989).

In contrast to multiple daily injection therapy, insulin pumps are subject to restrictions in terms of eligibility (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2008). This is despite their growing popularity (Diabetes UK 2011a) and the known advantages for some patients who use them (Misso et al. 2010). In principle there are guidelines for the allocation of particular regimens (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015). In practice, however, there

is a lack of evidence on how decisions are made regarding the choice of treatment regimens incorporating technology and the respective parts played by individuals with type 1 diabetes and health care professionals involved in their care. For type 1 diabetes, guidelines are used to determine patient suitability for insulin pumps (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2008). However, health care professionals also play a key role in selecting patients for this technology. There is a lack of research addressing what is involved in this decisionmaking process and how individuals are selected for this technology. One of the objectives of the current research was to investigate the role and influence of health care encounters in relation to these decisions.

Adults with type 1 diabetes

Insulin pumps are used by both adults and children in the UK and researching equity of access is equally important in both. Although some quantitative research has been conducted in the USA investigating socioeconomic disparities in access to insulin pump therapy for children (Cortina et al. 2010; Wood et al. 2013), to my knowledge no research has been carried out for adults with type 1 diabetes in the UK investigating socioeconomic disparities. This study focused on adults in order to address this gap in the research.

1.2 Research Question

In order that future self-care technologies can optimise health care outcomes for all groups in society, research is required that examines how regimen candidacy decisions are reached and the influencing factors from both the patient and the health care professional perspective. The majority of research reviewed in Chapter 3 relating to socioeconomic inequalities in health outcomes and disparities in access to health care in type 1 diabetes was quantitative and there was a lack of research explaining how and why individuals access an IIR. The current study addressed this gap in the research by exploring the perspectives of both patients and health care professionals on the factors involved in accessing an IIR.

1.3 Methods

Qualitative methods were chosen to explore the socioeconomic factors influencing equitable access to an IIR. The primary focus of the study was a specialist service situated in secondary care. This was supplemented with the perspectives of a small sample of patients and health care professionals in primary care. Qualitative interviews with 28 patients and 6 health care professionals explored factors influencing equity in gaining access to an IIR. Conversation

analysis of 25 consultations between patients and specialists explored factors influencing equity in maintaining access. Analysis was framed using the Candidacy theory for access to health care for vulnerable groups (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005; Dixon-Woods et al. 2006). The term 'vulnerable groups', used throughout this thesis, is synonymous with socioeconomically disadvantaged people (Dixon-Woods et al. 2006).

1.4 Thesis Structure

Chapter 2 provides the background to type 1 diabetes and its treatment. Chapter 3 provides a review of three main bodies of literature relevant to the thesis. First, a systematic review of the evidence of associations of socioeconomic status with health outcomes and diabetes management for adults with type 1 diabetes is presented. This reveals that whilst socioeconomic inequalities persist there is a paucity of research explaining the causal pathways. Second, the wider literature on access to health care is reviewed in order to gain a better understanding of the issues involved in inequitable access. Finally, a review of the literature on patient-provider communication relating to the thesis is presented. Overall the review identifies a lack of research relating to the decision-making processes involved in the adoption of an IIR from the perspective of equitable access. Following the review the chapter concludes with the thesis aims and objectives.

Chapter 4 addresses the rationale for the methods adopted in the study and provides details of the approach to sample selection, recruitment, data collection, and data analysis. This chapter describes how Candidacy theory (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005; Dixon-Woods et al. 2006) was used to frame the findings. The researcher's ontological stance as a subtle realist is also outlined in this chapter. Chapter 5 presents the findings of the interviews with patients and health care professionals in relation to accessing an IIR. Chapter 6 focuses on the findings in relation to maintaining access to an IIR using the techniques of conversation analysis. Chapter 7 draws together the findings presented in Chapters 5 and 6 and these are discussed within a framework of equitable access to health care. The thesis concludes with: reflections on the strengths and limitations of the study; implications for policy and practice; and finally recommendations for future research.

Chapter 2. Background

2.1 Diabetes

Diabetes is a complex chronic condition with profound implications in terms of health impact and treatment on the lives of those with the condition and their families (Weinger et al. 2009). Global prevalence is increasing with an expectation that by 2030 numbers will approach 366 million (Wild et al. 2004; World Health Organisation et al. 2006). In 2008, 2.1 million individuals in England (4.1%) were registered with diabetes. However estimates put the true prevalence closer to 3.1 million, or 7.4% of the population aged 16 and over (Holman et al. 2011). Type 1 diabetes, formerly known as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) or juvenile onset diabetes, accounts for approximately 5-10% of cases (American Diabetic Association 2010) and is estimated to affect over 370,000 adults in the UK (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015).

2.1.1 The Financial Costs of Diabetes Incurred by the NHS

Direct costs associated with diabetes are estimated to comprise 9% of the total NHS budget (Krentz et al. 2005), whereas inpatient costs are estimated to be 10% of the total budget (Department of Health et al. 2002). Prescriptions related to diabetes are increasing in both volume and cost and represent the highest single expenditure within the NHS prescribing budget (The Information Centre et al. 2007). The costs of medication for type 1 diabetes are difficult to extricate since insulin is prescribed to some individuals with type 2 diabetes.

2.1.2 The Impact of Complications for Individuals with Diabetes

Individuals with diabetes have reduced average life expectancy due to microvascular and macrovascular complications (Department of Health et al. 2002). In England, end stage renal failure arising from type 1 diabetes increased between 2003-04 to 2008-09 (from 0.78% to 1.27%) implying that approximately 2500 individuals with the condition require transplants or renal dialysis (The Information Centre for Health and Social Care 2010). Additionally the percentage of people with type 1 diabetes experiencing an episode of Diabetic Ketoacidosis (DKA) in England increased by 10% over five years from 2003-04 (The Information Centre for Health and Social Care 2010).

2.2 Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes

The aetiology and natural history of type 1 diabetes is very different from type 2 diabetes. Table 2.1 provides the contrasting characteristics of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Type 1 diabetes arises because of β -cell destruction in the pancreas determined by a combination of genetic and environmental factors. These cells produce a hormone, insulin, which regulates blood glucose levels. Since production of insulin is in very small quantities or not all, these patients require lifelong treatment with insulin (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2008). Onset of type 1 diabetes is generally before the age of forty (National Audit Office 2012) and most often in childhood, teenage years or early adulthood (Department of Health 2001). Although insulin is always a necessary treatment in Type 1 diabetes, it may also become necessary for individuals with type 2 diabetes if medication fails to control the condition.

Type 1 diabetes	Type 2 diabetes					
Incidence and causes						
 Peak incidence is between 10-12 years Small male predominance Occurs under 40 years of age in approximately 70% of cases 	 Most common between 50-70 years of age Both sexes affected equally Some children have type 2 diabetes 					
 Loss of insulin production Destruction of islet β -cells 	Decreasing insulin secretion or increasing insulin resistance					
Risk factors						
 A combination of environmental and genetic factors trigger an autoimmune attack on β-cells in the pancreas leading to a loss of insulin production 	 Obese individuals People over the age of 40 Asian or African-Caribbean ethnic origin Family history of diabetes History of gestational diabetes History of a large baby (birth weight > 4kg) 					
Treatment						
 Insulin in conjunction with diet and exercise 	 Diet and exercise Oral hypoglycaemic agents (OGLAs) if diet and exercise has failed Insulin if OGLAs fail to achieve control 					

Table 2.1	Different	characteristics	of type 1	and type 2	2 diabetes	(Watkins	2003)
						1	/

2.3 Treatment Objectives in Type 1 Diabetes

NICE recommends treatment focusing on the management of blood glucose levels to prevent both short- and long-term complications (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015). This involves technologies for insulin delivery and self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) levels. Treatment for type 1 diabetes includes the following: 1, 2 or 3 daily (insulin) injections; multiple daily injections (MDI); or continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII), also known as insulin pump therapy. This follows the NICE guideline CG15 which was current during the study (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2004) but has since been superseded by NICE guideline NG17 (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015)². Two key changes in the guidelines are that:

- Multiple daily injections have replaced twice daily injections as the treatment of choice and newly diagnosed adults with type 1 diabetes should not be offered non-basalbolus regimens
- Patients are now advised to aim for a target HbA1c level at least as low as 48 mmol/mol (6.5%) (the previous target was 58 mmol/mol (7.5%)).

Current policy focuses on assisting individuals in self-managing their chronic conditions (Department of Health 2009; Diabetes UK 2009). However, despite the known benefits of tight glycaemic control (DCCT Research Group 1989) a recent audit in England found that less than 25% of individuals with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) reached the treatment standards required to minimise long term complications of the disease (National Audit Office 2012).

A key objective in the treatment of type 1 diabetes comprises efforts to control blood glucose levels (Krentz et al. 2005). Control in this context means preventing blood glucose levels that are too low (hypoglycaemia) or too high (hyperglycaemia). Haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels are used to assess average glycaemia over a period of two to three months (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2009b). Evidence for the effectiveness of controlling HbA1c to prevent long term complications comes from the Diabetes and Complications Trial Research Group (DCCT Research Group 1989). In the long-term, consistently high levels of blood glucose leads to macrovascular and microvascular complications. These include retinopathy, neuropathy, nephropathy, myocardial infarction and stroke. Short-term problems arising from

² It should be noted that whilst this latest guidance is referred to, the study was undertaken when the previous guidance prevailed.

low blood glucose levels include hypoglycaemia and diabetic ketoacidosis. Diabetic ketoacidosis is a result of insufficient insulin and may be life threatening (Cummins et al. 2010). Symptoms of hypoglycaemia include sweating and a feeling of hunger which if uncorrected can lead to behavioural disturbances, unconsciousness or ultimately death (Cummins et al. 2010). Repeated hypoglycaemic events can result in cognitive impairment in young children due to brain cell damage through lack of glucose (Cummins et al. 2010).

Treatment of type 1 diabetes is therefore a complex mix of measures to prevent short- and long-term complications and includes attention to blood pressure and lipid levels as well as measures to control blood glucose. This is a challenge for both health care professionals and patients. It is increasingly understood that diabetes self-management is crucial to mitigating the long-term disease complications and that this relies upon knowledgeable, autonomous and self-sufficient patients working in partnership with health care professionals (Department of Health et al. 2002).

It has been recognised that enabling individuals to self-manage diabetes over their life time requires high quality structured education (Dinneen 2008). The Dose Adjustment for Normal Eating (DAFNE) programme (DAFNE Study Group 2002), endorsed by NICE (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2003), is now an integral part of the National Service Framework for Diabetes and has been widely adopted in the UK (Lawton et al. 2010).

2.4 The Delivery of Care for Individuals with Type 1 Diabetes

In 2001 the Department of Health set standards for the care of individuals with all types of diabetes. The National Framework for Diabetes was reinforced by NICE in 2011 with the publication of a quality standard for adults with diabetes (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2011). A key aspect of these standards are the nine care processes to be delivered annually in order to monitor the progression of the disease (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2011). These care processes are shown in Table 2.2 and form a key part of the National Diabetes Audit³.

In 2004 the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) was introduced, as part of the new General Medical Services contract, as a voluntary scheme with the aim of rewarding the

³ <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/nda</u>

delivery of quality care and to 'help standardise improvements in the delivery of clinical care' (NHS Employers 2012, p. 3). The QOF provides an opportunity for GP practices to increase their income through the achievement of points in relation to various indicators in four main areas: clinical standards; organisational standards; patient experience and additional services. The clinical indicators included in the set for diabetes are those that would be expected to be included in an annual review and QOF guidance states that although GP practices are not required to undertake all the indicators (for example, retinal screening) practices are responsible for ensuring that they have been carried out (NHS Employers 2012). It should be noted, however, that care processes are 'a means to an end and not an end in themselves' (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013, p. 7) and an emphasis has been placed on the importance of using the care processes as an agenda for discussion with patients in which partnerships between individuals with diabetes and health care professionals are developed and decisions on forward plans are jointly agreed (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013). The promotion of self-care amongst individual with long term conditions is viewed as a way to empower patients to take a more active role in decision-making dialogue with health care professionals (Department of Health 2009) and in relation to diabetes these partnerships are viewed as critically important in relation to continued improvements in health care outcomes (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013).

There is variation in diabetes services provision within England. Some may be led by GP practices, some by specialist hospital departments and some by intermediate community services (National Audit Office 2012). Whereas individuals with type 2 diabetes tend to receive all their care within the GP surgery, individuals with type 1 diabetes may attend appointments at specialist services, the GP surgery, a mixture of both or none at all. Hence patients who only attend specialist services may not receive all the care processes carried out at annual review, since this is part of the GP surgery remit covered under the Quality and Outcomes Framework (Sharp et al. 2012). It is estimated that up to 20% of individuals with type 1 diabetes may not be receiving care at a specialist centre (Sharp et al. 2012).

NICE guidance does not specify that individuals should attend any particular centre for their diabetes care but that they should receive care from 'a range of professionals with skills in diabetes care working together in a coordinated approach' (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015, p. 14). The guidance states that a 'common environment (diabetes centre) is an important resource in allowing a diabetes multi-disciplinary team to work and communicate effectively while providing consistent advice' (p. 14).

10

A recent audit of diabetes services found that less than half of patients had received eight care processes (eye screening was not included (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013)). Only 12% of adults with type 1 diabetes achieved their goals in terms of HbA1c levels, blood pressure and cholesterol (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013).

 Table 2.2 The annual nine care processes (National Audit Office 2012)

Care Process	Purpose to detect/ manage/monitor:
Urine test	Problems in the kidney
Blood pressure	Problems in the cardiovascular system
Body mass index	Obesity
Cholesterol	High levels of fat in the blood
Creatinine	Problems with the kidneys
Eye screening	Changes at the back of the eye
Foot examination	Damage to the feet caused by complications
HbA1c	Blood glucose levels
Smoking advice	Smoking risk

2.5 Use of Technology to Manage Type 1 Diabetes

The use of technology to assist in the self-management of diabetes has grown enormously since the 1980's. Two broad categories may be identified: equipment for self-monitoring of glucose levels and insulin delivery systems.

2.5.1 Self-Monitoring of Blood Glucose Levels (SMBG)

The widespread use of blood glucose monitoring was triggered by the results of trials showing the benefits of strict glycaemic control. The first meters came into use in the 1980's. Initially meters were mains powered and larger than the compact battery operated meters currently available. Blood glucose monitoring largely superseded urine testing in type 1 patients (NHS diabetes 2010). Testing blood glucose levels involves pricking a finger with a lancet, placing the blood on a strip, inserting the strip in a meter and reading the results from the meter. The results are an estimate of blood glucose levels and are within 10-20% of the value achieved with laboratory equipment (Belsey et al. 2009). By comparison, urine glucose testing involves dipping a test strip in a small amount of collected urine and checking the strip against a reference colour chart.

In the UK, manufacturers do not charge for meters. Test strips, however, require a prescription. Individually, test strips are not expensive, however over time the cumulative effect of testing frequency, coupled with large numbers of patients, involves a considerable cost to the NHS (Coster et al. 2000). In 2009-10, prescriptions for items associated with blood glucose monitoring agents and devices represented 22.5% of the total cost of prescribing for the treatment of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory 2009).

The early evidence on effectiveness of SMBG in type 1 diabetes was inconclusive (Coster et al. 2000). The authors found that studies carried out in the 80's and 90's lacked the requisite statistical power to confirm either benefits or adverse effects of SMBG for this group of patients. Nevertheless, the consensus is that SMBG in type 1 diabetes is effective (Bergenstal et al. 2005). This is due in part to the inclusion of SMBG in several influential studies showing the benefits of intensive glycaemic control. In the Stockholm Diabetes Control Study and the Diabetes and Control Complications Trial, SMBG was used as an integral part of the intervention (Kolb et al. 2010). Although it is not possible to isolate the effects of SMBG in these studies, the results of the studies show an overall positive effect of SMBG in conjunction with the study interventions (Kolb et al. 2010). Hence SMBG is recognised as an essential part of the self-care regimen in type 1 diabetes (Bergenstal et al. 2005) and is recommended by NICE, although frequency is not specified (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2004).

2.5.2 Continuous Glucose Monitoring System (CGMS)

Continuous blood glucose monitors represent a further advance in the development of a 'closed loop' system whereby real time monitoring of blood glucose is linked to an insulin delivery system (Bilous et al. 2010). Currently these monitors measure glucose in interstitial fluid (via a sensor inserted on the abdominal wall) and hence there is a time lag in measuring blood glucose (Bilous et al. 2010). This procedure is more complex, costly and invasive than SMBG (St John et al. 2010). In the UK, until recently, these monitors were more frequently found in research but are now beginning to be adopted more widely in clinical practice (Cummins et al. 2010). NICE recommends the use of CGMS for adults with type 1 diabetes who have persistent problems with hypoglycaemia unawareness, or repeated hypoglycaemia or hyperglycaemia (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015). In adults this guidance applies to those who are unresponsive to conventional insulin dose adjustment and conventional blood glucose monitoring. At the time of the study there were three models of

the device available in the UK, all manufactured by Medtronic (Diabetes UK 2011b). Two of the models are 'real time' devices (Guardian REAL-Time and Minimed Paradigm REAL-Time) where measurements of interstitial fluid are taken every five minutes, twenty four hours a day and results are displayed onto the monitor (Diabetes UK 2011b). The Minimed integrated pump and CGMS is not however a 'closed loop' system (Diabetes UK 2011b). Consumables associated with the CGMS include sensors which cost around £50 and last for approximately six days.

2.5.3 Insulin Regimens

Individuals with type 1 diabetes require insulin for survival. Insulin is provided in different treatment regimens ranging from single long lasting injections, through to multiple daily injections (MDI) aiming to mimic normal pancreatic function. MDI provides a low level of insulin throughout the day as would a normal pancreas. In addition a short acting bolus is administered at meal times to counteract the effects of higher blood glucose levels.

2.5.4 Insulin Pumps

CSII are portable pumps designed to infuse insulin via an implanted cannula in such a way as to mimic insulin delivery in non-diabetic patients (Bilous et al. 2010) (see Figure 2.1). Modern pumps are small, lightweight battery operated devices. NICE recommends restricted use of CSII for type 1 diabetes patients (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2008). Despite pioneering CSII in the 1970's (Pickup et al. 1978) this technology is much less used in the UK than in the United States and other equivalent European countries (Colquitt et al. 2004). Although prescribing costs and current usage are not routinely collected (Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory 2009) a recent UK service level audit of insulin pump therapy in adults (White et al. 2014) found that usage of the technology is well below the estimated levels (15-20%) of individuals who are likely to benefit from the therapy (Pickup 2006). In addition, although reporting higher usage (6% of adults in the UK) than previous estimates (Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory 2010), the prevalence of use is well below other European countries and the USA (White et al. 2014). Barriers to accessing insulin pump therapy are reported to be related to lack of health care professional funded time to initiate the therapy and to provide both education and follow up care (White et al. 2014).

Figure 2.1 Insulin pump



(Reproduced with permission from Medtronic, Inc.)

The extra annual cost (per patient) of CSII compared with multiple daily injections averages £1700 (Cummins et al. 2010). A recent Health Technology Assessment, when looking at the totality of evidence, found advantages of insulin pumps over multiple daily injections which included: better control of glucose levels as measured by HbA1c; fewer problems with hypoglycaemia; and better quality of life through greater lifestyle flexibility (Cummins et al. 2010).

2.6 Summary

This chapter has provided an overview of the characteristics of type 1 diabetes and its management. Treatment for type 1 diabetes ranges from simple to more complicated regimens. The more intensive regimens are associated with better long-term outcomes but are more demanding for patients.

Chapter 3. Literature Review

3.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the literature review that relates to three main areas of research relevant to my thesis. First, it was important to establish evidence of an association between socioeconomic factors and health outcomes for adults with type 1 diabetes; since the underlying premise of investigating inequitable access rests on an assumption that inequalities in health care outcomes persist. Hence the chapter begins with a systematic review of this evidence in relation to mortality and morbidity (section 3.2). The evidence of the socioeconomic impact on access to health care and diabetes management is reviewed in section 3.2.4. Second, in section 3.3 the wider literature on access to health care and issues of inequitable access is reviewed to ensure that this thesis about type 1 diabetes is shaped by the evidence base on access to health care for other conditions. Third, in section 3.4 the literature on influences relating to patient-provider communication that may affect equity of access is presented including patient involvement in medical decision-making. Finally, the chapter concludes with the thesis aims and objectives in section 3.5.

3.1.1 Inequalities in Health and the Role of Equitable Health Services

There is considerable evidence that socioeconomic inequalities in health persist, with the least well off in society having reduced life expectancy (Marmot et al. 2005) and increased morbidity compared with the affluent. Socioeconomic status refers to an individual's type of employment and this in turn determines both income and working conditions. Low income, material deprivation and inequalities in one area very often lead to other forms of disadvantage. Hence there are associations between inequalities in social class, income and education. Previously the Registrar General's classification based on occupation was the most widely used in medical research in the UK.

There has been a widening of social inequalities since the 1970s (Whitehead et al. 1997). The social gradient observed in the first Whitehall study of British civil servants showed higher risks of mortality in relation to decreasing employment grade (Marmot et al. 1978). This gradient has become steeper and there are large differentials in both mortality and morbidity between the professional classes compared with unskilled manual workers (Whitehead et al. 1997). However, the social gradient is applicable not just to the less well off. The phenomenon provides evidence of a social hierarchy of health (Marmot et al. 2005).

15

The determinants of health are complex and although mortality and morbidity are associated with social class, correlation does not imply causality. A number of explanations for health inequality have been proposed; these encompass behavioural, material, psychosocial and life-course models (Bartley 2003). It is important when investigating inequalities in health that the pathways involved in these models are the subject of research (Marmot et al. 2005).

What part is played by equitable access to health care?

There is evidence that access to essential health care plays only a small part in differences in mortality (Fox et al. 1989). However, health services may have an important role in lessening the impact of growing inequalities (Whitehead et al. 1997) and universal access to health care is now viewed as one of the social determinants of health (Wilkinson et al. 2003). It is therefore of utmost importance to ensure that access to health care is equitable, particularly for those who are most vulnerable in society (Whitehead et al. 1994). Equity of access is particularly important in terms of diabetes care since it is known that the complications associated with poor diabetes management may be prevented through the adoption of effective regimens (DCCT Research Group 1989).

3.1.2 Socioeconomic Status and the Health of Individuals with Diabetes

In their review of socioeconomic position and health amongst individuals with diabetes (type 1 and 2), Brown et al. (2004) depict a conceptual framework, involving a complex web of interrelated influences, in order to explain the potential mechanisms whereby socioeconomic position may affect health outcomes amongst individuals with diabetes.

Three ways in which socioeconomic position may influence health outcomes are posited and comprise: access to care; process of care; and individual behaviour (Brown et al. 2004). In this framework access to care includes visits to both primary and specialist services. Process of care comprises aspects of diabetes care monitoring including: HbA1c levels; eye checks; cholesterol levels; and foot checks. Individual behaviour relates to the work that people with diabetes must accomplish in order to manage the condition. Brown et al. (2004) discuss the respective roles played by providers of health care, health care system characteristics and the community in which individuals reside. It is suggested that poor health outcomes are a combination of lack of access to high quality health care resulting in inadequate and inferior treatment (resulting in increased morbidity) and deficits in self-care behaviour (Brown et al. 2004).

3.2 Socioeconomic Inequalities in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes

The framework proposed by Brown et al. (2004) was useful in helping to frame the content of the current literature review. Brown et al. (2004) included studies addressing both type 1 and type 2 diabetes in their review whereas the current review focuses on adults with type 1 diabetes. It was important for the purposes of this study, therefore, to commence with a review of the impact of socioeconomic factors in relation to adults with type 1 diabetes before exploring some of the other factors identified in the review by Brown et al. (2004).

A systematic approach to reviewing the literature was adopted (Booth et al. 2012) both in terms of the search strategy and the application of selection criteria. However, the review does not fulfil some of the criteria for a systematic review since dual selection of papers and data extraction was not undertaken because this was a PhD thesis.

3.2.1 Search Strategy

The search, limited to papers published in the English Language, was carried out in six databases including: Medline (accessed via OVIDSP); PsycINFO (accessed via OVIDSP); EMBASE (accessed via OVIDSP); Web of Science; CINHAL (accessed via EBSCOhost); and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Databases were selected for their specialist coverage of literature on: medicine (Medline and EMBASE); nursing and allied health (CINHAL); systematic reviews (Cochrane Database); psychology and related fields (PsycINFO); and both social sciences literature and conference citations (Web of Science). This broad coverage was required in order to capture both quantitative and qualitative literature relating to inequalities in type 1 diabetes.

The search, completed in March 2014, included MeSH headings and text terms for both adults with type 1 diabetes and socioeconomic factors (including social class, poverty, access, inequity and health care disparity). The search strategy applied to Medline is in Appendix 1. No date limits were specified for inclusion of studies. The references of papers found were checked for further studies. Additionally, citation searches were carried out and a 'snowballing' technique was adopted (Booth et al. 2012 p. 78) in order to ensure that all key studies were identified. This was carried out using the selected databases and Google Scholar. Hand searching of a group of journals focused on diabetes research was also carried out. These included Diabetic Medicine, Diabetes Care, Diabetologia, Diabetes and Practical Diabetes for

17

the most recent period (2013-2014) to capture citations and conference material not yet added to the databases.

One researcher (AS) read the titles and the abstracts. Studies were included if they reported socioeconomic findings in adults (defined as 16 years and above) with type 1 diabetes in the following:

- Mortality
- Morbidity arising from diabetes (short and long term complications)
- Glycaemic control
- Insulin regimens
- Access to care

Studies were excluded if they:

- Focused on pregnant women only.
- Involved only children and adolescents.
- Focused on the transition of children from paediatric to adult services.
- Focused on type 1 and type 2 diabetes but did not report on the former separately.
- Included both adults and children but did not report on the former separately.

Following the database search 1406 references excluding duplicates were retrieved. 848 were excluded on the basis of title and 291 were excluded following a review of abstracts. Citations were rejected on the basis of title if they were studies of children, for type 2 diabetes or did not meet the inclusion criteria. If there was any doubt about the title, the appraisal proceeded to the next stage which was a reading of the abstract. 74 full papers were requested and screened and a final 36 were included in the review (this included one systematic review). Reasons for exclusions included: not found to be relevant; did not report type 1 diabetes separately; or did not report adults separately. An additional four studies were found in reference searches. Data was extracted from the studies using the checklist in Appendix 2. The results of the systematic literature search are summarised in the PRISMA flow diagram (Booth et al. 2012) (Figure 3.1).

Figure 3.1 PRISMA Flow Diagram showing included/excluded studies



Assessment of study quality was undertaken on full papers based on the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) (Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) 2006) using the author's own form in Appendix 3. Since weaknesses are likely to be present in each study and quality assessment must not become a pursuit of unattainable perfection (Booth et al. 2012 p 104) studies were only excluded that did not meet the inclusion criteria. Also some studies albeit of lesser quality may contain highly relevant data. The primary aim in carrying out each assessment was to determine the strengths and weaknesses of each study so that this could be taken into consideration when presenting the findings.

Two reviews relevant to the thesis were found. First, a systematic review investigating social inequalities in diabetes by Ricci-Cabello et al. (2010). This study included ethnic and gender inequalities as well as socioeconomic disparities. Second, a literature review of socioeconomic position and health among individuals with diabetes by Brown et al. (2004).

However, there was a need to undertake a new review of the literature for this thesis because the existing systematic review and literature review did not distinguish between type of diabetes or between adults and children. In addition a new review would identify more up to date studies. However, the contents of both reviews were incorporated into the current review to ensure that no important studies were omitted.

The following section presents the review findings, exploring inequalities in the following for adults with type 1 diabetes:

- Mortality
- Morbidity (short and long term complications)
- Glycaemic control
- Insulin regimens
- Access to care

Study characteristics are presented in Appendix 4 for all studies included in the review.

3.2.2 Mortality

Socioeconomic differences in mortality generally have been well documented (Marmot et al. 1997). It is known that disadvantaged individuals have less favourable outcomes than those in higher socioeconomic groups (Townsend et al. 1988a; Whitehead 1988) and that these disparities are becoming more pronounced over time (Feldman et al. 1989). Compared with

the population, individuals with diabetes have an increased risk of mortality (Dorman et al. 1985; Laing et al. 1999). Although a social gradient for individuals with diabetes has been reported (Chaturvedi et al. 1998), relatively few studies have reported the association between socioeconomic factors and mortality in type 1 diabetes relating to adults specifically. This review found nine papers that reported socioeconomic factors in relation to mortality in type 1 diabetes.

Characteristics of studies reporting mortality

As the focus of the thesis is access to health care, tables relating to the review of mortality (all causes) in adults with type 1 diabetes have been placed in Appendix 4 (summarising study characteristics) and Appendix 5 (study findings). Five studies were population based and four studies recruited patients at specialist diabetes clinics in secondary care (centre based). Studies were carried out in the UK, Finland, Italy, Germany and the USA (summarised in Appendix 4). All of these countries except the USA have a form of universal health care system. Although the studies included in the review reported on socioeconomic factors in relation to diabetes, the aims of the research were diverse (summarised in Appendix 5). For two studies the aim was to identify key mortality predictors (Mühlhauser et al. 2000; Rossing et al. 1996). The former study explored factors in individuals who were intensively treated with insulin. The remaining studies focused on the influence of socioeconomic factors on mortality in diabetes. Five studies related to both type 1 and type 2 diabetes and four related to type 1 diabetes specifically.

In terms of socioeconomic measures, the most commonly used were social group (based on occupation) and education (see Table 3.1 for measures used). Due to the variation in defining variables across studies it was not possible to carry out a meta-analysis. Instead, study findings have been presented as a narrative synthesis.

21

	Socioeconomic variable							
Study	Social class	Education	Income	Employment	Housing	Municipality	Living alone	Marital status
Matsushima et al. (1996)		✓	✓				х	х
Rossing et al. (1996)	\checkmark							
Robinson et al. (1998)	х	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			
Mühlhauser et al. (2000)	√*							
Forssas et al. (2003)	\checkmark							
Gnavi et al. (2004)		\checkmark						
Forssas et al. (2012)	\checkmark							
Secrest et al. (2011a)	x	\checkmark	\checkmark					
Forssas et al. (2010)	\checkmark	à	√	\checkmark		х	\checkmark	

Table 3.1 Socioeconomic associations with mortality in type 1 diabetes

 \checkmark Indicates that an association was found between a socioeconomic variable and mortality in either univariate or multivariate analyses

x Indicates that no association was found on an investigated socioeconomic variable

*An aggregate score based on a mix of highest education level and last employed position

+ Women only

In the nine papers selected for this review of mortality in adults with type 1 diabetes, each paper reported an association between at least one socioeconomic variable and mortality for adults with type 1 diabetes in either univariate or multivariate analyses (Table 3.1). Strength of association is reported in Appendix 5. This consistency of association for type 1 diabetes is in contrast with previous inconsistencies amongst studies reporting on the influence of socioeconomic factors on mortality in diabetes (Forssas et al. 2003) in which both type 1 and type 2 were included in the analysis.
Comparing mortality (the general population and/or adults with type 1 diabetes)

Since there is a known social gradient in relation to mortality in the general population it is important to establish whether or not this is mirrored in adults with type 1 diabetes. Alternatively the social gradient might be exacerbated due to the complications arising from diabetes or perhaps mitigated owing to the presumed additional care received by adults with type 1 diabetes. Some studies focused on comparisons involving the general population and others more narrowly focused on differences within the adult type 1 diabetes sample.

Comparisons with the general population

Mortality in type 1 diabetes is higher than in the general population (Dorman et al. 1985). In comparison with the general population the risk of death was estimated to be double (for men) and triple (for women) (Gnavi et al. 2004) and four times higher in another study (Secrest et al. 2011a). Whereas individuals in the highest income groups had similar mortality rates to the general population, those without a college degree and those on the lowest income had approximately five times the mortality rates of their counterparts in the general population (Secrest et al. 2011a). Among individuals having only primary school education or no formal education, risk of death during follow up was three (men) to four (women) times higher than for those with at least high school education or above (Gnavi et al. 2004). This social gradient in mortality appeared to have particularly affected those in the younger age and less educated category (20-49). In Finland increasing disparities over time between type 1 diabetes mortality and the general population were attributed to a reduction in mortality in the higher socioeconomic groups compared with little progress on improvements in the lower socioeconomic groups (Forssas et al. 2003).

Comparing disparities amongst adults with type 1 diabetes

It would appear that not only are disparities in mortality present in adults with type 1 diabetes compared with the general population; there are also differences in mortality amongst adults with type 1 diabetes when data is stratified by socioeconomic group. It appears that the socioeconomic gradient in mortality in the general population is steeper for adults with type 1 diabetes. Disparities in mortality amongst individuals with type 1 diabetes were associated with unemployment and education. Utilising duration adjusted odds ratios, mortality rates of unemployed individuals were approximately three times higher than those who were employed (Robinson et al. 1998). Those who reported that they had been unemployed for more than one year had 6.8 times the mortality of those who reported they had been unemployed for less than one year (Robinson et al. 1998). However, in multivariate analysis, employment no longer remained an independent predictor of mortality in type 1 diabetes; whereas leaving school under the age of 16 persisted as a predictor (Robinson et al. 1998).

Mortality and confounding factors

Whilst associations with socioeconomic status were found in univariate analyses for a number of studies, modelling other known risk factors in multivariate analysis revealed a more complex picture. For example, Secrest et al. (2011a) found that the strong association between education and all cause mortality was lessened when other risk factors (HbA1c, cholesterol, hypertension and microalbuminuria) were taken into account. This demonstrates the difficulty in identifying independent predictors of mortality, since variables may be associated with one another (Secrest et al. 2011a). Cardiovascular mortality was consistently found to be a major cause of death and not all studies explored lifestyle factors such as smoking and alcohol that may act as confounding factors (Robinson et al. 1998). However, a relationship between social status and mortality persisted in one study even when traditional risk factors for cardiovascular disease were taken into account (Mühlhauser et al. 2000).

Summary for mortality

In summary, there were few studies focusing on socioeconomic factors in relation to mortality in type 1 diabetes. The review was limited by the variability in both methods used (cohort and case control studies), different samples (centre based versus population based), different age ranges and in particular variety in definitions of socioeconomic variables. The review results also point to the complexity of issues surrounding the outcomes for diabetes. Although the evidence is far from consistent across all variables used, it appears that social status, education and deprivation measured by unemployment are all to some extent associated with mortality.

3.2.3 Morbidity in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes

Characteristics of studies reporting on morbidity in adults with type 1 diabetes

Nineteen studies met the inclusion criteria for investigations relating to morbidity and socioeconomic status in adults with type 1 diabetes. Fifteen studies were conducted in Europe (including EURODIAB, the largest European study of diabetes complications within the review), one in Canada and two in the USA. Methods included cohort and cross sectional studies. A variety of measures were used to determine socioeconomic status. The majority of authors chose an individual measure of socioeconomic status such as education, income or occupation.

Some used an aggregate score of a combination of either two or three individual measures. Five studies used a group level measure based on indices of deprivation (Carstairs index (Carstairs et al. 1991) or Townsend score (Townsend et al. 1988b)).

The findings are summarised in two tables. The first table (Table 3.2) includes long-term complications associated with diabetes (microvascular and macrovascular). The second table (Table 3.3) presents a summary of findings for hypoglycaemia and ketoacidosis. In contrast to the complications presented in Table 3.2, ketoacidois and hypoglycaemia are short-term in nature; however, both may be life threatening. In ketoacidosis, a build up of acids and ketones arises due to lack of insulin leading to the body using body fat as fuel. Hypoglycaemia on the other hand is often as a result of too much insulin or glucose deprivation.

In both Table 3.2 and 3.3 some studies appear more than once if they investigated multiple conditions. In Table 3.2, 11 out of 14 studies found a significant association with socioeconomic status for complications associated with diabetes. An association with prevalence of risk factors for cardiovascular disease and low socioeconomic status was reported in 8 out of 9 studies (Table 3.2). For example, an association between smoking and low socioeconomic status was reported in eight studies. Strength of association together with study aims and findings are reported in Appendix 6.

	Socioeconomic variable			
Morbidity/Study	Social class	Education	Income	Deprivation score
General [#]				
Chaturvedi et al. (1996)	\checkmark	✓		
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b)	√ ‡ x¶			
Mühlhauser et al. (2000)	√ ‡			
Lievre et al. (2005)	✓			
Secrest et al. (2011b)	✓	✓	\checkmark	
Swaminathan et al. (2004)				x
Nephropathy				
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b)	✓			
Rossing et al. (2002)	x †			
Wolf et al. (2011)	x ‡			
Painful neuropathy				
Anderson et al. (2014)				✓
Cardiovascular disease/ risks of CVD				
Robinson et al. (1984)	√*			
Chaturvedi et al. (1996)	√ *			
Connolly et al. (1996)				\checkmark
Unwin et al. (1996)				\checkmark
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b)	√ ‡			
Swaminathan et al. (2004)				x
Nadas et al. (2009)		✓		
Secrest et al. (2011b)		✓		
Sastre et al. (2012)		✓		

Table 3.2 Socioeconomic associations with microvascular and macrovascular complications

 \checkmark Indicates that an association was found between a socioeconomic variable and at least one complication/risk factor in either univariate or multivariate analyses

x Indicates that no association was found on an investigated socioeconomic variable

 \P No association found for retinopathy

Includes complications associated with retinal, renal, and lower extremity arterial disease

+ Social class was an aggregate score based on education and occupation

‡Social class was an aggregate score based on education, occupation and income

* Association in women only

At least one association between a socioeconomic measure and either hypoglycaemia or ketoacidosis or both was found in five out of six primary studies and one systematic review (Sawka et al. 2007) (Table 3.3). Butalia et al. (2013) was the only study that did not find an association between ketoacidosis in either income or education. The authors suggested that this may have been as a result of using group level data rather than individual measures of income and education. A more likely explanation was their acknowledgment that Calgary is a relatively affluent city and that their study lacked socioeconomic diversity.

	Socioeconomic variable			
Morbidity/Study	Social class	Education	Income	Deprivation score
Ketoacidosis				
Lievre et al. (2005)	\checkmark			
Butalia et al. (2013)		x*	х*	
Weinstock et al. (2013)		\checkmark	\checkmark	
Hypoglycaemia				
Mühlhauser et al. (1998a)	√ †			
Leese et al. (2003)				\checkmark
Pederson-Bjergaard et al. (2004)		\checkmark		
Lievre et al. (2005)	x †			
Sawka et al. (2007) ¶	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Weinstock et al. (2013)		\checkmark	✓	

Table 3.3 Socioeconomic associations with ketoacidosis and hypoglycaemia

 \checkmark Indicates that an association was found between a socioeconomic variable and at least one complication in either univariate or multivariate analyses

x Indicates that no association was found on an investigated socioeconomic variable

*Education and household income were group level variables

[†]Social class was an aggregate score based on education, occupation and income

¶ Systematic review included papers by Mühlhauser et al. (2000), Leese et al. (2003) and Pederson-Bjergaard et al. (2004)

Sawka et al. (2007) in a systematic review of socioeconomic status and hypoglycaemia concluded that low socioeconomic status was associated with increased incidence of severe hypoglycaemia (included in Table 3.3). Although the study by Lievre et al. (2005) found no association between hypoglycaemia and socioeconomic status the authors acknowledged that the least well off patients were under-represented in their study.

Summary for morbidity

Low socioeconomic status was associated with a number of macrovascular and microvascular complications arising from diabetes. Low socioeconomic status was found to be a predictor for both hypoglycaemia and ketoacidosis.

3.2.4 Diabetes Management

Diabetes management includes glycaemic control, self-monitoring of blood glucose levels, insulin regimens and access to diabetes care. The rationale for reviewing these aspects of diabetes management is that despite the evidence that controlling risk factors can prevent long term complications (DCCT Research Group 1989) many individuals with type 1 diabetes have poor metabolic control. Issues relating to diabetes care may account for the poor metabolic control observed amongst many individuals with diabetes.

Characteristics of studies reporting on diabetes management

Fourteen studies were found that investigated socioeconomic status with at least one aspect of diabetes management (glycaemic control, self-monitoring of blood glucose levels, insulin regimens or access to diabetes care). Appendix 4 contains detailed study characteristics of all the studies included in the review. The studies were carried out in the USA (5), UK (3), Australia (1) and other European countries (5). The study aims and principle findings in relation to this review are described in Table 3.4.

Five of these studies were previously also included in the morbidity review (Chaturvedi et al. 1996; Mühlhauser et al. 1998b; Nadas et al. 2009; Secrest et al. 2011b; Unwin et al. 1996). All of the studies were quantitative in design. Ten studies investigated glycaemic control. Few studies were found that investigated socioeconomic status in relation to either self-monitoring of blood glucose levels, insulin regimens or access to specialist health care in relation to adults with type 1 diabetes.

Author/ Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Johansen (1983)	To examine social status in relation to diabetes control and knowledge of diabetes management.	Glycaemic control: Significantly more patients with HbA1c <8.5% belonged to social class 1-3 compared to social class 4-5 (p=0.0015). HbA1c was lower in social class 1-2 than social class 5 (median HbA1c 8.1% versus 10.3% p=0.02). Diabetes Knowledge: Knowledge was significantly better in social class 1-2 than social class 5 (p=0.007).
Lloyd at al. (1993)	To examine glycaemic control in adults with type 1 diabetes in relation to psychosocial factors.	Glycaemic control : Low income and a lower level of education was significantly associated with poorer glycaemic control (income p < 0.05 and education p > 0.001).
Harris et al. (1993)	To examine the frequency and determinants of blood glucose monitoring in adults with diabetes.	Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels: Education, income and health insurance were not associated with self-monitoring of blood glucose levels in adults with type 1 diabetes.
Hepburn et al. (1994)	To investigate psychological and demographic associations with glycaemic control in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Glycaemic control: No association with socioeconomic status or education.
Chaturvedi et al. (1996)	To explore the relationship between socioeconomic factors and diabetes control and complications in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Glycaemic control : Mean percentage HbA1c was worse in primary versus college educated men and women (6.6 v 6.1 respectively for men) $p = 0.007$ value for trend and 6.5 v 6.0 $p = 0.0007$ (for trend) for women. Access : For men and women attendance at clinic was associated with educational level ($p = 0.003$ and p < 0.0001 for trend respectively).
Unwin (1996)	To examine the relationship of socioeconomic status and risk factors for cardiovascular disease in individuals with diabetes.	Glycaemic control: No significant association between HbA1c and socioeconomic status.

Table 3.4 Associations between diabetes management and socioeconomic status

Author/ Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b)	To investigate social status and diabetes care in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Glycaemic control: Lower social status was associated with higher HbA1c values ($p < 0.0001$). Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels: Lower class was associated with carrying out blood glucose less often than higher class (OR = 1.38, Cl: 1.18-1.61 p = 0.0001). Insulin regimen : There was a strong association between lower social class and the intensity of insulin regimen ($p < 0.0001$). Insulin adjustment was associated social class. Insulin adjustments in relation to both blood glucose monitoring and carbohydrate intake was carried out more by high SES than low SES participants ($p < 0.0001$ for both). Access: A higher percentage of higher SES attended specialist diabetes clinic services (OR = 1.36, Cl: 1.17 - 1.56 $p < 0.0001$). Structured Education: Higher social status was associated with a higher percentage attendance.
Perros 1998	To investigate factors associated with different insulin regimens.	Insulin regimen: Basal bolus regimens were associated with higher levels of education (P = 0.03) and higher socioeconomic groups (P = 0.002).
Karter et al. (2000)	To examine practices and barriers to self-monitoring of blood glucose in diabetes care.	Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels: In multivariate analysis predictors of monitoring less frequently than recommended by the American Diabetic Association was associated with deprivation (neighbourhood area < \$13,959 average annual income).
Zgibor et al. (2000)	To investigate the association between attendance at specialist diabetes services and glycaemic control and self- care practices in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Access: Individuals accessing specialist care were more likely to have higher education levels, to have income above > \$20,000) and to have health insurance. Glycaemic control: Differences in glycaemic control noted for education and income (10.4 \pm 1.8 v 9.8 \pm 1.7 p \leq 0.01)(High school or less v more than high school), 10.5 \pm 1.8 v 9.9 \pm 1.7 p \leq 0.01) Income \leq \$20,000/year v > \$20,000/year.
Nadas et al. (2009)	To investigate the association between cardiometabolic risk factors.	Glycaemic control: Worse in low education patients versus high (HbA1c: 8.8±1.6 versus 7.9±1.4%; p = 0.0006).

Table 3.4 Associations between diabetes management and socioeconomic status

Author/ Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Secrest et al. (2011b)	To explore the relationship between socioeconomic status and risk of complications.	Glycaemic control: HbA1c decreased with increased income level ($p = 0.01$). Insulin regimen: College graduates compared with individuals with less education were more likely to be on an intensive insulin regimen (23.7% v 12.8% p ≤ 0.05). Individuals in professional occupation versus non-professional occupation were more likely to be on an intensive insulin regimen (27.2% v 8.7% p ≤ 0.01).
Sastre et al. (2012)	To assess glycaemic control, cardiovascular risk factors and treatment regimens in type 1 diabetes.	Glycaemic control: Univariate analysis showed glycaemic control (HbA1c ≤ 7%) was associated with educational level (middle plus higher education versus primary or no education). Multivariate analysis found that better glycaemic control (<7% HbA1c) was associated with secondary or higher education, intensified regimen coupled with regular self-monitoring of glucose monitoring.
Kibbey 2013	To investigate the barriers and enablers to accessing specialist care in an area of social disadvantage.	Access: Greater satisfaction with services was found to be associated with higher levels of income and education. Although cost and time taken to travel were reported as barriers they were not associated with levels of income. A previous unsatisfactory experience was found to be a barrier to attendance with a number of participants reporting (in open ended responses) a feeling of being judged by overly critical staff. These responses were not reported by socioeconomic group. Facilitators of engagement included continuity of care, time of day for appointment and distance from home to the clinic.

Table 3.4 Associations between diabetes management and socioeconomic status

Glycaemic control

Maintaining control of blood glucose levels has been demonstrated to minimise the risks of long-term and short-term complications (DCCT Research Group 1989). Despite the evidence for benefits of tight glycaemic control on the prevention of long term complications, around 25% of the adult diabetes population is in persistent poor control (Devries et al. 2004).

Ten studies explored associations between HbA1c levels and socioeconomic status (Table 3.5). An association between low socioeconomic status (as measured by education, social class or income) and glycaemic control was found in eight of the ten studies (Chaturvedi et al. 1996; Johansen 1986; Lloyd et al. 1993; Mühlhauser et al. 1998b; Nadas et al. 2009; Sastre et al. 2012; Secrest et al. 2011b; Zgibor et al. 2000).

	Socioeconomic variable			
Study	Social class	Education	Income	Deprivation score
HbA1c levels				
Johansen (1986)	✓			
Lloyd et al. (1993)		~	✓	
Hepburn et al. (1994)	x	x		
Chaturvedi et al. (1996)		~		
Unwin et al. (1996)				x
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b)	√ †			
Zgibor et al. (2000)		~	✓	
Nadas et al. (2009)		~		
Secrest et al. (2011b)			✓	
Sastre et al. (2012)		✓		

Table 3.5 Socioeconomic associations with glycaemic control measured by HbA1c

✓ Indicates that an association was found between a socioeconomic variable and at least one complication in either univariate or multivariate analyses
 x Indicates that no association was found on an investigated socioeconomic variable
 +Social class was an aggregate score based on education, occupation and income

Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels

Self-monitoring of blood glucose is not widely practised (Evans et al. 1999; Hansen et al. 2009; Scorpiglione et al. 1996). In section 2.5.1 it was noted that the evidence on effectiveness of self-monitoring of blood glucose is inconclusive. Nevertheless self-monitoring of blood glucose is recognised as an essential part of the regimen for individuals with type 1 diabetes and has a number of advantages for patients. These include: alerting patients to hyperglycaemia which is associated with long term complications; helping to recognise the onset of hypoglycaemia or ketoacidosis; and providing an aid to decision-making with regard to insulin adjustment (Harris et al. 1993).

The evidence for socioeconomic association with self-monitoring of blood glucose levels for adults with type 1 diabetes was weak. Although a number of studies identified an association between self-monitoring of blood glucose levels and socioeconomic status in type 1 diabetes, for example Evans et al. (1999), studies were excluded if the sample included both children and adults. Only three studies were found that met the inclusion criteria. All three of these studies were based on self-reporting which may be an unreliable measure (Adams et al. 2003). Harris et al. (1993) found no association between socioeconomic status and self-monitoring of blood glucose levels whereas a German study and a study conducted in the USA found an association between low socioeconomic status and lower rates of self-monitoring of blood glucose levels (Karter et al. 2000; Mühlhauser et al. 1998b).

Access to specialist diabetes care

All four studies included in the review of access to diabetes care found an association between attendance at specialist diabetes centres and socioeconomic status for adults with type 1 diabetes (Chaturvedi et al. 1996; Kibbey et al. 2013; Mühlhauser et al. 1998b; Zgibor et al. 2000). In the EURODIAB study, Chaturvedi et al. (1996) postulated that access to care may be a possible explanation for poorer outcomes for low socioeconomic groups. The authors assessed attendance at clinic using the proxy of last available HbA1c result (over two years). A social gradient for attendance at clinic according to educational level was found. For men and women with primary education 67% had at least one reported HbA1c result in the previous two years compared with 79% (men) and 82% (women) with college education.

Mühlhauser et al. (1998b) found that more of the individuals in the higher socioeconomic group compared with the lower socioeconomic group consulted specialist diabetes clinics. However, more patients of low socioeconomic status compared with high socioeconomic status reported visiting a primary care physician during the previous year. Individuals with low socioeconomic status had poorer outcomes in term of higher rates of complications (reviewed in section 3.2.3).

In a study conducted in the USA, Zgibor et al. (2000) found that attending specialist adult type 1 diabetes services was associated with education and income. Additionally, those individuals attending specialist services were more likely to have received diabetes education recently, to be knowledgeable about HbA1c, to carry out self-monitoring of blood glucose levels and to be injecting insulin more than twice daily. Those individuals with a lower HbA1c were more likely to have attended specialist services.

There was a paucity of research explaining the poor outcomes or potential pathways resulting in lack of access. One quantitative survey conducted in Australia, targeting an area of deprivation, explored barriers and enablers for young adults with type 1 diabetes (Kibbey et al. 2013). Greater satisfaction with services was found to be associated with higher levels of income and education. Satisfaction with services was also associated with having recently had contact with specialist services, having a lower HbA1c, awareness of HbA1c result, lower depression score and lower anxiety score. Smoking was associated with individuals who were least satisfied with their care. Although cost and time taken to travel were reported as barriers to access they were not associated with levels of income. A previous unsatisfactory experience was found to be a barrier to further attendance with a number of participants reporting (in open ended responses) a feeling of being judged by overly critical staff. These responses were not reported by socioeconomic group. Facilitators of engagement with services included continuity of care, time of day for appointment and distance from home to the clinic. Although the target population was individuals from a deprived area, the study response rate was low (24%) and hence may not be representative of this group.

Adoption of an intensive insulin regimen and associations with socioeconomic status

Associations between intensity of insulin regimens and socioeconomic status were found in all three studies included in the review (Mühlhauser et al. 1998b; Perros et al. 1998; Secrest et al. 2011b). For example individuals in higher socioeconomic groups injected insulin more frequently on a daily basis, carried out more insulin adjustments, were more likely to be using insulin pumps, were better informed and a higher percentage had attended structured education than individuals in lower socioeconomic groups (Mühlhauser et al. 1998b). A strong association was found between social class and daily injections, with fewer of the lower class patients on intensified regimens. The authors concluded that since the same opportunities had been provided for all socioeconomic groups, equality of access was demonstrated in their study and inequalities in uptake of services were viewed as stemming from a deficit in health motivation amongst people from lower socioeconomic groups (Mühlhauser et al. 1998b).

Intensity of insulin regimen was associated with socioeconomic status in two further studies. A study conducted in Scotland found that individuals on a basal bolus regimen compared with twice daily regimens tended to be younger, adjusted their regimens more frequently, were more highly educated and were of a higher socioeconomic class (Perros et al. 1998). Additionally these individuals were less likely to smoke. In a study conducted in the USA those

adults with more education or better employment were significantly more likely to be on intensive regimens by age 28 (Secrest et al. 2011b).

Access to insulin pumps

Insulin pumps represent the most intensive of all regimens in type 1 diabetes since insulin is continuously administered subcutaneously via the equipment. Insulin pump therapy was mentioned in only one of the three studies investigating intensity of regimen and associations with socioeconomic status (Mühlhauser et al. 1998b). However this form of therapy was not reported separately.

It was noted in Chapter 2 that insulin pumps are not widely used in the UK although uptake has increased in recent years. Access to insulin pumps has been described as another national lottery (Walker et al. 2011) and a postcode lottery (Diabetes UK 2011a). Although some studies in the USA have found an association between low socioeconomic status and the use of insulin pumps, these studies did not include adults (Cortina et al. 2010; Wood et al. 2013). Additionally differences in the ways health care is financed through insurance in the USA may account for these socioeconomic differences whereas in the UK health care is universally provided. There is a paucity of research in the UK examining the uptake of this technology amongst individuals of low socioeconomic status.

Summary for diabetes management

Evidence suggests that attending specialist diabetes services appeared to be associated with better outcomes and these individuals were of higher socioeconomic status. Caution is needed, however, since two of these studies were cross sectional and hence causality cannot be inferred. Nevertheless, a profile appears to be emerging of individuals in lower social classes that: are less likely to attend regular specialist services; are less likely to be on intensive regimens; are less likely to monitor blood glucose levels; are more likely to have higher HbA1c levels; are more likely to suffer complications arising from diabetes; may not have attended structured education; and are less knowledgeable about their diabetes care.

3.2.5 Summary of Socioeconomic Inequalities Review for Adults with Type 1 Diabetes

Low socioeconomic status in adults with type 1 diabetes was found to be associated with poorer outcomes in terms of mortality and morbidity. Low socioeconomic status was also found to be associated with aspects of diabetes care. Although research has identified these disparities there is little research explaining the causes of these inequalities. Mühlhauser et al. (1998b) concluded in their study that as patients had been invited to take up offers of diabetes care, lack of motivation was the root cause for lack of access. Although an Australian study offered some explanations for lack of uptake of services by exploring barriers and facilitators for engagement with services (Kibbey et al. 2013), the authors acknowledged that the study was limited by a low response rate and may therefore not represent the most disadvantaged groups. In order to seek explanations for lack of access to care for adults with type 1 diabetes and low socioeconomic status, a further literature review was undertaken relating to access to health services more generally.

3.3 Equity of Access to Health Care

Equity of access was established as a central tenet of the newly formed NHS in 1948 where the emphasis was on equality of access based on medical need (Gulliford et al. 2003). The NHS continues to aspire to fair and equitable delivery of health care services (Department of Health 2010). Whereas inequalities in health indicate that variation persist, inequity implies unfairness or injustice (Gulliford et al. 2001). As noted in section 3.1.1 low socioeconomic status is associated with increased mortality and morbidity and it is important when considering equity of access that these inequalities in health are taken into consideration (Gulliford 2003 p. 39).

Three excellent reviews of access to health care in England have been undertaken by Goddard and Smith (1998), Gulliford et al. (2001), and Dixon-Woods et al. (2005). Hence in the following section these reviews and referenced papers within these reviews relevant for my thesis are summarised rather than undertaking a new review. Two of these reviews were commissioned by the NHS Research and Development Service Delivery and Organisation Programme (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005; Gulliford et al. 2001). The review carried out by Gulliford et al. (2001) provided a broad overview of issues of access including equitable access. The review by Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) focused on access to health for vulnerable groups. The third review, carried out by Goddard and Smith (1998), focused on equitable access to health care in the NHS in England. Due to the pressure of timescales involved in all three reviews the authors were unable to carry out a systematic review.

Despite its stated importance and although extensively researched, equity of access has proved difficult to measure (Goddard et al. 2001 p. 66). In part this is because of the complexity and elusiveness of the concept of access (Goddard et al. 2001) as well as much of the evidence on utilisation of health care by vulnerable groups being 'highly complex,

contradictory and difficult to interpret', due in part to the ways in which access has been defined (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005, p. 97). Before discussing issues involved in equitable access there needs to be an understanding that access is a complex and multifaceted concept (Gulliford et al. 2003) and definitions are required.

3.3.1 Defining Aspects of Access to Health Care

Access to health care is defined as comprising four dimensions: service availability; service utilisation; service effectiveness; and equitable access (Gulliford et al. 2003). It is important to distinguish between availability of services and utilisation of services since there is a difference between having the potential to use services and actually gaining access to services (Gulliford et al. 2002).

Availability of services

Availability of services refers to the opportunity for individuals to gain access to services they require (Gulliford et al. 2002). In order that access to health care can be achieved there needs to be an adequacy in the available health care provision for a given population (Gulliford et al. 2002). It is known that geographical variation in health care supply persists in many countries including the UK (Gulliford et al. 2003).

Utilisation of services

Utilisation of services is influenced by factors including personal, organisational and financial that may restrict consumption of health care (Gulliford et al. 2002). For example, barriers to access may include difficulties with transport to and from health care appointments or an inability to take time off work.

Service effectiveness and access

Gulliford et al. (2002) assert the importance of measuring service effectiveness since accessing and utilising services represents only one aspect of the health care interaction. The authors emphasise the importance of measuring health outcomes in order to determine the success or otherwise of making services accessible to individuals (Gulliford et al. 2002).

Equity of access

Equity of access relates to the ability of health care services to enable all individuals to access the services they need. For example an individual may have the potential to access services but for a variety of reasons may be unable to make effective use of the service on offer. These factors influencing access may relate to the individual or to services or alternatively the interaction between both.

3.3.2 Categorisation of Equitable Access

Equity of access may be categorised as horizontal or vertical. Horizontal equity relates to those with equal need having equal access whereas vertical equity relates to the notion of those with greater need having greater access (Gulliford 2003 p. 37). Most of the research relating to equitable access has investigated horizontal access whereas it is apparent from research into socioeconomic health inequalities that certain groups have greater need (Gulliford 2003). The notion that the most deprived individuals with the greatest need for health care services seemingly have impaired access was termed the 'inverse care law' (Tudor Hart 1971). To some extent empirical evidence substantiates the claims for an 'inverse care law' particularly with regard to preventive care and the use of specialist services (Goddard et al. 1998). However some research finds higher utilisation by individuals of low socioeconomic status in general practice and emergency care services and inconsistencies in the evidence on utilisation of heath care services by different socioeconomic groups (Gulliford et al. 2001 p. 68). Nevertheless there are suggestions that different groups may require different approaches (Goddard 2008). For example smoking cessation interventions may need to be adapted according to socioeconomic group since some individuals experience greater obstacles relating to their socioeconomic status (Goddard 2008).

3.3.3 Evidence on Access Varies according to Measures Used and Type of Service

Evidence of inequity appears to depend on the types of measures used (Gulliford 2003 p 55). For example, in terms of equitable access to health care there is an important distinction to be made between utilisation of services versus availability of services. In terms of utilisation of primary care services, studies show that lower socioeconomic groups have equitable access, whereas when other measures are chosen such as availability of services, inequities are detected (Gulliford 2003). In their review of equity of access to health care, Goddard and Smith (1998) found that although inequity of access did not seem to be observed at the 'aggregate level' for primary care and secondary care attendances, there appeared to be some evidence of inequity at the specialty level, particularly with regard to elective surgery and coronary artery disease, with lower referral rates for the latter in lower socioeconomic groups.

Higher rates of GP consultations were observed in areas of deprivation and amongst lower socioeconomic groups, however, individuals in manual occupations were 10% less likely to attend the GP for preventive care (Goddard et al. 1998 p. 21). Emergency services were utilised more and specialist services less by individuals of low socioeconomic status (Goddard et al. 1998). The evidence that individuals from lower socioeconomic groups tend not to make use of specialist services generally, resonates with research in diabetes which suggests that less advantaged patients with diabetes, in terms of income and education, appear to make greater use of primary care and less use of specialist diabetes services (Bachmann et al. 2003).

3.3.4 Factors Influencing Equitable Access

The factors influencing whether individuals will attend hospital services are known to be complex and multi-faceted involving the characteristics of individuals, health care professionals and the service they provide (Goyder et al. 2000). It is postulated that financial costs act as a barrier for individuals attending 'optional' services although these barriers are not a sufficient deterrent when individuals are ill (Goddard 2008). Whereas individuals in lower socioeconomic groups make much greater use of emergency services, they have a tendency not to keep specialist appointments because those in lower paid jobs find it more difficult to get time off work and may experience problems with arranging child care (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005).

Access may be conceptualised as a continuum with opportunities to interact with services at a number of stages (Gulliford et al. 2001 p. 20). At each stage individuals may choose whether or not to engage with services on offer. It is important to recognise that supply and demand factors affect the uptake of services (Goddard et al. 1998). Equality of treatment also arises out of and is affected by an interaction between supply side (health care provider) and demand side (patient) factors. Equality of access does not equate to equality in treatment (Goddard et al. 1998 p. 14) and availability of service does not equate to utilisation of services (Gulliford et al. 2003).

In principle although individuals may have access to services, as a consequence of barriers this potential access may not be realised (Gulliford et al. 2003 p. 5). Access needs to be viewed more widely than simply service availability and utilisation and these two should be considered separately (Gulliford et al. 2003).

3.3.5 Methodological Problems with the Evidence on Access to Health Care

In their review Goddard and Smith (1998) concluded that many of the studies included in their report exhibited methodological inadequacies. This included possible biases in studies involving the identification of need for services disguising the fact that individuals from low socioeconomic groups were in poorer health and hence had greater need for services. The other drawback with studies reviewed was that despite the evidence of inequities in certain services, simply observing disparities in utilisation did not assist in elucidating the complex intricacies of supply and demand factors influencing these patterns of consumption (Goddard et al. 1998). For example on the supply side, some health care professionals may have a propensity to treat some groups in preference to others. On the demand side some patients may be less inclined to present for treatment in a timely fashion (Goddard et al. 2001). Focusing on the utilisation of services (realised access) does not provide insights into inequities in potential access since it is difficult to determine from these studies how to disentangle the complexities of interaction involved and without a more nuanced insight into access inequity, recommendations for policy prescription are somewhat limited (Goddard et al. 1998). Quantitative research has been able to identify inequities but is less able to explain the findings and disentangle demand and supply side factors (Goddard et al. 2001). The evidence from the current review was largely quantitative and it has been suggested that qualitative research may be better able to extricate demand side and supply side factors influencing equity of access (Goddard et al. 2001).

3.3.6 Providing a Theory of Access to Health Care by Vulnerable Groups

Starting from a position that acknowledges the limitations of research focusing on utilisation of services, Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) suggest that this attention to the amount of services 'consumed' by individuals takes no account of other factors that have considerable influence over access. For example, focusing on utilisation takes no account of the complexity involved in the receipt of health care by individuals. In contrast to the reviews conducted by Goddard and Smith (1998) and Gulliford et al. (2001), Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) proposed a theory to explain access. Rather than providing a systematic review, Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) provide a 'critical interpretive synthesis' of access to health care by vulnerable groups, using an approach grounded in meta-ethnography (p. 6). In common with Goddard and Smith (1998) and Gulliford et al. (2005) concluded that the evidence on access to health care by vulnerable groups was inconclusive and difficult to interpret.

Candidacy theory

Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) proposed a dynamic model in which 'candidacy' was identified as the most useful way to comprehend the way individuals interact with health care systems and could explain the particular issues faced by vulnerable groups in terms of barriers to health care. The term candidacy encompasses the complex interactions involved when an individual presents for health care and includes the notion of acceptance by health care professionals or the individual themselves for potential services. Candidacy theory captures the concept that eligibility for access to health care services is a jointly negotiated undertaking and involves a dynamic component in which interactions between individuals and health care providers are in a constant state of change. Six core categories are used to explain how 'candidacy' for services is 'jointly accomplished by people and health services' (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005, p 97): Identification, permeability, navigation, appearances at health services, adjudications, offers and resistance. The six key concepts and the central core category are depicted in Figure 3.2.





Permeability

Permeability is a term used to describe how easily patients may access services (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005). Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) describe how 'services can be conceptualised as being surrounded by membranes that are more or less porous'. A membrane is described as permeable if it is easy for a patient to cross it; either navigating from one service to another, or

entering the system (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005, p. 86). For example, gaining access to specialist services in a hospital outpatients' department is described as less permeable than visiting the local general practice or emergency department because a greater effort and more resources are required from the patient in order to access the former (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005).

Navigation

Navigation refers to the set of routes a patient may take in order to access services. Some individuals seem better able to negotiate health care services than others. It appears that this ability may be unequally distributed and that lower socioeconomic groups may be disadvantaged. Influences on ability to navigate services include lack of knowledge about what is available, beliefs about the usefulness of seeking help and the problems associated with stigmatising conditions leading to a reluctance to engage with services (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005).

Appearances

The concept of appearances proposes that individuals either present themselves at health care services through their own actions or appear in response to health care initiated invitations. In presenting at health care services individuals assert their candidacy for a particular treatment or service. However, presentation requires effort by patients and it seems that ability to present as an eligible candidate is subject to variation in the population leading to potential disadvantage amongst individuals in lower socioeconomic groups.

Relevant research contests that individuals from lower socioeconomic groups are less able to articulate their needs and present credibly than middle class individuals, possibly due to the social distance between themselves and health care providers (Dixon-Woods et al. 2006). It appears that middle class individuals are better able to articulate their demands whereas individuals from lower socioeconomic groups are less verbally active (Dixon-Woods et al. 2006). Issues of communication were a recurrent theme in a number of studies reviewed by Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) and were an important influence on whether potential access to treatment was converted to realised access or 'in service' access (p. 44).

Adjudications

Adjudications refers to the ways in which individuals are judged, by health care professionals, to be suitable candidates for treatment and services. Adjudications may be adversely

influenced by aspects of patient characteristics more prevalent amongst vulnerable groups, for example co-morbidities or presenting late. Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) identify the study conducted by Hughes and Griffiths (1997) as key to understanding how individuals are judged by doctors to merit various interventions. Hughes and Griffiths (1997), investigating decisionmaking relating to cardiac surgery and specialist neurological rehabilitation, found that doctors' decisions, based on lifestyle factors such as smoking or obesity, identified some patients as less suitable candidates for surgery or other interventions. Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) suggest that patients who are judged to be less likely to do well following interventions and hence may not be identified as suitable candidates are also more likely to be from disadvantaged groups.

Offers and resistance

Health care professionals may or may not make offers of treatment and services to patients. Patients may choose to accept or decline the offers. There has been an assumption in studies investigating utilisation of services that non-utilisation is indicative of non-offers (Dixon-Woods et al. 2006). However, patients can choose to resist offers made following adjudication, either delaying or refusing treatment (Dixon-Woods et al. 2006).

Use of Candidacy theory in empirical research

Candidacy theory has been used to investigate or elucidate aspects of access in mental health services, (Bristow et al. 2011; Kovandzic et al. 2011), emergency and urgent care (Hunter et al. 2013; O'Cathain et al. 2008), diabetes, coronary heart disease or mental health problems in British South Asian patients (Garrett et al. 2012), and systems of care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people (Peiris et al. 2012). Candidacy theory has also been used to develop a model to improve access to psychosocial interventions (Gask et al. 2012).

3.3.7 Reflections on Equitable Access to Diabetes Care

Following this outline of the concepts involved in access to health care, it appears that a more complicated picture emerges for access to care for adults with type 1 diabetes than the one proposed by Mühlhauser et al. (1998b). To recap, Mühlhauser et al. (1998b) showed in their study that although socioeconomic disparities in access to diabetes care were found, study participants in low socioeconomic groups had had opportunities to access all the aspects of diabetes care under investigation. The authors concluded that lack of motivation was the root

cause of poor uptake of services. However, as noted in the previous section, having access to services or being offered services does not necessarily equate to equity of opportunity.

3.3.8 Summary for Equity of Access to Health Care

Research into equity of access for individuals of low socioeconomic status has identified that the area is fraught with complexities. There appears to be greater utilisation of primary care and less of some secondary care services amongst individuals in low socioeconomic groups (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005; Goddard et al. 1998; Gulliford et al. 2001). In addition, preventive health care is less utilised by lower socioeconomic groups. Candidacy theory appears to provide a way to understand how vulnerable groups experience inequity of access (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005) and qualitative research may offer a way to extricate demand and supply side factors involved in inequities in access to health care (Goddard et al. 2001). A key aspect of asserting candidacy for services and treatment involves patients making appearances at health care services and interacting with health care professionals. Patient-provider communication is therefore likely to be an important area of investigation when examining issues of access to intensive regimens in type 1 diabetes.

3.4 Patient-Provider Communication

Patient-provider communication is a crucial element of the therapeutic process (Zolnierek et al. 2009) with the quality of patient-provider interaction playing an important role in both the effectiveness of health care delivery (Drew et al. 2001) and the accessibility of health care for individuals (Willems et al. 2005). The interaction between health care providers and adults with type 1 diabetes is of central importance to the current study since decisions about adopting a given insulin regimen will be conducted in health care settings and involve both patients and their health care providers. In relation to access to health care, therefore, a number of areas of research relating to patient-provider communication appeared to be pertinent. These were: patient involvement in decision-making; socioeconomic influences on patient-provider communication; health literacy: issues related to access and patient-provider communication; the impact of co-morbid depression on patient-provider communication; and patient-provider communication in diabetes care. Section 3.4 focuses on a review of the literature on patient-provider communication relating to these areas. Since the body of literature is large, another systematic review was not considered appropriate. Instead a number of key papers and two books were identified as relevant to the current study and were used as the starting point for the review. These papers were supplemented through further citation and reference searches using Google Scholar and Medline (accessed via Ovid). The following summarises the key literature relevant to the three main areas described above:

- An overview of patient involvement in decision-making (Collins et al. 2007a; Say et al. 2006)
- Patient-provider communication in diabetes care (Brown et al. 2004; Montori et al. 2006)
- Patient-provider communication and the influence of socioeconomic status (Brown et al. 2004; Roter et al. 2006; Verlinde et al. 2012; Willems et al. 2005)

3.4.1 Patient-Centred Care and Involvement in Decision-Making

In recent decades there has been a shift away from paternalistic health care and an impetus to engage patients in an active way in their own health care decisions (Edwards et al. 2009a). Efforts to involve patients in decision-making have resulted in a growth in research focused on how this goal may be accomplished (Elwyn et al. 2009). Various terms have been used to describe approaches to patient-provider communication (Elwyn et al. 2014). These include: patient-centred care; patient involvement; patient engagement; informed patient choice; and shared decision-making (Elwyn et al. 2014). Other researchers have focused on the terms patient participation and partnership (Collins et al. 2007b). The genesis of these approaches, though, all appear to have arisen from an interest and debate about 'patient-centred' care originating in the work of Balint (Enid and Michael) and of Byrne and Long (1976). The latter described the different approaches taken by doctors within the consultation and observed that some were 'doctor-centred' and others 'patient-centred'.

Although there has been some variation in the use of the term 'patient-centred' within studies (Dwamena et al. 2012) nevertheless proponents of the approach appear to share a desire to understand illness from the patient's perspective (Dwamena et al. 2012). Shared decision-making has been seen as 'the crux of patient-centred care' (Godolphin 2009, p. 186). Shared decision-making, viewed as a way to promote a patient-centred approach to care, is particularly relevant given the increasing number of health care choices available (Stacey et al. 2010). The widespread interest in shared decision-making amongst research communities is evidenced by the exponential growth in the publication of related papers in high impact journals in the period 1996 to 2011 (Blanc et al. 2014).

The impetus behind encouraging greater patient involvement in decision-making processes is seen as an 'ethical imperative' by some (Edwards et al. 2009a; Elwyn et al. 2010). Others point

to the growing evidence of benefits of the approach (Légaré et al. 2010; Stacey et al. 2014). For example patients who are more active in decisions about their health have better health outcomes and health care experiences (Hibbard et al. 2013). Shared decision-making is also promoted because of the important part the process may play in three key respects relating to patient safety (Godolphin 2009). First, responses to enquiries into patient safety, for example, the Bristol Enquiry, highlighted the 'failure to put patients at the centre of care' and emphasised the need to 'deliver a high quality, patient-centred service for the twenty first century' where 'patients and staff work in genuine partnership' (Department of Health 2002, p. 1). Second, patient involvement may play a part in avoidable errors that arise as a consequence of poor communication around the use of medication (Godolphin 2009). Third, shared decision-making is viewed as a way to address variation in health care (Coulter et al. 2011; Godolphin 2009).

One of the key imperatives for the drive to involve patients in decision-making, however, has been the growing prevalence of chronic disease and with it an emphasis on self-management (Charles et al. 1997). It is increasingly recognised that the patient needs to have involvement and ownership of their treatment regimen (Charles et al. 1997). Hence, the move to involve patients in decisions about their health care has been reinforced through policy (Department of Health 2010; Department of Health 2013) and through guidance issued by the General Medical Council (2013) and other professional regulatory bodies (the Nursing and Midwifery Council (2015) and the Health and Care Professions Council (2008)).

Defining shared decision-making

Shared decision-making may be defined as a process in which one or more health care professionals together with a patient (or significant other or both) choose a treatment together (Charles et al. 1997; Légaré et al. 2014; Towle et al. 1999). The basis of the process rests on a requirement for health care professionals to present evidence based treatment options and to encourage patients to share in the decision-making process through informed choice and the patient's own expressed preferences (Elwyn et al. 2012).

The concept of shared decision-making is predicated on the notion that both the patient and the health care professional have expertise and as such both parties should be involved in the decision-making process (Coulter et al. 2011). Hence a mutually agreed decision takes account of both the patient's experience of illness and their views on the options presented, together with the information presented by the health care professional formulated through their knowledge and expertise of the possible range of options (Coulter et al. 2011).

The shared decision-making model

According to Edwards et al. (2009a) and Makoul et al. (2006) one of the most commonly cited models of shared decision-making was developed by Charles et al. (1997). This model offers an alternative to two 'polar extremes'. The first of these positions is the paternalistic model depicted as the health care professional making the decision on behalf of the patient. The alternative position identifies the patient as an informed autonomous decision maker (the informed model of decision-making). The shared decision-making model proposed by Charles et al. (1997) offers a mid-way between these two positions. Their approach allows for the patient to be fully informed about the pros and cons of treatment alternatives but also proposes that the health care professional does not abandon the patient to making their decision but rather that they remain involved in the decision-making process without dominating the outcome of the treatment decision (Charles et al. 1997). This model takes account of the empirical evidence which suggests that although not all patients want the same level of involvement, very few patients want none at all (Charles et al. 1997). The key features proposed for this model are:

- At least two participants are involved in the process (patient and physician)
- There is a sharing of information by both parties
- Participants in the process are involved in building a consensus regarding the preferred treatment option
- Both parties reach an agreement on the treatment decision

This model was further summarised comprising three key phases: information exchange, deliberation and treatment decision (Elwyn et al. 2001). Although the essential elements of shared decision-making have been identified and summarised (Makoul et al. 2006), Elwyn et al. (2012) argue that relatively little attention has been paid to providing pragmatic advice regarding the implementation of the shared decision-making process in routine clinical settings. In order to address this need for advice Elwyn at al. (2012) propose a model for 'how to do shared decision-making in routine settings'. The authors recommend the use of a three step model that comprises: 'choice talk', 'option talk' and 'decision talk' (Elwyn et al. 2012). First, 'choice talk' relates to the task of letting patients know that options exist. Second, 'option talk' is about laying out possible courses of action whilst eliciting patient knowledge, describing the pros and cons of the various options decision talk and providing decision support tools where applicable. Third, 'decision talk' involves encouraging the patient to

identify their preferences whilst eliciting if the patient is ready and willing to make a decision and if not recommending that the decision may be deferred (Elwyn et al. 2012).

Elwyn et al. (2012) contend that the objective of shared decision-making should be to enable individuals to 'act independently and to make their own free choices' and that this is best accomplished in two key ways. First, the primary objective of shared decision-making should be to ensure that patients have the necessary high quality information to provide a sound basis from which to engage in the process of decision-making. Second, a key aspect of the model is the need to allow individuals time to think about the options discussed. This process is termed 'deliberation' and it is understood that this may in part be conducted outside the clinical environment. It would seem that 'deliberation' is the key to shared decision-making and there is an important distinction to be made between 'deliberation' and 'determination' (Politi et al. 2013). Although not all patients want to make a choice ('determination') many want to be involved in the decision-making process ('deliberation') (Politi et al. 2013).

Has shared decision-making been adopted?

Although promoted as the ideal, shared decision-making is not widely experienced by patients or practised by health care professionals (Entwistle et al. 2008; Stevenson et al. 2000; Stevenson et al. 2004; Stringer et al. 2008) and in particular appeared not to be experienced by adults with type 1 diabetes around 10 years ago (Paterson 2001). According to Elwyn et al. (2010) shared decision-making 'implementation has proved difficult and slow' (p. 971). It appears that patients are not always fully informed prior to decisions (Coulter 2010; Fagerlin et al. 2010) despite many patients having a preference for shared decision-making (Hibbard 2008). Although patients who are involved in decision-making have better outcomes, very often patients are not involved in decisions (Légaré et al. 2014).

Influences on shared decision-making

The reasons why shared decision-making has not been widely adopted appear to relate to both patient and health care professional factors. For example it has been observed that although advocated as the optimum model of patient-provider communication, shared decision-making should not be assumed to be the ideal in all circumstances (Edwards et al. 2009a). Some patients may be reticent to take on a participative role (Stevenson 2007) and prefer a paternalist approach to decision-making or the informed model of decision-making (Murray et al. 2006). Hence it has been argued that the term shared decision-making should be used to indicate the degree of involvement preferred by the patient and the ways in which

health care professionals can strive to meet and realise these preferences (Edwards et al. 2009a).

From the health care professional perspective a systematic review of barriers and facilitators found that the three most commonly reported hindrances to shared decision-making were time constraints, the influence of patient characteristics and the clinical situation. Légaré at al. (2008) suggest that health care professionals make judgements about which patients may benefit the most from the shared decision-making approach and that this in turn leaves open the possibility that health care professionals may incorrectly perceive that some patients are not interested in the process. In contrast the most commonly reported factors facilitating shared decision-making were health care professional motivation and perceived positive impact on both patient outcomes and on the clinical process (Légaré et al. 2008).

Patient preferences for shared decision-making

There is evidence that various factors are influential in patients becoming involved in the decision-making process. In their narrative review, Say et al. (2006) found certain demographic variables were influential in determining patient preference for involvement in decision-making Younger, better educated and female patients had a preference for playing a more active role in making decisions. In contrast individuals of low socioeconomic status, as measured by occupation and income, had a preference for a more passive role. Health status was found to influence patient preferences for involvement. Individuals with more serious conditions for example, severe diabetes, heart disease and recently diagnosed breast cancer patients have shown a preference for less involvement. This finding was not consistent across all serious conditions however, for example women with ovarian cancer had a preference to share decisions (Say et al. 2006).

All the quantitative studies in the review by Say et al. (2006) were of observational design and hence causality cannot be assumed. Additionally there were problems of sample size (too small and in some cases too homogeneous) and therefore studies may have been prone to bias. The authors acknowledged that some of the limitations of the studies in their review involved the measurement of variables. For example the complexity of decision-making preferences may not be fully reflected in quantitative studies because the possible response options for participants are limited. Qualitative research was therefore also reviewed in order to offer a more nuanced explanation for the results of the quantitative studies. This aspect of the review found that some patients, whilst wishing to participate, may have felt that they did not have the knowledge and expertise to involve themselves in decision-making (Charles et al.

1998). Another study of patients with type 1 diabetes found that stage of illness had a bearing on the level of support patients required from health care professionals (Thorne et al. 2001). This study was, however, limited to individuals who had either selected themselves or who had been nominated as experts. In another study (involving patients with cancer), having a good relationship with health care professionals, actively seeking information and being encouraged to participate was found to promote involvement whereas poor relationships tended to restrict involvement (Sainio et al. 2001). Whereas the review by Say et al. (2006) focused on patient preferences there is evidence that patient involvement in consultations is influenced by both patient and provider characteristics.

3.4.2 Patient-Provider Communication and Socioeconomic Status

The previous section identified shared decision-making as an ideal goal for patient-provider communication but acknowledged that the process has not been widely adopted. This section discusses research findings that focus on some of the barriers to effective communication between patients and providers relating to socioeconomic factors that are also likely to adversely affect attempts to implement shared decision-making. This is particularly pertinent to the current thesis since socioeconomic disparities in communication have been postulated as a hindrance to the ability of individuals to benefit from diabetes health care (Brown et al. 2004).

The influence of socioeconomic factors on the relationship between patients and health care providers has been the focus of much research (Verlinde et al. 2012). In this section the ways in which communication may affect the ability of health care providers to deliver equitable health care are discussed. Drawing on a number of systematic reviews as a starting point, and using a 'snowballing' technique (Booth et al. 2012 p. 78) in conjunction with citation and reference searches, this section identifies the prominent influences on socioeconomic disparities in communication. These include: the style of communication adopted by both patients and providers; the role of information provision; and the ways in which patients experience disparities in relation to this key factor.

Style of communication

It would appear that socioeconomic disparities influence patient participation in health care communication. This is of particular concern given the prominence of shared decision-making as a goal in health care communication. In their systematic review of the social gradient in doctor-patient communication Verlinde et al. (2012) discussed the influences on patientcentred approaches. For example, in a cross sectional study conducted in the USA Kaplan et al. (1995) found that a participatory decision-making style was associated with levels of education. Adults without education above the level of high school experienced consultations with less patient participation than those with a college education (Kaplan et al. 1995).

It also appears that shared decision-making can be affected by the style of communication adopted by health care professionals with those of low socioeconomic status. In a review of the effects of socioeconomic status on communication, patients from lower socioeconomic groups received a more directive approach, less participatory discussion, had less control over the direction of the conversation and received less information from doctors (Willems et al. 2005). In one study, patients of low educational attainment received a more directive style of communication and patient expectations were less likely to have been met (Fiscella et al. 2002).

Hence it would appear that style of communication is implicated in socioeconomic disparities. Roter et al. (1997), exploring patterns of communication in primary care doctors, found a spectrum that ranged from the 'narrowly biomedical' (closed questions and talk relating to biomedical matters) to a 'consumerist' pattern that involved patients asking questions and doctors giving information. Patients that experienced communication in the narrowly biomedical pattern were more likely to be of low socioeconomic status. There was less scope for these patients to have discussions involving psychosocial issues and less communicative control for these individuals.

These findings need to be viewed with caution. As noted in section 3.4.1 patient preferences also play a part in socioeconomic disparities. In research conducted in the UK, Mckinstry (2000) found that lower socioeconomic status (educational level) was associated with a preference for a more directive rather than shared approach to decision-making. Hence there are complex factors involved in patient-provider communication. There also appears to be evidence of bidirectional influences on patient involvement. Willems et al. (2005) provides evidence of this in a review of the socioeconomic factors on patient involvement since it appears that patients with higher levels of education engender a more participatory approach from physicians and that in turn patient communication style is further influenced by partnership building utterances (Street 1992; Street 1991).

Disparities in information sharing

It appears that information sharing may be a key influence on some of the socioeconomic disparities noted in patient-provider communication research. In chronic disease management, the exchange of information is essential to the process of shared decision-making (Montori et al. 2006). However, although information sharing is an important component of patient-provider communication, it remains an area of difficulty in health care interactions (Street 1991). A number of early studies showed a positive relationship between information giving by health care professionals and socioeconomic status of patients (Pendleton et al. 1980; Street 1991; Waitzkin 1985). In an early study of patient doctor communication both education and social class predicted how much information was received by patients (Waitzkin 1985). Both college educated and individuals of corporate and upper middle class backgrounds received more information than those who were not college educated or were from lower middle and working class backgrounds. Waitzkin (1985) also found that the higher socioeconomic groups had lengthier consultations and more explanations from doctors. Education rather than social class was found to be more important in explaining the transmission of communication (Waitzkin 1985).

'Passive' and 'active' patients

Some reasons for socioeconomic disparities in information sharing were suggested by Street (1991). In this study patients who were the recipients of more information tended to have higher educational levels, were more anxious and were younger than other participants. The author proposed that information giving was related to patients' communication behaviour (asking questions) and differences in anxiety and education levels amongst patients. This suggested that greater information giving by the doctors was in response to a more verbally active and assertive patient. Hence some patients received less information both because of their communication style as well as their social characteristics.

These findings relating socioeconomic status to patient-provider communication were strengthened in a follow up study in which Street (1992) found that patients of higher educational level were more verbally active in interaction with doctors and asked more questions than other participants. It appeared that some patients were more involved in the consultation with doctors than others. Social and personal characteristics were found to have played a part in patient communication (Street 1992). Older more educated patients generally offered more opinions and provided more information. Patients from lower socioeconomic

groups tended to be more reticent than their counterparts in the higher socioeconomic groups (Street 1992).

The results of these studies suggest that communication was influenced by both health care professional and patient characteristics and the interplay between both. For example Street (1992) observed that physician communication may well be influenced by patients asking questions because normatively, answers follow questions and hence physicians provide more information to patients who are verbally assertive. Street (1992) draws on the work of conversation analysts in making this point and in particular the work of Sacks, Schlegoff and Jefferson in their landmark study 'A simplest systematics for the organization of turn-taking for conversation' (Sacks et al. 1974). Amongst those individuals with high educational attainment and social status there appears to be a tendency to seek clarification through questioning and to be more involved in the decision-making process (Scambler 2003). In a study conducted in the UK only 25% of individuals from lower socioeconomic groups sought clarification in a consultation with their GP compared with 45% in the higher socioeconomic groups. This clarification process precipitated a lengthier discussion and consultation (Tuckett et al. 1985).

Cultural distance and influences on patient-provider communication

It has been suggested that there is less cultural distance between higher socioeconomic groups and health care professionals compared with their counterparts in lower socioeconomic groups and that this contributes to a greater ease in communication between the former and their health care providers (Willems et al. 2005). The tendency for individuals in low socioeconomic groups to be more diffident in consultations than individuals of higher socioeconomic status was noted by Waizkin (1985). This was explained by sociolinguistic differences associated with education and social class. Whereas the desire for information did not differ amongst socioeconomic groups, the diffidence amongst individuals from lower socioeconomic group led doctors to assume, incorrectly, a lack of interest about information (Waitzkin 1985).

Willems et al. (2005) discussed the disadvantages to patients of low socioeconomic status in both having a more passive style of communication and of being perceived by health care professionals as less interested in information relating to their health. Waitzkin (1985) found that differences in the way socioeconomic groups communicate with health care professionals are likely to amount to significant barriers to interaction.

Communication is influenced by both patient and provider characteristics

Verlinde et al. (2012) conclude that the social gradient in patient provider communication is a complex mix of patient and health care professional characteristics. Patients and health care professionals are influenced by each other in the ways that they communicate. Although patients have the ability to influence health care professional communicative behaviour it seems that patients of lower socioeconomic status tend not to be as able to exert as much control in the health care interaction as patients from higher socioeconomic groups (Verlinde et al. 2012).

The impact of socioeconomic status on shared decision-making

The influence of socioeconomic status has been suggested as a barrier to shared decisionmaking and there have been calls for further research to investigate these factors (Durand et al. 2014). It seems likely that there will be a propensity for the articulate and well educated patient to be attracted to shared decision-making leaving less advantaged individuals possibly disengaged with the process (Coulter et al. 2011). These disparities may lead to an increase in health inequalities (Durand et al. 2014). A recent review suggested that shared decisionmaking interventions resulted in improved outcomes for lower socioeconomic status participants including increased knowledge and participation in decision-making (Durand et al. 2014). Disparities between disadvantaged and higher literacy/higher socioeconomic status participants post-intervention were eliminated in a number of areas relating to: knowledge; decisional conflict; and preferences for treatment, thus highlighting the potential of these interventions to reduce health inequalities (Durand et al. 2014). Health literacy is postulated as one of the key influences on ability to influence the health care interaction and lower health literacy is often found in individuals of lower socioeconomic status (Verlinde et al. 2012; Paasche-Orlow et al. 2007). The following section discusses disparities in health literacy and the ways in which this factor may affect patient-provider communication.

3.4.3 Health literacy: Issues Relating to Access and Health Care Communication

Defining health literacy

It is acknowledged that low levels of literacy pose a problem in the developed world (Easton et al. 2013). In England functional literacy has been defined as 'the ability to read, write and speak in English, and to use mathematics at a level necessary to function at work and in society in general' (Moser 1999). In England five levels are used to measure literacy and numeracy (see Box 3.1).

Box 3.1 Measures of literacy and numeracy

Entry Level 1: the national school curriculum equivalent for attainment at age 5-7Entry Level 2: the national school curriculum equivalent for attainment at age 7-9Entry Level 3: the national school curriculum equivalent for attainment at age 9-11

Level 1: equivalent to GCSE grades D-G

Level 2: equivalent to GCSE grades A*-C

Level 1 (for literacy) and Entry Level 3 (for numeracy) have been identified as the minimum standards required for individuals to be able to function adequately at both work and in society (Moser 1999). In England the Skills for Life survey of literacy levels amongst English adults found that 15% of respondents (the equivalent of 5.1 million working age adults) were at or below the level of attainment of an 11 year old (i.e. below the equivalent of the General Certificate of Secondary Education Grades D-G). In relation to numeracy, 24% of respondents (the equivalent of 8.1 million working age adults) fell below Entry Level 3 (that is, below the equivalent attainment of a 9 year old) (Department for Business Innovation and Skills 2012).

It is postulated that low literacy and numeracy levels are correlated with poor health outcomes; the preferred concept is that of health literacy (Easton et al. 2010). Health literacy is 'a set of skills that people need to function effectively in the health care environment' (Berkman et al. 2011a, p.97) and relates to the acquisition, processing, and understanding of health care information required for effective decision-making (Berkman et al. 2011b). The World Health Organisation (1998) define health literacy as 'the cognitive and social skills which determine the motivation and ability of individuals to gain access to, understand and use information in ways which promote and maintain good health' (p. 20).

There has been much debate about definitions, conceptualisation and measurement of health literacy (Smith et al. 2013). Some definitions are restricted to the concept of skills in literacy. Others use the term more expansively to encompass the ways in which individuals are able to interact socially. A widely cited model of health literacy, proposed by Nutbeam (2000), utilises a broader definition comprising three levels. First, functional literacy encompasses the minimum elementary skills required for reading and writing. Second, communicative literacy involves a level of social skills that enables individuals to elicit information and meaning from a

variety of communication scenarios and to be able to apply this information to dynamic situations. Third, critical literacy is the cognitive skill involved in being able to analyse information in a way that enables individuals to exert greater power over their circumstances and events in their lives (Nutbeam 2000).

The relationship between functional literacy and health literacy is not straightforward (Easton et al. 2010). Although some factors would appear to be common to both concepts it has been difficult to distinguish between the impacts of each. For example high functional literacy does not guarantee high health literacy although having low functional literacy is likely to inhibit high levels of health literacy (Easton et al. 2010).

Health literacy and health outcomes

Regardless of the ways in which health literacy is defined, a growing literature has acknowledged that health literacy skills are strongly associated with health related outcomes (Berkman et al. 2011a; Easton et al. 2010). For example, poor health literacy was associated with higher emergency department utilisation (Baker et al. 2004) and a greater likelihood of hospitalisation (Baker et al. 2002). Those with poor health literacy were less knowledgeable about health (Gazmararian et al. 2003; Williams et al. 1998), used less preventive care (Scott et al. 2002) and had worse chronic illness control (Schillinger et al. 2002). In adult patients with diabetes, sub-optimal glycaemic control was associated with inadequate health literacy (Schillinger et al. 2002). Patients with inadequate health literacy were also more likely than those with adequate health literacy to report retinopathy (Schillinger et al. 2002).

In a systematic review a relationship was found between functional or health literacy and ability to manage long term conditions (Easton et al. 2010). Low health literacy was associated with poorer adherence to treatment regimens in studies involving both HIV/AIDS and asthma patients (Easton et al. 2010). In a recent review, literacy and numeracy were associated with knowledge relating to diabetes (Bailey et al. 2014).

Although research has identified associations between health literacy and various health related factors there has been less success in establishing the causal pathways involved in these relationships (Dewalt et al. 2004; Paasche-Orlow et al. 2007). Paasche-Orlow et al. (2007) acknowledge that given the associations between health literacy and socioeconomic factors such as age, ethnicity and educational attainment it is difficult to extricate the independent effect of the health literacy component. Due to the complexity of relationships and the interrelatedness of the factors the authors' model of causal pathways connecting

health literacy to health outcomes focuses on direct linkages between health literacy and health outcomes whilst also acknowledging that there are other less direct factors involved.

Three domains are included in their conceptual model of proposed causal pathways: access and utilisation of health care; provider-patient interaction and self-care. Each of the three domains is further subdivided into patient level factors and system level factors in order to acknowledge the importance of both the patient and factors external to the patient in the model. Paasche-Orlow et al. 2007 considered the potential influence of poor health literacy on access and utilisation of services, including the notion that poor health literacy may lead to delays in help seeking, feelings of inadequacy and shame at the prospect of health encounters deterring primary prevention access and difficulties navigating health care services due to the complexity of directions and instructions.

In a systematic review investigating the relationship between low functional or health literacy and health, Easton et al. (2010) found that difficulties were associated less with gaining initial access than with patients making the most appropriate use of services and being able to attain suitable treatment. The authors suggested that being able to access appropriate services and good quality treatment may mediate some of the associations between low functional and health literacy and poorer outcomes. This suggests that what happens when patients interact with health care services is of particular importance and that patient-provider communication is likely to be a key influencing factor.

The impact of health literacy on patient-provider communication

Health literacy and the impact of information on shared decision-making

In section 3.4.1 the role of information exchange was described as an essential element in shared decision-making and socioeconomic disparities in information exchange were discussed in section 3.4.2. For effective shared decision-making, patients need to be informed about the treatment options and possess an understanding of the risks and benefits of treatment. Studies have shown that poorly informed patients may affect the shared decision-making process. For example, in a study conducted in the US, patient knowledge about the facts surrounding decisions that patients had recently made was poor (Fagerlin et al. 2010). Patient characteristics and the type of decision had a bearing on the patient's knowledge (Fagerlin et al. 2010). Part of the problem appeared to be the lack of awareness patients have in relation to their knowledge deficits (King et al. 2011).

It also appears that poor health literacy is an important influence on information exchange (Edwards et al. 2009a). In their review, Ishikawa et al. (2008) found associations between health literacy and the ability to elicit information from health care professionals as well as difficulties in understanding information imparted from health care professionals. Poor reading ability amongst low income elderly patients was associated with the use of television as the main source of health related information. Ishikawa et al. (2008) suggest that the evidence on the impact of health literacy largely focuses on the functional aspects of the concept and it appears that there is a gap in the research relating to communicative and critical health literacy (Ishikawa et al. (2008).

Edwards' et al. (2009) meta-synthesis provides a conceptualisation of external influences on information exchange in shared decision-making where health literacy mediates patient related influences and is also an influence on empowerment. Health literacy appears to act as a facilitator or inhibitor in relation to whether or not patients are motivated to seek information and having acquired information, determines whether or not this knowledge is used in their health care interactions. What appears to be a key influence is the ability to assess critically the acquired information. These critical health literacy skills go beyond functional health literacy and require patients to be able to communicate effectively their understanding of the acquired information. Edwards et al. (2009b) concluded that more equitable health care encounters could be facilitated by addressing the improvement of information exchange.

The impact of health literacy on the quality of communication and patient involvement

In their review Paasche-Orlow et al. 2007 consider the ways in which health literacy may impact on patient-provider communication. They asserted that having less knowledge about a disease has a number of implications in terms of communicating with health care providers, including feelings of shame if patients are aware of their knowledge gaps and an avoidance of asking questions of their health care professionals. The authors observed that links have also been made between low literacy and mental health problems. They proposed that this may lead patients to adopt a passive stance within consultations and in some cases may lead to problems with 'miscommunication' (Paasche-Orlow et al. 2007 p. S22).

In a review of the 'hidden population' of people with low literacy, Easton et al. (2010) observed that factors external to the patient may moderate the impact of low functional or health literacy including the ability of health care professionals to recognise these difficulties amongst
their patients and hence to accommodate them. In their review, Easton et al. 2010 focused on individuals with literacy difficulties that may not be readily apparent to health care professionals.

The concept of health literacy and its influence has been proposed as a potential barrier to effective participation in health care (Ishikawa et al. 2009; Protheroe et al. 2009). There has been increasing interest in the important influence of health literacy for effective communication (Lambert 2014) and interventions for individuals with low health literacy (Sheridan 2011, Berkman 2011)). The model of health literacy proposed by Nutbeam (2000) (defined above) appears to be pertinent in relation to shared decision-making since it highlights the health literacy skill levels (functional, interactive and critical) that are necessary to achieve an increasing level of decision-making involvement (Smith et al. 2013). Although there is an expectation that patients will be more involved in decision-making, there are concerns that some do not have the ability to do so (Hibbard et al. 2007) and it appears that low health literacy and low numeracy pose a challenge to shared decision-making (Elwyn et al. 2012; Smith et al. 2013). For example a recent study found that low health literacy was implicated in perceived barriers to care and attitudes towards shared decision-making amongst low socioeconomic status parents (Yin et al. 2012). Those with low health literacy reported a feeling that they were not partners in decision-making and that they were more likely to leave the decision-making to doctors (Yin et al. 2012).

The impact of health literacy on patient involvement and communication more generally has been investigated in a recent review conducted by McCaffery et al. (2013). The review found that individuals with lower health literacy were less inclined to want to participate than those with higher literacy. Additionally lower health literacy was associated with asking fewer questions and also less involvement in the medical encounter. Lower patient-centred consultations were reported for individuals of lower health literacy. One study found no difference between the experience of higher and lower health literacy patients in terms of their perceptions of involvement in the consultation and one study reported that lower health literacy patients had a greater satisfaction with their health care encounter. In contrast a study of patients with breast cancer found that lower health literacy patients were less satisfied with decisions in relation to treatment. One study investigating the three forms of health literacy outlined above (functional, communicative and critical) found that individuals with lower communicative health literacy were more satisfied with the doctor's explanations as the amount of information they received increased. This relationship did not appear to be so clear for individuals with higher communicative literacy (McCaffery et al. 2013).

In a review of health literacy and health outcomes in diabetes, Al Sayah et al. (2013) also investigated patient-provider communication. On the basis of their more limited number of papers they found that higher health literacy was associated with better patient-provider communication and better information exchange. The evidence from all studies was however, rated as low (Al Sayah et al. 2013).

Low health literacy appears to be associated with low socioeconomic status, the elderly and those with chronic conditions (Protheroe et al. 2009). It appears that whilst shared decision-making is the ideal, promoting this approach without considering health literacy amongst the population may lead to an exacerbation of health inequalities (Protheroe et al. 2009). These inequities will arise if there are disparities between those well able to engage with health care services and those who are 'least able to navigate their way into the health care system, interact successfully with health care professionals and understand disease prevention and management options' (Protheroe et al. 2009, p. 722).

Health literacy and interventions to promote patient engagement in decision-making

It is known that people with low health literacy tend to defer to health care professionals to make decisions for them (Shalowitz et al. 2004) and also tend to have less good health outcomes than people who are more actively involved in their health (Coulter et al. 2011). The term 'patient activation' has been used to describe the 'characteristics that enable a patient to take a more active part in the health care consultation and management of their illness' (McCaffery et al. 2010, p. 41). The core components that facilitate active engagement are patient knowledge, skills and confidence (Hibbard et al. 2005). A systematic review of studies attempting to develop patient activation amongst the general population found improvements in health outcomes and adherence (Michie 2003). A Cochrane review reporting on interventions designed to enhance patient participation through a range of strategies for helping patients to elicit the information they need in health care consultations found a small increase in levels of questions asked and patient satisfaction (Kinnersley et al. 2007). Both reviews were of studies conducted in the general population. As noted previously health literacy levels affect health outcomes, information exchange and engagement in the decisionmaking process and there is growing interest in decision support interventions that take account of different levels of health literacy (Frosch et al. 2014). Although it seems pertinent that health literacy levels should be taken into consideration in the development of patient decision aids it appears that this is rarely the case (McCaffery et al. 2013). Additionally, the authors identified a lack of papers investigating health literacy interventions to support

patient-provider communication. In their review of health literacy and patient decision aids, McCaffery et al. (2013) concluded that individuals with lower health literacy should be a priority for improvements in supporting the decision-making process.

3.4.4 The Impact of Depressive Symptoms on Patient-Provider Communication

In their review of socioeconomic factors in relation to diabetes, Brown et al. (2004) identified mental health issues as an important influence in relation to access to health care. According to Brown et al. (2004) depression is more likely in individuals with diabetes than in the general population and mental health issues are more common amongst individuals of low socioeconomic status (Brown et al. 2004). In a systematic review, rates of clinical depression in adults with type 1 diabetes were 12.0% compared with 3.2% for control subjects (Barnard et al. 2006). Depression in diabetes has been associated with hyperglycaemia and increased risk of complications (Barnard et al. 2006).

In the previous section it was noted that Paasche-Orlow et al. (2007) had postulated the ways in which mental health problems, which are more common amongst individuals with lower health literacy, may adversely impact on patient-provider communication. In their review of the influence of socioeconomic factors in individuals with diabetes, Brown et al. (2004) also made reference to the potentially adverse influence that depression may have on communication with health care providers.

A small body of relatively recent research investigating patient-provider communication in relation to depression and/or depressive symptoms in co-morbid chronic disease was identified for this review using Medline and PsycINFO with search terms including: depression; depressive symptoms; communication; and diabetes. This was further supplemented through a combination of citation and reference searches using Google Scholar. Five papers were identified which investigated communication and depressive symptoms in relation to: coronary heart disease (Schenker et al. 2009); HIV (Jonassaint et al. 2013); and diabetes (Beverly et al. 2012; Green et al. 2012; Swenson et al. 2008). All five were conducted in the USA.

In one study, investigating adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, no discernible difference in patient-centred communication was found in relation to levels of depressive symptoms (Green et al. 2012). Communication overall, however, was not patient-centred in most cases (Green et al. (2012). In another paper, adult patients with severe depressive symptoms and type 2 diabetes were more likely than those patients without depressive symptoms to report 'sub-

optimal' communication across four patient-centred domains including the elicitation of patient problems, empowerment, explanations of condition and decision-making (Swenson et al. 2008). A study that included adult individuals with type 1 and type 2 diabetes found that the majority of participants had confidence in their doctor, liked their doctor and described a good working relationship with their doctor (Beverly et al. 2012). Nevertheless approximately a third of participants were reluctant to discuss their self-care with the doctor and this reluctance to communicate was associated with depressive symptoms (Beverly et al. 2012). In relation to coronary heart disease, co-morbid depressive symptoms were associated with adult patient dissatisfaction with doctor-patient communication including patients reporting poor explanations from providers of health care and lack of responsiveness to patient preferences (Schenker et al. 2009). One study investigating the impact of depressive symptoms on patientprovider communication in adult individuals with HIV found that provider ratings were more negative for individuals with more depressive symptoms than other patients (Jonassaint et al. 2013). In this study patients with more depressive symptoms felt that their health care professionals lacked respect for them as people (Jonassaint et al. 2013). A framework for contextualising the findings of these studies in relation to patient-provider communication in adults with depressive symptoms includes three possible pathways: visit recall; visit content; and visit process (Swenson et al. 2008).

Visit recall refers to the proposal that the condition itself leads patients to view their interactions negatively and that their recollection is skewed (Swenson et al. 2008). Whereas Schenker et al. (2009) propose that patient perception and reports of communication with their health care providers are influenced by the patient's psychological condition, Swenson et al. (2008) view this as less plausible. The authors argue that if misinterpretation due to psychological factors were a plausible explanation, the other communication domains, for example patient trust and information sharing, would also have been implicated in feelings of dissatisfaction. That this is not the case suggests that other explanations should be sought (Swenson et al. 2008).

Visit content refers to the potential impact that having multiple conditions may lead to different patient-provider communication between those with and those without depressive symptoms (Swenson et al. 2008). This includes the difficulties experienced by health care professionals in relation to having the time to deal with multiple issues in a single consultation. Time pressures may mean that health care professionals may not diagnose and hence treat depression amongst people with diabetes (Swenson et al. 2008).

Visit process refers to factors involved in the way that patient and providers interact with each other. It may be that doctors communicate differently with patients with depressive symptoms. For example, Swenson et al. (2008) discuss the potential problem that patients with depressive symptoms may not be liked by their health care providers and consequently the latter may become frustrated and disengaged with patients. Evidence that process factors may be a plausible explanation was found in a qualitative study of GP perceptions of patients with depression (Chew-Graham et al. 2000). This study found evidence of reported 'interactional difficulties' between GPs and patients with depression (Chew-Graham et al. 2000). GPs reported that they often felt frustrated and drained when interacting with depressed patients and overall there was a feeling that this work was 'an unrewarding domain of clinical practice' (Chew-Graham et al. 2000, p.140).

Patients who are depressed may also behave differently to patients without depressive symptoms, for example they may exhibit a passive stance in the health care interaction (Swenson et al. 2008). There is a tendency for 'active' patients to be more involved in decisionmaking and for 'passive' patients to receive a more directive style of communication from health care professionals (Swenson et al. 2008). Patients with depression may also have difficulty discussing their problems with health care professionals. In a study conducted in a primary care setting patients' perceptions of the quality of care for depression revealed that depression itself appeared to have a disruptive effect on patient-provider communication (Gask et al. 2003). Half of the patients in this study reported a reluctance to talk to doctors about their problems with depression citing reasons that it was not acceptable 'to take up the doctor's time' reflecting feelings of low self-worth. This is also evident for individuals with diabetes and depressive symptoms who did not want 'to disappoint their doctor or to be judged by their doctor' (Beverly et al. 2012, p.1470). Most patients with depression have a preference for a partnership style of communication; hence there is likely to be a clash between their preferences and what is achievable given that an inability to engage with health care professionals is likely to result in conflicting styles of communication (Swenson et al. 2008). This appears to explain why patients with depressive symptoms reported substandard communication in relation to empowerment and decision-making (Swenson et al. 2008).

This review has identified a number of factors that add to the complexity of patient-provider communication. These include potential barriers associated with socioeconomic status, low health literacy and co-morbid depressive symptoms. The final part of the review focuses on patient-provider communication in relation to diabetes care.

3.4.5 Patient-Provider Communication in Diabetes⁴ Care

The importance of patient involvement in the health care process is particularly relevant in chronic disease management and of great importance in a disease such as diabetes that requires an enormous commitment to self-care by patients (Ishikawa et al. 2009). The impact of patient-provider communication has been documented in a number of studies involving patients with diabetes. For example, effective physician communication has been found to be correlated positively with patient adherence to treatment (Zolnierek et al. 2009). Additionally, in a randomised trial increasing patient involvement in diabetes decision-making was found to improve blood glucose control (Greenfield et al. 1988). In diabetes research, systematic reviews have found evidence that interventional studies promoting patient involvement in the decision-making process have led to improvements in both quality of life and HbA1c levels (Montori et al. 2006). In a study of patients with type 2 diabetes, involving patients of low socioeconomic group in decision-making led to greater patient satisfaction (Golin et al. 2002). The most satisfied group were those who had expressed little interest in being involved in decision-making (Golin et al. 2002) hence indicating the importance of involving patients who might initially express a reluctance to be involved in decision-making. It also suggests that the supposition that some patients 'are not able or do not want to participate in decision-making is inconsistent with both the evidence and contemporary models of care' (Politi et al. 2013, p.2).

Success in managing diabetes comprises a partnership between health care professionals and patients so that agreed optimum treatment strategies may facilitate the patient in managing the disease (Heisler et al. 2003). In relation to health care professional influences on patient outcomes in diabetes, Heisler et al. (2002) strengthened the findings of earlier studies indicating the importance of a participatory style for decision-making. Satisfaction with health care professional communication and a participatory decision-making style predicted diabetes self-care behaviour. This indicated that improved self-management as a result of patient-provider communication offered an explanation for the improvements in health outcomes observed in previous studies (Heisler et al. 2003). In a study involving adults with type 2 diabetes, Heisler et al. (2003) found that the characteristics of patients more likely to agree on goals and strategies with their health care providers were individuals with more education, those with a greater confidence in the efficacy of the treatment regimen and those who had

⁴ Much of the research on diabetes in this review does not specify type of diabetes. Type of diabetes will be specified where it is given in the paper.

shared in the decision-making. In general however, agreement on treatment decision-making was low in this primary care setting.

The influence of provider communication as a barrier to improved outcomes was found in a study of patients with type 2 diabetes (Street, Jr. et al. 1993). Patients who interacted with nurses who exhibited more directive communication had poorer metabolic control. In contrast patient involvement in decision-making was associated with nurses' use of patient-centred communication (Street, Jr. et al. 1993).

In a recent systematic review of factors influencing adult patient ability to self-manage diabetes, communication with health care providers was found to be a key issue (Wilkinson et al. 2014). The authors identified aspects of communication that impacted both positively and negatively on ability to self-care. Negative aspects involved patients who struggled to communicate their requirements, questions and concerns and hence these needs were not addressed by their health care providers. In contrast 'respectful' communication involved patients experiencing dialogue that acknowledged that 'their opinions had value' (Wilkinson et al. 2014). The authors concluded that partnership building with patients was likely to be impeded by some of the barriers to communication identified in their review.

Qualitative findings on decision-making in diabetes

Adopting a qualitative approach to investigating patient involvement allows researchers the ability to explore some of the complexities of decision-making not readily apparent in studies limited to quantitative methods (Smith et al. 2009). Two papers, utilising a qualitative approach, were found that provided a more nuanced understanding of aspects of communication in relation to decision-making in diabetes. Treatment decision-making in diabetes was explored from the perspective of patient involvement in a study by Entwistle et al. (2008) and from the perspective of the manner in which doctors talked with patients about their treatments in a study by Collins et al. (2005). The former study (Entwistle et al. 2008) involved interviewing twenty patients (a mix of type 1 and type 2 patients). This study found that patients' views on whether or not they were involved in their subjective experience. The 'ethos and feel' of the consultation and whether or not they were encouraged or enabled influenced their opinion on whether or not they felt that they had been involved in decisions (Entwistle et al. 2008, p. 372). The authors asserted that their study highlighted some inadequacies in focusing more narrowly on some of the actions involved in consultations, for

example, information exchange. They argued that more emphasis should be placed on the patient's subjective experience and for example the importance of feeling respected.

Using conversation analytic techniques, Collins et al. (2005) approached an investigation of patient participation in decision-making by observing the respective parts played by patients and professionals in videotaped consultations in primary care (diabetes related) and a specialist centre for oncology. Patterns of communication adopted by doctors were categorised as ranging on a continuum from 'bilateral' approaches that encouraged more patient involvement to 'unilateral' approaches that tended to diminish the options for patient participation (Collins et al. 2005, p. 2625). This more nuanced investigation of patient participation suggested that involvement of patients in treatment decision-making was influenced by the approach taken, either 'unilateral' or 'bilateral'. However, Collins et al. (2005) also observed that patient involvement in the consultations was, in general, low and that 'bilateral' approaches did not guarantee patient participation in the final decision. Collins et al. (2005) recommended that further analysis of these styles of communication was warranted since their occurrence might differ according to clinical setting. No further qualitative studies were found relating to decision-making in specialist centres for adults with type 1 diabetes.

3.4.6 Summary of Patient-Provider Communication Review

This section has reviewed the literature on patient-provider communication and shared decision-making. The findings concur with Verlinde et al. (2012) that patient-provider communication is 'a complex interactional system' (p. 11). Communication was influenced by both patients and health care professionals (Verlinde et al. 2012). Low socioeconomic status was associated with less involvement in treatment decision-making, less partnership building talk, more directive communication, and less information about treatment and diagnosis (Verlinde et al. 2012). In contrast individuals of higher socioeconomic group were more involved in treatment decisions and received more information. It appears that shared decision-making may increase health inequalities since patients who have a natural propensity to seek information and to engage in consultations will benefit whereas those patients who are already marginalised are likely to be further disadvantaged since they have a tendency to passivity in health care interactions (Durand et al. 2014).

Individuals of low socioeconomic status who have achieved access to health care may well experience communication barriers that lead to less satisfaction with the process and less

agreement with health care professionals. Some of the barriers associated with literacy, health literacy and numeracy may offer potential explanations for health inequalities since they indicate the potential for individuals to experience difficulties in accessing health care services and functioning effectively in the health care environment (Protheroe et al. 2009). In addition depression and psychological factors, which affect individuals of lower socioeconomic status more than individuals of higher socioeconomic status, may also have an impact on communication. Some of these findings resonate with the earlier discussion of barriers identified by Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) in their interpretive synthesis of access to health care by vulnerable groups.

Decision-making research in diabetes has explored some of the aspects of communication important to patients in terms of the 'ethos and feel' of consultations. Conversation analysis has been used to identify the different styles of communication adopted by doctors. These studies have provided a more nuanced exploration of patient involvement in decision-making in type 2 diabetes suggesting that a qualitative approach to treatment decision-making in type 1 diabetes might be warranted since no studies were found exploring decision-making in this group of patients.

3.5 The Research Gap

Three main areas of research relevant to the current thesis were reviewed in this chapter: evidence of inequalities in outcome and access for adults with type 1 diabetes; the wider literature on access to health care; and communication between patient and providers. The review of socioeconomic inequalities identified disparities in health outcomes for adults with type 1 diabetes. Further exploration of the literature found socioeconomic disparities in access to specialist diabetes care, the use of intensive regimens, glycaemic control and blood glucose monitoring.

However, whilst the socioeconomic review identified disparities in access for adults with type 1 diabetes little research was found that explored the pathways involved in this lack of access. In particular it appeared that decision-making processes involved in gaining access to an IIR from the perspective of equity had not been investigated for adults with type 1 diabetes.

The literature on communication in diabetes and on socioeconomic disparities in communication more generally suggested that this was an important area of investigation for the current study. It was evident in section 3.4 that socioeconomic factors were an important

influence in terms of communication between patient and providers. This body of literature on variation in patient-provider communication identified some important insights into the ways in which individuals of low socioeconomic group may be disadvantaged since it is through health care interactions that decisions are reached regarding treatment regimens.

Having established that socioeconomic inequity persists in terms of usage of intensive insulin regimens and that quantitative research, although identifying this disparity, has so far not elucidated the possible pathways involved in this inequity, it seemed that qualitative research could be used to elicit some of the key influencing factors involved.

In summary the literature review identified a need to explain the pathways resulting in poorer outcomes for individuals with type 1 diabetes of low socioeconomic status and whereas quantitative research identified the persistence of health care disparities it was less useful in describing the causes. A qualitative approach was adopted in order to answer these questions.

3.5.1 Thesis Aims and Objectives

A need was identified to:

- Explore the treatment decision-making processes in type 1 diabetes (preferably in the clinical setting), focusing on the range of insulin regimens available and to
- Elucidate the influencing factors involved in patients accessing an IIR with a particular focus on how decision-making processes may lead to variation in access to regimens by socioeconomic status.

The aims and objectives of the primary research were initially developed to explore the decision-making processes involved in *gaining* access to an intensive insulin regimen. During the course of the primary research it became apparent that whilst the interview data could do this by exploring the patient's perspective on the processes involved in changing insulin regimen, the consultation data could not examine this process because all of the consultations involved patients who had already commenced an intensive insulin regimen. Instead the consultation data could be used to explore *maintaining* access to intensive regimens.

The aim of this thesis was to:

• Explore equity of access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes.

The objectives were to:

- Explore patients' perspectives on opportunities to change insulin regimens with particular reference to the role and influences of health care encounters in relation to these decisions.
- Explore health care professionals' perspectives on the factors involved in patients accessing an IIR.
- Observe the routine interactions between patients and health care professionals in a specialist diabetes clinic in order to analyse the processes which may have a bearing on maintaining access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes.

Chapter 4. Methods

4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the study design (section 4.3), the rationale for the design (section 4.4), research quality (section 4.5), other study considerations including ethics and patient involvement (section 4.6), data collection (sections 4.7-4.10) and data analysis (section 4.11). Section 4.2 provides a recap of the aims and objectives of the study.

4.2 Aims and Objectives

The aim of this thesis was to explore equity of access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes. The objective was to carry out an in-depth investigation of both patient and health care professional perspectives on the factors involved in accessing an IIR with particular reference to the influence of health care encounters.

4.3 Design

The study design used a qualitative multi-methods (Tashakkori et al. 2003, p. 712) approach with a mix of observation and interviews.⁵ As described earlier in Chapter 2, care for type 1 diabetes may occur in specialist services in secondary care and/or in general practice. In the setting selected for the study (described later in section 4.7) health care was provided predominantly within secondary care and in this sample access to an IIR was only possible in secondary care. Therefore recruitment was focused on specialist diabetes services in a secondary care setting. Three components of the study were started in sequence. First, observations were made of patients and health care professionals during consultations in secondary care. Second, follow up interviews were carried out involving these same participants. Third, interviews were carried out with patients who did not attend the specialist services and health care professionals involved in their care. This was so that a more complete picture of accessibility to an IIR in primary care. Although started in sequence, the data

⁵ Tashakkori and Teddlie (2003) define qualitative multi-methods studies as those in which either two qualitative data methods or two qualitative data collection procedures are used to answer the research question. They point out that multi-methods is synonymous with the term 'multiple methods' (p. 712).

collection of all three parts occurred concurrently. The three parts of the study are referred to as follows:

- Part one: non-participant observation of consultations in specialist diabetes services.
- Part two: interviews in secondary care.
- Part three: interviews in primary care.

4.3.1 Parts One and Two - Observations and Interviews (Specialist Diabetes Services)

Parts one and two of the study were linked so closely that they are described together. The aim in combining qualitative methods was to carry out an exploratory study of the pathways involved in patients gaining access to their current regimen and the potential influence of health care interactions in this process. Whereas the observations provided access to 'naturally occurring' data (Silverman 2006, p 201), the interviews provided an opportunity to explore with patients and health care professionals an in-depth understanding of personal perspectives related to the research phenomena (Lewis 2003).

4.3.2 Part Three - Interviews (Primary Care)

Some individuals do not attend appointments when they are referred to specialist care or prefer their care to be undertaken at their GP practice. These patterns of service utilisation are known to be associated with deprivation in relation to specialist diabetes care (Bachmann et al. 2003) and in health care more generally (Goddard et al. 2001). Since the aim was to gain an understanding of the factors involved in accessing an IIR including issues of inequity it was important to understand why some people do not use secondary care. A decision was reached to incorporate a small number of participants attending a GP practice in an area of deprivation for two reasons: first, research shows that these areas will be more likely to encounter individuals not attending specialist centres (Bachmann et al. 2003) and second, access to secondary care was through primary care and hence it was important to consider this pathway as part of the study.

It would have been preferable to have given equal weight to both primary care and specialist services. Unfortunately the resources of the PhD did not permit this. Rather than focus solely on specialist services with the possibility that this might lead to misleading interpretations it was decided that the primary care perspective should be included. The addition of this small sample helped to maintain an awareness of this important aspect of the story during the process of analysing and interpreting the specialist services data.

4.4 Rationale for Design

The following section provides a rationale for the research design and my research stance in terms of what I believe it is possible to know about the world (ontological position). I leave until section 4.11 the rationale for the chosen analytic methods (conversation analysis and thematic analysis).

4.4.1 Rationale for Qualitative Research

In Chapter 3, I identified that whilst much research had adopted a quantitative approach in exploring inequalities in outcome in adults with type 1 diabetes, there was a paucity of research explaining these phenomena. The aim of this study was to investigate the processes and pathways involved in gaining access to an IIR in an attempt to explain these inequalities. In keeping with other researchers whose aim is to investigate processes rather than outcomes I chose a qualitative approach (Murphy et al. 2001). This decision was reinforced by Goddard and Smith's (2001) view that qualitative research might offer a better approach to addressing the complexity of supply and demand features involved in accessing health care.

Qualitative research is particularly appropriate for the investigation of processes (Patton 2002) for the following reasons: first, in describing processes a detailed account of the ways individuals interact with one another is required; second, it is important to document variation in the ways that individuals experience the processes from their own perspective; and third, qualitative enquiry is well suited to investigating the dynamic nature of processes. A qualitative approach was therefore chosen to address the aims and objectives of the study since the focus was on asking 'how' and 'why' questions through an in-depth investigation of the processes involved in decision-making, access to and allocation of an IIR.

4.4.2 Theoretical Stance

There is much debate in the social sciences about approaches to research and strategies of investigation (Bowling 2002). Whereas quantitative researchers often adopt a positivist or post positivist approach using the scientific method, qualitative research is associated with interpretivism (Snape et al. 2003). Each branch of scientific enquiry has a set of theoretical assumptions underpinning its approach (Bowling 2002). However, defining qualitative research is challenging (Snape et al. 2003). This is in part because the practices of qualitative research encompass a wide range of approaches informed by diverse ontological and epistemological positions (Barbour 1998; Snape et al. 2003).

It is important when discussing research strategy to be transparent about one's theoretical assumptions since 'what we see depends on what we look at' (Bowling 2002) citing (Kuhn 1970, p. 119). Beliefs about the nature of the social world and what can be known about it (ontology) together with the nature of knowledge and how it can be acquired (epistemology) are amongst the key factors determining how qualitative research is carried out (Snape et al. 2003).

My own experiences have no doubt determined the approach I have taken with the research design. If I had designed the study with a sociological, philosophical or psychological background, my design may well have been very different since diverse groups of investigators focus on different aspects within their chosen field of enquiry (Bowling 2002). My own influences have been shaped by taking a master of public health (Health Services Research). As a health care researcher my ontological position has been influenced by 'subtle realism' (Hammersley 1992). Subtle realism was proposed by Hammersley (1992) as an alternative ontological stance to either realism or idealism.

Realism is an ontological position that asserts that there is a reality independent of people's perceptions of it (Murphy et al. 2001). In relation to research, Hammersley (1992) describes realism as 'the idea that there is a reality independent of the researcher whose nature can be known and that the aim of research is to produce accounts that correspond to that reality' (p. 43).

Proponents of idealism claim that the nature of the social world is not rigidly fixed since what constitutes the correct or standard way of doing something in society may change over time and hence 'reality is only knowable through the human mind and through socially constructed meanings' (Snape et al. 2003, p. 11).

Hammersley (1992) found difficulties in adopting either of these two 'stark' positions, arguing that neither the adoption of realism nor idealism offered 'a sound philosophical basis for social research' (Murphy et al. 2001, p.69). As Murphy et al. (2001) suggest, naive idealism, with its assumptions of multiple realities taken to its logical conclusion, 'renders social research pointless' (p. 69), since 'if the findings of any research cannot be taken to represent even an approximation of truth, then one has to ask why commissioners should invest public money in funding such research' (p. 178). In contrast, naive realism fails to acknowledge the impact of the researcher on the research and the inappropriateness of viewing observations as entirely objective (p. 69). This led Hammersley (1992) to advocate that 'there are more subtle forms of

realism that avoid the problems of these two positions' (p. 54). Hammersley's approach (1992) to subtle realism has been viewed as a credible ontological stance in health care research (Murphy et al 2001).

Subtle realism

Subtle realism is influenced by the philosophical underpinnings of idealism which means that although there is an acknowledgement that social reality can be studied, this is only possible via the interpretations of individuals and in addition the further construal of these interpretations by the researcher (Snape et al. 2003). As Murphy et al. (2001) suggest, this adoption of a 'mid way' approach that avoids the extremes of either naive realism or naive idealism 'allows us to accommodate some elements of social constructivism without abandoning a commitment to independent truth as a regulative ideal' (p. 69).

This emphasis on the interpretations of the participants in the research means that the aim is to provide representations of reality rather than a single 'truth' (Mays et al. 2006). The importance of this for the current study is that reality may be represented via multiple perspectives (Murphy et al. 2001). The aim, therefore, is to 'apprehend and convey as full a picture as possible of that multifaceted reality' (Snape et al. 2003, pp. 19-20) since these diverse representations enable a rich understanding of the phenomena under investigation (Snape et al. 2003). A key issue with subtle realism is that although diverse representations are possible and this 'opens up the possibility of multiple non-competing valid descriptions and explanations of the same phenomenon' nevertheless these diverse representations must not contradict one another (Murphy et al. 2001, p. 69). Hence quality in qualitative research is of paramount importance in order to demonstrate the validity of the research. This rigour or quality in qualitative research must be demonstrated through detailed reporting of data collection and analysis in order that others may be able to judge the legitimacy of findings (Mays et al. 2006). Issues addressing research quality including fair dealing, triangulation, and transparency in reporting methods and findings, together with reflexivity are discussed in section 4.5. In summary, my own stance in conducting the research was influenced by a need to produce qualitative evidence that was 'neutral... unbiased and clearly defensible in terms of how interpretations have been reached' (Snape et al. 2003, p. 19) with the intent of providing accessible research findings that have the potential to inform policy making and practice.

4.4.3 Rationale for Combining Qualitative Methods

A combination of 'qualitative observation' (Mays et al. 1995a, p. 185) and interviews was chosen to address the research objectives. A key aspect of the study design was the use of methods triangulation to construct a more thorough understanding of the phenomena under investigation (Mays et al. 2006). This approach seeks multiple perspectives (Patton 2002) and involves different methods of data collection (Mays et al. 2006) and has been used in the current study to provide a more holistic understanding of the interactions of patients and health care professionals related to equity of access. The rationale behind using a mix of observation and interviews was an understanding that each method has its limitations and that using a design that includes multiple approaches would enable a more comprehensive investigation of the research objectives (Patton 2002).

Combining observation and interviews had a number of advantages for this study. As Bryman suggests there are many 'issues resistant to observation' (Bryman 2008). Observations of clinics could provide a snapshot in the patient's history of living with diabetes and illuminate the decision-making processes. Part of the purpose of the study, however, was to explore patient pathways over time and the observations part of the study was unable to accomplish this objective. As Bryman points out, sometimes the only way to find out about a particular issue is to ask participants to give their accounts about the matter (Bryman 2008). Interviewing participants allowed access to data that would have been hard to acquire otherwise (Hammersley et al. 1995). Interviews revealed the treatment pathways the patient had followed and their perspectives on the influences on decisions to change regimens. The purpose, therefore, of the qualitative interview was to explore past events, something that could not be accomplished through non-participant observation. The advantage of combining observations with interviews was that the data collected from one was used to elucidate or shed light on the findings of the other (Hammersley et al. 1995). Observations also had the advantage of informing the later interviews with both clinic attendees and health care professionals. The decision to interview after the observation was influenced by other studies using this approach in order to elicit views on the consultation (Gooberman-Hill et al. 2010; Stevenson et al. 2003).

Using a mix of qualitative methods has been promoted in health care research where observation and conversation analysis in particular have been used in conjunction with a number of other methods including interviews and think aloud techniques (Bugge et al. 2007). Mixing qualitative methods within studies is not uncontroversial (Bugge et al. 2007). Caution

has been expressed in relation to the use of multiple qualitative methods in order to obtain a fuller picture. The disadvantages are that a researcher has to learn more methods of analysis and there is a temptation to flit from one data set to another when progress is difficult (Silverman 2010). In addition to practical considerations involved in using a mix of qualitative methods, there are also concerns that using methodological approaches informed by differing philosophical approaches may lead to inconsistencies and therefore undermine the quality of the research (Snape et al. 2003).

Whilst I recognise that there are concerns about mixing methods from different qualitative traditions (Barbour 1998), the two methods selected have been deliberately adopted to address particular parts of the research question; each method in isolation provides an incomplete picture. In adopting a multi-methods approach I have taken a pragmatic stance that these approaches are increasingly being used in health care research (Bugge et al. 2007; Pope et al. 2006a). The subtle realist stance adopted in this study allows for both parts of the study to be accorded an equal status since 'different vantage points will yield different types of understanding' (Snape et al. 2003).

4.4.4 Rationale for Observational Methods

Qualitative observation is frequently associated with ethnography (Bowling 2002; Pope et al. 2006a). The approach is derived from the work of anthropologists who lived alongside people in societies and cultures different to their own in an attempt to learn about how these groups functioned (Pope et al. 2006a). It is usual in ethnographic studies to make observations in only one or a small number of settings (Hammersley et al. 2007a).

Observation in qualitative studies and ethnography have a long history of use in health care research (Bowling 2002) where the focus of interest is processes and interactions relating to patients and health care professionals (Pope et al. 2006a). Observational methods allow systematic and rigorous investigations of how individuals interact in natural settings with little interference from researchers (Pope et al. 2006a).

Observation of clinical decision-making

Observational approaches have been used in a number of studies where the aim has been to explore and explain clinical decision-making. Bloor's observational study of childhood tonsillectomy revealed differences amongst doctors with regard to decisions to carry out tonsillectomies (Bloor 1976). Silverman observed clinic interactions in a study of paediatric

cardiology identifying different approaches to the decision to carry out cardiac surgery for children with and without Down's syndrome (Silverman 1989).

Types of observation

The options for qualitative observational methods include participant observation, nonparticipant observation and concealed observation. Participant observation and concealed observation were not applicable for this study since my purpose was not to participate in the activity or carry out the research in a covert manner. Non-participant observation was chosen for the study because the aim was to observe the routine interactions that occurred in clinic consultations without being a part of the activity itself. The aim in using this approach was that observing and recording clinic sessions might reveal taken for granted phenomena that would not come to light in other methods such as interviewing (Pope et al. 2006a). The rationale for observing clinic encounters was similar to that stated in Silverman's study, that is, the clinic provided a timetabled event with a particular focus (Silverman 2010). There was an assurance, therefore, that a reasonable body of data could be collected (Silverman 2010) in this study about interactions and decision-making between health care professionals and individuals with diabetes.

Rationale for approaches to data collection

Different approaches to data collection can be undertaken in non-participant observation. I selected three approaches:

- Recording the consultation
- Field notes Form
- Diary

Recording the consultation

Audio and video recordings are playing an increasingly important part in qualitative research because, in comparison to field notes, recordings provide a dependable and trustworthy record of observations (Silverman 2006). Two approaches have been used in observational studies: audio recordings and video recordings. Each of these methods has their advantages and disadvantages (Flick 2006). Audio recordings are straightforward to set up and relatively discrete which is an important consideration for health care consultations. Video recordings allow facial expressions and body language to be recorded and the additional visual material may help when transcribing the recording subsequently. However, positioning the camera in the room may be difficult in order to capture all of the participants in a consultation particularly if there are several members of a multi-disciplinary team present. With video recordings there may be a trade-off between quality of detail with for instance facial detail as compared to having a more panoramic overview of the social interaction (Flick 2006). There is also the issue of confidentiality: participants are less easily identifiable in audio recordings than in video recordings.

The decision to choose audio recording rather than video recording was influenced by a number of factors. In attempting to record a naturalistic interaction the aim should be to make the recorder as unobtrusive as possible (Flick 2006). It was felt that the audio recording would be less intrusive and would be easier to set up than a camera, particularly in a busy clinic. It also appears that patients find audio recordings less daunting than video recordings when asked for their opinion prior to observation (Themessl-Huber et al. 2008).

In making the decision to adopt audio recordings I was also swayed by the practical considerations that this mode of research had been used in a number of studies looking at interactions in consultations (Barry et al. 2001; Byrne et al. 1976; Coulthard et al. 1975; Silverman 1989). I was also conscious of the pragmatic considerations that ethical approval for video recordings may prove to be a more difficult and lengthy process than audio recordings. It should be noted that video recordings are seen as the 'gold standard' (Toerien 2014) in terms of conversation analysis (the method chosen to analyse the consultations) since amongst other advantages it allows what happens in silences to be observed. Drew (2005, p. 78), however, argues that 'none of the practices, devices or patterns identified in conversation analysis research are shaped or altered in any significant way accompanying nonverbal conduct'. Indeed much of the early research carried out by Sacks involved analysing telephone calls to a 'suicide prevention centre' (Hutchby et al. 2008, p. 16).

Audio recording of clinic encounters played a crucial role in the study. By recording conversations, I was free to make other observations pertinent to the interaction such as who was present, where individuals were located in the room, and non-verbal communication. Without recordings, I would not have had as complete an account of the proceedings since it would have been impossible to note down entire conversations and key items may have been forgotten.

Field notes Form

Field notes are an essential part of observational studies (Patton 2002). Therefore, audio recordings were supplemented by written records for each consultation. A Field Notes Form was used so that data could be collected in a systematic way in order to enhance the reliability of the study (Silverman 2006). This was developed in the initial weeks of observation and was based on the types of activity and information to be gained from clinics. It was used in conjunction with recordings of clinics to analyse activity (see section 4.11.2 (Analysis of Clinic Observations)). The Field Notes Form (adapted from Silverman (2006)), is provided in Appendix 7 and was used in two ways. First, information was collected from each participant after the consent process and prior to the consultation. This included patient characteristics (for example age and ethnicity), a brief record of onset of diabetes and treatment received since diagnosis. Second, the form was used to describe the consultation including who was present, the key actions by participants including decisions discussed and a brief record of the content of the consultation.

Research diary

In addition to data collected at clinics using the audio digital recorder and Field Notes Form I also kept a research diary. Keeping a diary is a way of collecting information in a systematic way about experiences in the field (Flick 2006). My objective in keeping a diary was to provide a means of documenting and reflecting on the outcome of observations and interviews as well as providing a record of how recruitment was progressing.

4.4.5 Rationale for Interview Methods

Amongst the three forms of data collection in health care research, qualitative interviews are the most common (Britten 2006). Qualitative interviews are chosen in order to elicit from individuals their thoughts, feelings, experiences and meanings they attach to their world (Patton 2002). In this study qualitative interviews were chosen in order to explore the influences on accessing intensive insulin regimens via the reported experiences of both patients and health care professionals.

There are a number of approaches to qualitative interviews. Within the literature writers have identified the main types of approaches to qualitative interviewing ranging from the very structured to the unstructured (Britten 2006; Legard et al. 2003; Patton 2002). Unstructured interviews are at one end of the spectrum and offer the most informal approach to

interviewing since they are conversational in nature and content is determined in the course of interaction depending on the topics that emerge (Patton 2002). This approach is flexible but offers less scope for comparing participant responses since each interview will be unique (Patton 2002). In contrast semi-structured interviews are controlled much more by the researcher since the same questions are asked in each interview, in the same order and there is less scope for probing (Legard et al. 2003). I adopted a mid way approach that most closely approximates to in-depth interviewing described by Legard, Keegan and Ward (2003). Although I used a comprehensive topic guide, the phrasing and ordering of questions was left flexible to enable exploration of emerging issues.

The topic guide was designed with flexibility in mind and was used as an 'aide memoire' rather than as a prescription for how to conduct the interview (Arthur et al. 2003). Topic guides for in-depth interviews can vary in detail and length, however it is often preferable to keep the length to no more than two or three pages (Arthur et al. 2003). My own topic guide for both patients and health care professionals was limited to two sides of an A4 sheet.

As the study was exploratory the approach taken with interviews was to keep the topic guide as broad as practicable. This contrasts with an approach known as tape-assisted recall (TAR) in which participants are asked to reflect on sequences within a recorded consultation. TAR has been used to elicit the perspectives of patients in relation to communication in primary care consultations (Buszewicz et al. 2006) and secondary care (Salmon et al. 2011). TAR has the advantage that the interview is prompted by what has actually taken place in the consultation and the insights of both patients and health care professionals on the consultation may be obtained (Cape et al. 2010). In the current study, however, the research objectives were to explore, from the patient's perspective, the pathways taken that had led to their current regimen in order to identify key influences. The aim of the interviews with health care professionals was to provide insights into the influences on access to intensive regimens rather than to focus on specific patient consultations. Hence the methods were chosen to reflect the broader range of the study, namely consideration of the wider factors influencing access to health care.

The aim with in-depth interviewing is to gain a thorough and detailed understanding of the individual's subjective viewpoint. Researchers approach in-depth interviewing from a variety of perspectives (Legard et al. 2003). Silverman describes the realist perspective which views the results of interviews as gaining access to experiences and feelings of interviewees (Silverman 2010). Another perspective views the interview as an active process in which

meanings are co-produced by interviewer and interviewee (Byrne 2004, p. 181). In these interview studies, it is not what is said but how it is communicated that is of interest (Byrne 2004). Whilst acknowledging that data from interviews does not provide a 'mirror image' of social reality, the perspective adopted in this study was a pragmatic mix of viewing the interview as requiring both an analysis of what and how individuals communicate in response to questions (Byrne 2004).

This approach is not without difficulty in terms of participants being partial in what they choose to relate (Miller et al. 2004). Nevertheless acknowledging the fact that individuals do not want to reveal their entire selves in an interview can result in a fuller appreciation of subjects' lives and the aspects under scrutiny (Miller et al. 2004). Whilst acknowledging the subjective nature of individuals' accounts, the aim of the research was to faithfully portray a fair representation of subjects' meanings (Miller et al. 2004).

Face to face interviews were chosen rather than telephone interviews. Although there are some advantages in terms of cost and personal safety, there are some disadvantages to using the telephone for qualitative interviewing (Bryman 2008). The main disadvantage referred to by Bryman (2008) of relevance to the current study is the inability to observe body language reactions and hence be in a position to pre-empt communication difficulties by rephrasing questions. Other practical considerations include the difficulties of conducting telephone interviews with people with hearing impairment. Overall any benefits of telephone interviewing were felt to be outweighed in terms of potential problems of building a rapport and interpreting participants' responses without body language cues (Bryman 2008).

4.5 Research Quality

There is considerable debate surrounding what constitutes quality in qualitative research (Mays et al. 2006). This includes discussion about the applicability of terms such as 'validity' and 'reliability' to qualitative research and has received considerable attention (Lewis et al. 2003). Terms such as 'confirmability', 'trustworthiness', 'consistency' and 'dependability' have been used in place of reliability (Lewis et al. 2003). Although replication of studies is viewed by some as 'somewhat unrealistic', given the nature of qualitative research (Seale 1999, p. 157), the aim should be to provide sufficient detail in methods and analysis to allow the reader to judge the adequacy of research claims (Seale 1999, p. 552). Research findings need to be considered robust in order for findings to be viewed as useful and having applicability outside the original settings of the research (Lewis et al. 2003). Credibility of research encompasses an

interweaving of 'rigorous methods', 'credibility of the researcher' and a 'philosophical belief' in the value of qualitative inquiry (Patton 2002, pp 552-553). Quality is an integral part of design, sample selection, data collection, analysis and reporting (Mays et al. 1995b). The aim was therefore to carry out research that was transparent in methods and provided a credible account of research findings. The Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) tool for qualitative research was also used to inform the approach to ensuring quality (Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) 2006).

Mays and Pope (2006) discuss six possible ways of ensuring the quality of qualitative research:

- Use of triangulation
- Respondent validation
- Transparency of methods and analysis
- Researcher reflexivity
- Searching for alternative explanations and negative cases
- Fair dealing

4.5.1 Triangulation

Triangulation in this study involves the use of multiple methods and multiple perspectives. The use of triangulation aimed to provide a more thorough and comprehensive insight with respect to findings rather than aiming for a single truth (Mays et al. 2006; Patton 2002; Ritchie 2003). This was achieved through using a mix of methods (observations and interviews) and seeking multiple perspectives by recruiting individuals with diabetes and health care professionals involved in their care.

4.5.2 Respondent Validation

Although respondent validation has been suggested as one of the strongest forms of checking on the validity of research projects, other researchers, however, question this approach to ensuring credibility of findings (Mays et al. 2006). Whilst member checking can generate interesting research material the approach is not recommended as a test of validity (Bloor cited in Silverman (1985)) and was not utilised in this study.

4.5.3 Reflexivity

In qualitative research the researcher is the main 'instrument' (Mays et al. 1995b, p. 111) Whilst aiming to adopt a stance of 'empathetic neutrality' (Patton 2002, p. 40), there was an acknowledgement that my own personal perspectives would play a part in the interpretation of research findings (Snape et al. 2003). It is important, therefore, that researchers are explicit about the part they have played in shaping the study and its findings (Mays et al. 2006). As a subtle realist it was important to adopt a reflexive approach to data analysis and reporting. Hence, a diary was kept to record impressions of encounters with participants following interviews and observations.

During the course of interviews my aim has been to adopt 'empathetic neutrality' to counter any potential bias. This meant that respect for what individuals divulged was of paramount importance (Patton 2002). My objective was to build rapport whilst maintaining neutrality and a non-judgmental approach (Patton 2002). Following interviews with participants I reflected on what had gone well or badly and aimed to improve my technique for the next interview.

4.5.4 Transparency of Methods and Analysis

The main way to ensure credibility is to keep detailed records throughout the research process, including data collection and analysis (Mays et al. 1995b). Accurate data was collected by recording interviews and observations. NVivoTM 9 was used to record key material in the research process, including transcripts of interviews, and coding analysis. A clear description has been given of the process of analysis, leading from early codification of data, through to explanations of findings (Mays et al. 2006).

4.5.5 Alternative Explanations and Negative Cases

It is important to be open minded during the process of analysis and one of the ways that this can be accomplished is to 'take seriously the possibility of having got it wrong' (Denscombe 2010, p. 303). In order to enhance credibility in findings it is important that researchers demonstrate they have carried out rigorous searches in their analyses for both alternative explanations and negative or disconfirming cases ((Lewis et al. 2003; Patton 2002; Seale 1999). During the course of analysis, searches were made for alternative explanations supported in the data (Patton 2002). The aim was to search for the 'best fit' for the majority of data (Patton 2002, p. 553).

4.5.6 Fair Dealing

One of the ways to reduce bias in qualitative research is to ensure that a diverse range of perspectives are included so that no one group is represented as providing the 'sole truth' about the issues (Mays et al. 2006, p. 90). This has been termed 'fair dealing' (Mays et al. 2006, p. 90) citing (Dingwall 1992). Throughout this study the aim was to ensure that many diverse groups were incorporated. Both health care professionals and patients were represented and every effort was made to recruit individuals from different backgrounds, economic circumstances, gender and age groups. This was accomplished by keeping a log of participants' characteristics and using a sampling structure as a check on participants recruited to each type of regimen, numbers of males and females and their ages. As the study progressed and more participants were recruited via the insulin pump clinic I met regularly with the diabetes specialist nurse, assigned to this clinic, in order to target under-represented groups.

4.6 Other Study Considerations

4.6.1 Ethics

Ethical approval was granted from Nottingham Local Research Ethics Committee 2 in November 2011 (REC reference 11/EM/0381) (Study documents are in Appendix 7). NHS research governance approval was obtained from the relevant NHS trusts in parallel to ethics approval.

The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Association 2008). In considering the ethics of recruiting individuals to the study the need for potential participants to be 'adequately informed' (World Medical Association 2008) was addressed by ensuring that individuals were given written and verbal information about the study prior to consent.

Good ethical practice dictates that individuals must have sufficient time to consider involvement in health care research and must not experience coercion. The main ethical objective in this study was to ensure that individuals had sufficient time to consider whether or not to participate. This was addressed in the study by ensuring that participants had a minimum of twenty four hours to consider involvement in the study. This requirement included both staff and patient participants. All initial approaches to patients were made by health care professionals either in person or by letter. Initial contact with a potential

participating health care professional was by e-mail followed up with a meeting to discuss the study.

Consent Process

As part of the process of consent the purpose of the research was explained to participants as well as the type of data collection involved, the part they would play in participating and that their involvement was voluntary. For both patients and health care professionals it was very important to ensure that they understood the implications of participating in a qualitative study. For example it was stressed that verbatim extracts of conversations would be used in written output from the study and may include some of their conversations within the consultation.

It was made clear that at any time during the data collection process participants could withdraw from the study and that they could change their minds about allowing their recordings (observations or interviews) to be part of the study. This latter point is very important when considering consultations since it has been noted that patients very often change their minds after the recording has taken place (Themessl-Huber et al. 2008). I was therefore conscious of the need to be very clear to participants that their withdrawal from the study would not pose a problem. Participants were provided with my mobile phone number in case of questions or in the event that they wished to withdraw consent.

Prior to consent for both staff and patients my aim was to:

- Ensure that individuals had received the information pack.
- Ensure that the study was fully explained (including confidentiality, anonymity, and use of research data).
- Explain that participation was voluntary.
- Establish if participants were willing to be recorded.
- Obtain informed consent to the recordings.

Data collection did not proceed without the appropriately signed and dated consent form. Participants were given a copy and the researcher retained a copy for the study records. A copy of the consent form was filed in the patient's record for individuals participating in recorded consultations. All participants were informed that their recordings would be erased and field notes destroyed if they withdrew consent. It was also explained to participants that once anonymisation of data and analysis had commenced it would be more difficult to remove their data from the study. No participants withdrew from the study.

Eligibility

Individuals were eligible for the study if they were able to give informed consent. The lower age limit was set at eighteen since below this age limit individuals are deemed to be children for the purposes of consent. There was no upper age limit. Special ethical considerations apply in terms of consent for individuals with severe mental health and learning difficulties so these individuals were excluded. For practical considerations individuals were excluded if they were unable to converse in English. Pregnant women were excluded since diabetes management is different in this group as compared with other individuals with diabetes and includes attendance at joint diabetic-pregnancy clinics (Holt et al. 2010). It was also felt that in order to be able to give a reasonable account of changes from one regimen to another, individuals should have had diabetes for at least one year.

Confidentiality

All personal data collected during the course of the study was treated as confidential. A log of individuals participating in the research was recorded electronically on my password protected space on the university central drive. Signed consent forms were held within a locked cabinet at my home. Digital recordings were stored on my password protected space on the university central drive and backed up on an encrypted flash drive. Anonymised transcriptions were held on a password protected computer.

Confidentiality of participants was facilitated by holding personal details of participants separately from recordings and field notes. During the course of transcribing recordings, personal details were removed from transcription. Transcriptions were anonymised and only anonymised transcripts were shared with academic supervisors. Direct quotes from the research findings used codes assigned to participants in order to preserve anonymity.

Interview recordings were sent by post on a password protected flash drive to the professional transcriber rather than being e-mailed. All recordings were deleted from the audio digital recorder after being uploaded to the shared university drive and copied onto an encrypted flash drive.

4.6.2 Patient and Public Involvement

The need for patient and public involvement in applied health research is an area of growing interest (Staley 2009). It is generally recognised that individuals should have a say in research that may affect them and hence increasingly public involvement is a requirement stipulated by research funders (Staley 2009). In a recent review, the impact of public involvement was found to be of particular value in qualitative research (Staley 2009). Prior to submitting the study for ethics and NHS organisational approval several meetings were arranged with representatives of the local branch of Diabetes UK to obtain their views about the planned research. Discussions included the potential focus of the study, the local service configuration and how best to recruit patients. For example in August 2011 a meeting was arranged with eight committee members of Diabetes UK to discuss the recruitment strategy and participant information sheets. This was to ensure that these elements were both understandable and acceptable to individuals with diabetes. Members suggested that the information sheet should be available in a large font since one of the complications of diabetes is problems with eyesight. There was discussion on what constituted a reasonable length for an interview. It was agreed that ninety minutes was too long and that patients would prefer a shorter interview time of an hour. This was incorporated into the patient information sheet. There was a strong feeling amongst the members that patients should not receive payment for involvement in the study. It was agreed that payment would only be made for car parking or travel expenses incurred as part of the study.

4.7 Data Collection: Part One – Observations (Specialist Diabetes Services)

Having discussed the rationale for the study design I now turn to a detailed description of the data collection. In this section I discuss the study setting, the sample, recruitment and the data collection process for part one of the study (involving observations in specialist diabetes services). Data collection for parts two and three of the study are reported in sections 4.8 and 4.9 respectively. Data analysis for all three parts of the study is discussed in section 4.11. Given that parts one and two were linked together, some aspects of the study were the same for both. In addition, parts two and three utilised the same approach for interviews. However, for ease of presenting the methods I have kept each part separate. Table 4.1 provides a summary of the complete data set (Interviews and recorded consultations).

The plan for this first part of the study was to observe the interactions of individuals attending diabetes clinics and health care professionals involved in their care. Initially the aim was

primarily to explore decision-making processes involved in *gaining* access to an IIR. However, as the study progressed it was apparent that very few consultations involved this type of interaction. The majority of data collected was related to patients *maintaining* access to an IIR. The focus of this part of the study, therefore, became the analysis of interactions from the perspective of equity in maintaining access to an IIR.

Table 4.1 Inte	erviews and	consultations
----------------	-------------	---------------

Data Collected	Numbers
Patient Interviews:	
Specialist diabetes services	25
Primary Care	3
Total	28
Health Care Professional Interviews:	
Specialist diabetes services	4
Primary Care	
Total	6
Consultations attended by the researcher at specialist diabetes services:	
Insulin pump clinic	21
Specialist diabetes nurse led clinic	
General diabetes clinic	
Total	25

4.7.1 Study Setting

The hospital and its catchment area

Given that type 1 diabetes care is often provided in secondary care, a single hospital offering this care in England was selected. The aim in selecting a single hospital was not to achieve generalisability to the whole population but rather to establish the relevance of the single case to other similar settings through potentially shared features and characteristics (Mays et al. 1995a). Therefore it is important to describe the hospital and its catchment area in detail. A single hospital in the middle of England was chosen where individuals attended a range of specialist diabetes clinics. The hospital has over 500 beds and covers the full range of services associated with a District General Hospital including a full Emergency Department. The hospital is situated in an urban area comprising a population of approximately 142,000 people. Additionally it serves a large rural area populated with villages and small towns comprising a further 160,000 individuals. The hospital is situated within an area that includes a district ranked amongst one of the top ten percent most deprived in England (Office for National Statistics 2010a).

Diabetes services within the hospital

Within the hospital, at the time of the research, diabetes care was arranged around a number of diabetes clinics. Some of these were consultant led, some nurse led and some were multidisciplinary involving medical, nursing and dietetic staff. These covered specialist clinics for individuals with diabetes who were pregnant, children with diabetes, a diabetic foot clinic and clinics for individuals with cardiovascular or renal problems. In addition there was a general diabetes clinic and an insulin pump clinic. The latter two clinics were selected together with their respective nurse led clinics because the aim was to focus on patients managing diabetes rather than patients requiring complex management owing to multiple co-morbidities. Decisions about movement to or between intensive regimens would occur at the general diabetes clinic and decisions about movement to, or maintenance of, pumps would occur in the insulin pump clinic.

The clinics involved in the study were attended by individuals with type 1 diabetes, although the general diabetes clinic was also attended by individuals with type 2 diabetes. The general diabetes clinic was typically accessed by patients on the more simple regimens whereas the insulin pump clinic (which had been an insulin intensification clinic prior to study commencement) focused on more complex treatment. These two clinics differed also with regard to health care professional involvement. At the start of the study the general diabetes clinic was run by a general physician. Part way through the data collection period this doctor was replaced with a locum specialist consultant in diabetes. Towards the end of the study the latter consultant introduced a nurse into some of the consultations. At the end of the data collection period this consultant had secured a position at another hospital.

By comparison the insulin pump clinic was multi-disciplinary and the same health care professionals remained at the clinic throughout the study period. In this clinic the aim was that a specialist diabetes nurse, specialist diabetes dietitian and consultant would attend all consultations. Occasionally a junior doctor deputised for the consultant. The consultant involved in the clinic held a senior position within the department.

4.7.2 Sample for Observations

The sample strategy was the same for parts one and two of the study. Sampling in qualitative research does not aim to be statistically representative (Ritchie et al. 2003). The aim is to sample according to those aspects that are of primary interest to the researcher and that will enable a detailed exploration and understanding of the research question (Ritchie et al. 2003). The approach to sampling of consultations within clinics was maximum variation sampling (Patton 2002), aiming for maximum variation of the health care professionals running the clinics and patients attending the clinics since, as Patton (2002, p. 235) explains, any common themes identified during analysis from 'great variation are of particular interest and value in capturing the core experience and central, shared dimensions of a setting or phenomenon'.

Health care professionals

Health care professionals included in the study were those involved in the clinics under observation. They included specialist medical and nursing staff. It was envisaged prior to the study that between 5-10 health care professionals would be involved in the diabetes clinics and that all of them would be approached for recruitment.

<u>Patients</u>

The aim in sampling patients for the study was to ensure diversity across gender, age and the range of regimens used. This ensured that as full a range as possible of experiences could be included. The primary sampling strategy was based on type of regimen. The expectation was that patients attending the general diabetes clinic would be on less technologically advanced regimens than those in the insulin pump clinic. A secondary consideration was to include patients of both gender and of different ages. A sampling structure was utilised and updated as the study progressed in order to keep a check on the number of participants in each category. This was monitored periodically and where possible health care professionals were requested to target under-represented groups for recruitment.

4.7.3 Recruitment for Observations

Recruitment was carried out at the insulin pump clinic and the general diabetes clinic. Recruitment for observations involved recruiting both patients and health care professionals. Health care professionals willing to consider participation in the study were given an information sheet and a minimum of 24 hours to consider their involvement. Some health care professionals were recruited at the beginning of the study for the duration of the data collection period whereas others were recruited as the study progressed. This was predominantly due to the six monthly changeover of junior doctors. Consent was required for both patients and health care professionals involved in the observed clinics. Patients tended to be recruited several weeks before their appointment and in some cases this stretched to a period of months.

Health care professionals (insulin pump clinic, general diabetes clinic and nurse led clinics)

In April 2010 a meeting was arranged with a key gatekeeper, the diabetologist running the insulin pump clinic. The aim in approaching this health care professional was to gain access to the team running the clinic and patients attending for appointments. This doctor explained how clinics ran in the hospital and that the majority of type 1 patients were seen in the general diabetes clinic. A second doctor was contacted in July, therefore, to arrange access to a general diabetes clinic.

An initial meeting was also arranged in June 2010 with the diabetes specialist nurse for the pump clinic. Recruitment processes were developed based on conversations with these gatekeepers. It was suggested that patients could be invited to participate by letter using the departmental database containing details of insulin pump users. All relevant staff members were approached following contact with the initial gatekeeper and through his permission.

In October 2011 the study was submitted for both ethics and research governance approval. Just before approval the chief collaborator left his post, handing the study over to one of his colleagues. Hammersley and Atkinson (2007b) discuss the need to be aware that initial access through a key gatekeeper does not guarantee access with other key members of the organisation and that problems of access are often a recurring feature throughout studies involving observation. This was the case in the present study and some of the difficulties with recruitment are outlined in section 4.10.

Patients

All potential participants were approached initially in person or in writing by clinical staff. The recruitment strategy captured patients attending clinic in one of two ways: prior to clinic appointment or at clinic.

Prior to clinic appointment

Patients were identified from clinic lists and sent information by NHS staff at least two weeks in advance of the appointment. If willing to participate, patients confirmed their interest by returning a reply form in a stamped addressed envelope or by contacting staff by telephone. I was then able to contact patients by telephone to ask if they had any questions about the study and to confirm their interest. I made arrangements to meet them at their next appointment to answer questions, confirm continuing interest in participating in the study and to obtain their consent.

<u>At clinic</u>

Staff agreed to approach patients attending clinic appointments to ascertain if they would be willing to meet with me to hear more about the study. When I was in clinic I was able to meet potential participants, outline the study, give an information sheet and explain that consent would be taken at their next appointment when the research involvement would commence. This gave patients the necessary time to consider involvement prior to consent.

When I was not able to meet the patient in person, health care professionals provided the study information sheet and a letter with a reply form. Patients who were interested in the study returned the form to the hospital for collection by me. I contacted these participants in order to give further information about participating in the study, to check their eligibility for the study and to ensure that they wished to proceed. Arrangements were made to meet them at their next appointments at the hospital. Letters of invitation, information sheet, consent form and reply form are in Appendix 7. Individuals accompanying patients to appointments were given separate information sheets and consent forms (Appendix 7).

4.7.4 Data Collection for Observations

Recruitment commenced in the secondary care setting in February 2012 and recruitment ceased in December 2012. This section describes the procedure I followed in collecting the observational data.

Before the recorded consultation

I met with patients approximately fifteen minutes prior to their appointments. Prior to the consultation and following consent I had a brief discussion with patients in which I obtained their age, ethnic origin, occupation, diagnosis date for type 1 diabetes and brief details about

their treatment regimens since diagnosis. This information was recorded on the Field Notes Form. Following consent, patients were taken by an outpatients' nurse for weight and blood pressure readings to be taken. From here patients were asked to sit in another smaller waiting area until they were called for their appointment. I followed the patient around to this area and waited for an opportunity to enter the consulting room to set up the recorder. The consulting rooms were positioned off a long corridor located near the waiting area. The clinic was shared with other consultants of different specialties and the outpatients' nurses on some days were looking after clinics comprising up to fifty doctors. The consulting rooms were of moderate size and different ones were used from week to week. On one side of the corridor the rooms were smaller and had no windows.

During the consultation

I attended each consultation. When the recorder was set up the patient was invited to sit in the consulting room. Occasionally, depending on how many individuals were attending the consultation, the space proved to be somewhat limited. I positioned myself in the least intrusive way towards the back of the room. Initially the recorder was placed on the desk in front of the doctor in attempt to be less intrusive. After a few consultations where the voices of some of the team were found to be indistinct, the recorder was placed centrally in order to overcome this problem. During the consultation I was free to observe the interaction and made brief notes to supplement the audio recording. For example, I noted that some patients brought paperwork or equipment to the consultations. Additionally I recorded when members of staff entered or left the room since this information would not have been available from the audio recording. This data was recorded on the Field Notes Form and used in conjunction with the audio recording for analysis purposes (see section 4.11.2).

At an opportune moment either at the beginning or end of the consultation I requested the patient's most recent HbA1c results from the doctor. At the end of the consultation and after all conversation with the patient had ceased, I turned off the recorder, thanked the staff and followed the patient to the waiting area. I then arranged an interview with the patient and obtained contact details from those willing to participate further in the study.

Numbers of observations

Data was collected for 25 recordings of consultations. Three of these were recorded in the general diabetes clinic, 21 were recorded in the insulin pump clinic and one recording was made of a nurse led insulin pump clinic.

The composition of the three clinics in terms of participating health care professionals is shown in Table 4.2. The primary doctor involved in the pump clinic and the primary diabetes specialist nurse attended 18 consultations. The specialist diabetes dietitian attended 17 consultations. This sample also included two doctors working on a six monthly rotation in the hospital (doctors 2 and 3). Three consultations were recorded at the general diabetes clinic with doctor 4. One of these consultations also involved another diabetes specialist nurse.

Health care professionals	Consultations
Insulin Pump Clinic	
Doctor 1, diabetes specialist nurse 1, dietitian 1 (primary team)	9
Doctor 1, diabetes specialist nurse 1	5
Doctor 1, dietitian 1	2
Doctor 1, diabetes specialist nurse 2, dietitian 1 (stand in nurse)	2
Doctor 2, diabetes specialist nurse 1, dietitian 1 (stand in doctor)	1
Doctor 3, diabetes specialist nurse 1, dietitian 1 (stand in doctor)	2
General Diabetes Clinic	
Doctor 4	2
Doctor 4 diabetes specialist nurse 3	1
Diabetes Specialist Nurse and Diabetes Specialist Dietitian Led Clinic	
Diabetes specialist nurse 1, dietitian 1	1
Total number of consultations	25

Table 4.2 Health care professionals involved in each consultation

Quality of data

The majority of recordings were of reasonable quality, although there were occasional difficulties in transcribing the recordings of some patients and staff whose voices were particularly quiet. In order to pre-empt some of these problems I made notes during the consultation on sections of conversation and terminology that I felt would be difficult to transcribe.

All consultations except one were successfully recorded. For this consultation I wrote detailed notes on the actions within the consultation and recorded them on a Field Notes Form. A diary was kept to record reflections on the observation of clinics. An extract from 28 March 2012 is shown in Box 1 below and highlights some of the day to day issues encountered whilst collecting the data. For example there were difficulties in identifying the patients who had
agreed to participate in the study. This problem was exacerbated because the waiting room served three different clinics. There was a need to go through the consent process in a timely way since there was the potential to hold up clinic appointments. These issues were lessened by ensuring that there was always a gap of at least one appointment in between patients recruited to the study. The diary extract also illustrates the ethical issues involved in a study of this type.

Box 4.1 Diary Extract 1

28/3/2012 Patient 1 (MDI) and Patient 2 (Pump)

Both patients attended pump clinic. Small hitch in that I had assumed patients would report to the desk but the hospital has an electronic booking system in place. I agreed with the outpatients' nurse that she would let me know when a patient had arrived in clinic. As it turned out I stood in reception and because the booking system wasn't working I was able to deduce who the patient was. As the system wasn't working properly reception staff let me know when the second patient arrived.

The patient arrived very early and therefore I thought we had plenty of time to run through the study and consent. However the patient was called early for their appointment just as I was consenting them. Fortunately we had covered most things as the nurses were eager to get the patient weighed etc. This takes time as the clinic nurses are looking after several clinics. As there was a gap between consenting the patient and their consultation I was able to go into the room and set up the recorder.

During the consenting process for the second patient the pump clinic nurse came in. The patient started explaining about some personal difficulties and began crying. I was very concerned and asked if she wanted to go ahead. She said she was definitely ok to proceed with the recording. After the consultation we agreed that because of these personal difficulties we would delay the interview in the short term to allow these problems to unfold. With regard to the recordings, both were acceptable – I had agreed with the doctor that the recorder would be on before the patient came in. I placed the recorder on the desk between patient and doctor. This meant that the nurse's voice was a little less clear and this may be an issue when the dietitian joins in. I sat in the middle away from the desk towards the back of the room.

4.8 Data Collection: Part Two - Interviews (Specialist Diabetes Services)

In this section I discuss the sample, recruitment and data collection process for part two of the study (follow up interviews with participants in the observation part of the study). The study setting was the same as for part one (see section 4.7.1).

4.8.1 Sample for Interviews

The sample for the interviews of patients and health care professionals was drawn from participants recruited in part one of the study (see section 4.7.2).

4.8.2 Recruitment for Interviews

Health care professionals

Health care professionals involved in the consultations were contacted towards the end of the observation data collection period and arrangements were made, if they were willing, to meet with the researcher for an interview. Health care professionals were consented immediately before their interview, since study details had been given at the same time as those given for the observation part of the study. The consent form for health care professionals is in Appendix 7. All team members of the insulin pump clinic and the consultant in the general diabetes clinic were interviewed. Four health care professionals in total agreed to be interviewed.

Patients

Following the consultation, patients were invited to participate in an interview. Patient participants had already received information about the interview part of the study some weeks before the consultation so it was possible to discuss arrangements to meet at a mutually convenient time and place of their choosing. This was always arranged at least a day after the consultation in order to give sufficient time for patients to be sure that they wanted to participate. The consent form for patients is in Appendix 7. All the patients in part one of the study agreed to participate in follow up interviews.

4.8.3 Data Collection for Interviews

Health care professionals

Health care professionals' interviews in the hospital were scheduled towards the end of the data collection phase to allow a more comprehensive discussion based around the observed consultations. These interviews were not designed to explore individual consultations but rather intended to cover a more general overview of decision-making and issues of access to intensive regimens. Interviews with health care professionals from the hospital clinics were carried out at health care premises and were approximately fifty minutes in length. The topic guide was amended according to the group that was being interviewed.

Patients

Having discussed the study with interested participants and checked eligibility, where necessary arrangements were made for the interview to be carried out. None of the patients withdrew from the study after this stage. Although the observational and interviews parts of the study have been described separately, in practice they were running concurrently. Having observed and recorded a consultation the aim was to interview the patient participant as soon as possible after the appointment and this was achieved in the majority of cases.

Venue

It is often left to participants involved in qualitative interviews to decide the venue (Legard et al. 2003). Patients in all parts of the study were asked to give their preference for interview location. Although interviewing at home would appear to be less onerous for participants, some patients chose to be interviewed in the hospital. The majority of patients, however, opted for an interview at home (18) with 8 choosing to be interviewed in the hospital and 2 preferring their place of work. The hospital was occasionally a noisy venue and sometimes there were interruptions during the course of the interview. For the most part there were fewer interruptions when interviewing participants at home. When meeting participants at their home address the university's policy for lone working was utilised.

Prior to the interview and following consent I checked that I had data on participants relating to age, occupation, household composition, onset of diabetes and a brief record of the types of regimens patients had used in the past and were on currently. HbA1c was obtained from health care professionals for these patients.

97

Interview length

Interviews were scheduled to last approximately an hour. In practice, 14 interviews lasted between 50 and 70 minutes; 11 were longer than 70 minutes and 3 were less than 50 minutes. As participants had agreed to be interviewed for approximately one hour I ensured that they were willing to continue as the end of the hour approached. Before each interview I checked to make sure that participants had an hour available for the interview. Only two interviews posed a problem in this respect. In the majority of cases participants seemed to be happy to talk for approximately an hour and in many cases over an hour.

Interview approach

It was important to start interviews with a subject which was straightforward and allowed a mainly descriptive response (Patton 2002) hence individuals were asked to give a brief history of their condition since diagnosis. The remaining topic areas built on this initial discussion. As the purpose of the study was exploratory, the aim of the interview was to allow individuals to discuss their experiences in as full a way as possible. Using a topic guide provided a systematic approach whilst still allowing for spontaneity in questioning (Patton 2002). The topic guide enabled the key themes to be discussed in a sequence and manner that could be tailored to individual respondents (Arthur et al. 2003). This included being sensitive to the language used by respondents to ensure that questions were understandable (Patton 2002). Examples of topic guides used for patients and health care professionals are provided in Appendix 7.

The purpose behind qualitative interviewing is to enable individuals to respond in an individual manner. This was achieved through the use of open ended questions, phrased in a neutral and non-leading manner, followed up by probing participant's responses, enabling the interview to extend beyond a superficial level of questioning (Legard et al. 2003). This aim was to achieve depth of detail with a view to uncovering new areas and ideas that may not have been anticipated at the outset (Britten 1995).

Items of interest (not on the original topic guide) emerged during the course of interviews as individuals raised issues. Where applicable to the area of research, these were included in subsequent interviews and the topic guide was amended accordingly. In this way, the interview content evolved over the course of the study.

During the interview no notes were taken so as not to detract from the flow of conversation. Interviews were audio digitally recorded as this provided an accurate record of the encounter (Legard et al. 2003). Following the conversation brief notes were made on impressions of the interview (Patton 2002). These supplemented the recordings and provided additional information for analysis (Byrne 2004). Reflecting on the outcome of the interview is an important element of ensuring the rigour of qualitative analysis (Patton 2002). Some of my impressions recorded immediately after interviews are provided in Box 4.2 below. These included an indication of how I felt the interview had gone as well as notes for analysis.

Whilst interviewing participants I was alert to the possible problems of individuals experiencing low blood glucose levels. It was made clear to participants that the interview could be stopped at any time for any reason. During the course of the interview, only two participants needed a break in order to raise blood glucose levels.

4.8.4 Interview Preparation

In order to achieve the best possible outcome from an interview, interviewers need to carry out thorough preparation on the topics for discussion (Denscombe 2010). As I do not have a nursing or medical background, I felt it was important to be as well informed as possible about type 1 diabetes so that interviews with patients would be meaningful. I took every opportunity to find out about the different regimens and particularly the complexities of multiple daily injections and insulin pumps. This included attending a meeting at the hospital prior to the study start in which the three main insulin pumps used by the department were introduced to patients. I subsequently researched on the internet about the operation of one of the pumps (Medtronic Veo[™]) using on line training facilities. This was useful not only in understanding the conversations about technical aspects of the pump but also to ensure that terminology was correctly recorded in transcriptions. I used a comprehensive introduction to diabetes written for children, adolescents and young people (Hanas 2012) found in the hospital library, to provide background information on medical terms or situations referred to by patients during the course of consultations and interviews.

In addition, prior to interviewing patients following their consultations, I ensured that I was fully informed about the content of the recorded consultation. In many cases this involved transcribing the consultation before the interview. If time did not permit I listened to the recording and noted key actions on the Field Notes Form. This form was taken to the interview as an aide memoire.

Box 4.2 Diary Extract 2

6/8/2012 Patient 8 – Insulin pump Interviewed at work place in a board room. Interview was less than an hour. The participant said at the outset he wanted it to be over as quickly as possible because of work commitments. Hence the need to keep an eye on the time – more so than with other interviews. Some very useful insights from participant into his perspective on involvement in decision-making and the ways in which he ensures that he gets on with staff. Also reference, made to how pump was justified by doctor on the basis of lifestyle. This came after the interview had finished so with his permission I recorded this additional conversation.

5/10/2012 Patient 9 – Insulin pump Very long interview 1 hr 30 m Very difficult to get through questions as patient wanted to tell me a lot about the technical details of diabetes. Also wife present and joined in conversation (but not a great deal more at the end). Good rapport with patient. He and his wife were very welcoming. It is becoming clear that it is much easier to keep to the topic guide with some patients than with others. When it becomes difficult the interview is much lengthier.

4.9 Data Collection: Part Three - Interviews (Primary Care)

4.9.1 Study Setting for Primary Care Interviews

Primary care - the general practice and its catchment area

The GP surgery selected had a population of 10,000 patients. Members of staff included eight doctors and three nurses. There were approximately thirty patients registered with type 1 diabetes during 2012. This represented a small proportion of the diabetes patients at the surgery overall who numbered approximately three hundred. The GP surgery is situated within an area in the city dominated by council housing. The area is ranked amongst the top ten percent most deprived areas in England for income, unemployment, crime and health (Office for National Statistics 2010a).

4.9.2 Sample for Primary Care Interviews

Two members of staff (one GP and one practice nurse) agreed to participate in the study and were interviewed. The primary sampling criteria for patients was individuals with type 1 diabetes not accessing specialist diabetes services. It was anticipated that this would be a small number and therefore the scope for applying other criteria to the sample was limited. The GP

practice identified adult patients with type 1 diabetes and sent a letter of invitation to all potential participants. Three patients responded to the invitation and agreed to participate in the study out of an original sample of the thirty patients with type 1 diabetes registered at the GP practice.

4.9.3 Recruitment for Primary Care Interviews

Health care professionals

Contact was made with the surgery in Autumn 2010 and I was invited to attend one of the practice staff meetings in December 2010. I presented an outline of the study. At this stage the study had not evolved into the current design. The GPs agreed in principle to allow recruitment of both patients and staff to be undertaken at the surgery. A further meeting took place in April 2011 with one of the GPs and a practice nurse. The study was presented and assistance was requested with recruiting patients. Prior to ethics approval, study documents were agreed with one of the GPs. Following ethics approval in October 2011, it was agreed that the study would commence at this site following the relocation of the surgery in 2012. An information leaflet was sent out a week prior to the date arranged for interviewing the GP and practice nurse. Written consent was obtained from both members of staff on the day of the interview. The consent form and information sheet for health care professionals are in Appendix 7.

Patients

Having agreed the process with the practice manager, recruiting patients was administered by the surgery. Thirty letters were sent out to patients with type 1 diabetes in June 2012. This included a letter inviting patients to participate in an interview, patient information leaflet and reply form with stamped addressed envelope (see Appendix 7). Patients who were interested returned the form. I contacted patients who had returned the form and discussed the study over the phone giving further details and arranging an interview venue. The low numbers of patients recruited at the GP practice reflect the relatively small number of patients with type 1 diabetes as opposed to type 2 diabetes.

4.9.4 Data Collection for Primary Care Interviews

Health care professionals

Interviews with health care professionals were carried out at health care premises and were approximately fifty minutes in length. The topic guide used in the hospital setting was amended according to the group that was being interviewed.

Patients

All patients chose to be interviewed in their own homes. The interview process is described in section 4.8. The topic guide was amended slightly to reflect that patients and health care professionals had not participated in an observed consultation.

4.10 Difficulties with Data Collection

In the early part of the study it was agreed with secondary care staff that patients would be recruited at clinics on Monday and Wednesday of each week. It became apparent in the first few weeks that recruitment of insulin pump clinic patients would be relatively straight forward in comparison with recruitment at the general diabetes clinic. Patients responded both to letters and to face to face discussion with health care professionals at this clinic. Recruitment of patients attending the general diabetes clinic, however, proved to be slow. Although the majority of expressions of interest for the study came from face to face discussion with the doctor running the clinic this was infrequently carried out. Figure 4.1 shows the numbers of patients recruited at the general diabetes clinic initially expressing interest in the study compared with the numbers of patients who finally consented. The three patients who participated in the study were all contacted by letter towards the end of the data collection period.

From April 2012 onwards it was decided by the hospital that both of the clinics involved in the study would run on a Monday afternoon (instead of Monday and Wednesday). This presented an additional difficulty in terms of both recruitment and data collection since I could only be in one clinic at a time.

In May 2012 the general diabetes consultant left the clinic and was replaced by a locum consultant. There was a delay of approximately two months before the new consultant was consented into the study. This disruption to recruitment compounded difficulties in arranging for letters to be sent to patients. This was due to shortages of staff in the administrative team and the need for a health care professional to check on patient eligibility before inviting patients to participate. In contrast, the diabetes specialist nurse in the insulin pump clinic arranged personally for letters to be sent to patients. For these reasons recruitment inevitably focused on the insulin pump clinic as the study progressed.





Although more patients were recruited at the insulin pump clinic this did not always translate into opportunities to observe their consultations. Figure 4.2 shows the numbers of patients recruited at the insulin pump clinic initially expressing interest in the study compared with the numbers finally consented. Approximately half of the insulin pump clinics were cancelled during the course of the study. This led to a data collection period that was longer than originally planned. The majority of patients in the study were, however, recruited through the insulin pump clinic. One possible explanation for this may be the input given to recruitment by the diabetes specialist nurse who was part of the multi-disciplinary team running the clinic. After a number of problems with clinics being cancelled the recruitment switched to sending letters of invitation only. The nurse was well known to patients and the replies to letters were returned to her. It is probable that the relationship patients had with support staff in the insulin pump clinic may have played a part in their decision to participate in the study. Patients who were approached by doctors also seemed likely to agree to participate.





Recruiting patients on the day the recording was due to take place was not an option due to the ethical requirements for patients to have time to consider participating in the study and twenty four hours being deemed to be the minimum amount of time. No patient was involved in the study without having had the requisite amount of time to consider participating and in many cases this was measured in weeks rather than days.

4.11 Analysis

The following section describes the analysis of both the recorded consultations and the interviews (sections 4.11.2 and 4.11.3 respectively). Conversation analysis was used for the recorded consultations and thematic analysis was used for the interviews. The justification for their use is provided in the following sections. I begin by describing the process of preparing the data collected in consultations and interviews.

4.11.1 Preparing the Data

Large amounts of data are generated in qualitative research and one of the key tasks of the researcher is to reduce these to a manageable form (Spencer et al. 2003). The first stage of analysis for both consultations and interviews was to prepare the data and this was accomplished by transcribing the recordings. Transcribing is a time consuming process (Pope et al. 2006b). Each recorded hour may take between six or seven hours to transcribe (Pope et al. 2006b). The level of detail required depends on the type of analysis carried out (Pope et al. 2006a). In this study the level of detail required for transcribed consultations was greater than that required for the interviews. Five minutes of recorded material from a consultation took approximately two hours to transcribe. The interviews took approximately eight to ten hours for every one hour of interview.

It is generally recommended that researchers transcribe recordings destined for conversation analysis (ten Have 1999) whereas interview transcriptions are very often outsourced (Pope et al. 2006b). The majority of interviews were therefore outsourced to a professional transcriber so that time could be focused on transcribing the consultations. It is nevertheless important that a thorough check is carried out on returned transcriptions (Pope et al. 2006b) and this in itself was very time consuming.

4.11.2 Analysis of Clinic Observations

Conversation analysis was chosen as the means of analysing the recorded consultations. This was supplemented with the Field Notes Form (Appendix 7) and diary reflections.

Conversation analysis

Conversation analysis aims to explore the ways in which individuals interact with each other in order to discover recurrent practices involved in largely verbal communication (Drew et al. 2001). This is accomplished by examining social interaction explored through naturally

occurring conversation. The underlying premise behind conversation analysis is that social interaction is determined on a turn by turn basis through conversation. Conversation analysis is accomplished by analysing these turns at talk. Each successive turn is both influenced by a previous turn and also influences the turn that follows (Hutchby et al. 2008).

Whereas much of the early conversational analysis was 'pure' (based on 'ordinary conversation', later research had an 'applied' focus (analysing 'institutional interaction') (ten Have 1999, p. 162). However, conversational analysis has used ordinary conversation as a point of reference from which to compare other sorts of more formal conversation (Drew et al. 1992). For a comprehensive overview of institutional interaction see Drew and Heritage (1992) and Heritage (2004)

Conversation analysis has been used previously in order to advance understanding of the processes of health care delivery which relate to communication between health care professionals and patients (Drew et al. 2001). Within the provision of health care, the interactions between health care professionals and patients can have far reaching implications in terms of outcomes including the successful adoption of regimens and patient satisfaction (Drew et al. 2001). Conversation analysis has a role to play in analysing these interactions and importantly offering insights that have practical applications such as enabling patient participation (Drew et al. 2001).

It is important to establish at the outset that the conversations recorded in the secondary care diabetes clinic constituted 'institutional talk'. Whereas everyday conversation is informal, institutional talk, depending on setting, has varying degrees of formality (Sacks et al. 1974). Nevertheless conversation within institutional settings is not 'uni-modal' any more than it is in informal conversation and hence it is a simplification to describe talk in particular institutional settings as if there were only one type (Drew 2002). Ten Have (1991) describes three styles of talk within consultations. The first type of talk is exclusively medical. The second type is talk that although involving a medical orientation is less formal. The third type is small talk.

The constraints on lay individuals interacting in medical settings have been described as exhibiting features of 'interactional asymmetry' (Heritage 2004). This has been the subject of much research (Pilnick et al. 2011). Whilst acknowledging that asymmetry occurs in normal conversation, the particular features and requirements of institutional interaction in terms of the activities that must be performed constrain conversation in ways that is not experienced in everyday discourse (Heritage 2004). One example of this is the need in many institutional

activities involving professional and lay people, for questions to be asked by the former and answered by the latter (Heritage 2004). In this way members of institutions shape movement in conversation from topic to topic, determining initiation and closure of topics raised (Heritage 2004).

The relevance of question and answer formats in conversation analysis is that the answer given is termed 'conditionally relevant'; it is dependent on the question asked and the response is examined for this relevance by the initiator of the question. In consultations the opening sequence is usually determined by the health care professional initiating the questions since they may either 'open' up the potential responses or 'close' them down depending on the questions asked and the follow up sequences (Roter et al. 1992). In analysing talk in institutions the aim is to show how individuals 'build the context of their talk in and through their talk' (Heritage 2004, p. 224). The focus is on what individuals are doing in conversation as opposed to second guessing their motives.

Analysis process: consultations

There were four stages of analysis:

- Transcribing the recordings and reading the transcriptions.
- Building collections.
- Analysing individual consultations.
- Relationship with the thematic analysis.

First stage: transcribing the recordings

Analysis commenced with listening repeatedly to the recordings (Collins et al. 2006). One of the key features of conversation analysis is the requirement to provide transcriptions to a fine level of detail. It was important that the transcription could convey not just what was said but how it was said (ten Have 1999). Transcribing aims to 'capture the timing and placement of speech (e.g. overlaps and pauses/silences), sound qualities (such as sound stretching, emphasis, loudness, marked pitch change and certain intonational features) and a range of other features of the talk including in- and out-breaths, laughter and cutoff words or sounds' (Drew 2005). In conversation analysis pauses within turns and gaps between turns have particular significance (Davidson 1984; Pomerantz 1984) and have therefore been captured using Audacity[™] (2.0.4), a software package, capable of providing precise measures of the timing of gaps and pauses to at least a tenth of a second.

I transcribed all the consultations for a number of reasons. First, transcribing talk for the purposes of conversation analysis is a much more time consuming activity than is usual with interviews data. Part of the time consuming nature of the activity also provides advantages. This is because the researcher has to listen more attentively to the detail of the interaction and this in turn helps with later analysis. Second, in conversation analysis, transcribing is viewed as part of the analytic process and serves as a 'major noticing device' (ten Have 1999, p.78). Third, as I was present in the consultations I had an advantage in terms of making sense of unclear conversation. Finally, transcribing talk is inevitably a selective process which I felt I would be better suited to undertake than a professional transcriber perhaps more familiar with interviews. The consultations very often involved more than three individuals and since it is usual for conversation to overlap it was important to ensure that this was reproduced as accurately as possible. In conversation analysis it is recognised that since the transcription is necessarily selective, analysis should always be carried out with both transcript and recordings together.

The first stage of transcribing involved using a similar orthographic notation to the interviews with a simplified version of conversation analysis notation adapted from Silverman (2006). For example overlapping speech was reproduced and approximate pauses inserted. The aim was to transcribe all the consultations to this level of detail in order to identify those parts of the transcript that warranted the additional analysis requiring the notation developed by Jefferson and reproduced by Atkinson and Heritage (1984). The current study used an adapted version of this notation (see Appendix 8). In this way an overall impression was gained of each recorded consultation.

Second stage: building collections

A fundamental aspect of the analysis was to determine what was occurring in each consultation in order to make comparisons across the dataset. Hence during the second stage of analysis the aim was to start the process of identifying patterns in the data (Collins et al. 2006) and this commenced with an examination of the content of each consultation. Consultation content was summarised (Silverman 2006) for all participants using data from transcriptions, the Field Notes Form and notes in my diary. Initially this was accomplished using a table in Microsoft word and comprised a list of over 50 elements (Box 4.3 contains elements in relation HbA1c and blood glucose levels). This was the beginning of the process of examining differences in patient-provider interaction between patients.

Box 4.3 Discussions in relation to HbA1c and blood glucose levels

Target levels discussed
Above target, below target, on target
HbA1c going up
HbA1c going down
Questions asked - HbA1c going up
Positive comments
Negative comments
Blood glucose levels/control discussed
Patient brings records/meter
Frequency of testing discussed
Patient raises problems with hypos
Health care professional raises problems with hypos
Patient raises problems with high blood glucose levels

In conversation analysis research, consultations are considered to comprise of phases of activity (Collins et al. 2007b). These phases in the consultation process, for example, opening sequences, have been used in conversation analysis to explore patient participation (Collins et al. 2007b). Phases are constructed from sequences of talk which in turn are made up of turns at talk. Hence consultations were examined for turns of talk in order to identify phases of activity. A number of turns of talk were identified as commonly occurring in the consultations. This was accomplished by a combination of annotating word document transcripts using comment boxes and the use of NVivo[™] 9 to retrieve and examine common sequences.

These sequences were further summarised and the main phases within the consultation were categorised as follows:

- Opening sequence (pre-treatment phase)
 - \circ Greetings
 - Information gathering
- Treatment Phase
 - Problem solving, advice and information giving
 - Decision-making
 - \circ Examinations

- Closing sequence (post-treatment phase)
 - Summarising agreed action and follow up appointments
 - o Farewells

It was through this process that the opening sequence was identified as an important part of the consultation since it contained differences both in the ways that patients within the sample reacted to the doctor's dialogue and in the ways that the doctor interacted with different patients. Hence considerable attention to similarities and differences both within and across cases was carried out. Checks were made using the attributes of the participants. Some of these drew on the data from the interviews or the Field Notes Forms. For example, analysis of the conversations about HbA1c looked at whether this test result value was rising, reducing or stable. It was through this process that I identified the opening sequence for the next stage of analysis.

Third stage: analysing individual consultations

Having built a collection of sequences (Toerien (2014) citing Drew (2003, p. 148)) and identified sections of interaction to transcribe in more detail, analysis proceeded on the basis of listening to the recording and adding the fine detail to the transcripts. It is important to stress that analysis was an iterative and sometimes messy process (Toerien 2014) and that this account inevitably provides a simplification of an activity that spanned many months. This stage involved analysing conversation on a turn by turn basis. Subsequently the analysis moved back and forth between looking at individual cases and in comparison with the other cases in an attempt to make some sense of the patterns observed. It was important during this process to attempt to account for deviant cases that did not appear to follow the usual pattern. These deviant cases are reported in Chapter 6 and are able to offer a more nuanced explanation of the interaction occurring between doctor and patient.

Fourth stage: relationship with interview data

The final stage of analysis occurred after many of the key themes had been identified in the interview data (reported in Chapter 5). Following an iterative process of moving between interview data and consultation data I became aware that the former findings also offered a framework to understand the consultation data. The interview analysis enabled me to return to the consultation data extracts already analysed and to re-focus on the factors that were likely to affect access. I re-examined some of the patterns already observed previously in the analysis in the light of the interview findings.

During this iterative process, two key themes were identified: 'patient alignment' and 'patient involvement'. These were used as a framework to re-examine the consultation extracts using conversation analysis as described in the third stage above. Hence the focus of the conversation analysis became an examination of the turn by turn process of the interaction in relation to these key themes. A more detailed account of the rationale for the chosen framework for presenting the themes from the consultation data is provided in Chapter 6.

4.11.3 Analysis of Interviews

Thematic analysis

Thematic analysis was used to analyse the interview data. Thematic analysis is a 'foundational method for qualitative analysis' and as such provides a key skill essential for researchers (Braun et al. 2006, p.78). It is the most frequently used form of analysis in qualitative health research (Pope et al. 2006b). Thematic analysis was chosen for its 'theoretical freedom' since it may be used independently of 'theoretical and epistemological approaches' (Braun et al. 2006, p. 78).

Analysis commenced as soon as data collection began. Initially this was confined to diary reflections on both recorded consultations and interviews. During the data collection phase the majority of time was spent recruiting patients, attending consultations, interviewing participants followed by either transcribing or checking transcriptions that had been carried out by a third party. The aim of the study was to continue collecting data until 'saturation point' had been achieved (Pope et al. 2006b, p. 66). This was achieved by ensuring that the sample was a diverse as possible. The difficulties with data collection have been noted in section 4.10. The table below illustrates how the majority of participants were recruited in a very short time period (16 patients in three months versus 12 in the previous 7 months). Nevertheless it appears from the sample that reasonable diversity in patient characteristics was achieved.

In practical terms although some analysis had commenced in the earlier months it was not until most of the data had been collected that the analysis phase commenced more formally. Having analysed the interviews, repetition of themes was apparent; however, it was also noticeable that some of the participants recruited towards the end of the study brought additional insights to the findings and that without their input several themes would have been omitted. These insights related to individuals of lower socioeconomic status. These patients were purposively sampled and recruited with the assistance of the specialist diabetes

111

nurse towards the end of the data collection period. I reflect in Chapter 7 on whether the underrepresentation of this group of patients and the small sample of primary care patients may have had consequences for the achievement of saturation. The health care professional team looking after patients with type 1 diabetes in the specialist diabetes centre and in primary care was small. The implications of this small sample are discussed in Chapter 7.

Month	Patient Numbers	Cumulative total
March	2	2
April	2	4
May	1	5
June	1	6
July	4	10
August	1	11
September	1	12
October	7	19
November	7	26
December	2	28

Table 4.3 Recruitment of patient participants (March – December 2012)

Analysis process: interviews

There were four stages to analysis:

- Preparing and reading transcripts
- Coding
- Development of themes
- The role of theory in analysis

First stage: preparing and reading transcripts

The level of detail required for transcription depends upon the types of analysis to be carried out (Flick 2006; Pope et al. 2006b). Interviews were not transcribed to the same level of detail as the consultations since this was not required of the analysis (Flick 2006). They were, however, verbatim to the extent that repetitious words and hesitations had not been removed. These were removed when added to the thesis as extracts since they did not

enhance understanding and the resultant text was felt to be more readable. The first stage of analysis was familiarisation and involved reading and re-reading transcripts.

In carrying out the analysis it was important to note the prevalence of patterns or themes whilst observing that a greater number of instances of a particular theme does not denote its importance (Braun et al. 2006). A reflexive diary was kept on interviews and analysis noting down ideas as they emerged. These notes were held in a word document.

Second stage: coding

The next stage involved a form of condensing and sorting of data. Computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) (NVivo[™] 9) was used to facilitate the storage and retrieval of verbatim transcripts of interviews. Coding data allows organisation of research findings into a format suitable for analysis (Miles et al. 1994). Coding in this study entailed a line-by-line examination of the data within NVivo[™] 9. Codes were assigned to varying lengths of text and were descriptive or interpretive in form (Miles et al. 1994). Each transcript was analysed for repetition of codes and continued until the transcription was fully coded. The analysis proceeded to the next transcribed interview. The aim was to code the transcript whilst also making comparisons with the previously coded transcript. Analysis proceeded, therefore, on the basis of comparing within and between cases (Spencer et al. 2003). This form of analysis appeared to be important for the study since the aim was to explore not just patient experiences in gaining access to services but also the similarities and differences between patients particularly with regard to socioeconomic status. Transcripts were coded with a combination of descriptive elements (for example 'attitudes to advice') and interpretive elements (for example 'stigma'). Initially the list of codes was extensive. As analysis progressed this list was refined and reduced. The final iteration of codes held in NVivo[™] 9 were grouped together under preliminary overarching categories relating to: accessing services; attitudes towards advice; communication; decisions; diabetes management; information; psychological and emotional; stigma; and support. Following this stage, NVivo[™] 9 was used as a data resource in terms of coded segments of transcripts, however, no further analysis was carried out within the software package.

Third stage: development of themes

A theme 'captures something important about the data in relation to the research question' (Braun et al. 2006). Hence in addition to identifying themes it was important to address the research question regarding inequity of access. The following procedure was adopted. First, themes were developed by retrieving coded data extracts from NVivoTM 9. For each of the codes of interest a PDF was created from NVivoTM 9 containing a 'printout' of the lines of coded transcript for each relevant participant, for example, all the data in relation to 'supportive nurses'.

Second, themes were analysed in relation to differing patient characteristics. For example, a number of themes related to the different ways that patients experienced specialist services. These sub themes included the barriers and drivers involved in accessing services. Themes were developed iteratively through a process of writing up themes for discussion at meetings with supervisors, since writing is an integral part of the process (Braun et al. 2006).

Fourth stage: the role of theory in analysis

Although qualitative research findings may remain at the descriptive stage, which is acknowledged to be legitimate depending on the nature of the research question (Spencer et al. 2003), the analysis was strengthened by exploring the interconnectedness of themes and relationships between them (Pope et al. 2006b). Some researchers argue that description is never sufficient and that an understanding of 'the patterns, the recurrences, the whys' is required (Spencer et al. (2003, p. 205) citing Miles and Huberman (1994)).

Two key approaches to thematic analysis have been identified: inductive (bottom up) or 'theoretical' (analyst driven) (Braun et al. 2006). Inductive approaches do not attempt to fit the data to pre-existing templates or coding frames whilst theoretical thematic analysis is guided by the particular interests of the researcher (Braun et al. 2006). During the process of analysis I moved from an inductive to a theoretical approach. There were several iterations involved in this process. Whilst the study was exploratory in nature there were however two specific areas of interest: namely decision-making and access. Writing up themes therefore was driven by considerations of these issues. The approach was therefore 'theoretical' thematic since the data was coded with reference to these broad areas of interest. The other key aspect of this type of analysis is that in contrast to an inductive approach, searches are made of the literature for pre-existing theory which may be elaborated or expanded on by the current research project.

During the course of writing up themes, it was noted in conversation with my supervisors that one of the key theories previously found to be relevant in the literature review had particular saliency with the data. Themes were therefore reorganised and reframed using the key features of Candidacy theory (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005). This was the most productive part of analysis since there were two key advantages to using Candidacy theory to frame the findings. First, access to health care is a complex area and the theory provided a way to frame the findings in a coherent way using concepts that had been used in other empirical studies. Second, using Candidacy theory to frame the findings facilitated further analysis and links were made between themes. Study themes were grouped around *gaining access to specialist services* and *patient eligibility for an intensive insulin regimen*. This facilitated a separation of factors relating to 'access-entry' and 'in-system' access concepts used by Dixon-Woods et al. (2005, p. 44)

Further analysis identified that disparities relating to attitudes to self-care, health literacy and involvement in decision-making were important factors relating to the Candidacy theory concepts of 'patient presentation' and also influential in relation to 'health care adjudications', 'offers' and 'resistance'. By re-examining patient accounts of their different approaches to self-care and decision-making, three patient types were identified: 'proactive'; 'collaborative' and 'support-seeking'. The themes relating to self-care and decision-making were therefore grouped around these three patient types and these in turn were related to patient presentation, adjudications, offers and resistance. It was at this final interpretive stage that the various themes were brought together to form a coherent 'story' (Braun et al. 2006) and the concept of 'patient-provider alignment' emerged as a key influence on gaining access.

Given that the focus of the study was socioeconomic disparity one option might have been to analyse data according to socioeconomic status (SES); however, it was important not to make assumptions about the influence of SES at the start of analysis. Hence themes were developed first, followed by the process of analysis described above (third stage) whereby the impact of SES was investigated subsequent to theme identification.

4.11.4 Relationship between Analysis of Interviews and Consultations

Having identified the key themes within the interview data (reported in Chapter 5) I became aware that these findings also offered a framework to understand the consultation data. Hence I returned to the consultation data and re-examined some of the patterns in the analysis in the light of the interview findings. Using the techniques of conversation analysis I explored the influence of patient alignment and patient involvement on patient ability to maintain access to an IIR.

4.11.5 Presentation of Findings

The findings are presented in the following two chapters: Chapter 5 (the findings of the thematic analysis) and Chapter 6 (the findings of the conversation analysis). Although the interviews were recorded after the consultations, the findings of the former are presented first because the analysis follows the experience of the patient in their health care journey. Thematic analysis provides an understanding of *gaining* access whereas Chapter 6 presents the findings on *maintaining* access.

Chapter 5. Gaining Access to Intensive Insulin Regimens

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the findings of the interviews with 28 patients and 6 health care professionals. The chapter addresses the aspect of the research which relates to gaining access to an IIR from the perspective of equity. This was accomplished through an exploration of the pathways involved in changing to an IIR and other influences on gaining access. Before describing the findings of these interviews in sections 5.5 and 5.6, I describe the sample, the study context, and the use of Candidacy theory to frame the study findings.

5.2 Description of the Sample

Interviews were carried out with 28 patients and 6 health care professionals. Two health care professionals (a practice nurse and a GP) were recruited in primary care. The remaining health care professionals comprised a consultant diabetologist (insulin pump clinic), a consultant diabetologist in the general diabetes clinic, a diabetes specialist nurse and a diabetes specialist dietitian. Their socio-demographic details are not presented in order to preserve anonymity. Table 4.1 in Chapter 4 provides a summary of the data collected.

There were 15 women and 13 men who participated in the interviews. Table 5.1 summarises the socio-demographic characteristics for patient participants including gender, age, occupation and education (27 were white British). There were more individuals in the 40-49 age category with few participants above the age of 60. All except 4 participants were living with a partner.

Given that the focus of the thesis is on socioeconomic inequity, it is important to understand the socioeconomic make-up of the sample. In terms of economic activity: 17 patients were employed in work; 4 patients were unemployed (3 in receipt of disability payments due to diabetes); 3 patients had retired; and 3 were homemakers, caring for children. Almost twice as many individuals (18) pursued a qualification post 16 years of age compared with those leaving school at 16 without qualifications (10). More of the participants in the sample were higher managerial, administrative or professional individuals than intermediate or routine and technical classes. In terms of insulin pump users, 11 participants were in higher managerial,

117

administrative or professional occupations compared with 2 participants in intermediate occupations and 5 in routine and manual occupations.

Characteristics	Number
Gender	
Male	13
Female	15
Age	
18-29	4
30-39	7
40-49	10
50-59	4
60-69	2
≥70	1
Socio-economic classification*	
Higher managerial, administrative and professional	11
Intermediate	7
Routine and manual	9
Not classified	1
Education	
Left school at 16 (no further qualifications)	10
Continued with education/qualifications post 16	18
Deprivation (IMD 2010) ⁺	
Quintile 1 (Most deprived)	11
Quintile 2	6
Quintile 3	2
Quintile 4	6
Quintile 5 (Least Deprived)	3

Table 5.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of patients in the sample

*The Standard Occupational Classification 2010 (three classes version). Unemployed individuals were coded to their last occupation

⁺The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 (Department for Communities and Local Government 2011)

Table 5.1 also provides a measure of deprivation of the sample participants. The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2010 uses 7 domains: income; employment, health and disability; education; crime; barriers to housing and services; and living environment (Department for Communities and Local Government 2011). Each Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA) in England is ranked using these domains, according to their relative deprivation, and increasing deprivation is indicated by a higher score. The IMD is a well used measure of relative deprivation and has been used by Government in the allocation resources and in identifying areas of greatest need for interventions (Department for Communities and Local Government

2011). The sample comprised 11 participants, categorised (by postcode) as living in the most deprived areas (Quintile 1) and 17 participants living in the relatively less deprived areas (quintiles 2, 3, 4 and 5).

All patient participants had a diagnosis of type 1 diabetes (this was a primary inclusion factor for the study). Each age group and gender was represented in both types of IIR: multiple daily injections and insulin pump regimens (Table 5.2).

Characteristics	Number
Diabetes duration (years)	
1-5	3
6-10	3
11-15	5
16-20	4
≥21	13
Age at diabetes onset	
0-10	5
11-20	8
21-30	8
31-40	5
≥41	2
Treatment at time of study	
Insulin pump	18
Multiple daily injections (carbohydrate counting)	8
Basal bolus (not involving carbohydrate counting)	2
HbA1c	
<58mmol/mol (7.5%)	10
60mmol/mol (7.6%) to 85mmol/mol (9.9%)	15
≥86mmol/mol (10.0%)	3
Complications arising from diabetes	
Reported at least one complication	16
None reported	12

Table 5.2	Clinical	characteristics	of	patients in	the	sample
-----------	----------	-----------------	----	-------------	-----	--------

At the time of the study 18 patients were using a pump, 8 patients were on multiple daily injections (carbohydrate counting) and 2 patients were on multiple daily injections not involving carbohydrate counting. Three patients had previously been on an insulin pump and at the time of the study had reverted to multiple daily injections. Only 2 participants, therefore, were not on an intensified regimen. Many of the participants (13) had had a lengthy diabetes duration (above 21 years) whereas only 3 participants were in the below 5 years category. This is a reflection of the age ranges previously discussed since many participants

would have been diagnosed in childhood or early adulthood and many were now middle aged. In terms of HbA1c results, the last recorded figure for each patient shows that 10 participants were on or below target⁶ (that is, HbA1c under control) and 18 were above target (HbA1c value higher than recommended). A more detailed breakdown of socio-demographic and clinical characteristics is provided in Appendix 9 in order to provide context for the illustrative quotations in the findings.

5.3 Study Context

This section provides background context to the study findings. I describe the ways in which patient participants reported that they navigated their way through the system and health care professionals reported referral pathways. Since the health care professional sample was small (6 participants) I use their accounts in this chapter largely to provide study context. The patient participant sample provided the data for the majority of the reported findings (sections 5.5 and 5.6). Access to health care for diabetes services is probably also influenced by issues relating to the commissioning of services. The purpose of the study was not to investigate these wider system factors. Rather the study aimed to explore, largely from the patient perspective, how individuals gained access to services. To a large extent wider system factors, involving the commissioning of services, were not apparent to patient participants so discussions relating to these factors would not have been meaningful.

5.3.1 Pathways through the Health Care System

In this sample the majority of patients (25 participants) were recruited in a secondary care hospital. This single site comprised a number of specialist diabetes clinics. Recruitment took place in three of these clinics: a specialist general diabetes clinic (consultant clinic), an insulin pump clinic (multi-disciplinary team) and a joint diabetes specialist nurse and diabetes specialist nurse clinic for insulin pump users. Although the majority of participants in the sample were, at the time of the study, regularly attending specialist services, this had not always been the case for some. Table 5.3 provides details of patients (and their regimens) who were regular attenders and those who had joined the services more recently. There were 21 participants who had always regularly attended specialist services and 7 participants had experience of receiving their care from primary care for a period of time.

⁶ 6.5% -7.5% is the recommended target range (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2004)

Regular Attenders		Recent Attenders	
(Specialist Services)		(Previously attending GP surgery)	
Patient	Regimen	Patient	Regimen
P2 (F)	Pump	P1 (M)	MDI
P3 (F)	Pump	P5 (M)	MDI
P4 (F)	Pump	P17 (M)	Pump
P6 (F)	Pump	P22 (M)	Pump
P7 (F)	Pump	P25 (F)	MDI
P8 (M)	Pump	P26 (F)	MDI
P9 (M)	Pump	P27 (M)	Basal/Bolus
P10 (M)	Pump		
P11 (F)	Pump		
P12 (M)	Pump		
P13 (M)	Basal/Bolus		
P14 (M)	Pump		
P15 (F)	MDI (ex pump user)		
P16 (F)	Pump		
P18 (F)	Pump		
P19 (F)	Pump		
P20 (M)	MDI (ex pump user)		
P21 (F)	MDI (ex pump user)		
P23 (F)	Pump		
P24 (F)	MDI		
P28 (M)	MDI		

Table 5.3 Regular attenders and recent attenders

The possible routes to gaining access to an IIR in the study setting presented a complex picture. Based on the interview accounts of patients and health care professionals, Figure 5.1 depicts these pathways. The red arrows represent referrals from primary care to specialist services. Patients outside the specialist services required a referral from a member of the primary care team in order to attend the: consultant clinic; diabetes specialist dietitian clinic; diabetes specialist nurse clinic; insulin pump clinic; or Structured Education Programme. Having gained access to specialist services, patients could be referred by secondary care professionals from one clinic to another (represented by black arrows in Figure 5.1). Having gained access to specialist services, patients could also self-refer to diabetes specialist nurses;

however, in order to gain access to the diabetes specialist dietitian clinic, a referral from a health care professional was required. Patients on insulin pumps had open access to both the senior dietitian and the lead diabetes specialist nurse for the insulin pump clinic. This was in addition to having access to the routine multi-disciplinary appointments at the insulin pump clinic. This insulin pump clinic comprised a consultant, a dietitian and a diabetes specialist nurse.





5.3.2 Access to Intensive Insulin Regimens through Specialist Services

In this sample some patients had received all their diabetes care in primary care in the past and some participants had always attended specialist services. At the time of the study the majority of patients in this sample received their principal care for diabetes through specialist services with only occasional visits to their GP. Apparent in the interview accounts of patients and health care professionals were three stages of access relating to an IIR (see Figure 5.2). In this sample gaining access to specialist diabetes services (hereafter specialist services) in secondary care was found to be a prerequisite for gaining access to an IIR; this was the first stage. In specialist services individuals met with health care professionals to discuss their management of diabetes and to agree a plan for treatment regimens. The second stage of access related to the opportunities for individuals to change to more intensive regimens, having first accessed specialist services. The third stage related to the ways in which individuals – having gained access to an IIR – maintained their access to these specialist services and technologies. This chapter addresses the first two stages; the third stage is addressed in Chapter 6.

Figure 5.2 Three stages of access relating to an IIR



According to the accounts of both patients and health care professionals in this sample, access to an IIR was not available from GP practices. Hence in order to gain access to an IIR, a referral to specialist services was required. The two primary care health care professionals in the sample stated that they encouraged patients with type 1 diabetes to attend the specialist services at the local hospital for their diabetes care. They admitted that type 1 diabetes was outside their area of expertise and consequently felt unable to advise type 1 patients about aspects of an IIR such as carbohydrate counting, a necessary requirement of both multiple daily injections and insulin pump therapy. It should be noted that these comments were from one GP surgery and therefore may not be representative of the views of other primary care health care professionals. In contrast to the views of primary health care professionals, amongst the specialist services health care services for patients with type 1 diabetes. Some health care professionals reported that individuals with well managed type 1 diabetes could be followed up in primary care. For example one health care professional expressed the opinion that 'stable patients' could and should be managed in primary care because 'they don't get anything special and they don't need anything special' from specialist services (Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services)). Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services) also appeared to share this view.

It really depends on the competence of the GP, but certainly the annual reviews I don't think we need to see all the patients with type 1 diabetes. I mean we're sort of trying to provide a specialised service and we sort of divide diabetes in terms of the type 1 young adults transition clinic, complex type 1 diabetes and obviously pregnant women with type 1 diabetes. So complex type 1 diabetics would be people who have hypoglycaemic unawareness, complications due to their diabetes or even erratic blood glucose control...The straightforward type 1 diabetes doesn't necessarily need to be seen in secondary care but I think young adults transition patients do. Like I said it depends on the competence of the GPs whether they're happy to manage patients with type 1 diabetes.

(Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

It seemed, however, that this categorisation of patients might in some cases miss patients who should be seen by specialist services and this appeared to be acknowledged by Health Care Professional 3 in their concluding remarks regarding access to these services.

I'm sure there are patients who are being managed, well who are in the community who do have problems and we should be seeing. So might be a bit controversial to say but think we do need to work in more sort of close collaboration I think the secondary care so that we see appropriate people in the clinic. (Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

This acknowledgment seemed to be relevant to comments made by Health Care Professional 2 that occasionally patients followed up in primary care did not seem to be referred in a timely enough way.

You get a sense that primary care feel that they should be managing things and they will try and manage things as much as they can and perhaps sometimes that goes on a bit longer than it should have done and by the time they get referred you think they should have been referred quite a while ago. (Health Care Professional 2 (Specialist Services)) There appeared also to be a suggestion that being followed up in primary care, even if well managed, may be a disadvantage in terms of access to specialist updates

But I think there are some type 1's out there who were fairly stable and there was no reason that they needed to come and who were looked after by their GP and it's whether they get the same sort of updating and the same access to courses as people would do who were seeing our consultants.

(Health Care Professional 2 (Specialist Services))

Within the sample of patients relatively few had been referred from primary care to specialist services since the majority had attended specialist services since diagnosis. Out of 28 patients 2 had received a referral from a GP to the insulin pump clinic and one patient had been referred to the Structured Education Programme (a programme not available in the primary care setting for this sample of patients). This may have been an artefact of the sample since the majority were regular attenders at specialist services; however, GP practice health care professionals reported that they would not refer patients to an insulin pump clinic. Health Care Professional 6 (Primary Care) explained that initiating access to insulin pump therapy would be seen as solely within the remit of the hospital and that patients would be encouraged to discuss the matter with specialist health care professionals. This GP practice was in an area of deprivation and health care professionals reported that only one patient (a child) in their practice was on an insulin pump.

I: Have you ever had a patient ask about pumps?
S: Patients ask about pumps and we always say well it's a hospital decision it's not initiated in general practice and discuss it when you go up to the hospital.
(Health Care Professional 6 (Primary Care))

Within this sample both patients and health care professionals stated that the Structured Education Programme was only provided within the specialist services. In addition, although primary care health care professionals were able to refer patients directly to the Structured Education Programme (see Figure 5.1) it appeared that this was another pathway that was rarely used. Health Care Professional 2 (Specialist Services) stated that most patients attending the course received referrals from within specialist services. Hence the route from primary care to the insulin pump clinic and Structured Education appeared (from this sample) not to be well used.

Referrals from primary care to secondary care appeared, from patient accounts, to be prompted by difficulties managing their diabetes regimen. This was the experience of 6 out of 7 patients (see Table 5.3) who had been attending primary care only for their diabetes care. The exception was Patient 17 (Pump) who re-engaged with specialist services following a prolonged stay in hospital.

This study context provides the background for the accounts of patients and health care professionals. To recap, in this sample patients required access to specialist services in order to change to a more intensive regimen.

5.4 Framing Study Findings using Candidacy Theory

Since the health care professional sample was small (6 participants) the patient participant sample provided the data for the majority of the reported findings (sections 5.5 and 5.6). When undertaking an inductive analysis of the interview data I returned to papers and reports on the mid-range Candidacy theory (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005; Dixon-Woods et al. 2006) and found considerable overlap between components of this theory and my data. The process of identifying themes framed by Candidacy theory categories is described in Chapter 4 (section 4.11.3); however, it is useful to recap on the theory because it is so pertinent to the findings presented here.

Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) proposed that their theory offered an explanation of the barriers encountered by vulnerable groups in accessing health care. The theory proposed a 'set of central concepts', with candidacy as the 'core synthetic category' (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005, p.85). Candidacy theory was used to describe how an individual's eligibility for health care is jointly negotiated by themselves and their health care provider (Dixon-Woods et al. 2006). The six concepts are: identification; permeability; navigation; appearances; adjudications; and offers and resistance (see section 3.3.6 for a detailed explanation of the concepts).

In their description of Candidacy theory, Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) use the concepts of 'access-entry' (the ways individuals gain entry to health care systems) and 'in-system' access (Dixon-Woods et al. (2005, p. 44) citing Rosen (2001)). These map onto the three types of access I identified in my interviews (see section 5.3.2). 'Access-entry' depicts access to specialist services; 'in-system' access represents the way individuals gain and maintain access to an IIR.

126

The findings are structured by nesting the study themes within a framework of Candidacy theory concepts (Table 5.4). The Candidacy theory concepts and nested themes have been divided into two broad categories: those relating to *gaining access to specialist services* (section 5.5); and those relating to *patient eligibility for an IIR* (section 5.6). That is, section 5.5 (permeability and navigation) describes features of the health care system (ease of access and pathways to access respectively) relating to specialist services. Section 5.6 (presentation, adjudications, offers and resistance) explores the patient-provider interactions relating to gaining access to an IIR.

Candidacy Theory	Study Themes		
Gaining access to specialist services			
Permeability and	Disparities in access to specialist services		
Navigation	The role of health literacy in navigating health care services		
Patient eligibility for an intensive insulin regimen			
Presentation,	'Proactive' approach		
Adjudications,	'Collaborative' approach		
Offers and	'Support-seeking' approach		
Resistance	Aspects of the service ameliorating socioeconomic disparities		

5.5 Permeability and Navigation

5.5.1 Introduction

In this sample access to an IIR was largely dependent on gaining and maintaining access to specialist services. Two factors appeared to influence access-entry to specialist services. The first related to 'recursivity', that is, some patients were strongly influenced by their past experiences to seek future help (Rogers et al. 1999). These patients had a preference for specialist expertise. For another group of patients the dominant factor appeared to be permeability of services. That is, for some individuals in low socioeconomic groups, ease of access rather than past experiences with health care services appeared to be the most important factor in whether or not they chose to attend.

5.5.2 Disparities in Access to Specialist Services

A preference for specialist expertise

It was apparent from patient accounts that gaining access to an IIR was experienced very differently amongst the participants. Although the majority of participants had always attended specialist services (see Table 5.3) a number of participants had previously only received diabetes care at their GP practice. Many patient participants expressed a preference for specialist services (this also included the patients who had previously not attended specialist services). Patient preferences for specialist services appeared to be based on judgments about the skill and knowledge of health care professionals. Patient 8 (Pump) and Patient 3 (Pump) were typical in choosing to attend specialist services for their diabetes rather than GP led care.

But the GP he's fairly helpful but any problems with the diabetes I always phone up the hospital because they know more about it than the GP does. (Patient 8 – Pump)

If I'd got a problem with my diabetes I wouldn't go to my GP. I'd probably ring the nurses here just through past experience of GP's changing things they shouldn't be changing and putting you on medication you shouldn't be on and things like that. (Patient 3 – Pump)

Being able to access expertise appeared to be an important influence on preferences. According to the accounts of two patients who had received all their care from a GP surgery it appeared that patients believed that they had not always had access to the most up to date treatment and advice. Patient 25 (MDI) and Patient 2 (MDI) had been discharged back to primary care from specialist services and hence were able to reflect on the care offered by different parts of the health care system. Both patients reported that when they returned to specialist services after a period of being looked after by their GP surgery, advice had changed and they felt that they were out of date with current practice. This seemed to be the experience of Patient 25 (MDI) who despite having considerable input from a practice nurse, expressed several times in the course of her interview the need to be in touch with specialist services in order to remain up to date with type 1 diabetes and progress in its treatment. Like I say if you don't go to the hospital then you get out of date, out of touch really with the way things have changed. (Patient 25 – MDI)

Patient 25 (MDI) reported being told that she should not be injecting in her arms and Patient 26 (MDI) said that she was prescribed a more up to date insulin in place of the 'old' one. Patient 26 (MDI) also noted that the advice about HbA1c had changed. She was now advised to aim for an HbA1c of 7.5% rather than 7% as had been the case four years previously. These experiences appeared to influence their judgments in relation to the perceived expertise of health care professionals in special services. Patients seemed to weigh up the advantages of specialist services versus primary care in terms of their diabetes monitoring and to conclude that the former was preferable.

A number of patients described how practice staff and GPs seemed to have had difficulties understanding prescriptions for individuals with type 1 diabetes. For many patients in the sample, experience of health care professionals in the past appeared to strongly influence their preference for specialist services. The majority of patients in the sample had always accessed specialist services and seemed able to make judgments about what was available at the hospital compared with the care at their GP practice.

This strong preference for specialist services may be an artefact of the sample. It may not be surprising that these patients expressed a strong preference for specialist services because the majority of them were recruited from specialist services and had therefore already gained access to these services. Additionally most of the patients had adopted an IIR through attendance at specialist services. Nevertheless, past experience with health care professionals appeared to strongly influence the help-seeking behaviour of many of the participants in the sample.

Patients' problems attending specialist services

A key influence on access was the difference in patient perceptions about ease of access to specialist services. The majority of patients in the sample did not express any difficulties in accessing specialist services. This is not surprising since many were recruited in specialist services. Some participants in the sample, however, had dropped out of contact with specialist services in the past, either being unable or unwilling to attend appointments. Their experiences were able to illuminate how some patients' characteristics affected their views of

129

the permeability of specialist services and hence their ability to access these services. Permeability of access was affected by work related factors, lifestyle and transport.

Low paid work

Being unable to attend appointments resulted in an inability to access expertise. Missed appointments equated to missed opportunities to manage diabetes with more up to date and intensive regimens. Patients who had had problems attending appointments were amongst the least well off within the sample. Problems with maintaining access were mentioned by individuals with less skilled occupations rather than patients in skilled or professional work. Shift work was a problem mentioned by two participants. Patient 5 (Pump) described how for many years work would take precedence over appointments at the hospital for financial reasons.

P: I used to go to the diabetic nurses but I didn't used to go [to] the doctor. Used to say right have an appointment to go to and then cos of work with me working on the farm and timescales and not wanting to give up work I kept putting them off and putting them off and I'd go to one or two but not go to them all

I: Can you tell me some more about that in terms of why you couldn't go because of work

P: I'm more interested in the work at the time. Because I'm on the farm I'm always thinking I wanted to be there all the time any sort of like overtime came up I'd be there straight away and doing it cos I wanted the money because obviously some of the time of year you don't work any and I wanted to get that. But you can only do that for so long because when your health starts deteriorating and that you've got to think to yourself hang on a minute am I doing this for me or am I doing it for work. And at the end of the day I turned around and said I'm doing it for work.

(Patient 5 – Pump)

Health Care Professional 6 (Primary Care), who described the difficulties faced by patients taking time off work for hospital appointments, did not specify low paid workers, but indicated the need for patients to take the time as holiday, something professional occupations may not necessarily have to do. Health Care Professional 6 (Primary Care) gave an account of patients who felt that consultations in specialist services were not worth the effort required.

130
Well one of the comments is it's too impersonal or I get there and I've had to take a day off work and I'm up there and I'm in and out in half an hour. I wait there for an hour or two then I'm in and I'm out and it's a complete waste of time as far as they're concerned because somebody's just looked at all their results and said you're fine, you're not fine goodbye. So that's a whole half whole day's holiday because they often seem to take the whole day off for an appointment.

(Health Care Professional 6 (Primary Care))

Although difficulties with access due to work were predominantly mentioned by low paid working patients it also affected a few of the patients from professional classes. Two patients specifically described work as a hindrance to managing diabetes and had given up more stressful and well paid occupations, either to be at home full time, or to take up less demanding work (Patient 16 (Pump) and Patient 22 (Pump)). Patient 24 (MDI) who had recently retired from work as a health care professional, said that she would be able to prioritise diabetes now that she had left full time work.

The impact of low paid work on patients' ability to attend specialist services was apparent for two patients who re-engaged with services after becoming unemployed. Patient 5 (Pump) had been in low paid work and was reluctant to attend hospital appointments, feeling that this would penalise him financially. After he became unemployed, his worsening diabetes became a priority for him and he found that he now had the time to attend hospital appointments. Patient 27 (Basal/Bolus) who had disengaged with specialist services in the past, experienced a number of life changing events including marital breakdown. He became unemployed and suffered a serious bout of depression leading to attempted suicide. Whereas 25 years previously he had stopped attending specialist services owing to work commitments, becoming unemployed appeared to provide an opportunity to re-engage with services. In common with Patient 5 (Pump), diabetes became a priority for him.

Low paid work also affected access to the Structured Education Programme which was a prerequisite to accessing an IIR. Attendance was required for one day a week over four weeks and several patients described being unable to attend the course when first invited. Being unable to attend a course whilst in work was an issue for some patients. It appeared to be dependent on how accommodating employers were in allowing patients time off work to attend. Patient 25 (MDI) and Patient 8 (Pump) described very different experiences in relation to how work fitted in with attendance at the course. Patient 25 (MDI) was employed in shift work in an administrative capacity whereas Patient 8 (Pump) was in a professional occupation.

131

I mean I could have got it straightaway if they'd have said one day a week I would have been able to sort of work around it perhaps change my day off at work if necessary and would have been able to do that but at the time it was getting a week off. (Patient 25 – MDI)

My boss is brilliant. When I went on the course he said don't worry about it don't book it off as holiday just go off on the course. (Patient 8 – Pump)

Health care professionals in specialist services expressed concerns that there had been difficulties recruiting patients to the Structured Education Programme and changes had been made to the course timetable in recent years in an attempt to improve attendance. Despite these changes health care professionals acknowledged that some individuals still experienced difficulties attending the course due to employment and in some cases the clinic had sent letters to employers explaining the benefits of the course.

It's a problem with timing because I mean we're talking one day a week for four weeks and obviously they're type 1 patients which tend to be younger therefore tend to be working so there's an issue with work. So they have offered some evening courses but again there's then trouble with childcare and commitments. So I think a lot of it is to do with sort of work commitments.... and of course we're in a recession. The last thing people want to do is put any jobs at risk. They don't want to give their employers any excuse so it may be tied in with job security as well.

(Health Care Professional 1 (Specialist Services))

'Chaotic' lifestyles

Missing an appointment at specialist services appeared to have serious implications beyond the missed opportunity to consult with health care professionals. There was some evidence that hospitals discharged patients who did not attend appointments. Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care) described how one missed appointment could be sufficient to remove a patient from the system of recall and considerable effort might then be required by the patient to be reinstated in the system. Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care), who worked in a surgery within an area of deprivation, described how 'chaotic' lifestyles could lead some of her population to miss hospital appointments. A number of factors conspired to make attendance at hospital less likely for this population. For example, the area has a large number of council houses and high levels of population movement. As Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care) reflected there appeared not to be a good 'fit' between the services on offer and her patients' characteristics.

S: I think a lot of our patients have really 'chaotic' lifestyles and that just doesn't fit very well with regular reviews at the hospital and so a lot just they move, they change their mobile phone numbers, they just lose contact with the hospital and particularly now the hospital very quickly discharges anyone who doesn't turn up. So then they get discharged and then if they do need to be seen at the hospital there needs to be a GP referral to refer them.

I: So if they don't turn up, the hospital will then discharge?

S: It depends. Some consultants will discharge them after one DNA [did not attend], not turning up. Some will give them another chance send them another appointment a few weeks later. A lot will give them another chance to be fair. But then if they DNA twice perhaps they moved house and they never told the hospital their new address or they told us and they thought that the hospital then would magically know (laughs) which they don't and so then if they don't turn up after a couple of appointments they'll be discharged even if their diabetes is terrible.

(Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care))

In the above quote, Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care) described what she perceived as a 'chaotic' lifestyle for patients attending her surgery. It appeared that patients were not necessarily averse to attending specialist services but that various factors acted as barriers to attendance. These included, first, the highly mobile nature of the population, second, individuals lacked the planning and organisational skills necessary to keep appointments, third, they had probably attained low levels of education and finally, some were homeless. 'Chaotic' lifestyles were not conducive to letting public bodies such as hospitals know about changes of address. If patients were not contactable then they did not receive appointments. Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care) reflected that some of her patients would be more likely to attend specialist services if the system was easier to access.

I: So when you say 'chaotic' lifestyles can you expand on that a little bit?

S: Well we work in an area that is very deprived in the centre of (city name) so we have a large number of council houses. We have a lot of people moving in and moving out for re-housing. We have some homeless people we have a few hostels that we cover. A lot of people just have a 'chaotic' lifestyle so they're perhaps not very well organised.

133

They might have low levels of education and not very good at planning that sort of thing so appointments at hospitals can just go by the by (laughs).

I: Yes so is it the case that they would go to the hospital for instance if the hospital hadn't sort of lost touch with them or is it the case that some of them actually don't want to go?

S: Some just don't want to go and some probably would go if it was all very easy and they were reminded a few days before and it was just easier some would go. (Health Care Professional 5 (Primary Care))

Transport

Permeability could be affected by transport to specialist services. The majority of participants in the sample expressed no difficulty getting to the hospital for specialist care. Although some comments were made about car parking problems and journey times which were up to fifty minutes in some cases, patients were not deterred from attending specialist services. The majority of sample participants were car owners so their experiences may have been very different from a patient travelling by bus or relying on others for transport. For example Patient 17 (Pump) needed two buses to get to the hospital

So it takes I'd say roughly say about forty five minutes to an hour. I say an hour to me. But altogether like Monday I had to be seen at quarter past four so basically I was out of the house for three hours basically because of the buses that's the main drawback (Patient 17 – Pump)

One of the participants (Patient 1 (MDI)) who was unable to drive himself to the hospital described being influenced by the short distance to his GP compared with the distance to his local hospital and stated that this was an important factor for him in deciding where to receive follow up care. This appeared to contribute to a delay in his change to a more intensive regimen. It took at least a year before he was referred, by his GP, to the hospital following difficulties managing his regimen.

5.5.3 The Role of Health Literacy in Navigating Health Care Services

It appeared that in this sample the majority of patients relied on health care professionals to inform them about what was available in terms of treatment and to assist in navigating health care services. Some patients, however, appeared to be able to navigate specialist services more effectively than others and thus were not reliant on health care professionals. It seemed that patient knowledge was important for independent navigation through specialist services and subsequent access to an IIR. This knowledge – or health literacy – appeared to be gained from regular attendance at specialist services, being a health care professional, having a friend or family member who was a health care professional, or knowing someone who had successfully navigated the system.

Some patients were more aware than others of the services on offer. For example Patient 24 (a health care professional) gave an account of her awareness that an insulin pump was, potentially, an option and her understanding that attending the Structured Education Programme was a requirement for eligibility. There appeared to be a proactive approach to the way in which this patient sought information in order to make a decision between an insulin pump or multiple daily injections regimen.

I've become aware about the insulin pump that many people are now on because I wondered if I would go that way. So I made some enquiries of my own and somebody, a friend of mine, introduced me to somebody that has one and I went to speak to her because I was thinking do I want to ask to go on this for myself? And I was aware that I think you have to have done the (course name) course or something like it before you can go onto this anyway. That was another thing that promoted me to want to do the (course name) because I had initially thought oh it sounds a good thing but having spoken to this girl who is on the pump I've actually... what my thought was that it sounds an awful lot of hassle.

(Patient 24 – MDI)

Within their accounts, some patients displayed an awareness of the medical hierarchy. Some patients described knowing the difference between a consultant and a junior member of staff which could ease their access to this expertise. For example, Patient 7 (Pump) a health care professional described how she was able to request to see a consultant rather than the registrar at her appointments.

When I was under (consultant name) I just used to say I'd like to see (consultant name) rather than one of the registrar. So I always got continuity that way. (Patient 7 – Pump)

Other patients had familiarity with the system because they had visited the hospital for many years. There was evidence that being known to health care professionals enabled individuals to navigate services.

Knowing someone who has successfully navigated the system also provided an advantage. Patient 23 (Pump), a newly diagnosed patient, was acquainted with another individual with type 1 diabetes who had gained access to an insulin pump. Having learned about the technology and being made aware that, in the opinion of the family acquaintance, her regimen was unsatisfactory, she was able to navigate the system herself.

He (the family acquaintance) couldn't believe that I'd been sent home and I was on two units in the morning two units at lunch four at dinner and six at night and regardless of what I ate.... after he'd been and spoke to me I rang the hospital and asked if I could be put on a carbohydrate counting course so I could get used to how you count carbs and how you do have different doses of insulin every day. So I went on the course. (Patient 23 – Pump)

One of the health care professionals who was interviewed associated this high level of health literacy with patients in professional occupations.

So I would think by the nature of the beast that it would naturally select more professional people because they tend generally to have not better skills, how can I put it, they would tend to gear themselves towards that. Also generally in health care you tend to find that professional people will seek out what is best for them. And I think that's right across the board whether it's pump therapy or not you will get professional well people making sure that they get the best out of the system because they know how the system works and they have the ability to use the phones and the internet and the computers and get where they want to be.

(Health Care Professional 1 (Specialist Services))

The different pathways taken by patients in accessing an IIR and the role of health literacy are contrasted in the experiences of Patient 11 (Pump) and Patient 5 (Pump). Occupational status and contact with other health care professionals appeared to be an advantage for Patient 11 in gaining access to an IIR. Patient 11, a health care professional, had found out about insulin pump therapy from another health care professional and through gaining this knowledge was able to persuade her GP that she was a potential candidate for the technology. As a consequence she was referred directly to the insulin pump clinic. In Patient 5 (low socioeconomic status) described a lack of awareness of other regimens prior to his reengagement with specialist services. Patient 5, who was unemployed at the time of the study, received a referral to specialist services for the Structured Education Programme; however,

this was only after he had lost his job due to diabetes. Prior to this referral he was unaware that there was a course available to help him manage diabetes.

5.6 Presentation, Adjudications, Offers and Resistance

5.6.1 Introduction

Having described some of the influences on 'access-entry' in section 5.5, this section explores how 'in-system access' could determine access to an IIR. The focus in this section is health care interactions and the influence of patient presentation in determining access to an IIR. Before presenting the findings I introduce two key aspects of these interactions influencing socioeconomic disparities: patient-provider alignment and types of patient presentation.

Patient-provider alignment

Alignment in the context of this study was a complex multi-layered concept and appeared to play a key role in relation to equitable access. At the macro level, patient-provider alignment appeared to be determined by a good 'fit' between help-seeking actions carried out by patients and the response to those actions by health care professionals. In contrast, nonalignment described a poor 'fit' on occasions between the help sought by patients and the help provided by health care professionals, characterised in some cases by the patient's negative perceptions relating to patient-provider interactions.

The macro level concept was identified through analysis of themes and sub-themes within the interview data. It appeared to be influenced by many factors including patient motivation, patient health literacy, and levels of patient engagement in decision-making. This study also examined the concept of patient-provider alignment at the micro level of social interaction in the turn by turn unfolding of conversation. In Chapter 6, notions of patient-provider alignment and the factors that appeared to impact on the relationship are explored in detail using conversation analysis. As well as conversational alignment, Chapter 6 explores the influence of patient-provider communication.

Types of patient presentation

The ways that individuals presented themselves in health care interactions and their helpseeking behaviour appeared to influence the response from health care professionals in terms of adjudications and offers. I identified three main categories relating to the ways patients presented themselves in relation to self-care both in terms of coping with diabetes on a daily basis and in relation to treatment decision-making:

- 'proactive'
- 'collaborative'
- and 'support-seeking'

Patients adopting a 'proactive' approach to self-care appeared to view diabetes management as their responsibility and seemed to have a predominantly self-reliant stance in relation to their condition. Patients with a 'collaborative' approach to self-care viewed diabetes management as difficult and unpredictable in some cases and they described working in partnership with health care professionals to support their self-care efforts. Patients whose dominant approach to diabetes management was 'support-seeking' were characterised by low motivation and difficulties adhering to complex self-care regimens. Although their accounts of interactions with some health care professionals appeared to be negative, nevertheless their 'support-seeking' approach appeared to be part of their coping strategy.

These three categories were based on patient accounts spanning, in some cases, many years. Since these findings represent 'snapshots' in the lives of patients there is an acknowledgment that patient experiences may be characterised differently at various periods in their lives. Hence there was a dynamic element to patient categories in which it was apparent, for example, that some patients who had been in the 'support-seeking' category were now categorised as 'collaborative'. Thus patients may be identified variously as predominantly 'proactive', 'collaborative' or 'support-seeking' depending on a given time period. In presenting these three dominant characteristics, the purpose is not to deny that there are complexities in this area but rather to elucidate the potential of these characteristics to impact on equitable access.

The socioeconomic status (SES) of patients in the three categories is presented in Table 5.5. Professional social classes (SES 1) were mainly in the 'proactive' and 'collaborative' categories. Routine and Manual social classes (SES 2) were mainly in the 'collaborative' category. There were only a few 'support-seeking' patients and these were in the middle and low social classes (SES 2 and 3).

Category	Numbers of patients in each category ⁷		
	SES 1	SES 2	SES 3
'Proactive'	8	2	1
'Collaborative'	2	5	6
'Support-Seeking'	0	1	2
Total	10	8	9
Socioeconomic status (SES) – Standard Occupation Classification			
Three classes: 1 = Higher Managerial and Professional; 2 = Intermediate; 3 = Routine			
and Manual (Office for National Statistics 2010b)			

Table 5.5 Socioeconomic status for patient categories

Below I present the three different types of patient presentation and the factors that appeared to be relevant to patient-provider alignment (and therefore access to an IIR) in each case. Two approaches, 'proactive' and 'collaborative', appeared to facilitate access to an IIR. There appeared to be a good 'fit' between these patients' help-seeking approaches and the support and services provided by health care professionals. In contrast there appeared to be a poor 'fit' on occasions between patients who had a predominantly 'support-seeking' approach and their health care professionals. The few 'support-seeking' patients in the sample were mainly unemployed manual workers.

5.6.2 'Proactive' Approach

High levels of motivation to self-care

Testing blood glucose levels is a prerequisite of effectively managing an IIR. It is crucial that patients adopting an IIR have an awareness of their blood glucose levels at intervals throughout the day in order that decisions can be made regarding carbohydrate and insulin intake. Patients who displayed interest in managing their condition appeared to be viewed as potential candidates for an IIR by health care professionals in this sample.

We're looking for people who are motivated; who can self-care because it's a technology that a patient will have to take ownership of. (Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

⁷ One patient was not classified according to Standard Occupation Classification guidelines

Patients with a 'proactive' approach to self-care described strategies that were indicative of high levels of motivation in this respect. Testing blood glucose levels was described as a regular and routine part of their regimen.

I often check my bloods really really frequently. Far too frequently sometimes ((laughs)) but it's probably six, seven times a day. (Patient 8 – Pump)

Many of the patients adopting a 'proactive' approach to self-care described wanting 'control' of diabetes, and some stated that they had 'control' of their condition. These patients described diabetes management as their responsibility and something which had to be mastered.

I think you just take it in your stride in a way even then because you just adapt to it and I was never going to let it rule me I was going to rule it. So but I didn't want to be one of these that just oh I'm a diabetic I can't do this I can't eat that. (Patient 7 – Pump)

Those patients with the onset of complications were keen to minimise further problems; however, a number of 'proactive' patients had had diabetes for many years without experiencing any problems. Hence taking 'control' of diabetes and developing expertise in self-care was viewed by these patients as a way to protect oneself against the long term complications of diabetes. An important aspect of taking 'control' appeared to be having the confidence and willingness to experiment with insulin doses.

I knew what quick acting insulin did and I knew what long acting insulin did and I learnt about the basal level and the bolus and that and I thought well if I'm running at 14 which is twice as high as my blood sugar should be when I'm about sort of in-between a meal for instance why don't I give myself some quick acting insulin which will work on that excess sugar and sort it to put it bluntly... so I started doing it and it worked and I could bring my blood sugars down within a couple of hours, bring them down to a reasonable level.

(Patient 11 – Pump)

High levels of health literacy

Patients with a 'proactive' approach to self-care appeared to have high levels of health literacy and described their knowledge about diabetes in participant interviews in a confident way. For example, in the following extract Patient 22 (Pump) explained in detail the reasons why he occasionally experienced high blood glucose levels as a reaction to having low blood glucose levels (hypoglycaemia). His account demonstrated the importance of not just assimilating diabetes related knowledge but being able to apply the knowledge to problem solving in his daily routine.

So my high sugars aren't because I'm not controlling my carbs and I'm eating too much or I'm not dosing correctly. It's because I'm going hypo and it's bouncing back and then the occasional one where this gear plays up (insulin pump) and there's quite a lag you go high and then you think oh it could be this it could be that, I'll leave that in for now and just see what happens. Well you follow the protocol on the course that was given you, treat it, test after an hour, is it now going in the right direction. Well I had this happen to me either yesterday or the day before I was eighteen point something I thought why on earth am I that, what's going on. Immediate thought was oh this has failed. I was at the start of the day where it was due to be changed anyway but I thought I'll bung in a correction (insulin dose) it was big'un four point something I thought ah so that's working.

(Patient 22 – Pump)

Some patients felt that having a good knowledge of diabetes had enabled them to manage diabetes more effectively. This appeared to relate to a strongly held desire to live a 'normal' life and not to be restricted in any way by their condition.

I'd got a life to live and to lead so you just get on with it and I suppose having a nursing background as well that helped a lot, cos you've got that bit more knowledge about it so I don't know you just got on and did it. (Patient 7 – Pump)

Health literacy was also related to a 'proactive' approach to information seeking about diabetes management outside of the consultation environment. The majority of active information seekers in this study were in the higher socioeconomic group. One of the most frequently mentioned sources of information was Diabetes UK. In contrast none of the participants from the lower socioeconomic groups mentioned actively seeking information from Diabetes UK.

'Proactive' patients also had skills in information assimilation and were able to use this knowledge to engage in health care interactions. Hence, although it was important to have gained knowledge (functional health literacy) it was also important to be able to critically apply this knowledge (critical health literacy) in order to engage with health care professionals (communicative health literacy).

An example of the use of information acquisition to gain access was the apparent advantage to some patients of gaining an awareness of other treatment options. It appeared that patients who had acquired knowledge through their own efforts felt that they had improved their chances of accessing an insulin pump. They believed that they would not have been able to access an IIR if they had not initiated access themselves since offers from health care professionals had not been forthcoming.

I: what part do you feel you've played in terms of deciding what insulin regimen to go onto?

P: I was like the instigator to actually get a pump. I don't think if I'd (not've) asked I would have ever been offered one.

(Patient 23 – Pump)

Influencing health care professional adjudications

This is not to suggest that gaining access to insulin pump was simply a matter of requesting the therapy. Adjudication occurred in that health care professionals stressed the importance of ensuring that the most 'eligible' patients gained access to an IIR. Although patient competence and potential commitment to the regimen were crucial attributes required by health care professionals clinical need was the primary justification. Difficulties in achieving acceptable glycaemic control despite attempts at following a multiple daily injection regimen was described as a major consideration whereas a request for a pump for lifestyle reasons was described as unlikely to succeed.

There usually needs to be some sort of clinical indication. So just if a patient happens to be type 1 but is well controlled for them just coming and saying I want a pump isn't enough. There usually needs to be some sort of clinical reason why a pump may benefit them and usually that's because they've done their level best to try and improve the diabetic control and get an HbA1c on target and they haven't achieved it. Or there may be horrendous complications where a pump may help and that is quite rare I have to say. It may be a needle phobia or it may be disabling hypos that everything else hasn't been able to assist with.

(Health Care Professional 1 (Specialist Services))

It appeared, however, that well informed patients had an advantage in being able to present a case for insulin pump eligibility despite not strictly meeting all the necessary criteria. The characteristics of patients who appeared to assert themselves in consultations were encapsulated in the following account by Health Care Professional 6 (Specialist Services). In the opinion of this member of staff patients requesting an insulin pump tended to be characterised by possessing a high level of education and familiarity with different regimens, either through an organisation such as Diabetes UK or by finding out about services through acquaintances or family.

In terms of who would be more likely to ask about insulin pump therapy, I think a lot of people ask about therapies that they're aware that their friends or people they know. Others are very highly educated and they're more aware of what is available for them. Some of them they're sort of involved in Diabetes UK or they're members and therefore they're more aware.

(Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

A preference for 'active' involvement in decision-making

Patients with a 'proactive' approach described themselves as actively involved in health care decisions, both inside and outside of the consultation. As well as portraying confidence and self-reliance in terms of their own self-care management, they stated that they did not feel that they always had to follow the advice of health care professionals. This was apparent in their descriptions of the help that they sought from health care professionals and the use that they made of that advice. They appeared to adopt a discriminating approach to the advice offered by health care professionals in which, although they described listening to advice, they also valued their own experiential knowledge.

I tend to look at them more as giving advice rather than telling me what to do because my life is a little bit more active and 'chaotic' than their normal patient. So I think I tend to listen with interest to what they've got to say but then I choose to take it on board or modify it, or change it a little bit so that it'll work with me. (Patient 8 – Pump) It seemed from patient accounts that HbA1c targets were an important aspect of the advice they received from health care professionals in relation to managing diabetes⁸. These blood results also appeared to be an important indicator to health care professionals of patient commitment to an IIR and a way to judge how effectively patients were able to manage their condition. This is illustrated in the following quote from Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services).

So if we are looking at somebody going up going up within the target range if it goes up from 6.5 to 7 that would be reassurance that you are still within if you like relatively safe limits. You've been excellent and you've gone from A star to A so that that's the easy one but if somebody deteriorates from a 7.4 to a 10.4 that would clearly mean that that person is struggling with their glycaemic control and you would need to find out why if it's a persistent trend or if it's a one off. So if it's a one off there's usually a reason, a bereavement or relationship breakdown, a significant life event which said to them you've got other things in life to worry about. Glycaemic control is the last thing you need to worry about and at some point that will come back when they re-prioritise their lives. On the other hand if somebody has an HbA1c of 10 persistently then it probably means that we've put somebody on a pump who shouldn't be on a pump that's the sort of patient who then you have a conversation with them saying perhaps the pump's not for you.

(Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services))

A number of patients, however, adopted a different stance to the one recommended by health care professionals in relation to HbA1c target levels. Some patients had a preference for keeping their HbA1c level lower than recommended levels in order to minimise the long term complications of diabetes. Patient 7 stated that her objective was to try and maintain her blood glucose levels within the 'normal' range. Although this might appear to be a lack of alignment with health care professionals, it would seem that this dialogue with health care professionals was an important aspect of sharing decisions, since it allowed patients to voice their difference of opinion but also gave health care professionals an opportunity to explain current advice with regard to HbA1c, as illustrated in the following quote.

⁸ An exploration of the impact of the HbA1c result in relation to patient-provider communication is reported in Chapter 6. Blood glucose levels and HbA1c results played a prominent part in review appointments in the insulin pump clinic.

That consultant had a completely different attitude towards HbA1c's and said in order to try and get rid of the hypos I'd like you to have an average of 7.2 percent and I said I'm not happy with that, that's a bit too high for me that's bordering on being too high. So he said 7.5 percent is high but 7.2 percent would be better you might get rid of some of the hypos.

(Patient 4 – Pump)

These patients also described challenging the approach taken with their diabetes management in other respects. Several patients described an assertive approach to help-seeking behaviour that involved expressing dissatisfaction with their current regimen and requesting an alternative. Hence some patients with a 'proactive' approach had requested an insulin pump, that is, they had not waited to be offered an IIR by a health care professional. Depending on how they heard about the pump, they described how they 'pushed' for its introduction (Patient 8 and Patient 14) or initiated discussions about it with their health care professionals (Patient 3, Patient 4, Patient 9, Patient 11 and Patient 23).

Well I'm more I'm a bit more proactive than quite a few people and when something isn't right I do say and I was telling them I'm not happy things aren't working is there anything that you can do to help me out. (Patient 8 – Pump)

I had to go up and might be a bit ham fisted and say look it's not helping I says there's something wrong I says so I'd like to know what you're going to do about it. (Patient 9 – Pump)

Three insulin pump patients (patients 3, 8, and 11) described preparing a list of questions before attending consultations. Hence patients with a 'proactive' approach reported influencing some of the agenda in consultations, portraying themselves as having a primary role in initiating discussions about an IIR⁹. Having heard about alternative treatment regimens they appeared able to assert their candidacy for an IIR. They described an ability to assimilate information about an IIR, were able to make judgements about its potential benefits and had the confidence to act on these beliefs. This level of assertiveness was in contrast to the

⁹ In Chapter 6 the influence of patient involvement on maintaining access to an IIR is explored, including the ability of some patients to influence the consultation agenda (section 6.5).

majority of 'collaborative' patients who described having little knowledge about an IIR prior to being informed more fully by health care professionals.

Patient-provider goal alignment

Patients with a 'proactive' approach to gaining access to an IIR appeared to be aware of their eligibility status, that is, how they were perceived by health care professionals and the best way to proceed in order to achieve a successful outcome. It appeared that some overlap between health care professional goals and patient goals was an important influence in being able to achieve access to an IIR.

Some 'proactive' patients were strongly motivated to obtain access to an insulin pump although they differed in their reasons for wanting the therapy. Some patient goals were not within the health care professionals' criteria for accessing a pump. Nevertheless these patients described some congruence between their goals and those of health care professionals. Patient 11 (Pump) persuaded her GP to refer her to the insulin pump clinic. Her justification was that she would be healthier in the long run if she could improve her glycaemic control. Her GP was described as willing to refer her to an insulin pump clinic and it appeared that demonstrating a track record of high levels of motivation was an important factor.

I think she said that because she believes in me and she knows I try my hardest to look after myself and I won't I don't abuse the NHS and I don't abuse myself. I try my hardest and I was looking for a way of improving things for me and she said well why not you're entitled to that. So she wrote to him on my behalf and said I was interested and would he consider taking me on and he wrote back to her and said he'd be delighted to meet me. So I went up to (hospital name) to meet him and had a long interview with him and at the end of the interview he said well as far as I'm concerned you're exactly the type of person that I'm looking for so if you'd like to try a pump then I'm more than happy to put you on one.

(Patient 11 – Pump)

There were a number of important aspects to Patient 11's ability to gain access to an IIR that have salience for the current thesis. First, the patient's goals appeared to be congruent with medical goals prior to accessing the insulin pump (Patient 11's stated goals were to gain better control of the diabetes in order to improve her long term health). Second, Patient 11 had reasonable control, as measured by HbA1c, and by her own admission would not have been considered an eligible candidate for a pump at her local hospital. Nevertheless, the patient's

reported ability to talk in a way that aligned with the medical perspective in terms of future goals appeared to be advantageous in persuading the relevant health care professionals of her potential eligibility ('you're exactly the type of person that I'm looking for' (extract above)). Hence the combination of being both 'proactive' and aligned with medical goals appeared to be an advantage for a number of patients in the sample.

It appeared that being able to communicate effectively was also important. Hence an ability to align culturally with health care professionals was influential. Patient 11 (Pump) reported that as a health care professional she was aware of the best way to communicate with other health care professionals.

I mean I'm always quite direct with doctors and nurses and of course I speak their language. (Patient 11 – Pump)

Patient 8 (Pump) and Patient 11 (Pump) described themselves as 'proactive' patients and were aware of the importance of building a rapport with staff. Patient 8 (Pump) was a professional who also understood the importance of effective communication and being able to get on with health care professionals.

I: So how would you describe your relationship with the staff at the hospital?P: Yeah very good. You've got to keep them on your side haven't you really (laughs) no it's very good.

I: What do you mean by that?

P: You've got to work with them rather than against them. They're trying to help you and if you're not interested or you don't want to take part in the consultation I think the only person that's going to hurt is you so you've got to work. You've got to be fairly open and fairly easy to get along with.

(Patient 8 – Pump)

Some health care professionals were described by patients as being sympathetic to their goals in relation to quality of life (Patients 8 and 9). Patient 9 (Pump) recounted the conversation with his consultant regarding his reasons for wanting an insulin pump. He described the stigma involved in injecting and the inconvenience of having to go into small cramped toilets when away from home. He said that it had got the stage where he no longer wanted to go out.

I: So what would be the main reasons that would have been given for you going on the pump at that stage?

P: At that stage was a better quality of life for me.

I: Yes and did you discuss this in the in the consultation?

P: Yes I did yes because he did ask me and I told him I wanted a better quality of life than what I'd got now and he agreed with me and he said that this would be a fine example of getting you in. Getting you feeling better about yourself he said. 'It's not the pump as such', he says,' it's how you feel about it. If you feel that this is going to be the thing that's going to change your life then it's a big thing'. (Patient 9 – Pump)

Patient 8 (Pump) similarly described being concerned with quality of life issues. He had experienced difficulties managing diabetes with an intensive exercise programme and was also conscious of injecting in public because 'people don't want to see you injecting'.

Well the pump I think it was more a case of the pump giving me a little bit more freedom. I mean when I go out with my friends for a curry I can not now think about taking my, all my kit with me and nipping off to the toilet to dose up with each course. I can just sit down here and plug it in. Plus the fact I say about the sport I can adjust my dosages and use correction doses all the way during the day just to try and bring things to a steady playing field.

(Patient 8 – Pump)

Patient 8 (Pump) described his consultant as sympathetic to his request and he remembered that the justification for the pump was made on the basis of his sporting activities.

I: When you were asking to go on the pump what were the reasons given for going on the pump?

P: Sport mainly. It was entirely, that was my only reason and (consultant's name) you know I think he could see the sport thing as being a bit of a concern so he was very supporting.

(Patient 8 – Pump)

Although the health care professional perspective in this sample was that clinical need was the most important justification for an insulin pump it seemed that some patients had been able to persuade health care professionals that they were candidates for the regimen without necessarily fulfilling this criterion. Other factors that appeared to be important to health care

professionals in assessing patients included some of the attributes displayed by 'proactive' patients, that is: high levels of motivation; patient commitment and ability to manage a more complex regimen (potential or actual); high levels of health literacy; and a willingness to engage with health care professionals. It appeared therefore that there was a good 'fit' between these patients' goals and the adjudications of health care professionals.

What indicates to me that they're self-motivated; it's just people who are engaged in the consultation.... someone who has an interest in self-managing a condition and who has a good knowledge of their diabetes. I think those are the main issues. (Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

It seemed that patient-provider alignment offered a plausible explanation for being able to gain access to an insulin pump under these circumstances.

5.6.3 'Collaborative' Approach

Motivation to resolve difficulties

Patients taking a 'collaborative' approach were also motivated; however, this motivation appeared to be borne out of a desire to resolve difficulties they faced rather than to self-care *per se*. Many described having had problems with diabetes management and being unable to satisfactorily achieve metabolic control.

My job's mainly been my difficulty to get the blood sugars right and even though I'm healthy and I exercise well which is good but it has its complications or makes a difference to your blood sugars so that has always been, I always used to say we're complicated.

(Patient 2 – Pump)

Many of these patients had had HbA1c results that were well above recommended levels, in some cases for many years. A number of these patients described diabetes management as unpredictable and difficult.

Things are going to happen over which you've got no control because you'll never beat mother nature she'll always throw this spanner in the works and I suppose the quality do I mean quality, the information that I receive in terms of whether that be verbal or the mechanism that I use for controlling my diabetes, that's improved greatly over the years. But you're still talking about a human being and if you don't get it quite right you'll get a spanner in the works. (Patient 16 – Pump)

Some patients described a lack of self-care in the past in which they had not followed recommended regimens and appeared not to have taken responsibility for managing their condition. For some this had resulted in hospital admissions for serious diabetic complications including coma.

P: I didn't test, diabetes it was just a pain in the backside to me then to the point that I actually ended up in hospital
I: How long ago was that then
P: Oh fourteen years maybe thirteen years. Fourteen years ago I went into a ketoacidic coma. Nearly died from what I've been told I had to be brought back round. Don't remember a lot about it at all.

(Patient 12 – Pump)

A number of patients in this group were concerned that they were now experiencing the onset of complications.

I'm still getting these low blood sugars and feeling tired and that's the thing that worries me because I've had them for so long whether if you can understand it, whether the damage has already been done. (Patient 5 – Pump)

Other patients had in the past demonstrated a commitment to self-care and reported that in trying hard to meet targets had experienced problem associated with tightly controlling their blood glucose levels. It appeared that good HbA1c levels had been achieved but this had been at the expense of experiencing hypoglycaemia.

I still had a lot of hypos. My HbAc had been very good but I was always getting a lot of hypos morning afternoon and evening sometimes three a day. (Patient 6 – Pump)

It seemed that amongst many of these patients there was an acknowledgment that other individuals assisted them with their difficulties. Although some patients described the support they received from family and partners, the most frequently mentioned source of support was specialist services. It appeared that the majority of these patients had experienced many years of continuous care with the same department.

I mean if ever I'm in trouble for whatever reason my first port of call is (nurse's name) and if I can't talk to her one of the other nurses. They've been brilliant they have over the years can't fault them.

(Patient 14 – Pump)

Seeking and following advice

It seemed that many of the 'collaborative' patients strongly valued their health care professionals' advice and they reported acting on guidance as evidenced in the quotes below. These patients seemed to rely on health care professionals to initiate treatment changes. Hence there was a good 'fit' between the help that they sought from health care professionals and the support that they received since they appeared to be both motivated to improve their diabetes management and they valued the advice they received.

I've always had good care and I took everything on board all the advice which makes a difference and I accepted it straight away. (Patient 2 – Pump)

To the best of my knowledge and ability I abide by the rules because I know that if I don't it will not only have an impact on me but it will have an impact on the people around me. So anything that can improve not only my life today but my long term existence bring it on let's give it a go (laughs). (Patient 16 – Pump)

There appeared to be a strongly held view by many of these patients that their care was provided by experts. This linked with a feeling, expressed by patients, that they were comfortable deferring to the advice of specialist health care professionals.

The thing I've learnt with the diabetic centre is that I do whatever they tell me they're the experts at the end of the day, so I tend to go with whatever they say really nine times out of ten I'll run with whatever they suggest because at the end of the day they are the experts.

(Patient 12 – Pump)

A preference for health care professionals to initiate decisions

In contrast to 'proactive' patients, patients with a 'collaborative' approach appeared to view health care professionals as playing an important and in some cases dominant role in their treatment decision-making. Although some of the patients with a 'collaborative' approach had sought information from other sources, the majority described health care professionals as their main source of diabetes related information.

P: I don't think I've ever even looked anything up on the internet to do with being diabetic. I really do feel happy with the team that I've got who are looking after me
I: Where is your information coming from about diabetes then in the main
P: From the hospital without a shadow of a doubt.
(Patient 16 – Pump)

It was apparent that health care professionals were perceived as problem solvers by many patients.

If I ask them a question and if they answer my question with some advice I would take that on board cos that's what I've come to ask about. If they know a solution to the problem I'm having then I'll say yes that's what we'll do then and obviously if it doesn't work out then obviously I'll get back in touch and I'll say this has not worked this time can you suggest anything else I can do to try to fix it. (Patient 10 – Pump)

Many patients who had experienced problems managing their regimens in the past described willingly accepting the advice of health care professionals in relation to an offer of an IIR.

I was offered to go on a pump and they gave me a basic outline of what that would mean which I was quite happy. I thought that sounded good... I just knew it was a good opportunity and I knew 'cos I'd been asked and not a lot of people got the chance that really just wanted to go with it and try it. (Patient 2 – Pump)

152

So if the pump'd help me get my blood sugars back down I was all for it It's just if I was in that criteria where I could have the pump cos they're saying you've got to be in the right criteria or the right person to have the pump and I thought at the time well if it's going to help by all means I'll try it.

(Patient 5 – Pump)

In contrast to patients with a 'proactive' approach, these patients appeared to be more reliant on the advice of health care professionals in relation to decision-making. On the whole it appeared that it was their willingness to engage with health care professionals, to listen to their advice and suggestions and to implement recommendations that influenced their access to an IIR.

Resisting offers

This 'willingness' to go along with the health care professional agenda is explored more fully using the consultation data in Chapter 6. It appeared from the interview data that 'going along' with the doctor's agenda was the norm and that outright disagreements were rare. Although, in the interview data, these patients rarely voiced disagreeing with advice, in common with 'proactive' patients they acknowledged that not all advice was useful for their circumstances. An example was Patient 10 who described listening to advice in relation to his target HbA1c but decided that he needed to aim for blood glucose levels that were somewhat higher than recommended as this was more practicable for his circumstances.

They've suggested it (HbA1c) lower than what I preferred but obviously that's because that's what people that aren't diabetic have and obviously that's fine for them but obviously for me I'm comfortable where I am. So whether it's slightly higher than what it should be that's fine in my book it's probably not fine overall (laughs) but for me it's better off where I am than being six seven and not feeling myself. (Patient 10 – Pump)

It is possible that expressions of satisfaction with health care decisions and advice, voiced in interviews, were strongly influenced by patients perceiving that they had gained access to 'desirable' technology that is relatively rarely used. Patients were aware that eligibility criteria had to be met and that insulin plumps were an expensive item.

Not all 'collaborative' patients were willing to 'go along' with health care professionals' suggestions to use an IIR immediately and in some cases decision-making spanned a number of

153

years. Resisting an offer of an IIR appeared to be influenced by reticence to change to a less familiar regimen, particularly one that was perceived as inconvenient. Patients appeared to weigh up the perceived severity of the condition versus the inconvenience of a change in regimen. Patient 6 (Pump) resisted an offer of an insulin pump for three years as she had had reservations about adopting the therapy. Eventually concerns about hypoglycaemia and weight gain outweighed her reluctance to consider the offer of an IIR.

So they recommended that the pump could help me with this for about three years...and I was very adamant that I didn't want to because I think I had it in my mind that it was a big thing and oh you'd be reliant on this thing that you'd have to carry with you all the time. You'd have to wear it all the time and I was very adamant that I didn't want that. But having then thinking well I didn't want the hypos and with that I was eating more and putting on weight that I didn't want to be putting on. And the nurse said well why don't you just try it without any insulin in it. We'll just give you a demo one try it for a week see how you get on and actually it is okay it is very small you can hide it

(Patient 6 – Pump)

When health care professionals suggested an IIR or the Structured Education Programme, a number of factors appeared to determine how receptive patients were to accepting the offers. These included: feeling unable to ignore hypoglycaemic episodes; having an incident related to a hypoglycaemic episode such as a driving ban; or suffering a diabetic coma. Many patients described transition points that encouraged or facilitated the move to a more intensive regimen. For example Patient 12 (Pump) described experiencing a turning point in his attitude to self-care following a diabetic coma.

I remember going to the toilet one morning and then woke up in hospital and it was about six days later and then from that point it was kind of like right (patient's name) you need to sort yourself out. It was scary don't remember a lot about it was scary (Patient 12 – Pump)

For many patients these turning points represented a stage in the illness where management issues could no longer be ignored even if they had been in the past.

I started having lows again like quite it was years later then I was on four (injections) for quite a while and then I started having like severe lows in the sense that I was going to bed at night fine and then waking up either really low not knowing what I'm doing or unconscious ..and I did almost jump out of a window when I was in a state and obviously that's kind of a major factor in it. That was just prior to the pump that was when it was getting serious and you're thinking that needs to be sorted now not later it needs dealing with.

(Patient 10 – Pump)

Being known to health care professionals for some time also appeared to be a factor in acceptance of advice. Continuity of care appeared to be a valued part of the service for a large number of patients and seemed to relate to positive perceptions of patient-provider communication.

I: Why did you want to see him?

P: because I really I had a nice rapport with him. I was happy to see him I liked seeing him and his team ... I've always seen the same Professor when I was in (name of city) I saw the same one and I prefer to see the same doctor I don't like. I prefer not to see the others what are they called when they come in they are doctors but they're SHOs is it? (Patient 6 – Pump)

Patients who received advice that they perceived to be useful were likely to return for more help. It seemed therefore that help-seeking behaviour was influenced by past experiences and that this offers an explanation for gaining access to an IIR. Being willing to seek and accept advice from health care professionals seemed to be a key aspect of gaining access to an IIR.

5.6.4 'Support-Seeking' Approach

'Support seekers' appeared to lack motivation to manage their condition. They did not appear to be willing to follow some of the advice offered by health care professionals. In contrast to the 'proactive' patients and 'collaborative' patients they appeared disinterested in achieving metabolic control and in carrying out regimen activities including injecting insulin and regular blood glucose monitoring. This led to non-alignment with health care professionals. Dominant factors involved in patient-provider non-alignment related to: attitudes towards diabetes care; quality of patient-provider communication; and psychosocial problems. Although the majority of these patients had gained access to an IIR, it appeared that this may have been due largely to contact with diabetes specialist nurses rather than as a result of their routine clinic appointments.

Low motivation for self-care

'Support seekers' appeared to have low motivation in relation to diabetes self-care. Diabetes management was described as a problem and these difficulties dominated their accounts about their regimens.

Before I got fed up with injecting myself with bruises and felt like a pin cushion and eventually I said I'm not doing it again cos it hurts. (Patient 20 – MDI)

In contrast to the 'proactive' and 'collaborative' patients they did not describe themselves as in 'control' or wanting 'control' or being responsible for self-care.

I didn't have brilliant control like at work. I'd maybe have my dinner and forget to have my injection before so I'd have it later but I'd still remember it. Or if I just missed injection like I'd eat something and not realise and not have my injection. (Patient 21 – MDI)

Patient 20 (MDI) reported that he had abdicated responsibility for injecting himself for a number of years and was reliant on his wife to carry out this task. Whereas many of the participants in the study felt that they managed their condition with little help from family or partners, 'support seekers' tended to enlist the help of others.

I thought stuff it I chucked it I'm not doing it no more I come out in bruises lumps but that's part and parcel of obviously as you know injecting and I couldn't get used to it if I didn't do it my wife did it. I couldn't be bothered to inject myself tell you truth. (Patient 20 – MDI)

If I have a hypo she knows when I've got a DK (diabetic ketoacidosis) cos she'll tell me. She'll come obviously to hospital with me and she knows the signs when you can taste the pear drops you can smell it. I think the last time I came in (to hospital) woke up and I was getting ready for work and she was the one that noticed cos I just couldn't function what I was doing and she could smell it on me. She was like I think you need to go to A&E I don't think you need to go to work and she brought me before she had to go to work and everything. And she'll sit there with me and that she's a big support in that respect.

(Patient 21 – MDI)

Some participants appeared to be aware of the judgments of others surrounding their lack of self-care. They labelled themselves as 'lazy' or 'naughty'. They described health care professionals as taking a judgmental stance. An example was the experience described by Patient 21 (MDI) with an on-call doctor during an admission to hospital for ketoacidosis brought on, she believed, by an illness and taking antibiotics:

I've had problems when I've been admitted before. I had one bad time where, I understand because obviously I work here I understand you just get the on call doctor who sees you. I remember seeing the respiratory consultant and he was actually, he was really rude to me and he really upset me and made me cry and he said he hasn't got time for diabetics like me at my age who just want to just put themselves in hospital. And I think that's bad that people see it that way at that age when you're not getting support from consultants as much as you should. And then they think you're not worth the time for it... I was probably only about eighteen, nineteen and he was just on about how we just want to drink ourselves into comas and things and how we could be helping people with lung problems and whatever 'cos he was a respiratory consultant and how diabetics my age just don't care . (Patient 21 – MDI)

'Support seekers' could have some knowledge about diabetes self-care but admitted that they did not always follow advice.

I should have brought my insulin today but I've not bothered with it. So I don't bother carrying it around with me. I'm supposed to carry it round with me all the time, supposed to do in case you go into a hypo or you go to restaurant or cafe and obviously you've got to inject.

(Patient 20 – MDI)

Most reported, however, that they did not actively seek information via the internet although several could access the internet through computers or mobile phones. 'Support seekers' relied on health care professionals for information about diabetes management or in some cases family members with type 1 diabetes. Their accounts of self-care suggested that they did not appear to follow recommended routines for blood glucose testing. It seemed that one of the reasons for not checking blood glucose was a feeling that they knew when their blood glucose levels were high or low.

157

I: How many times a day would you check it do you think P: Once a day if that sometimes I wouldn't even do that I: Is there any reason for that that you can think of P: I just think I'm probably lazy and when I come to work my mind isn't there to test my blood because I know when I feel ill and I know I can feel myself when my blood's high and I can feel when it's low, in some respects when it's like really high or low (Patient 21 – MDI)

Some 'support-seeking' patients had experienced hospitalisations for ketoacidosis as a result of problems and difficulties managing their diabetes.

Perceived coercion in treatment decision-making

There appeared to be a lack of congruence between the goals of 'support seekers' and those of some of their health care professionals. Patients described their communication with some health care professionals in a negative way. These patients were mostly individuals who had struggled with diabetes. They described a one-sided style of communication in which they felt they were being coerced into following a particular regimen.

It was just a bad attitude she had with me she upset me a lot of the time I felt she didn't really talk to you she sort of really forced you. You didn't really get an option or there was no talking through it was her way or nothing. (Patient 21 – MDI)

The level of coercion described seemed to suggest a lack of involvement in decision-making, from the patient's perspective. Patients used terms such as 'drilled' and 'pressured' to convey the directive approach they felt they had experienced.

He was still not happy with my control. I used to get quite upset cos he used to sort of drill it into me obviously about the control and that and then. I know he was trying to help you but he was just quite firm with that you need to get under control for your long term blood sugar and consequence and things like that. (Patient 21 – MDI)

This could result in patients choosing to avoid contact with health care professionals. For example, Patient 20 (MDI) had difficulty injecting himself and did not follow the advice given by health care professionals. He described the interaction with his consultant as directive in

style. He decided not to return to the consultant clinic but chose instead to attend appointments with the diabetes specialist nurse who he found more helpful.

P: I think what it is like he used to shout at me. Obviously I did wrong not injecting for me snacks and everything else but he didn't shout, he just raised his voice a little.
I: What did he say? Do you remember?

P: Something about if your main meals you inject I says 'yes I do that' 'what about your snacks' I says 'I don't bother about them' and that's why my sugar's obviously went high and he just gave me a lecture basically not nasty or 'owt said if you don't do that I could go into a coma.

(Patient 20 - MDI)

Desire to be listened to

An important aspect of chronic care illness support and shared decision-making is the need for health care professionals to listen to patients. In this study, a number of patients, particularly those who had experienced difficulties with managing diabetes, talked about wanting health care professionals to listen to them. This was not mentioned by the majority of patients but was a recurrent theme amongst 'support-seeking' patients struggling with high HbA1c levels.

I mean trying to explain to doctor (consultant's name) I mean he doesn't know me on a regular basis I've only seen him twice but I know where he's coming from because I do listen to what he was saying but the other thing is I think he needs to listen to me more about how I'm feeling what I've been undertaking with certain things I mean I was homeless before I came here. I mean that put a shock in me. (Patient 17 – Pump)

There was a feeling amongst some participants that their subjective experience was being ignored and there was a failure to look at the HbA1c results in context.

The consultant always comes back to figures, always comes back to hard facts and much less about context. So I think in reality if you found out more about the person to set those figures into context then that would be much more useful. (Patient 18 – Pump)

A number of patients reported that they felt that some health care professionals seemed disinterested in them.

I didn't feel like he was. It wasn't he didn't care it just didn't really seem to, he didn't really seem to give you any feedback or try and help really he sort of he was quite relaxed about it and he didn't really help. (Patient 21 – MDI)

Patient 18 (Pump) gave accounts of minimal interaction between herself and her consultant within the consultation. She described a lack of help in consultations and said that her main support was from the diabetes specialist nurse.

The consultant didn't know me didn't really have any interest in getting to know me. I'm just one of any number of people who've got diabetes coming through the clinic and there was certainly no sense of planning of what you would do next with diabetes because I did that with (diabetes specialist nurse's name) (laughs). So I would meet up in-between times with (diabetes specialist nurse's name) and that's where I'd get the benefit that's where I'd get my treatment plan sorted.

(Patient 18 – Pump)

In contrast patients who felt that their health care professionals were listening to them said that they were willing to try alternative regimens suggested by staff and to manage their regimen better. For example Patient 21 (MDI) explained that she had resisted going onto four injections per day. She explained that the large quantity of injected insulin resulted in bruising on her body and she described being self-conscious about her appearance. She described her consultant working at alternatives including different types of insulin and different quantities in order to eliminate this problem. Following these efforts she found she was able to reach a compromise and adopt the new regimen.

I found I did compromise with him because he wanted to listen and help and that's when I went onto four injections with him because they were smaller doses because he'd worked it out obviously in a different way so they were smaller doses I didn't mind as much.

(Patient 21 – MDI)

In Chapter 6 Patient 21's consultation is contrasted with that of another 'support-seeking' patient (Patient 20). These two consultations illuminate some of the interview findings in relation to patient perceptions about their involvement in decision-making and their desire to be 'heard' within the consultation. These interactions illustrate the impact of 'high' and 'low' patient involvement on their ability to maintain access to an IIR.

The impact of psychosocial problems

Depression

The aim of this study was not to explore co-morbid depression and diabetes hence the data on this aspect of patients' lives was not extensive; nevertheless, it did appear that depression could be a potentially important influence on equitable access. Having a lifelong serious condition can be overwhelming for patients (Holt et al. 2010) and depression is common amongst individuals with diabetes (Lustman et al. 2000). In this study several patients described having depression and some had suicidal thoughts.

And people say these people take overdoses with tablets. All I've got to do is put pen on stick to my leg and do it matter of seconds as they say. I've come close about three or four times on that. End it. But I've snapped out of it. I'm still I'm coping with it at the moment but I have good days and bad days with it at the end of the day. But I think, well my wife needs a husband and me daughter needs a dad, so that stops me from going (). But some mornings I get up say that's it I've had enough that doesn't happen all the time just now and again.

(Patient 20 – MDI)

It was apparent in some patients' accounts that depression related to a number of seemingly intractable problems with their lives. Patient 17 (Pump) described depression related to his marriage breakup and losing contact with his children.

I mean I got to the point where I didn't want to eat any more. All I was just doing was just drinking because I thought I've lost my kids. I wasn't going to have any contact and I thought that's it. I mean me children around me are not around me anymore. I mean people come round to my flat like I said they see all me photos and they say oh where's your children and then when you go through the depth of it sometimes I feel I can't talk about it and then when I do talk about it just want at that point, I just wanted to drink myself to death.

(Patient 17 – Pump)

Patient 17 (Pump) described the impact of his psychosocial problems on his health and the difficulties he had experienced seeking help for his depression.

I mean I've been smoking since I was seventeen I did pack up for three years when me first children were born. Stress of being separated and divorce brought the smoking back so I've been smoking basically for like I say since I were twenty well thirty. I mean I was depressed before. I do suffer with depression that's another thing that I find but the doctor GP will not give me anything for it until I sorted the alcohol out. Now I've sorted the alcohol out he's still not given me anything for me depression because I do sink into it you know when I talk about things like me upbringing or me children any of me marriages. It sends me into depression with it.

(Patient 17 – Pump)

Patient 27 (Basal/Bolus) had also experienced problems with marriage breakdown and loss of access to his child:

I mean I've been given some happy tablets to get over the depression I had over my second wife leaving and taking my little boy. They had no effect they didn't do anything. I did see a CSI programme where a guy did overdose himself on insulin. I did try that. It didn't work ((laughs)) my body said no no no go on. I did try and I did end up in (name of hospital) where I was told not to be very stupid. (Patient 27 – Basal/Bolus)

Some health care professionals recognised the impact of social and psychological factors on patients' ability to manage their diabetes. Indeed psychological issues were described by both Health Care Professional 1 (Specialist Services) and Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services) as one of the most challenging aspects of helping patients to manage diabetes and an important barrier to self-care. These health care professionals felt that only once these factors had been resolved could patients achieve satisfactory control of their condition.

Insulin will work if it's injected (laughs) I know that seems a very simple statement to make but most of the time if we've got huge problems with control it's usually because the insulin isn't being injected or it's not being injected in the right place at the right time in the right quantity. And nine times out of ten if there's a problem with the treatment and with the diabetes it's not that they don't understand that, it's usually the social issues underneath that are causing the underlying problem. So you've got to be able to support folks through bereavement through suicide attempts through loss of jobs, through separation through child care issues. Most of those type of things are usually what's causing the problem once the knowledge has been delivered and once they've got all those other things on board that they need, nine times out of ten my gut feeling is once you sort the social issue out the diabetes control becomes much better. (Health Care Professional 1 (Specialist Services))

This view appeared to be borne out in some patients' accounts of the impact that depression could have on their ability to manage diabetes. Depression caused by bereavement, even when described as a temporary problem, could disrupt self-care.

I won't lie I nearly went to pieces especially over Dad dying but I had to hold it together. The worst part about that was my kids were coming on Boxing day and I'd got to keep my mouth shut until we'd all opened the pressies and had a good time ... but as far as the diabetes was concerned I struggled because I wasn't interested. At that moment in time this GP said you were emotionally a wreck and I was. So the diabetes went all over the place then but we're only talking about a fortnight maximum. You eventually deal with it and you move on.

(Patient 28 – MDI)

Depression was also experienced by 'proactive' and 'collaborative' patients, however, they tended to actively seek help when depressed and appeared to be able to access psychological services. This is illuminated by the experiences of two patients who were able to secure help for their depression. Patient 9 (Pump) described being overwhelmed by the medication he was required to take and consequently sought help from a therapist. Patient 15 (MDI) described the long term support she had received from a clinical psychologist. Their accounts contrast with those of Patient 17 (long term unemployed), referred to previously, who described experiencing problems accessing help for his depression.

it's very easy when you're on a lot of medication to how can I put it as I said to (wife) the other day I'd like to have one day when I've not got to take anything and I feel well I feel good about it but I know I can't do that so I suppose that's the situation you're looking for and I did get depressed. I did have depression at one time never took anything for it because I fought it myself. I did go to see a therapist and she was very good because even with diabetes and things like that I can't find anybody I can talk to other than them at the hospital see nobody's interested.

(Patient 9 – Pump)

A massive other thing is that I see a clinical psychologist (name) who I've now been seeing for about I'd probably say about three years. Before her I was seeing a lady called (name) who retired but before (name) I saw (name) for a time so she knows me from a long time ago (name) is worth her weight in gold. She knows everything about me, tries to help me, will be honest with me. So she massively helps my diabetes care and my management of my life as well I would say along with (diabetes specialist nurse). So yeah they're the people that I really listen to. (Patient 15 – MDI)

Non-acceptance of diagnosis

Another psychological problem apparent in the sample was lack of acceptance of diagnosis. In some cases this was intertwined with depression.

It hit me all of a sudden what I could do because I thought you can't do this, used to do a lot of weight training, I can't weight train, I can't on motorbike scrambling, I can't do this can't do that. I just got bit of depression. (Patient 21 – MDI)

Health care professionals made a link between motivation and non-acceptance, acknowledging that the latter was another factor that could prevent patients from managing diabetes effectively since motivation was difficult for patients who had not accepted their condition.

Some patients they have difficulty accepting their diagnosis so it's not that they're not motivated it's just that they have yet to accept. Then these are the patients that we need to sort of provide psychological help.

(Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

Although health care professionals acknowledged these difficulties and that support was required for patients with these problems it was apparent from patients' accounts that when they did not accept their diagnosis this could affect their interactions with medical staff and some did not feel supported in these consultations. The relationship between non-acceptance and motivation is important in two ways. First, given that patients who present as motivated ('proactive' and 'collaborative') are more likely to be judged as suitable for an IIR, non-acceptance could be a barrier to accessing an IIR in terms of health care professional

adjudication. Second, even when patients have been offered an IIR, non-acceptance of diagnosis could prevent these patients from accepting the therapy.

Deprivation

Several patients who reported problems with depression and difficulties adhering to treatment were in low socioeconomic groups. Although it appeared that psychological difficulties could render individuals vulnerable to having problems communicating with health care professionals regardless of socioeconomic status, patient-provider non-alignment did, however, appear to be linked with deprivation. One health care professional observed that patients from deprived areas required much more effort with regard to changing to an IIR.

It takes a lot more to convince a teenager from a deprived neighbourhood to say that it's cool to have a pump than say somebody who goes to a private school in an affluent neighbourhood because the social support they have is much less, the emotional support they have is much less, the core family support they have is much less and therefore it's a bigger problem to actually keep them on the pump and offer them a pump and motivate them on the importance of glycaemic control...I don't think it's a postcode lottery. It's just that we require more effort there and maybe it's the way the health service is designed rather than anything else. I don't think it's a conscious denial of these things.

(Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services))

It was the view of one health care professional that this patient group had a distrust of health care professionals issuing authoritarian advice. Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services) acknowledged that lack of continuity exacerbated this problem and created further problems in caring for these patients.

Continuity of care may overcome resistance to advice

Some participants resisted offers and advice. In this sample this was linked predominantly with psychosocial factors (described earlier) and low socioeconomic status. These few participants described a reluctance to seek help more generally for health problems and this resistance also seemed to be carried through into seeking help for diabetes care.

So most of the time I can say probably in five or six years I've probably went three times. Over five or six years because I just thought it were just I'll get on with it. Let me get on with it.

(Patient 5 – Pump)

It appeared that some patients who had overcome their resistance to offers of an IIR did so because they perceived that health care professionals were listening to them. The corollary of this was that some patients who perceived that they were being adversely judged by health care professionals and felt coerced into following the prescribed regimen experienced, in some cases, considerable delay before they were ready to accept offers of an alternative. It seemed that continuity of care was an important aspect of care for 'support seekers' since receptiveness to advice appeared to be related to perceptions of trust. Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services) described the issues in particular for patients from deprived backgrounds when they were seen by different health care professionals and did not experience continuity. As Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services) explained, the diabetes clinic was not organised to provide continuity of care for patients and therefore vulnerable patients were likely to be disadvantaged.

Well building trust requires continuity of care so if you see one person today and another person the next time that's not going to work.... when they come to the hospital based clinics they see a different consultant not necessarily every time they come but a significant part of the time you may see a consultant who you've not seen before.... it matters a lot to the patients so I think the health service managers have to look at continuity of care as being more important than it is, particularly in a clinic like this because it does help maintain trust. So if you work on something today and you have somebody else see the patient next time, in practice you actually go back about ten steps because the patient thinks you let him down and so yes continuity is very important.

(Health Care Professional 4 (Specialist Services))

5.6.5 Aspects of the Service Ameliorating Socioeconomic Disparities

In this final section I describe two aspects of specialist services that appeared to ameliorate socioeconomic disparities:

- The diabetes specialist nurses service
- The Structured Education Programme
Diabetes specialist nurses provided a permeable service

A common theme across the majority of patients' accounts was that diabetes specialist nurses made specialist services more permeable. It was clear from patients' descriptions that contact with diabetes specialist nurses in particular was highly valued. Many patients described the diabetes specialist nurses as their main support. Although patients described very supportive partners and families, in many cases these individuals were seen as secondary to the main support offered by diabetes specialist nurses. Participants described experiencing a very permeable service in which accessibility, responsiveness to patients' requests and communication style were held in high regard.

A number of 'proactive' and 'collaborative' patients described diabetes specialist nurses helping them to gain access to an IIR. This was possible because these health care professionals were able to initiate an IIR, or refer patients either to the Structured Education Programme or the insulin pump clinic (see Figure 5.1). An important finding, however, was that they appeared to ameliorate some of the problems faced by 'support-seeking' patients. This related to two aspects of communication described by patients. The first category related to *what* was being provided in terms of practical help and support. Hence in this category patients valued a proactive service coupled with practical and understandable advice. Second, patients placed value on *how* diabetes specialist nurses communication that appeared to be personal, empathetic and non-judgmental. Both aspects of communication appeared to be particularly important for 'support-seeking' patients.

Practical support

A commonly mentioned aspect of contact with diabetes specialist nurses was the proactive way that they encouraged patients to contact them. Patients described being given direct dial numbers, being able to leave messages and feeling confident that their calls would be returned. Several patients described contacting nurses at short notice to arrange appointments. Taking advantage of this responsive service patients were able to work with the diabetes specialist nurse to establish more effective ways to manage their blood glucose levels, a central part of the type 1 diabetes regimen.

you could ring and ask them questions and say my sugar's doing this and not quite sure why and they'd say have you tried this or has this happened because at the beginning you are a bit clueless as to why things affect your sugar. (Patient 26 – MDI)

Since diabetes is a complex disease it is understandable that practical advice issued in a clear way was an attribute valued by participants. Patients described diabetes specialist nurses as being 'hands on', offering practical advice, and being able to explain complex concepts in an understandable way. Patients described understanding the explanations and found that the advice worked.

And (nurse's name) drew a diagram and explained to me and my mum how the insulin works and how it breaks down like it gives you energy and all stuff like that so that made it really helpful.

(Patient 23 – Pump)

She explained it very well and it worked so I was happy. (Patient 27 – Basal/Bolus)

It would seem that patients in this sample followed the advice of nurses because their suggestions were practical, realistic and they worked. This interaction provided encouragement to attend further consultations with diabetes specialist nurses. In contrast patients observed that doctors focused on HbA1c results and in some cases were described as making unrealistic demands.

A personal approach

A common theme for most patients was that permeable communication was more likely to be attributed to diabetes specialist nurses than to doctors. Within the health care interaction permeable communication included a feeling of being comfortable with the health care professional and experiencing a personal approach. These features were largely attributed to communication with diabetes specialist nurses.

I think they know you more on a personal level, like with the consultant is at a different level and they're not so personal because they don't deal with you quite as often so that makes a lot of difference as well.

(Patient 2 – Pump)

In the majority of cases patients described doctors and diabetes specialist nurses as adopting a different approach to diabetes management, with nurses presented as having a flexible approach compared with a more strict approach adopted by doctors. Whilst doctors appeared to focus on encouraging patients to have 'strict' control, nurses seemed to adopt an approach that helped patients to resolve their difficulties with achieving glycaemic control. A key part of this communication appeared to be nurses' capacity to listen to patients.

I think they tend to listen they want to know what you've been doing and they go more into what you've eaten or done to produce that blood sugar reading and they sort of try and get a picture of everything and then adjust things slightly. (Patient 25 – MDI)

I think the nurses were a lot more sort of perhaps realistic that nobody is going to be able to follow the regime that the doctors are saying that you have to follow. It's just you're not going to manage it and they don't want to panic you. (Patient 26 – MDI)

It was clear from their accounts that many patients valued both the input of doctors and diabetes specialist nurses, particularly if they were able to achieve acceptable HbA1c results. However, the realistic and empathetic approach adopted by nurses appeared to be of more importance for patients who were struggling with glycaemic control and those who saw themselves as 'rebellious' because they did not follow the doctor's advice. These patients valued the non-judgmental approach adopted by nurses. This appeared to be particularly important for 'support-seeking' patients

I think she's completely on your level. She respects your views and your opinions compared to other people. So she's just helpful. She'll sit there and listen to you and support you.

(Patient 21 – MDI)

Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services) observed that diabetes specialist nurses were particularly skilled at identifying and helping patients with psychosocial problems.

I think one of the good points of having diabetes specialist nurses is that they spend a lot more time with patients and they pick up on these social factors and they're good at bringing that to my attention. And I think you have to understand that and sometimes it's only when those factors are resolved that the person can actually really focus on their glycaemic control.

(Health Care Professional 3 (Specialist Services))

This appeared to be borne out in the accounts of several patients who had struggled with diabetes describing the support they had received from diabetes specialist nurses

It's when I see somebody else I just don't feel the same. It's not the same people what I can talk to, open up to. If it's (diabetes specialist nurse's name) I can open up to her and everything. Anybody else I couldn't do it. I know it sounds a bit daft but it's what I've got to get used to.

(Patient 20 – Pump)

This illustrates two important aspects of access for vulnerable patients. First, patients who had gained access to specialist services could be strongly influenced to continue accessing services they perceived to be helpful. The concept of 'recursivity', the notion that help-seeking behaviour is strongly influenced by previous health care experiences, was referred to in section 5.5.2. Second, the choices that some patients made in relation to accessing services were based on the permeability of the diabetes specialist nurse service. The combination of these two aspects of accessing care offers an explanation for vulnerable patients' preferences for seeking help from specialist diabetes nurses.

Structured Education Programme facilitated equitable access

Managing more complex regimens

One of the important disparities between patients in this sample related to knowledge and the use of knowledge in order to gain access. An extremely important source of information for patients in this sample which facilitated access to an IIR appeared to be the Structured Education Programme. Patients gained knowledge and the motivation to manage more complex regimens through attending the Structured Education Programme.

Patients who attended the course described being informed about the most up to date techniques for injecting insulin, were advised on re-use of needles and were shown the latest technology in terms of insulin and blood glucose monitoring. This was in addition to the main objective of the course which was to teach carbohydrate counting. Attending the course allowed individuals more time to think about diabetes management. They were able to look in

depth at difficulties they were having with their regimens and, with the help of health care professionals, identify solutions.

There were notable disparities in patient accounts relating to their self-care ability prior to the course. Some patients described confidently adjusting their insulin doses. Their accounts of self-care approaches are referred to in section 5.6.2. In contrast, it was common for patients who had been on multiple injections to describe their regimens prior to the course as being based on guess work and lack of understanding. Hence the majority of patients in this sample required the knowledge gained from the Structured Education Programme before they had the confidence to adjust insulin according to carbohydrate intake.

I went onto a carb course in January ...I suddenly understood everything and it suddenly became so much easier that for every ten gram of carbs I do one mil of insulin and it's suddenly it's not guess work anymore.... even after having it for thirty years ...I mean I adjusted my insulin don't get me wrong I did but ((sighs)) it just all really didn't make sense until the carb course funnily enough. (Patient 6 – Pump)

Increased motivation

A key finding of this study seemed to suggest that motivation, one of the necessary criteria for an IIR stipulated by health care professionals, was facilitated by attendance at the Structured Education Programme. The majority of patients attending the course described the impact of the course as significant in terms of being able to manage diabetes more effectively. It seemed that the process of gaining access to an IIR led to individuals becoming more motivated. An example of this related to blood glucose monitoring which was an important indicator of patient motivation for health care professionals. It was also a part of the regimen that was disliked by many patients. However, several patients reported that after the Structured Education Programme they were both willing to undertake more testing and understood its importance as part of effectively managing diabetes.

But I do check in fact I check it more now I'm on pump than I did before. (Patient 19 – Pump) I'm definitely doing more blood monitoring than I used to do but the benefits far outweigh the discomfort for me because I'm actually seeing how well it is controlled for me. I mean it sounds a bit corny but me ego is big when it is within the regimen. (Patient 28 – MDI)

Patient 12 (Pump) found that by gaining access to a pump he was motivated to reduce his HbA1c levels.

I think once you get on it and you do challenge yourself then to get your Hb down. I make sure I go and get my blood test done now before I go cos it's good for them to say to me your Hbs now come down again. (Patient 12 – Pump)

A more holistic and fair approach to patient assessment

The process of gaining access to an IIR enabled some patients to acquire attributes valued by health care professionals (higher health literacy levels, motivation and confidence to manage a more complex regimen). It appeared, therefore, that assessing patients during the Structured Education Programme allowed health care professionals to make a more holistic assessment of patients since this was conducted over a period of several weeks and a diverse group of individuals appeared to be exposed to choices relating to an IIR. Commitment was assessed weekly on the course by requesting patients to bring their blood glucose records to each session. Ability to manage a more complex regimen was assessed through group work and an emphasis on patients taking an active role in helping each other. Hence patient assessment within the Structured Education Programme setting appeared to offer a more rigorous, holistic and fair approach.

...they do a programme of education some of which is sort of group work and problem solving...they're supposed to bring a record of their blood sugars and a record of their carbohydrate counting and we look at that at the start of each session. So again you start to get a feel for whether people have grasped it whether they're getting it right. Some people don't bring you anything so that says a lot I think. So over the weeks you get a feel for whether they've got to grips with what they're supposed to be doing. So it's a week by week assessment really.

(Health Care Professional 2 (Specialist Services))

5.7 Summary

This chapter presented findings in relation to gaining access to an IIR. The principal findings were that equitable access to an IIR could be impeded or facilitated by a complex mix of factors involving: the patient; the interface between the patient and the health care system; and communication between the patient and health care professionals. The themes presented in this chapter were framed using Candidacy theory and relate to two key aspects of gaining access to an IIR: 'access-entry' to specialist services and 'in-system' access.

'Access-entry' to specialist services, a necessary precursor for access to an IIR in this sample, was affected by socioeconomic issues. First, permeability of access was influenced by social circumstances including low paid work, 'chaotic' lives and transport difficulties; issues more likely to affect lower socioeconomic groups in comparison to those in professional classes. Second, navigation, in terms of having knowledge about available services and how to access them, appeared to facilitate access to specialist services. Navigation required high levels of health literacy, more likely to be present in professional social classes.

The dominant theme in relation to 'in-system' access, that is once patients had accessed specialist services, was patient-provider alignment defined by the 'goodness of fit' between help-seeking behaviour and the response by health care professionals. Health care professional adjudications relating to patient suitability for an IIR included non-clinical factors that were subject to disparities amongst the sample. Patient attributes valued by health care professionals included: motivation; ability to manage an IIR; and knowledge about diabetes management. It seemed that patient-provider alignment was influential in establishing candidacy for an IIR and that some patients and providers appeared to be more aligned than others. I identified three types of patient presentation in the sample: those taking a 'proactive' approach, a 'collaborative' approach and a 'support-seeking' approach. Patients in the latter group were predominantly from lower social classes.

Key influences on patient-provider alignment were patient motivation to self-care, health literacy, and patient involvement in decision-making. 'Proactive' and 'collaborative' patients presented these attributes to health care professionals and in so doing were judged to be good candidates for an IIR and were offered an IIR. 'Proactive' patients and 'collaborative' patients also viewed the control of blood glucose levels as a key part of managing their condition and described listening to the advice given by health care professionals. Many of these patients had regularly attended specialist services over a long period of time and most had experienced

173

problems with managing diabetes. Whilst not always able to achieve optimal HbA1c levels many patients described themselves as making efforts to do so. Hence there appeared to be congruence between their goals and those of their health care professionals.

'Support-seeking' patients tended not to be aligned with health care professionals. Key factors related to non-alignment appeared to be attitudes to self-care, psychosocial problems and poor patient-provider communication with some patients perceiving that they were not being listened to.

Deficits in attributes which health care professionals judged as necessary requirements for access to an IIR such as motivation to self-care, ability to manage an IIR and knowledge about diabetes management were modifiable through access to a Structured Education Programme. Although the Structured Education Programme (according to patient accounts) led to improvements in motivation and knowledge, assessment of some patients for an IIR appeared to occur before most patients had received this education.

It appeared that barriers to access were also ameliorated through contact with diabetes specialist nurses. The permeable nature of the diabetes specialist nurse service seemed to encourage patients to re-attend. Hence both candidacy theory and 'recursivity' (past experiences 'shape subsequent help-seeking behaviour' (Rogers et al. 1999, p. 88)) appeared to explain patients' help-seeking behaviour.

Chapter 6. Maintaining Access to Intensive Insulin Regimens

6.1 Introduction

Chapter 5 focused on two of the three stages which appeared to be necessary for access to an IIR: gaining access to specialist services and gaining access to an IIR from within specialist services (Figure 5.2). This chapter presents the findings in relation to the third stage; maintaining access to an IIR once access had been gained. The findings presented here use the data from the recorded consultations and focus on themes pertinent to the research question, that is, to what extent maintaining access to an IIR is an equitable process within health care interactions.

Considerable weight is given, in these findings, to the influence of the doctor within the consultation. This is despite the fact that the consultations often involved three members of a multi-disciplinary team responsible for the insulin pump clinic. It was clear that in the majority of cases the doctor strongly influenced the consultation agenda. He was involved in both the opening and closing of the consultation and generally directing communication flow.

The findings are presented in two sections. First, I explore the importance of patient alignment with the doctor's agenda and its impact on doctor-patient communication. Second, I describe the nature of patient involvement within the interactions. Before discussing the main findings the following two sections provide a description of the sample and the approach used to frame the study findings. Included in section 6.3 I provide an introduction to the terms used within the findings in relation to the themes of patient alignment and patient involvement. These two themes were the key findings in relation to equitable access.

6.2 Description of the Sample

The sample comprised secondary care consultations recorded for 25 patients. Four doctors, three diabetes specialist nurses and one dietitian (equal numbers of males and females) participated in the recorded consultations. Their socio-demographic details are not presented in order to preserve anonymity. Ten men and fifteen women (all white British) participated in the recorded consultations as patients. Table 6.1 summarises the socio-demographic characteristics for patient participants including gender, age, occupation and education. Reasonable diversity of age ranges and gender was achieved. However the largest group of

patients in the sample were in the 40-49 age category with few aged 60 years and above. This was because the majority of participants were recruited in the insulin pump clinic and there were fewer potential recruits in this age category. The study recruited the only patient at the hospital using an insulin pump in the 70 years and above age category.

Characteristics	Number
Gender	
Male	10
Female	15
Age	
18-29	4
30-39	5
40-49	9
50-59	4
60-69	2
≥70	1
Socio-economic classification*	
Higher managerial, administrative and professional	11
Intermediate	7
Routine and manual	6
Not classified	1
Education	
Left school at 16 (no further qualifications)	9
Continued with education/qualifications post 16	16
*The Standard Occupational Classification 2010 (three classes version). Unemployed individuals were coded to their last occupation	

Table 6.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of patients in the sample

In terms of economic activity, 14 participants were employed in work, three had retired and four were unemployed. Three of these individuals were in receipt of disability payments due to diabetes. Three participants were homemakers. All except three participants were living with a partner. Nine participants left school at 16 gaining no further qualification. Sixteen participants pursued education post 16 years of age. More of the participants in the sample were from higher managerial, administrative and professional occupations (11) than in routine and manual occupations (6). Individual patient characteristics are provided in Appendix 9.

A large number (20) of the sample had had diabetes for more 10 years (Table 6.2). All patient participants had a diagnosis of type 1 diabetes. The majority of individuals in the sample had lived with diabetes for many years. Most of the participants (18) used an insulin pump. Three

other patients had previously been on an insulin pump and at the time of the study had reverted to multiple daily injections. Four patients were on multiple daily injections (never having been on an insulin pump). Fourteen individuals reported at least one complication arising from diabetes.

Table 6.2	Clinical	characteristics	s of the	patients in	the sample
-----------	----------	-----------------	----------	-------------	------------

Characteristics	Number
Years since diagnosis	
1-5	3
6-10	2
11-15	5
16-20	4
≥21	11
Age at diabetes onset	
0-10	5
11-20	6
21-30	7
31-40	5
≥41	2
Treatment at time of study	
Insulin pump	18
Multiple daily injections (carbohydrate counting)	7
HbA1c	
<58mmol/mol (7.5%)	8
60mmol/mol (7.6%) to 85mmol/mol (9.9%)	14
≥86mmol/mol (10.0%)	3
Complications arising from diabetes	
Reported at least one complication	14
None reported	11

The HbA1c result was provided by health care professionals from the individuals' health care record for all except one patient (the exception was self-reported). Table 6.3 compares the study's HbA1c results with data from the National Diabetes Audit. The comparison, although not intended to draw statistical conclusions, indicates that in terms of the study sample, individuals had similar level of glycaemic control to the national average, despite the majority attending an insulin pump clinic. Many of the patients (68%) in the sample were not achieving

the target of 58mmol/mol (7.5%) or below¹⁰. However, all of the patients achieving an HbA1c of 7.5% or below (32%) were insulin pump users and all the patients with HbA1c levels greater than 10% in the study were on multiple daily injections.

	National	Study
	Audit	Sample
HbA1c	2011-12	2012
<58mmol/mol (7.5%)	27.0%	32%
60mmol/mol (7.6%) to 85mmol/mol (9.9%)	54.9%	56%
≥86mmol/mol (10.0%)	18.1%	12%
% above 58mmol/mol (7.5%) target	73.0%	68%

Table 6.3 HbA1c comparison with National Diabetes Audit data for type 1 diabetes

(Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) 2013)

6.3 Framing the Findings of Consultations

6.3.1 Consultations: Content and Purpose

All of the consultations within this sample took place within secondary care and all the patients included in the sample were using an insulin pump or multiple daily injections (carbohydrate counting). Within the secondary care consultations, patients and health care professionals reviewed the current management of the patient's diabetes with a particular focus on the intensive insulin regimen currently adopted by the patient. Their conversations involved decisions about day to day management of diabetes as well as regimen adjustments and changes, or initiation of medication. Health care professionals and patients also discussed issues related to lifestyle including the consumption of alcohol, smoking and weight reduction. These conversations were also important in terms of maintaining access to an IIR.

All except two appointments were scheduled for 15 minutes duration. Over half of the recorded appointments in the insulin pump clinic were longer than 15 minutes and three were over 30 minutes in duration (see Table 6.4). All three recordings in the general diabetes clinic were 15 minutes or less.

¹⁰ The recommended target for HbA1c at the time of the study was 58mmol/mol (7.5%) or below. This has since been changed to 48mmol/mol (6.5%) or lower (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2015).

Code	Gender	Clinic Date	Clinic Duration (Minutes) ¹¹
P1	Male	28/03/2012	16
P2	Female	28/03/2012	13
Р3	Female	16/04/2012	19
P4	Female	30/04/2012	39
Р5	Male	28/05/2012	26
P6	Female	18/06/2012	12
P7	Female	16/07/2012	9
P8	Male	23/07/2012	24
P10	Male	08/10/2012	15
P11	Female	15/10/2012	35
P12	Male	15/10/2012	12
P14	Male	22/10/2012	15
P15	Female	22/10/2012	30
P17	Male	05/11/2012	21
P18	Female	12/11/2012	24
P19	Female	19/11/2012	10
P20	Male	19/11/2012	12
P21	Female	26/11/2012	43
P22	Male	26/11/2012	24
P23	Female	17/12/2012	10

Table 6.4 Duration of Insulin Pump Clinic Consultations

6.3.2 Analysis

The analysis of the consultations was described in Chapter 4. To recap, there were four main stages to the analysis of the consultations. The first stage of analysis was carried out concurrently with the analysis of interviews. Initially, analysis of the consultations commenced with reading and re-reading transcriptions with no attempt to search for themes relating to *a priori* assumptions. The second stage involved examining regularly occurring sequences of interaction within the consultation data in order to build collections (Toerien 2014) citing (Drew 2003, p. 148). The third stage involved analysing individual conversations on a turn by turn basis. Finally, a more directed analysis of the consultations was influenced by:

¹¹ Rounded up to the nearest minute

- Noticeable variation in doctor-patient communication identified in the consultations.
- The interview findings in relation to the emerging importance of alignment between patients and health care professionals as a key influence on gaining access.

Dialogue within the consultations was divided into a number of phases. The process of identifying phases described in Chapter 4 (section 4.11.2) is commonly undertaken in conversation analytic research. Phases consist of the main sequences of activity within the consultation and may include: the opening dialogue; verbal and physical examinations; dialogue in relation to treatment decisions and the closing sequence (Collins et al. 2007b).

In the current study these phases broadly comprised 'pre-treatment', 'treatment' and 'post treatment'. It is important to note that this is a simplification. In some cases there was overlap of sequences where conversations that were started in one phase would be continued in another. Some of the content of the phases was either not present or differently ordered across the recordings but the broad shape was present in the majority of consultations.

The 'pre-treatment' phase included an opening sequence that comprised greetings by staff and patients (all consultations). This was followed in the majority of cases by a 'how are you' question from health care professional to patient. In the majority of cases this phase also included a review both of blood glucose levels and how well the patient was managing their regimen. The 'treatment' phase involved problem solving, advice giving and decision-making regarding regimen change or medication. This phase also involved gauging patient knowledge with regard to their current regimen. In the majority of recorded consultations 'treatment' was through talk. Physical examinations were carried out on 2 patients out of 25. The final phase (post treatment) involved agreeing the next review appointment, arrangements for additional appointments with the diabetes specialist nurse and or the diabetes specialist dietitian and farewells.

Two key resources were considered as a framework for analysis. These were the shared decision-making model proposed by Elwyn et al. (2004) and the Calgary-Cambridge guide (Kurtz et al. 2003; Silverman et al. 2005). The former model (Elwyn et al. (2004) (outlined in Chapter 3) provides a detailed guide in relation to the necessary steps involved in shared decision-making. Analysis suggested, however, that a broader framework was required than the one offered by this model of shared decision-making. The Calgary-Cambridge guide widely used in medical education in the UK aims to provide an evidence-based approach to teaching and assessing communication skills (Kurtz et al. 2003). The guide is informed by the need to

180

bring together the separate perspectives of both the patient and the doctor in order to facilitate a more patient-centred approach to communication. The guide encompasses 71 skills framed in an overall structure that mirrors the communication process. As well as incorporating shared decision-making skills, the guide covers the entire communication process from the opening sequence to the closing sequence. The Calgary-Cambridge guide appeared to have particular salience for the current thesis. For example, guidance is given on establishing rapport, gathering information, relationship building and involving the patient. Although the guide provides a 'gold standard' measure in relation to provider communication, the analysis suggested that the Calgary-Cambridge guide, with its focus on the skills required by health care professionals, would be insufficient to frame the findings in relation to patient communication. Hence although occasional reference is made to the guide in this chapter, the chosen framework for the findings related to both patient-provider alignment and patient involvement.

6.3.3 Introduction to Themes

It appeared that patient-provider communication in the insulin pump clinic was strongly influenced by two key factors:

- Patient alignment with health care professional goals in relation to diabetes management.
- Patient involvement in the interaction.

Alignment

In Chapter 5, I proposed that access to an IIR was related to the concept of patient-provider alignment. A good 'fit' between the help sought by patients and the services offered by health care professionals facilitated access to an IIR. In contrast a poor 'fit' (patient-provider nonalignment) appeared to militate against accessing an IIR. This 'macro' level concept emerged through analysis of interviews with both patients and health care professionals. In this chapter, however, I explore the concept of patient-provider alignment at the 'micro' level using conversation analysis in order to examine the factors that appeared to facilitate or diminish continued access to an IIR.

Alignment within the consultations presented a complex and nuanced picture. There were several aspects of alignment apparent in the findings. These comprised 'distal' influences (external to the interaction) and 'proximal' influences (within the interaction) (Mehan 1991) and were as follows:

- Distal influences Alignment with treatment goals or with members of the multidisciplinary team outside the review appointment.
- Proximal influences Alignment with the doctor's evaluation of progress towards goals, goal setting or other decision-making activity. Alignment with other members of the multi-disciplinary team within the consultation (diabetes specialist nurse or diabetes specialist dietitian).

It was evident that alignment could change from one appointment to the next and also moment by moment within the consultation. Alignment and non-alignment with the doctor's goals appeared to be of importance in maintaining access. Aligned patients either adhered to HbA1c targets set by the doctor, or made progress towards this goal. Non-aligned patients were those who appeared not to have adhered to the doctor's goals or had experienced deterioration in their results since the last appointment.

Patient involvement

Patient involvement appeared to be influential in maintaining access to an IIR and was more important in relation to maintaining access to an IIR than whether or not the patient was aligned or non-aligned with health care professional goals. For the purposes of simplicity I refer to a continuum of patient involvement from high to low. In relation to patient involvement I use an adapted patient typology developed in relation to 'active' and 'passive' patients (Brown et al. 2002). 'Active' patients included those who: engaged in the consultation in ways that enabled them to influence or set the agenda; asked questions; and were involved in decisions. These patients were more involved in communication with the doctor and the potential for patient involvement was enhanced. 'Active' patients were able to pre-empt discussions about poor results and hence lessen the potential for negative inferences from health care professionals. Some patients who appeared to be non-aligned with biomedical goals were nevertheless able to align with the doctor conversationally.

Although I use the term 'passive' to describe some patients in the sample, 'less active' would be a more accurate description since none were entirely 'passive'. Their consultations included some or all of the following features: they responded to the doctor's questions but were not involved in shaping the consultation agenda; communication was largely in one direction from doctor to patient; and there were occasions when communication was difficult (the patient was not 'heard').

Conversational non-alignment between patient and doctor, on occasions, triggered an intervention from the diabetes specialist nurse or diabetes specialist dietitian. This action appeared to be supportive of patients and seemed to assist the patient in their communication with the doctor. Lack of involvement appeared to influence patients' ability to maintain access to an IIR.

Patients were identified as belonging to one of two categories 'high involvement' ('active') and 'low involvement' ('passive') through a process of looking at key sequences in the interaction related to regimen monitoring (blood glucose control) and noting which features of the 'active' and 'passive' typology used by Brown et al. (2002) predominated. Using the term 'involvement' acknowledges the impact of both the patient and the health care professional on the interaction.

Patient alignment, patient involvement and the relationship with socioeconomic status.

Since the HbA1c result appeared to be the dominant factor for the doctor I have used this target as the focus for presenting the findings about alignment. In addition, the HbA1c blood result was relevant to all patients in the sample and provided a consistent point of comparison for all of the consultations. In the following, therefore, I describe patients as either aligned or non-aligned with the HbA1c target.

In order to understand the relationships between patient alignment, patient involvement and socioeconomic status, the sample of patients attending the insulin pump clinic is characterised in Table 6.5. Within the sample, patients from professional social classes were predominantly aligned with target levels for the HbA1c whereas those from intermediate and manual social classes were predominantly non-aligned. Patients from professional social classes were all in the high involvement category, along with some patients from intermediate and manual classes. All the low involvement patients were from intermediate and manual classes.

Patients in the high involvement category were almost equally distributed between the aligned and non-aligned categories. There were far fewer patients in the low involvement category and the majority of these were categorised as non-aligned. All of these non-aligned and low involvement patients were from intermediate or manual social classes. This is in stark contrast to high involvement patients who were also aligned and meeting the HbA1c target; these were all from the professional social classes.

	High Involvement				Low Involvement			
	Meeting HbA1c ta	the Irget	Making improvei	ments	Meeting HbA1c ta	the rget	Making improver	ments
Aligned	Patient P3 P4 P7 P11 P14	<u>SES</u> 1 1 1 1 1	<u>Patient</u> P2 P12 P21	<u>SES</u> 3 1 2	None in sample		<u>Patient</u> P5	<u>SES</u> 3
	P22	1						
	Not meet and not i	ting the making	e HbA1c ta improven	rget nents	Not meet and not r	ting the making	e HbA1c ta improver	rget nents
ed	Patient	<u>SES</u>			<u>Patient</u>	<u>SES</u>		
gu	P1	3			P17	3		
ali	P6	3			P19 P20	2		
Ľ	P10	3			F20	5		
ž	P15	2						
	P18	1						
	P23	Ν						

Table 6.5	'High'	and 'low'	'involvement	patients	attending	the insul	in pum	p clinic

SES (Socioeconomic status) – Standard Occupation Classification

Three classes: 1 = Higher Managerial and Professional; 2 = Intermediate;

3 = Routine and Manual; N = Unclassified (Office for National Statistics 2010b).

Transcriptions

A description of the methods used to transcribe the recorded consultations is provided in Chapter 4 (see Appendix 8 for a key). In the transcription extracts below, participants are coded as follows: patients (P); doctor (D); diabetes specialist nurse (N); diabetes specialist dietitian (A); and patient's partner (B).

6.3.4 Structure of Themes within the Chapter

The following summarises the themes reported in the chapter. First in section 6.4 I explore the impact of patient alignment on doctor-patient communication. This section introduces the important influence of the HbA1c target and investigates both patient and doctor communication in relation to the interaction. As a primary topic of conversation within the consultation, the impact of positioning the talk about blood glucose levels at the start of the

consultation is explored particularly in relation to rapport building and the disparities observed between patients. Having identified alignment as an influence on doctor communication, in section 6.5 I report the findings in relation to the impact of different levels of patient involvement.

6.4 Aspects of Patient Alignment Influencing Communication

It was apparent that although the insulin pump clinic comprised a multi-disciplinary team, the doctor largely influenced the consultation agenda. In this first section I therefore focus on the doctor's initial actions within the consultation. In addition, I have chosen a subset of 20 consultations in the sample that consists of all the consultations with one doctor in the insulin pump clinic. This provided consistency when making comparisons between patients.

In this first section, I present the findings in relation to the doctor's agenda with regard to biomedical measures such as the HbA1c result, patient weight and liver function tests. A key influence on doctor-patient interaction appeared to be alignment and non-alignment with biomedical goals.

6.4.1 The Doctor's Agenda

In the opening sequences of the majority of insulin pump clinic consultations, patients were collected from the waiting area immediately adjacent to the clinic rooms, either by the diabetes specialist nurse or the diabetes specialist dietitian. It was apparent from the short conversations that were captured as patients came through the door that the nurse and the patient, in most cases, knew one another. The tone was friendly as the nurse welcomed patients into the room with the statement 'come and have a seat'. Following the nurse's introductions, the consultation was then initiated by the doctor.

Doctors' questions establish agendas (Boyd et al. 2006). These questions, by setting topical agendas, require particular patient responses. Patient responses range from 'yes' or 'no' to more elaborate explanations, hence they also set action agendas (Boyd et al. 2006). It was apparent that discussions about blood glucose levels were of primary importance to the doctor and constituted the key topical agenda. This was indicated by the positioning of these discussions, in the majority of cases, at the start of the consultation. This finding is perhaps not surprising given that, Health Care Professional 4 (specialist services) had reported that the HbA1c result was seen as an important indicator of blood glucose control and suitability in relation to accessing an insulin pump (see Chapter 5, section 5.6.2). It should be noted that the

185

HbA1c result was also viewed by some patients as an important indicator of their own 'control'. Many patients reported that they took a keen interest in monitoring their HbA1c values and reductions in the value were perceived as evidence of successfully managing the regimen (section 5.5.2).

Discussions about blood glucose levels and HbA1c results were, however, prioritised over the patient's agenda. Hence the doctor determined what was discussed and the order in which it was discussed. For example, problems mentioned by patients in answer to the 'how are you' question were generally discussed once the doctor had concluded his agenda with blood glucose levels. This tendency to defer the patient's agenda until the doctor had concluded his business was a recurrent pattern in the recorded data.

The prioritisation of the HbA1c result is illustrated in the following extract. Two questions are asked by the doctor in this sequence. In the first case the doctor responds to the patient's reply about 'aches and pains' with a neutral response ('right') before moving on to another question. The doctor's second question in relation to the insulin pump at line 15 ('are you happy with the way things are going') is phrased to prefer¹² a 'yes' reply. The patient formulates the 'yes' response but adds a proviso that he has had a few problems (lines 18-20). Initially, this reply appears not to have been 'heard' by the doctor. Instead, rather than following up the patient's comments the doctor begins the agenda topic of the patient's HbA1c result at line 23. Here the patient's improvements in HbA1c are discussed (lines omitted) before reiterating the target at lines 34-35. Having concluded this business at line 37 the doctor returns to the patient's problems of hypos (line 40). The patient's earlier complaint of 'aches and pains' in response to the doctor's opening question is not addressed.

Extract 6.1 [Patient 5 (Insulin Pump) 28-05-12] (8-40)

8.	D:	And how have we been sir?
9.	P:	Al^right yes (0.4) yes(.)apart from
10.		a few aches and pains here and there .hhh

¹² In conversation analysis 'preference' refers to two different aspects of the structure of conversation (Sidnell 2010) citing (Schegloff 2007). First, it refers to the ways in which turns in conversation are designed or constructed to provide a preferred or dispreferred response. These responses are usually biased towards the preferred response. For example, the preferred response to invitation is acceptance and similarly apologies prefer absolution. Second, preference relates to the notion that with regard to the actions initiated by individuals, the preferred response is to progress the action.

11. D: Right. 12. (0.4)13. hhh Yeah. **P**: 14. (0.6)15. D: Are you are happy with the way things are 16. going? (.) with the pump and every[thing? 17. **P**: [Yes >oh 18. yes< yes er obviously you're still 19. getting a few odd low ones and then some 20. high ones but the major:ity of 'em are probably (0.5)21. 22. **P**: [()] 23. [That's]how your hi- (.) thats how your **D**: 24. HbA1c's been doing 25. ((showing the patient chart of HbAlc 26. results on computer)) (Lines 27-33 omitted in which the doctor discusses the patient's improving HbA1c result) 34. D: and >we are now at seven point eight our 35. target is seven point five< 36. **P**: (.)Yeah ye[ah 37. [So we're doing extremely we[ll D: 38. **N**: [oh 39. **P**: (.)Yeah it (.) yeah tis 40. D: (.) So you said you were getting hypos

6.4.2 Patient Alignment with the HbA1c Target

Praising patient effort

The patient's HbA1c result was in most cases known to the doctor before the patient had entered the consultation since patients were asked to provide a blood sample in advance of the review appointment. This influence from outside the interaction had an effect on the ensuing conversation (Mehan 1991). A key influence on doctor-patient communication appeared to be the extent to which patients were able to demonstrate alignment with objective biomedical targets or that they were moving towards these goals.

A large number of patients in the sample received praise from the doctor in relation to their HbA1c result. Patients who had achieved their target HbA1c level or maintained target levels were commended. It was also the case that those who had made improvements towards targets including patients with HbA1c levels above the recommended target were commended. Therefore it appeared that compliments from doctor to patient were associated with the efforts made by patients rather than actual target levels.

Although patients with improving results were encouraged, there was, nevertheless, emphasis placed on the target required. This is illustrated in the extract below where the doctor focuses firstly on informing the patient that there has been a reduction in the HbA1c before reiterating that the result is above target. Although Patient 21 (MDI) had the highest HbA1c level in the dataset (143 mmol/mol (15.2%))¹³, beginning the consultation on a positive note (lines 5-9 and 13) allows the doctor to acknowledge the patient's efforts whilst still making the point that the HbA1c result is very high (lines 13-19) and restating the target (lines 14-15).

Extract 6.2 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (1-31)

1.	N :	Come and have a se:1at
2.	P:	°Thank you°.
3.	D:	Hello there (0.3) how are you doing?
4.	P:	Okay hhh(0.3) [°(I think)°.
5.	D:	[Good well you're <u>cert</u> ainly doi::ng
6.		uhm (0.4)a little bit better than (.) than we
7.		expected because (0.4) yo:ur (0.4) >three month
8.		test your HbAlc has dropped from a hundred and
9.		fifty two to a hundred and< (0.5) forty three
10.		(0.4)
11.	P:	is that go:od? hhh ((short laugh))
12.		(0.5)
13.	D:	Well <u>an</u> y drop is <u>go</u> od (.) >I mean a hundred
14.		and fo- we're we're< talking at a target
15.		of fifty ni:ne.
16.	P:	(.) Oh hhh ((short laugh))
17.	D:	(.) So a hundred and forty three is horrendous

¹³ 6.5% -7.5% was the recommended target range at the time of the study

18.		com- if you look
19.		at f- [fifty =
20.	P:	[yeah
21.	D:	= nine but .hhh if you look
22.		at the fact that [you were ()
23.	P:	[yeah is that
24.	D:	[()]
25.	P:	[when I was in hospital].
26.		(0.5)
27.	D:	You were however a hundred and
28.		fifty two in June.
29.		(1.0)
30.	D:	It's an improvement it's a
31.		definite improîvement

Patient effort leads to rapport

Nevertheless this opening sequence also demonstrates the priority placed by the doctor on encouraging patients who appeared to making improvements. It would also seem that the doctor's stance in framing the result in a positive light facilitates the beginnings of a rapport between doctor and patient. Initially it is apparent that the opening greeting and question by the doctor 'hello there (0.3) how are you doing?' receives a somewhat muted and tentative response from the patient who replies with 'okay' (line 4) before going on to downgrade this response with a quietly spoken 'I think'. This response appears to pre-empt the expected discussion about blood glucose levels. Although the patient's HbA1c is very high, the doctor presents the improved result in a positive light ('well you're certainly doi:::ng uhm a little better than we expected') (lines 5-6). The patient's response at line 11 ('is that go:od?) questions this assessment. The doctor, however, continues to paint a positive picture by acknowledging that although the result is high it needs to be viewed in the context of an even higher result previously and therefore any 'drop' should be viewed positively. The authors of the Calgary-Cambridge guide emphasise the importance of developing rapport both at an early stage in the medical interview and throughout the consultation (Silverman et al. 2005). It would seem from the sequence below that the doctor was able to deal sensitively with what could have been a tense discussion around the patient's HbA1c result and was able to get the consultation off to a better start as a result. Positive talk allowed the beginnings of a rapport to be built between the patient and the doctor.

189

The HbA1c result was accorded prominence in the consultation and it was observed in the recordings of the insulin pump clinic that patients who displayed alignment with medical goals received talk that was positive and supportive. The opportunities for rapport building with these patients were therefore enhanced.

6.4.3 Alignment with other Medical Goals

Although the doctor prioritised discussions about blood glucose levels and HbA1c results in the majority of consultations (insulin pump clinic) there were two exceptions where this was not observed. This appeared to be the case for individuals who had health issues other than diabetes and who had made some progress towards other health goals. Ability to align with at least one of the other medical goals also seemed to influence the doctor's response. This appeared to be advantageous in terms of maintaining access to an IIR since the doctor's approach remained supportive, despite the patient not being able to achieve the HbA1c target. Evidence of the doctor's support is found in the extracts below in which the doctor explicitly aligns with the patient's expressed efforts to cut down his alcohol consumption and in the positive evaluation he gives of the patient's progress. The example given is one of the clearest in the recordings and is for Patient 17 whose HbA1c had risen slightly since the last review appointment and was 85mmol/mol (9.9%). Although the patient had not achieved the recommended HbA1c target there was some evidence of his cooperation with medical advice regarding his alcohol consumption. It would appear that evidence of alignment with one goal was sufficient for the doctor to take a more lenient approach with regard to the HbA1c result.

The discussion, between the doctor and the patient, relating to the HbA1c result takes place much later in the consultation than was usually the case and the result was downplayed. Instead the doctor focuses on the patient's other health issues which were: a recurrent chest infection; alcohol intake; and smoking (extract not shown). Of note are the doctor's positive comments in connection with the patient's reduction in alcohol consumption. In answer to the patient's remark that he has reduced his alcohol consumption 'see I caught one er habit out and that was me e::r drinking' (lines 224-225) the doctor replies positively with 'good good'. Although the patient downplays his initial comment at lines 224-225 indicating that he has not cut out alcohol altogether ('well I'm not saying that I've sto:pped drinking') the doctor is quick to reply in an affiliative way with 'you're being more sensible about it' (line 231). It can be seen from the patient's response at lines 233-234 that although his talk overlaps with that of the doctor, he hears the doctor's depiction of his attitude towards alcohol and is quick to agree ('yeah yeah that's the word that I've been trying to use on people)'. It appears that the

doctor's assessment is based on more than the patient's verbal report since he has the results of a liver function test. Here as in the case of improvements in patient HbA1c test results the priority seems to be to offer a positive assessment of the patient's progress towards reducing his alcohol consumption 'your liver is showing a remarkable improvement'. Following this sequence the doctor discusses with the patient the need to decrease his alcohol consumption further. This occurs, however, after the doctor has given the patient the positive news about improvements in his liver function and the pattern in the data is observed again of the supportive comments from doctor to patient prior to a restating of the expected goal.

Extract 6.3 [Patient 17 (Insulin Pump) 5-11-12] (224-254)

224.	P:	See I caught one er habit out and
225.		that was me e::r drinking.
226.		(0.6)
227.	D:	↑ <u>Go</u> od ↑ <u>go</u> od
228.	P:	Because well I'm not saying
229.		that I've sto:pped [drinking]
230.	D:	[yeah yeah] but
231.		you're being more [sensible about it.
232.	P:	[But I've got I've got =
233.	P:	= Yeah yeah that's the word that
234.		I've been trying [to use on people
235.	D:	[Yeah that's fine yeah yeah
236.	P:	I've gone back to the way I used to be.
237.	D:	Okay right so let's (0.3)I mean (.) from $\underline{m::y}$
238.		point of vi:ew
239.		(4.0)((Doctors looks at the computer screen))
240.	D:	Your (0.7) your liver <u>is</u> showing
241.		a remarkable improvement (.) so so what you're
242.		doing seems to be (.) effective (.) in fact
243.		(.)in Septe:mber two thousand and eleven you
244.		were you were brilliant
245.		(0.5)
246.	P:	[Yeah
247.	D:	[but you were really bad in July
248.		of two thousand and ten(0.5)so over the
249.		years you've actually(.)I'll show you where we
250.		are or how the tests have (0.8)evolved so

251.		(1.6)so you're not doing too badly.
252.		(0.6) you're still hiîgh
253.	P:	Yeah
254.	D:	Still still drinking too- more than's good for you

Whereas the doctor provides a positive evaluation of the liver function test, the HbA1c result is downplayed (extract below). For example, the usual request from the doctor for the patient to account for a rising HbA1c result (observed in other consultations) is not made and there is no mention of the target. Instead the result appears to be of secondary importance to the patient's other problems. Although the HbA1c result has gone up (a deterioration) the doctor reports the result with little comment and returns to the discussion of the patient's ongoing chest infection and alcohol consumption (lines 334-336).

At line 334 the doctor uses a supportive 'we' in connection with the work that is needed to sort out the chest infection and the alcohol consumption. The message to the patient relating to the work that is required (lines 334-336) is tempered with the doctor's supportive and encouraging stance with his comment at line 343 'it's moving in the right direction' and at lines 349-350 'so you don't have very far to go really'. A further illustration of the doctor giving the patient some leeway is evident following a noticeable 1.6 second delay¹⁴ in the patient's response to the doctor's remark about the need to stop smoking (line 355). At line 360 the doctor orients to the patient's expressed reluctance ('yeah well that's one thing that e::r (0.2) I've been wanting to do (1.1) but at the moment' (lines 356-358)) by emphasising the importance of tackling the issues one at a time (line 360). The patient aligns with the doctor's comments at line 361 with a prompt response 'yeah that's what I keep saying to myself' indicating his agreement.

It would seem that in these two extracts in relation to patient involvement the doctor demonstrates a number of skills identified in the Calgary-Cambridge guide. These relate to picking up on verbal cues from the patient. For example the doctor appears to discern the noticeable pauses in the patient's response to his comment about tackling smoking now that the patient's alcohol consumption has reduced. Thus the doctor appears to adjust his comments in the light of the patient's reaction, that is, he downgrades his previous remarks since the patient has indicated that this may be a step too far at this stage and instead uses the

¹⁴ Delays of one second or more denote some difficulty in response

phrase 'one at a time' (line 360). There is evidence then of closely 'listening' to the patient in these extracts. It is also noticeable that the doctor facilitates the patient's responses for example by offering an interpretation in the lines already discussed 'you're being more sensible about it' and there would appear to be evidence that this is received as helpful as judged by the patients' response at lines 233-234.

The overriding impression, however, in these two extracts is also one of the doctor directing the agenda while giving the patient information and instruction. There is little overt solicitation of the patient's viewpoint in this discussion which is another recognised skill in facilitating patient involvement identified in the Calgary-Cambridge guide. The lack of response to the patient's question about HbA1c up to this stage in the consultation points again to the importance placed by the doctor in pursuing his own agenda and prioritising this before moving on to the patients concerns. It also suggests that some patients experience difficulty being 'heard' within the consultation.

Extract 6.4 [Patient 17 (Insulin Pump) 5-11-12] (308-361)

308.	P:	What's me blood ra:nge?
309.		(1.0)
310.	D:	Your HbAlc was erm
311.		(2.7)((Doctor looks up result))
312.	P:	Cos last time I had it done it were (0.9)
313.		eight wannit
314.	D:	Yes so n- (0.7) no it was <u>ni</u> :ne when it was
315.		done last time.
316.	P:	Yeah nine
317.	D:	(.)Unfortunately [it's closer
318.	P:	[come up
319.	D:	to nine point seven now.
320.		(0.3)
321.	P:	Nine point seven [()
322.	D:	[Seven to ten [yeah =
323.	P:	[its come up
324.		seven yeah
325.	D:	= It's about nine point seven
326.		to ten really
327.		(0.9)

328.	P:	Yeah
329.	D:	>Somewhere between nine point nine and
330.		ten I would say is the exact amount
331.		but it's definitely more than nine point seven<
332.		(0.6)
333.	P:	Right
334.	D:	Less than ten (0.8) <u>so</u> we <u>ha</u> ve
335.		a bit of <u>wo</u> :rk to do sort out infections
336.		sort out these calories from alcohol
		(lines 337-342 not shown)
343.	D:	But it's mo::ving in the right direction
344.		the liver's certainly improved remarkably
345.		(0.4) from a hundred and forty four (0.3)your
346.		your liver enzymes came down forty
347.		seven and the normal's around forty
348.	P:	[Ah hah
349.	D:	[() normal so (0.7) you don't have very far
350.		to go really
351.		(0.6)
352.	P:	[No
353.	D:	[to get that sorted. (2.7) > \uparrow so one down \uparrow one
354.		to go the smoking's next<.
355.		(1.6)
356.	P:	yeah well that's one thing that
357.		e::r $(0.2)I'$ ve been wanting to do (1.1) but
358.		at the moment
359.		(0.5)
360.	D:	>One at a time<
361.	P:	Yeah that's what I keep saying to myself

6.4.4 HbA1c Target Non-Alignment

So far the findings have focused on the apparent prominence of biomedical goals and the impact that adhering to these goals appeared to have on doctor-patient communication. The opening sequence in the consultation appeared to set this agenda. Patients without a recent

HbA1c result or those with rising blood glucose levels as evidenced by the HbA1c result¹⁵, who therefore appeared not to be aligned with the doctor's goals, seemed to receive a more abrupt start to the consultation. As noted in section 6.4.2 patient alignment led to enhanced communication which built rapport. Many consultations involved either praise or positive talk from the doctor about the work that patient's had accomplished in following recommended regimens. This talk was absent in the early sequences of consultations in which patients appeared to be non-aligned with medical goals.

In the extract below Patient 10 (Pump) arrives at the consultation with his partner. The answer 'ye:ah not too bad' in reply to the doctor's question, 'and how are you keeping', appears to foreshadow the perhaps expected news about his deteriorating HbA1c result. 'How are you' type questions have been found to have an ambiguous quality. Patients could view them either as a general enquiry or alternatively as relating to medical matters (Heritage et al. 2006a). It would seem that many patients in the sample viewed the question as pertaining to medical matters. Hence some appeared to be 'hedging their bets' in their responses. They appeared to be both diffident in offering more than was required and also reluctant to give too positive an assessment in relation to their regimen management. In taking this approach patients avoided the scenario of stating that they were doing better than the objective evidence of the HbA1c result would seem to indicate. It appeared that the doctor treats the opening response to his question as an evaluation relating to medical matters since in most cases the next turn in his conversation relates to blood sugars.

Extract 6.5 [Patient 10 (Insulin Pump) 8-10-12 (2-7)

2.	D:	Hello there I'm Professor (name)
3.	B:	Nice to meet you
4.		(0.4)
5.	D:	And how have you been keeping?
6.	P:	(0.2)Ye:ah not too bad
7.	D:	$^{\circ}$ Right $^{\circ}$ (0.9) and e:rm (0.2) blood sugars

In the previous extract the patient's response to the doctor's initial question appeared to foreshadow a discussion about problems with blood glucose control. This pattern was

¹⁵ In this sample it appeared that patients arranged for a blood test in order that the HbA1c result would be available for the review appointment and a small number of patients arrived at their appointment without having arranged the blood test.

observed in most of the patients who had either experienced deterioration in their HbA1c result or who had not arranged for a recent HbA1c result. In the extract below for Patient 6 (Pump) the consultation opens in a similar way to many in the sample. The doctor uses a typical opening question in the apparently non-constraining format 'how are you doing' (line 1). Whereas this opening question appeared to be treated by most patients as relating to medical matters it is unclear here whether Patient 6 refers to general or medical matters. The doctor appears to treat the evaluation of 'very well' as relating to medical matters and specifically to the patient's regimen management as evidenced by his 'news' to the patient that her HbA1c has risen.

In reply to the announcement that the HbA1c has risen (lines 14-15) the patient's response acknowledges the rise in the value ('it's gone up a bit hasn't it'). The patient's choice of words ('a bit') indicates a downplaying of the rise. The doctor appears to echo the patient in his response describing the rise as having gone up 'a little bit', however, there is also an insistence that the patient gives an account for the rise and this suggests that even a rise of 'a little bit' is unacceptable. Once again the HbA1c result takes precedence in the discussion. This is accomplished by the doctor in two ways. First there is an emphasis on the patient's previous adherence to goals (lines 19-21) and second there is a request for an explanation in relation to the deterioration. In contrast to the opening sequences amongst patients with 'good' news about blood glucose levels, these extracts appear to be constrained in content. At line 25 two questions are asked: first, has the patient carried out regular blood glucose monitoring and second, if so, do these records shed light on the rise. This has the effect of limiting the conversation to the doctor's focus on regimen adherence.

Extract 6.6 [Patient 6 (Insulin Pump) 18-06-12] (12-28)

D:	How are you doing
P:	Very well thank you
D:	Good and er (0.3) your $Hb\uparrowA1c$ (1.4)
	it's seven point six percent.
	(0.7)
P:	It's gone up a bit hasn't it?
N :	0::[h
D:	[It has hasn't it? erm (.) you've been
	well below well below seven point five
	(0.4) consistently seven point three seven
	<pre>point fours(.).hhh it::s (.)gone up a</pre>
	D: P: D: N: D:

23.		little [bit =
24.	P:	[Rig[ht
25.	D:	=[have you have you done your
26.		blood suga:rs (.) and do they (0.4) do
27.		they suggest a reason why as to why
28.		it might have gone up

Although some patients appeared to be non-aligned with medical goals and received abrupt starts to their consultations they were subsequently able to accomplish alignment with the doctor in other ways. For example, some patients were able to pre-empt the discussion about the deteriorating HbA1c result. The following section presents the findings in relation to patients who were actively involved in maintaining the doctor's support, some of whom were non-aligned with medical goals.

6.5 The Impact of Patient Involvement on Maintaining Access to an IIR

So far the findings have focused on the priority given to discussions about HbA1c results (or other objective measures of adherence to medical advice) in the insulin pump clinic. Patient alignment or non-alignment with objective measures appeared to influence the doctor's communication in each case. An additional and arguably more important influence on the interaction, however, was patient involvement in the consultation.

It appeared that in this sample, some patients were able to influence the interaction with the doctor. This was accomplished in a number of ways. For example, some patients were able to deflect potentially negative criticism regarding a rise in their HbA1c result by giving an account of their difficulties before the subject of the HbA1c result was raised. Others were able to display a commitment to the regimen or to indicate that they had been working with the other team members to improve their regimen (the specialist diabetes nurse and dietitian). In consequence they were able to influence the continuing health care adjudications in relation to their suitability for an insulin pump.

Some patients appeared to be more involved in discussions with the doctor. This was particularly noticeable for patients who were aligned with health care professional goals. There were approximately equal numbers of 'high involvement/aligned' and 'high involvement/non-aligned' patients in the sample (9 and 7 respectively). In contrast there were very few low involvement patients (4) in the sample. The following section presents the ways that patients actively worked at maintaining alignment with the doctor.

6.5.1 Agreeing with the Doctor about Poor Outcomes

In section 6.4 it was noticeable that disagreements with the doctor's comments or recommendations for HbA1c targets were rare amongst all patients. The majority of patients appeared to align actively with the doctor's stance by agreeing with his comments. For example, Patient 6's response to hearing that the HbA1c has risen to 7.6% (60 mmol/mol) (Extract 6.6 line 17) was to say 'it's gone up a bit hasn't it' without the need for the doctor's evaluation. In the extract below Patient 1 (MDI) aligns with the doctor's comparison of his result (11.2%) with the target (7.5%) at line 206 ('that's huge yeah'), displaying his understanding about the seriousness of the result.

Extract 6.7 [Patient 1 (MDI) 28-3-12] (196-210)

196.	D:	Okay I think(.) the proof of the pudding's in the
197.		eating (.) so we'll do a HbA1c.
198.		(0.2)
199.	P:	Yeah
200.		(.)
201.	D:	Er (.)when it was last checked in October
202.		it was eleven point two.
203.		(0.4)
204.	P:	Yeah [my
205.	D:	[I told you seven [point five is
206.	P:	[That's huge yeah ()
207.		I remember (that I know)
208.		(.)
209.	D:	Seven point five is the is the
210.		area so let's do one toda:y

Similarly, Patient 10 (Pump) acknowledges the doctor's comments about his deterioration in blood glucose levels (extract below). The doctor constructs his evaluation of the current HbA1c result through a comparison with the patient's previous results. His announcement of the current value is elongated for emphasis ('It's:: sevent::y ni::ne) (line 42). He refers to the nurse to corroborate the previous result and hence to emphasise the deterioration in the patient's

result. The patient pre-empts the doctors evaluation at lines 53-55 with his own assessment at line 52, 'yeah () bad' and is then heard to agree with the doctor in overlap¹⁶ ('yeah') at line 56.

Extract 6.8 [Patient 10 (Insulin Pump) 8-10-12] (42-56)

42.	D:	It's:: sevent::y <u>ni::</u> ne in the
43.		new units >compared to
44.		seventy two before< .hhh
45.	P:	Yeah
46.	D:	So that's eight point nine we said?
47.	N:	Yes
48.	D:	nine point four it's [gone up
49.	N:	[nine point four
50.	P:	Yeah
51.	D:	So that's <u>wa</u> y above your usual sort of situation
52.	P:	[Yeah () bad
53.	D:	[where you were sixty eight (2.8) sixty two
54.		and ()sixty seven (0.6)so so this
55.		is >a significant deterior[ation<
56.	P:	[Yeah

On the whole, therefore, the majority of patients attending the clinic, aligned with the doctor's stance regarding the HbA1c within the consultation, whether or not they were achieving the HbA1c targets. Patients both displayed an expectation that there would be a discussion about rising or deteriorating blood glucose levels and were in alignment with the doctor's view that improvements were required. Conversation analysis does not make psychological claims about the kinds of responses individuals make in the course of conversation; however, it appeared that individuals 'displayed' agreement. It seems reasonable to argue on the basis of these conversations that patients oriented to discussions about unacceptable results and that this was an expected part of the review process.

¹⁶ Overlap in speech is not haphazard (Jefferson 1983; Schegloff 2000). It has been demonstrated that speakers monitor closely the potential end of a turn constructional unit in order to start their turn at a turn relevant place (Schegloff 2000). There are a number of reasons why speakers overlap speech (Schegloff 2000). Overlap in talk is 'frequently ... co-operative, affiliative and supportive' (Drew 2009, p 72).

It is interesting to note the apparent readiness with which some patients agreed with the doctor about HbA1c targets in this consultation data; particularly in light of the interview findings presented in Chapter 5 that many patients reported not always agreeing with health care professionals in relation to this target. This included patients who viewed the target as too low and those who perceived that it was too high. One can speculate that the seemingly ready agreement with the doctor in relation to targets is that patients know that, outside of the consultation, they are at liberty to manage their regimen in the way they perceive works for them. However, it was also apparent from the findings in Chapter 5 that many patients perceived that it was important to 'get on' with health care professionals within consultations. The consultation findings appear to illuminate this process of 'getting on' with health care professionals and for this sample of patients the activity largely involved the patient aligning with the doctor.

6.5.2 Pre-empting the Doctor's Remarks about the HbA1c Result

Managing diabetes is difficult and from time to time patients experienced problems with home life or work life impinging on their ability to manage the regimen. Some patients were able to take advantage of the opening questions in the consultations to state their problems and to pre-empt the expected conversation about deterioration in blood glucose levels, hence momentarily interrupting the doctor's agenda. In this section two illustrations of patients actively pre-empting discussions about the HbA1c result are presented. Communication from the doctor differs in the two cases. In keeping with the findings in previous sections this appears to relate to how well the patient is adhering to the target HbA1c result. Patient 10 (Pump) has a deteriorating HbA1c result and Patient 14 (Pump) has a result that is well within target (a good result).

Patient 10 actively defends his position as a patient with a deteriorating HbA1c result. He is able to pre-empt the discussion about blood glucose levels by talking about his difficulties. In conversation analytic terms the aligning action is from patient to doctor with little leeway given to the patient. In contrast Patient 14's disclosures of difficulty are met with an empathetic and affiliative response from the doctor. The terms affiliation and alignment have particular meanings and are related to 'preference' (Lindstrom et al. 2013). The term affiliation is also associated with individuals taking a supportive stance with a speaker (Lindstrom et al. 2013). In general terms aligning activity is 'going along with' or cooperating with a particular stance. Affiliation describes cooperation in stronger terms. Individuals do not merely go along with suggestions; they actively collaborate in the process of agreement (Stivers 2008).

Defending a deteriorating HbA1c (poor control)¹⁷ – Patient 10

In lines 9-16 (extract below) the patient aligns with the doctor's enquiry whilst also presenting a defence against the projected announcement of the HbA1c result. It was noted in the previous section that the patient's response to the doctor's 'how are you' question (an elongated ye:ah followed by 'not too bad') orients to the doctor's enquiry as medical rather than simply general in nature. 'Not too bad' is recognisably a downgraded version of the usual response given to an inquiry and foreshadows a 'trouble telling' (Jefferson 1980). This 'negative import' (Jefferson 1980, p. 155) is acknowledged as such by the doctor with a neutral and quietly spoken 'right' and he proceeds to the question about blood sugars. The delay in response followed by an elongated u::hm indicates the patient's difficulty in replying (line 9). The fluctuations in blood sugars are accounted for by circumstances beyond the patient's control. In line 9 the patient states that his blood sugar levels have 'been up and down at the minute' displaying that he is aware of his values and by implication has been carrying out the necessary blood glucose tests. The aligning action throughout the conversation is predominantly mono-directional, from patient to doctor. As discussed in the previous section, aligning behaviour from doctor to patient was reserved for those who seemed to be aligning with medical goals. For instance at line 36 the doctor offers no comment or assessment of the patient's preceding account. The doctor's response is oriented to the medical concerns of a rising HbA1c and he continues with the agenda of discussing blood sugar levels, asking the patient if his account offers an explanation for the HbA1c result: 'uhm could you think that that explains this'. The patient's aligning response, however, at line 39 is made without hesitation¹⁸, giving a 'yes' response to the doctor's question at line 36, and adding that he had anticipated a rise.

It can be seen that the doctor's primary agenda was a discussion about the HbA1c result and less about following up on the difficulties the patient expresses regarding his use of the insulin pump during shift work. Nevertheless, Patient 10 gives an account of why he had been unable to align with the medical goals. He reveals his difficulties to the doctor and is able to proactively limit some of the negativity surrounding the increase in HbA1c. In addition, bringing problems to the consultation invites the multi-disciplinary team to offer advice, and to arrange follow up appointments with the patient in order to address his difficulties.

¹⁷ HbA1c result was 79 mmol/mol (9.4%)

¹⁸ A latched response is indicated by the '=' symbol

Extract 6.9 [Patient 10 (Insulin Pump) 8-10-12] (2-39)

2.	D:	Hello there I'm Professor (name)
3.	B: ¹⁹	Nice to meet you
4.		(0.4)
5.	D:	And how have you been keeping?
6.	P:	Ye:ah not too bad
7.	D:	$^{\circ}$ Right $^{\circ}$ (0.9) and e:rm (0.2) blood sugars
8.		(0.5)
9.	P:	U::hm they've been a bit up and down
10.		at the minute they have I've been going
11.		through a bit of a (1.0) patch >haven't we< (.)
12.		u::hm (0.8)I di- I had some issues at work (.)
13.		and things and it was affecting me $>I$
14.		wasn't eating and things so that was affecting
15.		it< .hhhh and at the minute I've e:rm (0.3) I've
16.		started another job and erm working (0.4)like
17.		half two in the morning, and it's like (0.3)
18.		my basal it's kind of (.)
19.	B:	([)]
20.	P:	[it's]thrown [it out
21.	B:	[huh huh [.hhhh hhh
22.	P:	[so it's like normally
23.		I've got my basal that runs overnight
24.		(0.4) and obviously because 'm (0.4) changing
25.		what I'm doing (.7)
26.		I[t's
27.	B:	[its
28.	P:	I need it changing
29.		(0.8)
30.	B:	[()]
31.	P:	[>but obviously you can't change it all
32.		the time cos you don't always do the same shift<
33.		if that makes sense (0.9) .hhh so it's kind of
34.		a (.) temporary (1.5) °(thing)°

 $^{^{\}ensuremath{^{19}}}$ The patient's partner accompanied him to the appointment
35.		(.)
36.	D:	Uhm so could you think that that explains this
37.		((looking at the blood glucose
38.		results on the computer))
39.	P:	= yes I I I anticipated a rise

Gaining the doctor's support with a below target HbA1c (good control)²⁰ – Patient 14

Apparent in the following extract is the doctor's prioritisation of the HbA1c result. However, the patient influences the agenda by drawing the doctor into a discussion of his difficulties. In this instance the patient has achieved an HbA1c result that is within the target range. It appears that the combination of the patient aligning with medical goals and expressing his difficulties within the consultation elicits an affiliative style of communication from the doctor. In contrast to the previous consultation with Patient 10, the communication from the doctor is more patient-centred. Of note is the patient's evaluation of his HbA1c result 'oh that's not bad' (line 28) and his expressed satisfaction with his result at line 35. Offering opinions is another feature of high involvement patients in this sample.

In the extract below, the doctor's question 'and how have you been sir' (line 5) receives a noticeable delay of 1.5 seconds, indicating difficulty in response. His reply of 'fair' is qualified with 'problems with the wife at the moment'. On hearing the patient's problems with his wife the doctor responds sympathetically at line 10 with 'oh dear'. It is of note, however, that the diabetes specialist dietitian rather than the doctor follows up the patient's disclosure with a question at line 12 'is she is she not so well or'. This tendency for the specialist diabetes dietitian and specialist diabetes nurse to align with patient's expressed difficulties was a recurring pattern in the recorded consultations. The doctor changes the subject at line 20 and continues the discussion of blood glucose levels with the patient (lines 20-38) before resuming the patient's agenda at line 39 'what kind of stresses and strains are your wife's health problems putting on you' (this is a further example of the pattern in communication discussed in section 6.2.1).

The use of 'oh dear' by the doctor was unusual in the recorded consultations. 'Oh' has significance in conversation analysis research. It has been found that it is a change of state marker, registering the receipt of news (Heritage 1984). The tendency for doctors to avoid

²⁰ Patient 14's HbA1c results were below target levels at 50 mmol/mol (6.7%)

news marks and to adopt a more neutral response has been noted (ten Have 1991). Generally in sequences of medical talk in primary care, doctors use neutral receipts such as 'okay' or 'right' (Drew 2002). This is explained in part by the need for doctors to contain the talk within a tight time frame of on average 7.5 minutes per consultation (Drew 2002). When doctors occasionally depart from medical talk and engage in more social talk, they talk in a more conversational way (Drew 2002). There is therefore a contrast between medical talk on the one hand and a more empathetic approach when doctors converse on a more social level with patients (Drew 2002). In most of the recorded consultations the doctor adopts a neutral stance to the receipt of news by patients. In this consultation, however, there is a display of sympathy in the doctor's response of 'oh dear' with an acknowledgment that the patient has provided news.

Extract 6.10 [Patient 14 (Insulin Pump) 22-10-12] (1-41)

1.	D:	Hello Mr () I'm (Dr's name)
2.	P:	Pleased to meet you
3.	D:	You've met one of my colleagues before
4.	P:	Ye:s we have
5.	D:	And how have you been sir?
6.		(1.5)
7.	P:	$^\circ$ Er fair fair (1.0)() problems with
8.		the wife at the moment
9.		and it's causing me some hassle $^\circ$
10.	D:	10:h dear
11.		(2.8)
12.	A:	Is she is she not so well or
13.		(2.9)
14.	P:	Dementia
15.	A:	O:h[dear yeah
16.	D:	[()]
17.	P:	Got a check up organised in a
18.		week's time
19.	A:	mm (2.3) oh [dear
20.	D:	[well you seem [to be
21.	P:	[()]
22.	D:	You seem to be doing well with your
23.		diabetes perfect control [according to the

24.	P:	[()
25.	D:	In in new money it's fifty millimoles
26.		per mol which
27.		should correspond to six point seven
28.	P:	[Oh that's not bad]
29.	D:	[as a percentage yes]so we've changed over
30.		to these new unit[s and
31.	P:	[Yes yes I'm
32.		aware of that yes (1.0) oh well
33.	D:	So anything below fifty nine would
34.		be considered (.)
35.	P:	() Satisfied with that
36.	D:	Fifty's very good
37.	P:	Good
38.	D:	Couldn't be better (1.8) and
39.		what kind o:f stresses and strains
40.		are your wife's health problems putting
41.		on you?

Having discussed the patient's HbA1c result the doctor returns to the topic of the patient's problems. The doctor displays affiliation with the patient in offering to write a letter of support to his GP and in commending the patient for his 'stoic approach' (extract below). Not only had Patient 14 achieved his HbA1c targets, he appeared to have done so in the face of difficulties. This engendered positive and partnership building communication from the doctor.

Extract 6.11 [Patient 14 (Insulin Pump) 22-10-12] (82-105)

82.	D:	and and I'm going to put that down
83.		in my letter (0.9)that that (1.0)it's <u>no</u> ne
84.		of my business but (0.6) it is my business
85.		if it's going to affect you (0.5)
86.	P:	[()]
87.	D:	[the fact that it hasn't (.) >the
88.		fact that it hasn't affected
89.		your blood sugar control is a different
90.		matter<
91.	P:	>well I'm very surprised at that I really am<
92.	D:	But it's it's clearly having an

93.		affect on you and and you are (0.9) showing
94.		a brave face and having a stoic approach
95.		to the thing but that doesn't mean that
96.		you're not affected
97.	P:	Mmm
98.		(0.7)
99.	D:	and I think we should (.) we should not
100.		have a service which responds only to
101.		those who complain
102.		(0.8)
103.	P:	Fair enough
104.	D:	At at least that's the way I work
105.	P:	°Thank you°

6.5.3 Displaying Commitment to the Regimen

Giving an account of working with health care professionals

Some patients were able to display alignment with the doctor by giving an account of working with health care professionals. In between review appointments with the multi-disciplinary team, patients were offered appointments with the diabetes specialist nurse and diabetes specialist dietitian. Attending these sessions was an opportunity for patients and health care professionals to work together to resolve problems with the regimen. One way that patients could align with health care professionals in the consultation was to draw attention to the work that they had accomplished since their last appointment, particularly in relation to these other appointments with staff.

The following extract for Patient 2 (Pump) illustrates how, by reporting these sessions to the doctor, patients were able to display their commitment to the regimen and to elicit support from the team members. This is a further example of a high involvement patient being able to 'voice' concerns at the beginning of the consultation and to pre-empt the expected discussion about blood glucose levels. The patient presents herself as someone whose HbA1c result had gone down, but due to circumstances beyond her control (stresses in her life), has experienced recent high blood glucose levels. In fact the patient's HbA1c has gone down (although still above target at 73 mmol/mol (8.8%)).

Having been asked a question by the doctor at line 5, the patient draws the diabetes specialist nurse into the conversation, firstly at line 8 and again with a request at line 12 for the nurse to

corroborate her account. Both patient and nurse use 'we' in relation to the work that they accomplished together. The continuers ('mm' 'yeah') used by the nurse at lines 13 and 16 display alignment and serve to encourage the patient to continue her account (Schegloff 2000). The nurse's affiliation with the patient is displayed in the sequences of overlapping speech (lines 22 and 23) in which the patient's account is upgraded from 'everything was working kind of quite well with how we were going' to the nurse's assessment 'we were getting better weren't we'.

The affiliation displayed is bi-directional. Having started to give an account using 'l' ('I was on the way with a better regimen') at line 22 the patient changes from the first person pronoun to 'we were going'. This is echoed through the conversation by the nurse's use of 'we'. It would appear that both patient and nurse give an account of a collaborative relationship in which they have been working together in the accomplishment of a joint goal. This extract also illustrates the way that some patients elicit assistance and receive support from the specialist diabetes nurse or specialist diabetes dietitian in communicating with the doctor.

Extract 6.12 [Patient 2 (Insulin Pump) 28-03-12] (1-36)

1.	N:	Come and have a seat
2.	D:	Hello hello Good [morning (patients name)
3.	P:	[pleased to meet you
4.	P:	.hhhhh
5.	D:	How are you doing?
6.	P:	How am I doing? >that's a good question
7.		uhm I'm I'm reasonable with my circumstances
8.		I'm just saying to Linda ²¹ <
9.		uhm this last month I've been had quite a lot of
10.		stress \uparrow so my blood sugars are (0.4) hi \uparrow gher
11.		than normal .hhhh uhm (0.8)I rang Linda up I think
12.		it was the end of February wasn't it?
13.	N:	mm [yeî ah
14.	P:	[and gave an HbA1(0.6)result didn't I?
15.		[and it had gone down=
16.	N:	[Yeah

²¹ Linda is the pseudonym given to the diabetes specialist nurse attending the consultation.

17.	P:	=Now I don't know how much it had
18.		gone down from the one previously .hhhh(0.6)but
19.		I was on the way with a better .hhhh regimen
20.		.hhh and uhm and you know seemed to be tightening
21.		up (1.0) everything was working kind of quite
22.		well with how we were [going
23.	N:	[We were getting
24.		better weren't we
25.	P:	with .hhh our classîes and uhm (.)exercise
26.	D:	°Mhm°
27.	P:	erm I've been swimming so I've been taking the
28.		monitor off
29.	D:	[°Right°
30.	P:	[for no more than an (0.4)hour
31.	N:	mm
32.	P:	and it hadn't made (0.7)drastic differences
33.		[either =
34.	N:	[good
35.	P:	= way
36.	N:	Good

Bringing blood glucose records to consultations

One of the essential parts of the diabetes review was to examine the patient's blood glucose records. These records helped to identify trends or patterns over time. Keeping records of blood glucose levels is a proactive rather than reactive way to manage diabetes. Many of the patients in the sample brought blood glucose records to the consultation. Some were handwritten, some brought computer printouts from their blood glucose meters and one patient brought a SiDiary^{TM 22}.

There were no comments about lack of records from doctor to patient. Patients who brought their records to the consultation, however, displayed both an interest in managing their diabetes condition and provided health care professionals with the means to help solve problems. It seemed that patients who displayed interest in their own diabetes management by taking advantage of capturing blood glucose data from monitors received reciprocal

²² SiDiary[™] is software designed to manage data on diabetes management

interest from the doctor. Patients who brought computer printouts tended to hand them over to the doctor as they arrived in the consultation. It appeared that actively engaging the doctor's interest in this way was not dependent on the patient achieving the target HbA1c result.

Patient 22 (Pump) arrived at his consultation and handed over the computer printout of his blood glucose levels. Initially the doctor and the patient discuss the patient's progress with addressing his issues with hypoglycaemia raised at the last consultation. The printout is used immediately by the doctor in discussion with the patient. In the following extract for Patient 22, the computer printout became a topic of mutual interest to both the patient and the doctor. The conversation changed from the usual question and answer format, observed in the early part of most consultations, to a more collaborative discussion seen in the overlapping turns at 51-52, 54-55, 61-62, 71-72, 72-73 and 74-75. For example, in answer to the doctor's question at lines 46-49 in relation to producing another graph, instead of a minimal 'yes' response the patient expands his reply, thus displaying both his knowledge and willingness to cooperate with the doctor. Further displays of knowledge are apparent at line 72 as the patient correctly identifies the graph that the doctor requires ('oh it's like scat- scatter') and at line 74 ('yeah I have seen that yeah'). The degree to which the patient displayed his knowledge to the doctor and the proactive way that the patient started the consultation was relatively uncommon in this sample and demonstrated the high literacy levels of this patient from a professional social class. The conversation sequence concluded with the doctor asking the patient to e-mail the records to him personally. Being able to display an interest in managing diabetes proactively within the consultation seemed to be an advantage to patients in terms of collaborating more closely with the doctor in the future.

Extract 6.13 [Patient 22 (Insulin Pump) 26-11-12] (46-79)

46.	D:	Would it be possible for you t::o (0.5) to also
47.		do the uhm(0.6) the weekly or monthly
48.		summary in terms of times? because I think
49.		there's a big graph that comes up
50.		(0.7)
51.	P:	there's (0.5) <u>many many</u> diff[erent variants on how
52.	D:	[yes yes yes
53.	P:	that can be presented so if you
54.		[told me
55.	D:	[So so so what we're interested in

56.		essentially this daily summary
57.		(0.3)
58.	P:	Yeah
59.	D:	with the times of the day(0.6)but(0.7)
60.		with the (0.8) dots or the $\underline{nu:m}$ bers (0.4)
61.		grouped in each time [with the average
62.	P:	[the one with the
63.		average <u>rig</u> ht
64.	D:	It's it's a graph which looks something
65.		like this it it get's you the graph
66.		(0.3)
67.	P:	yeah
68.	D:	and you've got the (.) the days and you've
69.		got the lines (0.7) and it tells you
70.		(2.7)
71.	D:	[where ((doctor drawing an example))
72.	P:	[oh it's like scat- scatt[er
73.	D:	[yeah it's a scatter
74.	P:	yeah I have [seen that yeah
75.	D:	[so it's a scatter one
76.		so the scatter one helps us to see tre :nds (0.5
77.		because this all this does is is the
78.		visual (0.3) depiction of just a straight
79.		forward table

Whereas Patient 22 had an HbA1c within target (58 mmol/mol (7.5%)), Patient 18 (Pump) had an above target HbA1c of 83 mmol/mol (9.7%). Despite having an HbA1c of 9.7%, little was said about the result. The doctor and other team members displayed considerable interest in the patient's SiDiary[™] (diabetes management software) and on several occasions it became a topic of conversation. It appeared that displaying a readiness to explore ways to improve diabetes management, using technology available to the patient, outweighed the lack of alignment with blood glucose levels. Instead, the patient received reciprocal interest from the doctor.

The doctor's request for the patient's blood glucose levels to be e-mailed is formulated as a suggestion and receives an immediate reply 'yes absolutely' (line 328) and a comment

indicative of affiliation²³ 'yeah that would keep me on track' (line 334). It seemed that proactive patients who brought computer printouts or other more sophisticated forms of analysis of blood glucose levels were able to initiate a style of communication that was more personal and collaborative.

Extract 6.14 [Patient 18 (Insulin Pump) 12-11-12] (318-338)

318.	D:	So we <u>pro</u> bably need to review
319.		those (1.2) more frequently than quarterly
320.		(0.6) which is the conventional way most
321.		diabetes clinics are run (1.2) so if there's
322.		any way that we can >review the blood
323.		glucose without you having to come up here<
324.	P:	[Yeah
325.	D:	[That would also be helpful [so one way is if you =
326.	P:	[()
327.	D:	= can e-mail it [to us
328.	P:	[yes absolutely of course
329.	D:	If I give you an e-mail address do
330.		you think you could you [could
331.	P:	[Yeah
332.	D:	e-mail the results hhhh say in about
333.		(1.0) fortnight to three weeks?
334.	P:	Yeah that would keep me on track (.)
335.		I think I can e-mail it out of this SiDiary
336.		(3.2)
337.	D:	You should be able to
338.	P:	I think I can (.) cos that's actually dead good

6.5.4 Influencing the Doctor's Agenda

Some patients were able to influence the doctor's agenda. There were two ways in which this was accomplished. First, patients were able to give an extended reply to the doctor's question. Second, some patients were able to influence the trajectory of the consultation by asking the doctor questions.

²³ Affiliative responses are stronger than alignment

Changing the topic of conversation

In the following extract Patient 15 (MDI) avoids the doctor's agenda with regard to blood glucose levels. The patient had not obtained an HbA1c result prior to the consultation however, the last recorded result was very high (83 mmol/mol (9.7%)). Providing an extended reply to a doctors question enabled Patient 15 to depart momentarily from the consultation agenda (Stivers et al. 2001). Extended replies serve three possible purposes (Stivers et al. 2001). First, they are employed in cases where providing a definite answer is difficult. Second, they are used in support of answers by providing additional details. Third, they are deployed defensively to avert negative inferences that might arise without the elaborated answers. In this consultation the patient appears to be averting a negative judgment from the doctor by changing the agenda topic to her primary concerns, namely her decision to revert to multiple daily injections from insulin pump therapy.

Patient 15 (extract below) displays difficulty in answering the doctor's first question 'how are you doing' as indicated by a two second delay and an elongated 'm::m' and 'oîka::y'. This response foreshadows the difficulty in responding to the doctors next question about 'BMs'²⁴ at line 10 as evidenced by 'erm' and 'well' indicators of problems in response (Pomerantz 1984). Rather than answer the question about 'BMs' Patient 15 digresses, reporting that she had reverted to multiple daily injections, having come off her insulin pump, following a discussion with a friend who also has type 1 diabetes.

Extract 6.15 [Patient 15 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 22-10-12] (7-28)

7.	D:	How are you doing
8.		2.0)
9.	P:	M::m oîka::y
10.	D:	Right and from your BM's point of view
11.		(1.10)
12.	P:	BM's:: ↑erm ↓well tch (0.7)>I hav- I
13.		reverted back to my injections< (0.8)I spo-
14.		when I saw (nurse) last time
15.		>I was just going back onto my pump wasn't I?<
16.	A:	Just been on holiday hadn't you? [yeah
17.	P:	[Yeah erm

²⁴ BM is another term for blood glucose levels

18.	and (0.5) I think it's because I've met
19.	up with my .hhhh(0.6)erm friend who I look up
20.	to >who's been diabetic for probably ten
21.	years or more than me< .hhhh (.) erm she's
22.	now (.) expecting her baby tomorrow
23.	actually she's being induced tomorrow .hhhh
24.	but erm I've met up with her a few
25.	times recently .hhhh and erm she manages
26.	very well on the pens and (.)I thought I was
27.	going to give it (0.7) another go
28. D:	Okay

By digressing, the patient changes the topic of conversation away from a discussion relating to blood glucose levels. Following the patient's turn the doctor does not return to this topic of blood glucose levels, rather the conversation continues with the patient's agenda relating to the patient's decision to come off the insulin pump.

Another way that patients influenced the doctor's agenda was by asking questions. This was most clearly seen in the consultations involving Patient 15 (MDI) and Patient 21 (MDI) (both in the high involvement category). Patient 15's remarks (extract below), although not in the interrogative form, are treated as a question by the doctor and he responds accordingly. The consultation had been running for 15 minutes and the doctor's response to this question ran for a further 5 minutes. Following this, two further questions were asked by the patient extending the consultation by another 10 minutes. The consultation lasted 30 minutes in total. It was apparent in both these consultations that patients were able to influence both the topic of conversation and the length of the consultation. Actively involved patients appeared to be able to extend their allotted time with the doctor and were able to address some of their concerns.

Extract 6.16 [Patient 15 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 22-10-12] (245-253)

245. P:	Yeah (1.6) and >obviously< well people keep
246.	saying to me .hhhh(0.4)so $\mathbf{\hat{w}}$ have you got
247.	a kidney infection then? and .hhhh
248.	other than saying (0.2) well diabetes
249.	control (.) sugar levels .hhhh(0.3) and probably
250.	not drinking(0.6) as much water as I should do.
251.	(0.8)

213

252.	D:	Ι	think	the	question	has	been	answered

253. because they did an ultrasound scan

Patient 21 (MDI) also asked several questions in her consultation. The question at line 460 (extract below) was asked at 21 minutes into the consultation just as the doctor is concluding business. The consultation ran for 43 minutes. Regular review appointment slots were 15 minutes in length so this represents a considerable extension to the usual consultation length.

Extract 6.17 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (458-477)

458.	D:	(we'll see you) on the fourteenth of January
459.		(2.6)
460.	P:	Will I be able to see someone about my feet
461.		again?
462.		(1.7)
463.	N:	[() Foot clinic as well
464.	P:	[I think I've got =
465.		= I think I've got problems with
466.		my big toes again [cos
467.	D:	[right =
468.	P:	= had problems with the nails before
469.	D:	Let's (best get you) on the couch
470.		((patient moves to couch))
471.		(2.8)
472.		it would be absolutely daft for me to send you to
473.		the foot clinic
474.		(0.4)
475.	P:	((patient laughs))
476.	D:	and see you there again myself so
477.		(we should this out now)((short laugh))

6.5.5 Involvement in Decision-making: the Impact of both the Patient and the Doctor

In the previous sections attention was given to the important influence that patient alignment with biomedical goals had on doctor-patient communication. In addition the ability of some patients to maintain alignment with the doctor even when unable to meet biomedical targets was influenced by the extent to which patients engaged in the consultation in order to deflect or mitigate negative connotations surrounding their HbA1c results. Hence high patient involvement appeared to be an important aspect of maintaining the doctor's support and in turn facilitated continued access to an insulin pump. The following section explores in more detail aspects of patient involvement that may influence the maintenance of access to IIR and hence may have an impact on equity.

Two patients' consultations have been chosen for the following reasons. First they are the only patients in the sample where maintaining access to an IIR was imminently at risk. Both consultations contain decision-making sequences in relation to maintaining access to an IIR. Second, key decision-making sequences in both consultations illustrate differing levels of patient involvement and differing styles of communication from doctor to patient. In both consultations, the importance of both the patient and doctor in influencing the interaction is explored. Another key factor in relation to these two patients is their relative positioning in different quadrants in the 'patient alignment/involvement' diagram (Table 6.5). Patient 21 is shown as 'aligned/high involvement'. In contrast Patient 20 is in the 'non-aligned/low involvement' category. The following analysis shows how differing outcomes for these patients, both from lower social classes, are impacted by alignment and involvement.

Patient 21, at the time of the study was on MDI therapy having decided not to continue on an insulin pump some months previously. Patient 20, at the time of the study was also on MDI therapy, having decided to disconnect his insulin pump some days before the consultation. Neither patient had arranged for a recent HbA1c result before the consultation. Patient 20 and Patient 21 had the two highest HbA1c results in the sample at 14% (130 mmol/mol) and 15.2%(143 mmol/mol) respectively. Hence both patients were currently non-aligned with target levels for their HbA1c and were well above a level that would give cause for concern in relation to diabetes complications. However, although high, Patient 20 had made progress towards reducing her HbA1c levels.

In the first example (Patient 21) sequences of interaction are presented showing the patient and the doctor negotiating a decision to change the patient's regimen. Alignment and patient involvement were found to be crucial to the patient's maintenance of access to the MDI regimen. This consultation was one of few in which the doctor adopted an empathetic stance towards the patient (the doctor's neutral stance was discussed previously). This appeared to be influenced in part by the patient's display of emotion. It also appeared that the doctor's empathetic and affiliative stance was a key influence on the patient's willingness to adopt his suggestions. In the second example (Patient 20), issues of patient and doctor non-alignment

215

coupled with low involvement by the patient within the interaction appeared to have had an important influence on the patient's loss of access to an insulin pump.

Case 1 – The 'actively' involved patient

In the extracts that follow a number of influences on doctor-patient communication and decision-making are discussed. First, a change of approach from regimen-focused to an exploration of the patient's underlying difficulties in following the regimen appeared to lead to greater patient involvement. Second, the latter approach appeared to influence the patient and the doctor eventually reaching an agreement on treatment.

The consultation begins with a review of the patient's last recorded HbA1c. It will be recalled that the doctor had commended the patient for making a small improvement in relation to her last recorded HbA1c result (Extract 6.2) hence the consultation commenced in a positive way with rapport building action undertaken by the doctor. Decision-making was divided into three main sequences shown in Box 6.1. These key decision-making sequences were completed in 13 minutes although the consultation ran for 43 minutes in total (the longest in the sample). We join the interaction following an information gathering sequence in relation to the patient's current insulin regimen.

Box 6.1 Summary of regimen change proposals and decisions for Patient 21

Proposal 1 – A change from multiple daily injections and one long acting insulin to multiple daily injections with two long acting insulin injections.

Outcome – Pre-emptively rejected by patient who is concerned that she will forget to take the additional injection.

Proposal 2 – A change from multiple daily injections and one long acting insulin injection to twice daily insulin injections (comprising a short and long acting component).

Outcome – Accepted by patient but subsequently rejected by the doctor.

Proposal 3 – Reversal of the decision to adopt twice daily injections in favour of regimen status quo with the proviso that patient eats breakfast.

Outcome – Accepted by patient if work place can be more accommodating.

Proposal 1: Resisting the doctor's agenda

The following extract introduces the doctor's approach to decision-making which at this stage in the consultation focuses on the technical features and problems with the patient's regimen as opposed to soliciting the patient's views as the process unfolds. Patient involvement in decision-making was discussed in Chapter 3 and the benefits for patients were noted. The Calgary-Cambridge guide places great emphasis on the skills required to involve patients and to ensure that shared decision-making is accomplished. The extract below shows the patient's influence in asserting her own agenda even when her input is not sought by the doctor.

The patient's statement that her blood glucose levels are high at tea time, despite all her efforts, announces a problem that needs to be addressed (lines 78-79) and is responded to with the doctor directing a question to the diabetes specialist nurse ('can we give her a twice daily?')²⁵. The phrase 'can we give her' (line 81) is an approach to decision-making that excludes rather than includes the patient since it involves the nurse in the doctor's initial thoughts about a possible solution rather than the patient. Although not the recipient of the doctor's turn, the patient treats the doctor's question as a suggested option. She quickly involves herself in the interaction by voicing her opinion on the proposal (line 84 onwards) and pre-emptively resists the doctor's suggestion. In doing so the patient reveals her preference for one long acting insulin injection rather than two injections because she struggles 'to remember it'.

Extract 6.18 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (78-87)

78.	P:	\uparrow It's still really high at tea time
79.		though. (1.0) no matter what I do.
80.		(0.8)
81.	D:	Can we give her a <u>twi</u> ce daily (0.8) long
82.		acting insulin.(.)Is that an option?
83.		(0.6)
84.	P:	() I (0.5) I struggle to remember it in
85.		the morning that's my only issue (0.6)
86.		I can't (0.5)that's why I like doing
87.		it all at once at night

²⁵ Twice daily insulin injections comprising both short and long acting insulin

Proposal 2: Regimen focused decision-making

The patient's resistance is met with information from the doctor to the patient and some 'educating' in relation to the merits of 24 hour insulin ('it can be twenty four hours in some people but it's clearly not twenty four hours in you') (extract not shown). This is the context for the extract below relating to the second regimen change proposal (see Box 6.1) and follows on from the patient's revelation that she does not eat breakfast. In the latter discussion there was evidence of a display of empathy with the patient's circumstances ('you've been dealt a bad hand isn't it with type 1 diabetes you can't do a lot of the things you want to do...') (extract not shown). Nevertheless, at this stage the dialogue is dominated by commentary from the doctor and minimal input from the patient with the doctor explaining the consequences of the patient's current regimen. In terms of decision-making the doctor's approach is 'unilateral'²⁶ (see Collins et al. 2005), evidenced in the following extract.

Extract 6.19 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (141-156)

141.	D:	s:o (.) if (0.5) we put priorities on (0.8) rules
142.		we make for ourselves now (2.2) and say
143.		it doesn't mat <u>ter</u> what it happens
144.		°in the fut \uparrow ure° (1.1) then that's <u>fine</u>
145.		>we're we're all adults we're responsible
146.		people and we face consequences< .hhh but
147.		I don't (.) think (.) that that's really (0.4)
148.		going to suit (0.3) suit you in the long term
149.	P:	[°°Mhmm°°
150.	D:	[Right so we will have to make some
151.		adjustments (0.7) unfortunately it means
152.		that (0.5) if you are (.) having to take
153.		insulin insulin has to be there (0.3) when
154.		your body needs it (1.0) not when it's
155.		convenient to give it
156.	P:	° Mhmm ° °

²⁶ Unilateral decision-making comprises a predominantly autonomous approach by the doctor whereas a bilateral approach involves the patient in the decision-making.

Doctors' use of the pronoun 'we' has been investigated in relation to decision-making (Skelton et al. 2002). Three main uses of 'we' have been identified: the first has the effect of including patients ('you and I') and hence facilitates shared decision-making; the second has the effect of excluding patients ('we doctors'); and finally the word can be used to mean 'everyone' (Skelton et al. 2002). At first glance 'we' (line 150) appears to have an inclusive quality that suggests a shared approach. The coupling of 'we' with 'will have to', however, indicates an imperative quality that directs the patient, having the effect of both delimiting choice and signalling that there is an obligation to 'make adjustments'. Hence there appears to be an element of pressure being applied to the patient in this interaction. This is the context for the extract below (lines 163-212) illustrating the doctor's style of communication and the way that he designs his turns in order to secure the patient's agreement with his suggestions.

The doctor, although clearly influenced by the patient's revelations in relation to regimen difficulties and dietary habits, has not up to this point elicited the patient's views in the decision-making process. The following sequence shows the doctor building a case to substantiate his suggestion that the patient should revert to twice daily injections. The issue of breakfast, although part of the problem presented, is not tackled. Instead the proposed solution is framed in terms of the insulin regimen.

The turn by turn analysis shows the ways that the decision outcome is influenced by the doctor. This is accomplished through the design of his turns to prefer a 'yes' response from the patient. The doctor's first attempt at establishing a case falters as the patient offers a dispreferred response at line 166 'well no' and corrects his understanding of her last meal of the day. The doctor's reply ('that's again' at line 173) signifies to the patient that the positioning of the last meal is somewhat irrelevant in the case of the number of hours 'food free'. The design of the turn both states the number of hours estimated to be food free and invites the patient to agree with this (isn't it?) at line 176. Having established that there is a problem with having an extended gap between supper and the patient's next meal (lines 181-187), the patient's response is a neutral 'right' (line 188). At the doctor's next turn however, a link is made between lack of breakfast and blood sugar levels that 'are all over the place' (lines 190-196) and again the patient is invited to agree with the doctor's assessment (line 196). At this point the patient aligns with the doctor's assessment with a quietly spoken 'yeah' at lines 194 and 197. Finally the doctor presents the solution which is to ensure steady insulin throughout the day. Although presented as a 'suggestion' and something that the patient might want to 'consider' (line 205), twice daily injections (a retrograde step) is the only option on the table and hence there is a directive quality to the decision-making ('so what I would

219

suggest is we start going (.) we go back to the pen and maybe consider twice daily insulin until this improves') (lines 202-206).

The patient's agreement with the doctor is evidenced by her remark that the doctor's suggested regimen may have other benefits: 'it might stop the hypos in the night as well' (line 210). The context of this decision should be noted however, since the patient's ready acceptance may be because a twice daily insulin regimen is not as complicated as an IIR and the patient has already stated a preference for fewer injections and reluctance to eat breakfast. At this stage in the consultation the patient has 'lost' access to an IIR.

Extract 6.20 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (163-212)

163.	D:	And the way I see it is (0.5) that you're
164.		having a gap between your evening meal
165.		(0.5)>and about midday isn't it?<
166.	P:	(.) Well no cos I have (supper) before I go to bed
167.		(0.5)
168.	D:	Okay
169.		(0.6)
170.	P:	>I eat supper but I don't eat breakfast<
171.	D:	Right (.) well that means that(0.4)if
172.		your supper's around what ten o'clock?
173.		(1.0) that's again nearly
174.		what twelve hours [of
175.	P:	[Mmm
176.	D:	(0.8) fourteen hours of (1.4) >food free isn't it<
177.		(1.0) and that's the time when most
178.		people's bodies need food in the morning
179.	P:	Mhmm
180.		(0.9)
181.	D:	So it's possible (0.4)for you to go without
182.		say ten hours (.) or twelve hours overnight (0.9)
183.		but then your body's geared for that but
184.		it's not geared to having to do a normal
185.		day's work (.) and be then be without it .hhh >and
186.		have the added burden of having to
187.		have insulin<
188.	P:	°Right°

189.		(0.8)
190.	D:	So (.) this (.)really (.) tells us that
191.		your blood sugar's are all over the place (1.0)
192.		>and and< obviously if you look at your
193.		blood sugars (.) [when you check
194.	P:	[[°yeah°
195.	D:	them you will find they're all over the
196.		place [isn't it
197.	P:	[°yeah°
198.		(0.9)
199.	D:	>So the first thing we need to do is to
200.		make sure that you get some steady insulin
201.		throughout the day< (0.5) and Lantus doesn't
202.		seem to be doing the job (1.7) so what
203.		I would suggest is we
204.		start going (.) we go back to the pen (0.7) and
205.		maybe consider twice daily insulin until
206.		this improves
207.	P:	°Yeah°
208.		(1.2)
209.	D:	Okay but otherwise y- y'know (0.7)
210.	P:	>It might stop the hypos in the night as well<
211.	D:	$^{\circ}$ Yeah that's what I'm hoping it'll do $^{\circ}$
212.	P:	Okay

The decision-making sequences up to this stage epitomise the contrary objectives of some patients and their doctors. It typifies the struggle between the 'medical world' and the 'life world' (Mishler 1984). It can be seen that the doctor's focus up to this stage in the consultation has been to attend to the patient's regimen. He is 'mandated' to explore every way to prevent the patient doing harm (Boyd and Heritage 2006). He displays his commitment to this task ('my job's to keep you fit and well') (extract not shown). His approach up to this stage, however, has been 'task oriented' with a focus on the regimen (insulin and diet). There has not been an elicitation of the patient's views (although there has been a display of empathy with the patient). That noted, the patient has agreed to the change in regimen. It is clear from the next phase in the decision-making process that the decision for the patient to revert back to twice daily injections is not acceptable to the doctor despite having secured the patient's agreement (extract above).

Proposal 3: Adopting a patient-centred approach leads to agreement

The extract below shows the impact of a change in communication approach from the doctor to the patient part way through the sequence. This change involved less of a focus on the regimen and more of a patient-centred approach, exploring the patient's difficulties. This appeared to lead to an optimal decision outcome for both the patient and the doctor. That is, the doctor's concerns about the patient 'going backwards' and the patient's difficulties in adhering to the regimens were addressed. This was accomplished, however, within a framework of eliciting the patient's problems and her worries (the psychosocial factors).

The extract below begins with the doctor attempting to get to the bottom of what is preventing the patient from being able to follow his advice regarding meals and insulin. From line 230 to 249 the conversation appears to have stalled in terms of reaching a decision about the patient's regimen. From line 230 to 240 the doctor's communication is dominated by giving the patient information. In addition the doctor appears to pre-judge the patient's attitude towards her regimen at lines 236-240 'but where you are now takes a lo::t of effort and a lot of compromise which you ar- don't seem to be (0.4) ready for yet'.

At line 242 the doctor changes tack and asks the patient 'is there any particular reason for that I mean'. This is a key change within the doctor's dialogue at approximately 10 minutes into the consultation and it is the first occasion that the doctor has attempted to elicit the patient's perspective on her difficulties. It may be that the doctor has detected that patient is becoming upset (less obvious from the audio recording).

From line 253 'so we need to work round that don't we' the doctor's talk becomes much less regimen oriented and more patient-centred as the causes of the patient's inability to adhere to advice are revealed. The patient's response 'I don't really feel I have time' is accompanied with a display of emotion (lines 251-252). As the conversation unfolds the doctor offers to help the patient (lines 262-263 and 267-268). The doctor's display of empathy and willingness to help the patient appeared to be a turning point in the patient's stance towards the doctor's advice.

At line 284 the doctor suggests a collaborative and supportive arrangement to resolve the patient's problem 'right so I think first of all we need to work together on that don't we'. In this instance the use of 'we' appears to be indicative of including both patient and doctor in the process since 'we' is coupled with 'together'. This contrasts with the use 'we' at line 150 (Extract 6.19 above). Although there is greater emphasis on including the patient's perspective

222

in the decision-making the doctor's turn of talk continues to be phrased to prefer a 'yes' response.

Nevertheless at this stage in the consultation there is greater emphasis on including the patient's perspective in the decision-making. For example, although phrased to prefer a 'yes' response, 'd'you think it would help' elicits the patient's perspective on his proposal (line 267) and receives a promptly aligning 'yeah' (line 269) from the patient. It is evident that during this extract there has been a significant shift from the regimen focus at the outset to a move to attend to the patient's difficulties and finally to offers of help with their resolution.

Extract 6.21 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (230-285)

230.	D:	we are actually taking a step back
231.	P:	Right
232.		(1.0)
233.	D:	And we are genuinely going
234.		backwards because we usually move
235.		from that (0.3) to \uparrow where you are now
236.		(0.5)but where you are now takes
237.		a lo::t of effort
238.	P:	Mmhm
239.	D:	And a lot of compromise which you
240.		ar- don't seem to be (0.4) ready for yet
241.	P:	[()]
242.	D:	[Is there is there any particular reason
243.		for that I mean
244.	P:	No I just don't eat in the morning
245.		(3.5)
246.	D:	How much of that is engraved in stone
247.		Is that is that something that's
248.		a <u>never</u> <u>never</u> <u>never</u>
249.		I won't do it at [any cost?
250.	P:	[it's not that it's just(0.7)
251.		I don't I don't really feel I have time
252.		or () ((gets upset))
253.	D:	So we need to work round that don't
254.		we? (2.2) ()(1.2) is there no possibility
255.		for you to come to work and and grab a few

256.		minutes for breakfast?
257.	P:	No cos that would mean I'd just
258.		come earlier so
259.	D:	Yeah (3.0) phase working? is there
260.		is there anything which would allow you to (1.0)
261.		mean if- you work in a hospital so so
262.		is it possible for us to
263.		talk to somebody and and [and
264.	P:	[I've got to go cos
265.		I've been in hospital so much I've got
266.		to go to occupational health
267.	D:	D'you think it would help if we if could (0.9)
268.		if Linda ²⁷ and I could come along with you?
269.	P:	Yeah
270.	D:	Yeah so why don't we do that? because
271.		we can then (.)if you've been unwell there
272.		are ways in which you can (.) have a phased
273.		return to work isn't it? (1.0) is that
274.		what you're going [through? or
275.	P:	[I haven't come back [yet
276.	D:	[okay
277.	P:	from being off from when I was
278.		in hospital ((upset))
279.	D:	Right
280.	P:	I go back to work tomorrow
281.	D:	Okay are you worried you're going
282.		to lose your job?
283.	P:	Yeah ((upset))
284.	D:	Right so I think first of all we need
285.		to work together on that don't we?

Ι

In the following extract the decision to go back to two injections a day was reversed and the patient's commitment, in principle, to having some breakfast appeared to be secured (lines 313-315). At line 301 further evidence of a more inclusive approach to decision-making is observed with the doctor's use of 'shall we start afresh then?' At line 303 the doctor's use of 'I

²⁷ A pseudonym for the name of the nurse present at the consultation

think' suggests a reflective stance on the previous decision and signals the possibility of a change of opinion. The regimen currently adopted by the patient is presented as the best option. Although the decision-making approach now appears to be one of negotiating with the patient (that is, the patient may be encouraged to eat breakfast if work issues can be resolved), the way that the doctor's turn is designed to prefer a 'yes' response from the patient shows how the doctor continues to direct the decision-making (lines 301-302 and 313-315). At line 315 the patient gives the preferred response showing alignment with the doctor's suggestion. However, it would appear that at this stage in the decision-making process the patient has been offered a proposal which meets her requirements.

Extract 6.22 [Patient 21 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 26-11-12] (301-315)

301.	D:	Yeah (0.9) so ca- shall we start afresh then?
302.	P:	Yeah
303.	D:	Okay so I think rather than go back to
304.		two two injections a day (1.0) because
305.		what you're on is (.) the best possible thing
306.		thing to do
307.	P:	Mmhm
308.	D:	Mm
309.	P:	Yeah
310.	D:	Er so let's let's play it that way
311.		(0.7) we'll meet people at occupational
312.		health (0.8) so so assuming that we can work
313.		something out for you (.) will you be then
314.		prepared to have some breakfast?
315.	P:	°Yeah°

Affiliation can lead to the maintenance of access

It appeared that the doctor's affiliative stance was an influence on the patient's ability to maintain access to an IIR. The alternative option, initially proposed, was a step backwards in regimen terms; instead the patient was able to remain on the multiple daily injection regimen. It appeared that the turning point in the communication between the patient and the doctor occurred at the stage where the patient revealed her problems with a display of emotion and in response received an affiliative stance from the doctor. For some patients at least, particularly those experiencing problems with adhering to the diabetes regimen, an approach

that was less task-oriented and more patient-centred appeared to be helpful. Communication between the patient and the doctor appeared to change when the patient's psychosocial concerns were addressed. Viewed from the doctor's perspective, however, addressing the patient's concerns was feasible once the patient had been able to verbalise her problems.

The doctor's affiliative stance appeared to have been influenced by a combination of needing to progress the consultation and the patient revealing her difficulties with a display of emotion. As noted previously the patient's improvements in HbA1c result had also received positive comments at the outset of the consultation. It is important to note that addressing these sorts of problems with patients may be very time consuming. This consultation was the longest in the dataset lasting 43 minutes. Whilst some patients were able to reveal their difficulties to the doctor other patient's appeared not to do so and this seemed to influence their communication with the doctor.

Case 2 – Losing access: issues of non-alignment and low patient involvement

In contrast to Patient 21 (MDI), Patient 20 (MDI) was categorised as one of four low involvement patients. The focus of analysis was on both doctor and patient communication. One of the important findings was that in comparison to 'non-aligned/high involvement' patients, 'non-aligned/low involvement' patients appeared to be at greater risk of losing access. This was due in part to these patients experiencing some difficulties communicating with the doctor and as such being less able to present as credible candidates for continuing access. Help was given, however, by the diabetes specialist nurse and the diabetes specialist dietitian and this was able to somewhat lessen the difficulties in communication between the doctor and the patient that sometimes arose. Hence there appeared to be an important role played by these members of the multi-disciplinary team in helping 'passive' patients to maintain access.

Patient 20 was non-aligned with medical goals and there were observable non-alignments between the doctor and the patient during the course of the consultation. The key finding was that non-alignment and low involvement seemed to affect this patient's ability to maintain access to an insulin pump. This example is unique within the recorded data since no other patient lost access to an insulin pump as a consequence of a doctor's decision. Patient 20 had not attended consultant appointments for some time, relying instead on the diabetes specialist nurse and diabetes specialist dietitian for his diabetes support. He was therefore not aligned with the requirement to attend for regular appointments at the insulin pump clinic. Several days prior to the consultation Patient 20 had detached himself from the insulin

226

pump²⁸. He had reverted to an injection regimen. In the ensuing consultation the patient and the health care professionals discussed the decision not to replace his insulin pump²⁹ but rather for him to continue on multiple daily injection therapy.

Although announcing his change of mind at the beginning of the consultation and expressing a wish to continue on the insulin pump, the patient acquiesces entirely in the face of the doctor's decision not to renew the insulin pump. Despite the importance of the decision, the consultation is one of the shortest in the recorded consultations at 11 minutes in length. Non-alignments in communication may be observed from the outset of the consultation. At line 12 it can be seen that the patient overlaps the doctor's name with 'alright mate'.

Extract 6.23 [Patient 20 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 19-11-12] (11-14)

11.	D:	Hello I'm Professor [(name given).
12.	P:	[Alright mate
13.	D:	Hello you've met my colleague (doctors name)
14.		when you were here before I think.

This was unusual in two respects. First, the normative response would usually be some form of 'hello' in return from the patient. Second, it was an unusually familiar term for a patient to use and was the only example of this in the recordings. This level of familiarity had not been invited by the doctor since he had referred to himself as a professor. The doctor carries out a 'repair' by repeating the 'hello' and launches the introductions once again.

Unusually in the recorded consultations the nurse leads the conversation at line 16. In all of the other consultations in the sample, the opening sequence is conducted by the doctor. At lines 18 to 20 the diabetes specialist nurse invites the patient to agree with her assessment that he is doing better on the injections. Although there would seem to be some alignment with the nurse's comment – there is a token 'yeah' (line 21) – the patient does not engage with the nurse's conversation. Rather than giving a reply to the question, the patient starts an account of his blood glucose levels. This non-alignment is met with an elongated and quietly spoken "O::kay". The nurse's response appears to anticipate difficulty at the next turn with

²⁸ An insulin pump may be detached for one hour each day. Since the insulin pump delivers short acting insulin only, detaching the pump for any longer than one hour may be life threatening.

²⁹ Patient 20's insulin pump was due for renewal

the patient's announcement 'I want to go back on the pump though' at line 27. This remark is treated as 'trouble' by the nurse. This is indicated by a short pause before her response, which is an elongated 'a:hh' followed by a 0.5 second pause and 'right'.

Extract 6.24 [Patient 20 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 19-11-12] (16-29)

N :	We were just saying that we thought you were
	\underline{o} ff your pump at the moment last time we met =
N:	=[>you were off it and you were doing better
P:	[Mmm
N:	on the injections<.
P:	Yeah
N:	[Is that
P:	[I've had a I've had a few(0.8) highs a::nd the
	lowest I've had this week is about seven
	point five I think
N:	°O::kay°
P:	I want to go back on pump though.
	(0.5)
N:	°A:hh° (0.5)right
	N: P: N: P: N: P: N: P:

It is noteworthy that at this stage the nurse drops out of the discussion and after a short pause at line 30 (see extract below) the doctor interjects immediately with the remark to the patient 'that's where we might have a few few few issues'. There is no pause following this remark, the turn is 'latched' with 'because', effectively curtailing the patient's response. There is a brief overlap where the patient is heard to utter 'a::h' with no further comment and he immediately drops out of his turn, allowing the doctor to continue. There are significant pauses in lines 35-37 as the doctor's words are chosen with care. The doctor's reasoning is not judgmental; the patient is not 'blamed' for the withdrawal of the insulin pump, rather the reasons are couched in terms that the insulin pump is unsuitable for him.

The style of communication from the doctor to the patient in this sequence is 'unilateral' (Collins et al. 2005). The doctor communicates in a series of statements. The patient has very little input in terms of decision-making and does not present a case for continuing with the insulin pump. It was observed throughout the recorded data that this style of communication was more apparent in non-aligning patients.

Extract 6.25 [Patient 20 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 19-11-12] (30-61)

30.		(0.4)
31.	D:	Tch (0.7) <u>th</u> at's where we might have a few few
32.		few issues =
33.	D:	=[Because (1.5) generally (0.5) people (0.1)on
34.	P:	[A::h)
35.	D:	the pump (1.9) we have guidance on on on on
36.		the fact that pumps work for some people (0.4) and
37.		they <u>do</u> n't work for some p[eople
38.	P:	[Yeah
39.		(0.5)[(I know)
40.	D:	[and just looking at the <u>lev</u> e:ls
41.		that you've been having (0.8) it did
42.		appear that you're one of the people
43.		for whom the pump <u>do</u> esn't work
44.		[because you =
45.	P:	[(ah right)
46.	D:	= <you've had="" more="" trouble=""> with</you've>
47.		[it than good with it
48.	P:	[.hhh huh huh huh
49.	D:	So so I don't think the fault is (0.2)
50.		lies with <u>you</u> (0.6) it lies more with the fact
51.		that maybe you're just not one of the people
52.		[who
53.	P:	[(fair enough =)
54.		= [()
55.	D:	[pump's are <u>de</u> signed for .hhh so what we need
56.		to do is probably to see you a bit more <u>o:f</u> ten
57.		(0.7) with your injections and and fine tune
58.		those (0.6) e::r (0.1) than (0.7) >put you on
59.		a pump because if you're<(0.4)the pumps
60.		are usually good for people who get lots of
61.		hypos

The doctor invokes 'guidance' (line 35) as the principle by which the decision has been reached. In doing so he adopts a neutral position, effectively distancing himself from the decision. The decision is presented to the patient as a *fait accompli* and hence not open to

229

further discussion or debate. The message heard by the patient is that insulin pumps work for some people but are no longer suitable for him.

The doctor alludes to some of the difficulties that the patient has had with the insulin pump (lines 46-47) 'you've had more trouble with it than good with it'³⁰. At this point there is patient laughter overlapping the doctor's remarks (line 48). It has been suggested that laughter is sometimes used by patients in ways other than to display amusement and joking in medical encounters (Haakana 2001). It may be used as a resource to deal with delicate aspects of the consultation since 'by laughing the patient displays that [she/he] is aware of the problem and thereby re-projects a picture of the reasonable patient who knows what is problematic within an occasion' (Haakana 2001 p 214). The delicate situation here is that although the patient displays a desire to go back on the insulin pump he is told that this is no longer an option for him. By responding with 'fair enough' at line 53, the patient displays that he is a 'reasonable' patient. He adopts an aligning stance with regard to the doctor's decision and makes no further request for an insulin pump.

It is noticeable that the doctor carries on with his explanation running from lines 49 onwards without gauging a reaction or soliciting the patient's opinion on the matter. The key decision-making can be measured in a couple of minutes and involves minimal input from the patient. At the conclusion of the doctor's talk with the patient, the nurse rather than the doctor attempts to solicit some reasons for his change of mind about the insulin pump ('what made you say oh (.) I want to go back on it', lines 94-95). This is the first time the patient's viewpoint has been sought throughout the decision-making process.

Patient 20 was unable to present himself as a candidate for insulin pump renewal. The following was apparent: that he had been unable to achieve HbA1c targets; that he had experienced repeated hospital admissions for ketoacidosis; that he had not had a recent HbA1c result; and that he had removed his insulin pump a few days before the consultation. These issues emerged during the consultation. Although the nurse solicits the patient's reasons for his change in mind about the insulin pump, the patient's reasons for detaching the insulin pump and inability to adhere to the regimen are neither sought nor elicited.

³⁰ The patients repeated admissions for ketoacidosis are discussed later in the consultation

Although it is apparent from his response to the nurse 'well I'll stop on needle anyway' (line 104) that this decision is not without difficulty ('well' indicates a dispreferred response (Pomerantz 1984)), he is unable, even when invited by the nurse to give reasons for his change of mind, to answer in anything but a minimal way (lines 98 and 102).

Extract 6.26 [Patient 20 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 19-11-12] (92-105)

92.		(1.0)
93.	D:	[()
94.	N :	[What what made you say oh (.) I want to go
95.		back on it you know how you've come in
96.		and you've just said
97.		[()]
98.	P:	[Injecting myself ha ha hhh.
99.		(0.2)
100.	N :	Cos that's always been an issue with it
101.		(0.3)
102.	P:	Mm [m
103.	N :	[You [you've
104.	P:	[well I'll stop on needle anyway
105.		on pens so I'm not bothered [()

It would appear that adopting a 'passive' stance in the consultation adversely influenced the patient's interaction with the doctor and that this had a negative impact on the patient's ability to maintain access to an insulin pump. In contrast with the findings on high involvement patients discussed in section 6.3, the patient was unable to build a rapport with the doctor or to voice concerns with his regimen, other than minimally. As with other non-aligning patients, he experienced 'unilateral' (Collins et al. 2005) communication from the doctor and in common with other patients who experienced difficulty communicating in the consultation he received a supportive stance from the nurse and dietitian. The following extract illustrates how the nurse is able to explain the doctor's terminology to the patient in ways that are understandable to him.

Extract 6.27 [Patient 20 (ex Insulin Pump user now on MDI) 19-11-12] (176-225)

176.	D:	So do we have any any details Linda ³¹
177.		on on (1.0) ketoacidosis ³² and (.) >spontaneous
178.		ketoacidosis as opposed to provoked ketoacidosis?<
179.		(1.7)
180.	N:	No
181.		(1.5)
182.	P:	That for (.) stomach acid? =
183.	N:	= y- y'know the last time you came
184.		in (.) [and
185.	P:	[mmm
186.	N:	we admitted you (0.3)that was because you'd
187.		you'd not been [well
188.	P:	[ketone yeah
189.	N:	hadn't you you'd had a prob[lem?
190.	P:	[yeah
191.	N:	At your îmum's (.) was it? (.) gone to your mum's
192.		for your Sunday dinner and felt poorly
193.	P:	Yeah
194.	N :	So you'd taken your pump off
195.		(0.4)
196.	P:	[Yeah
197.	N:	[And then you'd had no insulin (0.6) and then
198.		you came in to see me for a routine appoint[ment
199.	P:	[yes
200.	N:	and you were quite high with blood ketones
201.		(0.5)
202.	P:	Yeah I were
203.	N :	And we shipped you onto
204.		(1.0)
205.	P:	They go up (.) they go up every so often
206.		in three or four days it's like (0.3) nought point

³¹ A pseudonym for the name of the nurse present at the consultation

³² Ketocidosis is a life threatening condition requiring intensive treatment in hospital

207.		eight something like that	
208.		(1.4)	
209.	N:	So y'know when you've you've ended up with	
210.		ketones îlike that	
211.	P:	Yeah	
212.	N :	has it usually been because you've been bit	
213.		poorly beforehand	
214.		(0.5)	
215.	P:	[I think so	
216.	N :	[or has something happened	
217.	P:	I'm not quite sure to be honest with you	
218.		(0.3)	
219.	N :	That's what the doctor was asking	
220.	P:	Oh right yeah well [it's ()	
221.	N :	[Did it just happen	
222.		or is it something we've done (0.4)	
223.		to make it happen	
224.	P:	<pre>îNo it's just happîened (.) I think just</pre>	
225.		come out at blue (1.4) that's all it is	

It is apparent from the patient's remark at line 182 that he is unclear about the term 'ketoacidosis'. It is noticeable that it is the nurse not the doctor who begins an explanation at line 183. This is couched in terms of asking the patient to recollect when he was last in hospital. The communication is 'bilateral' (Collins et al. 2005) in style. It is phrased in language that the patient understands and the nurse gauges this understanding at each stage before progressing further (lines 183-84, 186-87, 189, 191-92, 197-198, 200). It also provides further explanation to the patient, in understandable language, regarding the decision to withdraw the insulin pump. The nurse asks the patient to recollect that he had taken his insulin pump off whilst at his mothers' house. At each stage in recollecting his past history, the nurse stops in order to check that the patient is in agreement with her understanding of events. For example it can be seen that her use of 'you were quite high with blood ketones' (line 200) is understandable to the patient with his acknowledgment token 'yeah I were' (line 202). This contrasts with his lack of understanding of the term 'ketoacidosis' used by the doctor.

During the course of the consultation it is apparent that the diabetes specialist nurse and the diabetes specialist dietitian are familiar with the patient and he is able to converse easily with them. Whilst the patient finds it easier to talk to these health care professionals rather than

the doctor, it appears that the doctor also interacts minimally with the patient. Apart from the opening sequence most of the conversation in 11 minutes is between the patient and the diabetes specialist nurse. With respect to issues of losing or maintaining access it would appear that some patients are disadvantaged when they have an inability to communicate effectively with the doctor. The potential for rapport and trust building discussed in previous sections was predominantly observed in consultations with patients that aligned with medical goals. Patient 20's discussion with the doctor was limited. Despite the support offered by the diabetes specialist nurse and the diabetes specialist dietitian, the patient was unable to present a case for continuing on the insulin pump and it was clear that considerations of safety overruled the patient's wishes to remain on the device.

6.6 Summary

This chapter has presented the findings relating to the influences on maintaining access that are related to socioeconomic factors. The key influences on maintaining access were:

- Patient alignment
- Patient involvement

Two aspects of alignment were identified as important influences for maintaining access: alignment with objective biomedical goals and conversational alignment within the consultation. The early part of consultations within the sample was dominated by discussions about blood glucose levels and targets. This was the doctor's choice of agenda; however, the majority of patients aligned with this topic and in their orientation to the discussion demonstrated an expectation of the goals of the consultation.

Alignment with the treatment regimen was not the only influence on maintaining access. Being actively involved in the consultation was arguably more important. Some high involvement patients who had not been able to align with biomedical goals were nevertheless able to display a commitment to the regimen and hence achieved alignment with the doctor.

Key findings included the dominance of the doctor's agenda and in key decision-making sequences, one-sided communication from the doctor to the patient. It was noted that the design of the doctor's turns were formulated to prefer an affirmative response from the patient. Hence, although patient involvement and shared decision-making are promoted as the ideal, in practice it seemed that in this sample, patients for the most part were 'working hard' to maintain alignment with health care professionals as opposed to having their perspectives

sought. This somewhat unequal relationship appears to be at odds with the notion of shared decision-making.

This reinforces the findings reported in Chapter 5, that even when some patients disagree with aspects of diabetes management advice they tend to 'go along' with suggestions within the consultation. These findings also illuminate 'support-seeking' patients' comments reported in Chapter 5 that decision-making is sometimes experienced as a 'pressured' interaction. It may be that accessing an insulin pump creates greater tensions in the doctor-patient relationship that precludes shared decision-making since there are external influences including the requirement to demonstrate capacity to benefit from the technology that would not perhaps be manifest in review appointments for other type diabetes regimens.

The possible combinations of patient involvement and alignment are presented in the matrix in Table 6.6. Although a simplification, the diagram depicts the relative importance of the factors in each quadrant. Patient involvement was the dominant factor influencing maintenance of access to an intensive regimen. There were approximately equal representations of 'high involvement/aligned' and 'high involvement/non-aligned' patients. Low involvement patients were predominantly non-aligned. This may have been an artefact of the sample or may suggest the presence of issues for low involvement patients in terms of gaining initial access or maintaining access.

In relation to socioeconomic status (SES), in this sample the matrix indicates that in relation to low patient involvement, patients in the lower SES category predominated. In contrast, the high involvement category comprised patients from all SES categories. This may be a consequence of education and experience of an IIR leading to a more 'active' patient. It was noted in section 6.3.3 that in the 'high involvement/aligned' category, patients in the high SES category predominated.

The key findings in relation to equitable access were that high involvement patients in professional social classes who were non-aligned with biomedical targets appeared to be at an advantage in terms of maintaining access to an IIR compared with their counterparts in the low involvement category (comprising intermediate and manual social classes). Patients who had experienced problems adhering to their regimen and were less able to account for deteriorations in their HbA1c result appeared to be at a disadvantage, particularly in the opening sequences but also more generally since they received less rapport building communication from the doctor. Members of the multi-disciplinary team (the diabetes

235

specialist nurse and the diabetes specialist dietitian) were able to provide support for patients experiencing difficulty communicating within the consultation. However, support for patients who were non-aligned could only go so far in assisting patients. Where issues of safety were concerned, ultimately, an insulin pump could be withdrawn.

	High Involvement	Low Involvement
Aligned	 Continued access very likely Support given where necessary <u>Mainly high SES</u> 	 Continued access likely Support given where necessary Low SES group
Non-aligned	 Continued access likely Support essential for access <u>Mix of SES groups</u> 	 Greater risk of losing access Support essential for access <u>Intermediate and</u> <u>manual SES</u>

Table 6.6 Matrix showing patient involvement and alignment

The majority of patients in this sample worked to maintain alignment with health care professionals. Patients who were actively involved in the consultation appeared to have an advantage compared with patients who adopted a 'passive' stance within the interaction. In terms of maintaining access to an IIR it appeared that patients experiencing difficulties adhering to the regimen were able to elicit support from the other members of the multi-disciplinary team. The implications of these findings in relation to equitable access are discussed in Chapter 7.

Chapter 7. Discussion and Conclusions

7.1 Introduction

This chapter draws together the findings of the socioeconomic systematic review in Chapter 3 and the primary research findings in Chapters 5 and 6. The key findings are discussed in section 7.2 in relation to the relevant bodies of literature. The aim of the primary research was to explore the reasons for inequity of access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes. The findings of the current study suggest a complex mix of factors influencing individuals' ability to access an IIR involving: the patient; the interface between the patient and the health care system; and communication between the patient and health care professionals. There were 7 key findings from Chapters 3, 5 and 6. These are outlined below with references to the relevant subsections.

Literature review findings (Chapter 3)

 Inequalities in health outcomes, access to health care and diabetes management persist amongst adults with type 1 diabetes and a paucity of research explaining the causal pathways was identified. The primary research in this study was designed to address one aspect of this causal pathway: the accessibility of an IIR.

Thematic analysis findings – gaining access to an IIR (Chapter 5)

- Specialist services are not permeable for individuals of low socioeconomic status and this has an impact on ability to access an IIR (section 7.2.1).
- Issues of alignment and barriers to patient engagement diminish the ability of individuals to assert their candidacy (section 7.2.2).
- Access to diabetes specialist nurses and structured education may facilitate access for vulnerable groups (sections 7.2.3 and 7.2.4).
- Continuity of care may facilitate access to an IIR for vulnerable groups (section 7.2.5).

Conversation analysis findings – maintaining access to an IIR (Chapter 6)

 Patient involvement is a principal influencing factor in the maintenance of access to an IIR. Lack of involvement is likely to compromise patient ability to maintain access (section 7.2.6). • The multi-disciplinary team can assist vulnerable patients in maintaining access (section 7.2.7).

7.2 Factors Influencing Equitable Access to an IIR

7.2.1 Specialist Services are not Permeable for Patients of Low Socioeconomic Status

A combination of organisational barriers on the supply side, and socioeconomic circumstances and help-seeking behaviour on the demand side appeared to result in barriers to 'accessentry'. This was significant because although it is recognised that not all patients need to be managed by a specialist team (Sharp et al. 2012), in this sample a prerequisite of gaining access to an IIR was attendance at specialist services. Notable disparities in the utilisation of specialist services appeared to relate to the permeability of services, personal social circumstances and the variable ability of patients to navigate the system.

It appeared that patients of high socioeconomic status placed importance on the expertise found in the hospital setting. This finding on patient preference was not surprising given that the majority of patients were recruited in this setting. However, the finding is in keeping with a previous qualitative study that found that patients believed that their condition was best catered for by consultant led services in hospitals (Somerset et al. 1999). There was a link in this previous study between perceived severity of condition and a lack of trust in the ability of GPs compared with consultant expertise. Patients in the current study also made comparisons between care at the GP practice and the perceived greater expertise encountered within specialist services. Preference for accessing expertise at specialist services appeared to relate to the concept of bi-directional candidacy, discussed by Kovandzic et al. (2011), who observed that some patients may decide which health care professionals are eligible to provide support.

Why some individuals do not access specialist services

Some patients in the sample had previously opted for care at their GP practice for reasons of convenience rather than an expressed preference for these services. This resonates with previous quantitative research linking non-attendance at hospital outpatients' clinics with deprivation (Hamilton et al. 2002).

In a quantitative study of access to health care for adults with type 1 diabetes Mühlhauser et al. (1998b) postulated that lack of motivation was the root cause of poor attendance amongst individuals of low socioeconomic status. The current study found a more complex and multi-factorial picture than that portrayed in the previous study. In terms of the reasons why
individuals of low socioeconomic status did not attend specialist services the current study found that help seeking behaviour appeared to be influenced by a lack of permeable services on the supply side coupled with demand side factors involving patients with 'chaotic'' lives, transport problems and low paid work.

These findings on barriers to attendance in the current study were in line with previous research that suggested that work commitments were amongst the commonest reasons given for non-attendance (Sharp et al. 2001). The current study provided a more nuanced understanding of this barrier since it revealed the financial implications for individuals in low skilled and low paid jobs taking time off work for hospital appointments. The findings on transport concurred with Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) in suggesting that it was a significant barrier for individuals of low socioeconomic status without access to a car.

The current study focused on individuals who, at the time of the interviews, were motivated to attend appointments. However, it was possible to explore potential barriers to attendance because some individuals had experienced difficulties in the past. The findings on barriers to accessing specialist services offer some explanations in relation to the associations of low socioeconomic groups and lack of access to services for adults with type 1 diabetes. It would seem that the way in which outpatient services are organised and structured acts as a barrier for individuals in low socioeconomic groups (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005).

It may be that the way that diabetes care is organised and/or commissioned has an impact on patient ability to access services. A number of significant changes to the provision of diabetes care have occurred in recent years (Gosden et al. 2015). This relates to the separation of commissioners (purchasers) of services and providers of health care and more recently the establishment of Clinical Commissioning Groups in 2013. There have been suggestions that individuals with type 1 diabetes may experience difficulties accessing specialist services (Sharp et al. 2012) due in part to diabetes care increasingly being provided in primary care (Gosden et al. 2015) and concerns that payment by results has led to disincentives for patients to be referred to specialist diabetes care (Rayman et al. 2012; Simmons et al. 2011).

In the current study there was no evidence arising from patient interviews that they had been 'blocked' from attending specialist services; however, this may have been an artefact of the sample since most were recruited within specialist services. The current study findings suggest that issues of permeability appear to be a more important barrier to 'access-entry' for individuals of low socioeconomic status; however, as noted in Chapter 5, an appraisal of the

impact of service commissioning on equitable access to an IIR was beyond the scope of the current study. Nevertheless, in relation to the study findings, access issues relating to the commissioning of services may be important and may exacerbate existing barriers to specialist services for vulnerable groups who lack the 'voice' to demand specialist input to their care.

7.2.2 Issues of Alignment Affect Equitable Access to an IIR

The quality of patient-provider communication was found to be a key influence on access to an IIR. Health care adjudications and patient presentation were interrelated influences on access to an IIR in this study. The key influences were:

- Health care professional adjudications which may exclude potentially eligible candidates.
- Barriers to patient engagement that diminish potential candidacy.

Health care professional adjudications may exclude potentially eligible candidates

In seeking patients suitable for an IIR, in addition to clinical factors, health care professionals selected individuals on the basis of evidence of one or more of the following: motivation; potential ability to use an IIR; and knowledge. This selection process was important in order to ensure that patients were safe, particularly in relation to insulin pumps. Previous research has reported that health care professionals make judgments about patient suitability for insulin pumps based on a number of non-clinical factors including personal and psychological attributes in order to decide which patients will make optimum use of insulin pumps (Lawton et al. 2016). This qualitative study was conducted as part of the Relative Effectiveness of Pumps over MDI and Structured Education (REPOSE) trial. Health care professionals who were interviewed as part of the study acknowledged that during the randomised control trial their assumptions about patient suitability had been challenged, with some patients unexpectedly going on to have success with the insulin pump therapy.

In the current study a key aspect of assessing patient eligibility appeared to be the concept of identifying 'capacity to benefit' (Gask et al. 2012). 'Ideal' patients have a good 'fit' with the health care services on offer since they have 'the exact set of competencies and resources required to make optimal use of the service' (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005, p.53). The concept of the 'ideal user' (p. 53) suggests that there is a match or alignment between patient preferences and services offered by health care professionals. The notion that health care professionals select 'ideal' patients for treatment appeared to resonate with the findings of

the current study. In Chapter 5, the dominant theme in relation to 'in-system' access was patient-provider alignment, defined as the 'goodness of fit' between help-seeking behaviour and the response by health care professionals. The term alignment is used here in a wider sense than 'concordance' since it carries with it connotations of cultural alignment as well as alignment with health care professional goals. It appeared that patients who were able to align with health care professionals were viewed as 'ideal'. In the current study having a 'proactive' or 'collaborative' approach appeared to facilitate access to an IIR because these patients had an ability to engage with health care professionals and build rapport which eased the process of accessing an IIR, even where clinical need for the technology was questionable. Patients who described being engaged in consultations appeared to be articulate, self-confident and often from professional backgrounds. They appeared to be able to assert their claim to candidacy. It has been suggested that middle class patients are better aligned with health care professionals because they can communicate more effectively and consequently are better able to gain access than other patients (Dixon et al. 2003). The findings of the current study would appear to substantiate the claim by Dixon et al. (2003) that the middle classes are able to get a better service than other patients through using their 'voice'.

However, as the discussion in the following sections will identify, this focus on the 'ideal' patient may exclude patients who for a variety of reasons do not conform to health care professional notions of an 'ideal' candidate.

Barriers to patient engagement that diminish potential candidacy

Non-alignment has a negative impact on patient-provider communication

In contrast non-alignment appeared to have a detrimental effect on patient-provider communication and was linked with psychosocial issues, lack of knowledge and inability to manage diabetes. These factors had a detrimental impact on being able to manage the regimens and led in some cases to unwillingness to engage with health care professionals. Patients in this study who were non-aligned with health care professional goals ('support-seekers') described their health care interactions in negative terms. The finding that non-alignment leads to difficulties in patient-provider communication is consistent with a number of studies that highlight the style of communication experienced by individuals who have difficulty managing diabetes (Richards et al. 2006; Snow et al. 2012). In keeping with a study by Wikblad (1991) the current study found that communication with patients was influenced by HbA1c values. Whereas patients with good metabolic control received positive responses from health care professionals, those with unsatisfactory HbA1c results felt both coerced and

unsupported (Wikblad 1991). It would seem that some patients' reports on how they perceived themselves to have been judged resonate with recent research that finds that some health care professionals categorise patients with type 1 diabetes as 'good' or 'bad' depending on their achievement of acceptable HbA1c levels (Brierley et al. 2012).

Patient perceptions of negative communication with health care professionals appeared to affect help-seeking behaviour. This reflected the findings of a study exploring reasons for non-attendance by young adults, in which concerns about receiving negative comments regarding failure to achieve target HbA1c levels influenced decisions to attend appointments (Snow et al. 2012). The findings also resonate with the results of a systematic review of patient non-attendance in chronic care, in which inadequate and paternalistic communication between patients and their health care professionals were identified as contributing factors to missed appointments (Paterson et al. 2010).

Ignoring the subjective experience

Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) discuss the notion of 'threats to identity' identified by Coyle (1999) in a study exploring the impact of negative communication. 'Threats' would include patients feeling that they were being coerced, receiving negative comments or feeling that their subjective experience was being ignored and not being able to assert their own identity. Issues of identity also appear to be relevant to patients who are unable to manage diabetes.

The tendency for patients to feel that their 'subjective experience' (Gask et al. 2012) is being ignored within consultations has been the subject of much research. In a landmark study Mishler (1984) noted the different 'voices' of patients and doctors. Mishler (1984) found that the disparity between the two 'voices', those of medicine and the 'lifeworld' of the patient, led to less satisfaction for patients in their treatment and that this adversely affected adherence with regimens.

In providing a critique of Mishler's (1984) study, Barry et al. (2001) showed that doctor-patient communication was more complex than had been observed in the earlier study. A number of possible combinations were noted: doctor and patient both discussing issues from a purely medical perspective, patient discussing lifeworld issues and being ignored or blocked by the doctor and finally both patient and doctor allowing lifeworld discussions.

In the current study some patients reported that their lifeworld issues were blocked by doctors. They reported that as a consequence of this style of communication they were

dissatisfied with their interactions with medical staff. Patients who felt that they were not being listened to by doctors because their care was too target driven also reported a lack of alignment with doctors. In the study conducted by Barry et al (2001), consultations in which lifeworld issues were blocked tended to result in problematic consultations in which the patient's needs had not been met. In contrast doctor-patient communication was more effective when lifeworld issues (psychological) as well as physical issues were allowed within the consultation (Barry et al. 2001). Health care professionals who listen and empathise with patients have been identified as important to individuals with type 1 diabetes, just as health care professionals who are critical and judgmental have been found to be unhelpful (Richards et al. 2006).

Depression

Among adults with type 1 diabetes, depression is higher than in the general population (Roy et al. 2012). Co-morbidity of depression and type 1 diabetes has been linked with poor outcomes including an increased risk of mortality (van Dooren et al. 2013) and inadequate glycaemic control (Melin et al. 2013). The mechanisms involved in the relationship between depression and diabetes (type 1 and type 2) are not fully understood (Holt et al. 2012) although some pathways have been suggested including the potential of depression to impede self-care adherence and to adversely impact doctor-patient communication (Gask et al. 2011). Previous research suggesting that depression amongst individuals with diabetes may affect both communication with health care professionals and self-care behaviour (Brown et al. 2004) appeared to be substantiated in the current study since some patients who reported having depression also described having an apathetic approach towards self-care activities and a negative appraisal of communication with health care professionals. Some of the issues relating to poor communication reported by individuals who were depressed may have been as a result of an unwillingness to engage with health care professionals' discussions about selfcare since a reluctance to discuss self-care has been observed amongst individuals with depressive symptoms (Beverley et al. 2012).

Despite the adverse impact of even mild levels of depression on ability to self-care there is evidence from research into long term conditions that treatment for physical illness often takes precedence over mental illness, although both should be treated together (Holt et al. 2012). In the current study it appeared from the accounts of some patients that depression may well not have been detected by health care professionals. Although depression is associated with poor glycaemic control and its treatment is cost effective, psychological and

psychiatric conditions are largely undetected in patients with diabetes (Nicholson et al. 2009). It may be that time constraints limit the potential for health care professionals to identify and address these co-morbidities (Wikblad 1991). However, there are also issues regarding the stigma surrounding depression which may deter some individuals from seeking help (Kovandzic et al. 2011). Barriers to managing co-morbid depression and long term conditions in primary care include factors involving both the patient and health care professionals. Patients may resist being labelled as depressed and health care professionals may in turn be reluctant to pursue the matter in the face of this reticence (Coventry et al. 2011). Another factor involving both patients and health care professionals, noted by these authors, which appears to impede the treatment of depression, is the perception that depressive symptoms are a normal part of life with a long term condition.

The challenge of addressing these problems has particular relevance in discussions of socioeconomic inequalities since depression is more common amongst individuals with low income (Brown et al. 2004; Roy et al. 2012). Hence it is likely that this group will be disproportionately disadvantaged by the barriers to access caused by mental health issues. Individuals in low socioeconomic groups with depression are less likely to assert their candidacy for treatment of their mental illness (Kovandzic et al. 2011) thus compounding the potential problems of access to an IIR. There was some indication in the current study that individuals from lower socioeconomic groups were less able to obtain help for depression than their counterparts in higher socioeconomic groups.

The integration of diabetes care and mental health care yields improvements in both physical and mental health (Katon et al. 2004; Katon et al. 2010), hence the emphasis placed on detecting depression in long term conditions (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2009a). However, although depression screening is part of the primary care QOF diabetes review in England there is some doubt about its effectiveness to detect the condition (Jani et al. 2013; Maxwell et al. 2013). It also appeared that in this study some patients received all of their diabetes care from specialist services. In this scenario it may be that since screening for depression did not take place at specialist services, a diagnosis of depression could be missed. Additionally, the ability of health care professionals in a specialist service to detect depression is likely to hampered by some of the same issues found in primary care: lack of time in consultations (Chew-Graham et al. 2002); and a reticence by health care professionals to initiate discussions about mood when there are inadequate psychological services available (Coventry et al. 2011). Lack of specialist psychological support for patients with diabetes was reported by health care professionals in this study. It was noted in Chapter 5 that the focus of the study was not mental health and that the data on co-morbid depression was limited. Although it appears that depression may be an important influence on access to an IIR, no substantive claims can be made by this study. Nonetheless the findings of the current study suggest that depression may be a significant barrier to obtaining access to an IIR through its adverse effects on self-care, motivation and engagement with health care professionals.

7.2.3 Permeable Services: Diabetes Specialist Nurses Facilitate Access to an IIR

An important finding was that the permeability of services provided by diabetes specialist nurses appeared to facilitate access to an IIR. This may be understood by exploring the relationship between permeability, recursivity and continuity of care. Recursivity is a term that has been used to describe the relationship between the way individuals self-manage their chronic conditions and the potentially 'mutually reinforcing' positive contact they experience with health care professionals (Rogers et al. 2005). This concept has been used in relation to health care access previously (Bristow et al. 2011; Hunter et al. (2013); Kovanzic et al. 2011) and it may explain how access to an IIR was enabled by contact with diabetes specialist nurses. For example it may be that the permeability of the diabetes specialist nurse service experienced by patients led to recursive interactions and that continuity of care was established through this process. Kovanzic et al. (2011) describe this aspect of permeability as 'receptivity of services'. In the current study it appeared that patients were encouraged to make contact with diabetes specialist nurses and that this had an influence on future attendance.

Continuity of care in relation to the service provided by diabetes specialist nurses seemed to have had an important influence on gaining access to an IIR. It seemed to enable health care professionals to form an opinion of a patient as a potential candidate for an IIR. It was probable that patients returning to diabetes specialist nurses and who were seen to be working collaboratively with them would be viewed as sufficiently motivated to undertake an IIR. In the current study, the impact of the diabetes specialist nurse service was noteworthy in relation to equitable access to an IIR since their approach appeared particularly important in relation to vulnerable patients. This included patients who described having psychosocial problems and who struggled with their diabetes management. Hence patients unable to access this service may be at a disadvantage in terms of gaining access to an IIR.

The findings of the current study resonate with previous research focusing on specialist nurse services in diabetes care. In terms of communication style a patient-centred approach encompassing interpersonal skills of approachability, empathy, understanding and the provision of clear and understandable advice was previously found in a study exploring patient experiences of specialist nurses in primary care (Stenner et al. 2011). However, this study was conducted within primary care whereas the current study focused on specialist nurses in a secondary care setting. Thus the part played by diabetes specialist nurses in assisting vulnerable groups to achieve access to an IIR in secondary care would appear to be an original research finding of the current study.

Diabetes specialist nurses support patients with psychosocial problems

It appeared from accounts by both health care professionals and patients that diabetes specialist nurses were able to support patients who presented with a number of psychosocial issues. This was reported by patients, the diabetes specialist nurse and doctors. Patients emphasised the importance of receiving a non-judgmental approach to communication when they felt unable to adhere to the regimen. Diabetes specialist nurses appeared to be in tune with other aspects of patients' lives that may impact on their ability to manage diabetes. Therefore although the majority of patients did not have access to specialist psychological services, the support of diabetes specialist nurses appeared to be associated with a tendency for nurses to broaden their discussion with patients to encompass aspects of lifestyle and other health related issues (Stenner et al. 2011).

7.2.4 Diabetes Education Minimises Disparities in Access to an IIR

The current study found that attending a Structured Education Programme was a key influence on accessing an IIR. It appeared that some of the characteristics health care professionals sought in the 'ideal' patient were subject to change through education and gaining knowledge.

The Structured Education Programme appeared to minimise disparities in ability, knowledge and motivation amongst participants. This appears to be in line with a study investigating the role of a Structured Education Programme and associated treatment in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. This study found that socioeconomic differences in HbA1c values were ameliorated by a Structured Education Programme and treatment in specialist services (Bäz et al. 2012).

Acquiring knowledge about diabetes management and alternative regimens seemed to allow individuals to participate more fully in consultations and to manage regimens more effectively. The ability of a Structured Education Programme to empower patients and to lead to a different kind of communication with health care professionals resonates with the findings of a longitudinal study conducted with participants of a DAFNE course (Rankin et al. 2012).

Issues of access to a Structured Education Programme

Despite the important impact of education reported by participants, the current study found that there were issues in terms of being able to access the education. First, amongst participants who had had diabetes for a long time it appeared that education had not been experienced for many years. This finding is in keeping with a longitudinal study conducted with participants of a DAFNE course in which participants had not received education despite having had diabetes for many years (Rankin et al. 2012). Second, amongst those who had recently been diagnosed, education did not appear to have been offered. Lack of opportunity to access a Structured Education Programme appears to be a widespread issue identified by the recent National Diabetes Audit (2011-12). Only 2.2% of newly diagnosed individuals with type 1 diabetes were offered structured education and even fewer attended (0.6%) the course (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013). Third, it appeared that barriers to accessing education for some groups of patients who had been offered the course such as inability to take time off work and family commitments resonated with the findings of a study investigating the effectiveness of the DAFNE course for adults with type 1 diabetes (Taplin et al. 2013).

Some barriers to attendance were related to patients' resistance and this was also consistent with previous findings. For example a belief that the education had little to offer and that patients were managing their condition effectively has been noted previously (Taplin et al. 2013). The findings of the current study indicated that despite these earlier misgivings, when patients reflected on the impact of the course they recognised the deficits in their own precourse understanding. This echoed the findings of Murphy et al. (2011) where all the participants attending a DAFNE course lacked knowledge about adjusting insulin dose according to carbohydrate intake.

Health Literacy: impact on engagement and barriers to patient participation

In this study acquiring knowledge about diabetes management and alternative regimens seemed to allow individuals to participate more fully in consultations and to manage regimens

more effectively. The Structured Education Programme seemed to empower patients and facilitate communication with health care professionals. This resonates with the findings of a longitudinal study conducted with participants of a DAFNE course (Rankin et al. 2012).

The findings of the current study also appear to substantiate the view that health literacy may impact on patient engagement (Protheroe et al. 2009). Health literacy refers to the competencies required by individuals in order to interact effectively in the health care setting (Berkman et al. 2011a). These skills involve literacy in relation to: written text; the interpretation of numbers (numeracy); and to aural literacy (the ability to communicate effectively) (Berkman et al. 2011a). Previous research has established links with patient involvement, poor health literacy and socioeconomic deprivation (Docherty et al. 2012). These links with patient involvement were also found in the current study. Patients in the study expressed dissatisfaction with some elements of the service and a feeling that it was not tailored to their needs. These patients were largely but not exclusively from low socioeconomic groups.

Literacy and numeracy skills were described by health care professionals as influential in patients gaining access to an IIR. The application of numeracy skills is a significant part of training in intensive insulin regimens (Kerr 2010). These skills include being able to use fractions, decimals, percentages and ratios (Kerr 2010). According to a recent study up to 47% of participants lacked the necessary numeracy skills; however this was judged to underestimate the true figure because the sample may not have been representative of the local type 1 diabetes population (Marden et al. 2012). Research into the potential impact of poor literacy and numeracy skills has concluded that the latter has an influence on glycaemic levels (Marden et al. 2012). The findings of the current study suggest that, in relation to health care adjudications, individuals of low educational attainment are likely to be disadvantaged. It is also apparent from the literature that individuals with poor literacy skills appear to have problems engaging with health care services.

7.2.5 Continuity of Care is Important for Vulnerable Groups

It was evident in this study that continuity of care was closely related to building trust with health care professionals and that this in turn influenced the uptake of offers for an IIR. The importance of trust and respect in relation to patient-provider communication in chronic disease has been emphasised in a number of studies (Lown et al. 2009; Mechanic et al. 2000) and specifically in relation to decision-making in patients with diabetes (Montori et al. 2006).

However the ability of individuals to experience continuity of care appeared to be distributed variably amongst the sample and appeared to be associated with socioeconomic status. The contrasting ability of patients in different socioeconomic groups to insist on continuity of care resonated with the findings of Protheroe et al. (2013) who found higher socioeconomic groups were more adept at achieving continuity of care than individuals of low socioeconomic status.

Discontinuity of care appears to have a number of disadvantages for individuals of low socioeconomic status. First, there is a tendency for health care professionals to focus on biomedical measures of patient adherence when patients are not known to them (Wikblad 1991). The negative impact of this type of focus for patient-provider communication in relation to individuals who have been unable to achieve target HbA1c levels has already been discussed in section 7.2.2. Second, it would seem that discontinuity of care may have a further detrimental impact on equitable access to an IIR since it has been suggested that lack of continuity of care leads to patients receiving more conservative diabetes treatment in the interests of safety (Lutfey et al. 2005).

7.2.6 Patient Involvement is a Principal Factor in Maintaining Access to an IIR

Across the data sets of interviews and recorded consultations patient alignment was a key influence on patient-provider communication. At the macro level patient-provider alignment was defined as the 'goodness of fit' between help-seeking behaviour carried out by patients and the response to these actions by health care professionals. At the micro level (Chapter 6) patient-provider communication was influenced by alignment with health care professional goals in relation to diabetes management. However, conversation analysis was able to determine that patient involvement was a more important influence on equitable access to an IIR. The key findings were:

- 'High involvement' patients were better able to present themselves as candidates for continued access to an IIR; were able to minimise difficulties associated with nonalignment; and could influence the communication style of the doctor.
- 'Low involvement' patients: received a different style of communication from the doctor; participated less in decision-making; were less able to influence the consultation trajectory; and were consequently less able to present themselves as candidates for continued access to an IIR.
- 'Low involvement' patients in this study were mainly from lower socioeconomic groups.

In the current study 'high involvement/aligned participants' were predominantly from the highest socioeconomic group. In contrast three out of the four 'low involvement' patients were long term unemployed. The significance of these findings is strengthened by the supporting evidence in the literature reporting that involvement in consultations was associated with a number of factors including socioeconomic status (Verlinde et al. 2012).

High patient involvement minimises the difficulties associated with non-alignment

Alignment in terms of biomedical goals was important and it was apparent that the HbA1c result was a key aspect of health care adjudications particularly in relation to continuing eligibility for maintaining access. This finding is in keeping with previous research which indicates that although doctors often acknowledge the importance of non-medical factors in managing diabetes, the evidence is that biomedical markers of adherence are usually given pre-eminence in discussions with patients (Freeman et al. 2000). Additionally, the priority given to discussions about biomedical targets should not be a surprise since guidance on patient eligibility for insulin pumps stipulates the need to demonstrate the continuing benefits of the therapy in relation to reductions in HbA1c and frequency of hypoglycaemia (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2008). It would appear that some insulin pump provider services draw up contracts with their patients encompassing their expectations in relation to patient self-care activities for continuing access to insulin pump therapy (Kilvert 2010).

In the current study alignment with health care professional goals led to different communication with the doctor. As previously discussed in section 7.2.2, Wikblad (1991) found that patients who met HbA1c targets received positive communication from health care professionals whereas patients unable to achieve goals received negative comments. In the current study patients not meeting targets did not receive negative comments from the doctor; however, nor did they receive rapport building communication. This appeared to be reserved for patients meeting targets.

The key finding in terms of equitable access and patient alignment was that whereas 'high involvement' patients who were non-aligned were able to give an account of reasons for non-achievement of targets and in some cases proactively pre-empt these discussion with the doctor, 'low involvement' patients, in contrast, were less able to convince the doctor of their commitment to the regimen. Hence, provided patients were actively involved in the consultation, non-alignment was not a problem. In contrast the combination of 'low involvement' and non-alignment was a potential issue in terms of continued access.

Barriers to patient involvement

In the current study it appeared that in consultations characterised by less patient involvement, these patients were of low socioeconomic status and appeared to receive a 'unilateral' style of communication from the doctor. 'Unilateral' and 'bilateral' styles of communication in relation to treatment decision-making have previously been observed in consultations involving diabetes patients (Collins et al. 2005). In the current study, the observation that patients who were non-aligned and 'low involvement' appeared to receive 'unilateral' communication from the doctor raises an important issue in relation to equitable access since, in keeping with previous findings, patients receiving a 'unilateral' style of communication from the doctor were less involved in decision-making (Collins et al. 2005). Hence a 'passive' stance within the consultation appeared to result in a more directive style of communication from the doctor.

Previous research has identified that doctors communicate differently with different patients according to both the patient's own communicative style and their socioeconomic status (Verlinde et al. 2012). The current study concurs with these findings since a 'unilateral' style of communication by the doctor was linked with 'passive' patients of low socioeconomic status. The current study findings also resonate with the literature on 'passive' patients of low socioeconomic status receiving directive communication (Verlinde et al. 2012) and doctors involving them less in treatment decision-making (Kaplan et al. 1995).

The third factor influencing patient-provider communication was the inability of some patients to affect the consultation trajectory as a consequence of being less involved in the interaction. It appears that socioeconomic status influences patient communication within the consultation. This finding agrees with studies reporting that individuals from lower socioeconomic groups are less inclined to engage with health care professionals in decision-making (McKinstry 2000; Protheroe et al. 2013) and are less verbally active in consultations than their counterparts in higher socioeconomic groups (Street et al. 2005). In the current study the majority of 'high involvement' patients were in the middle to higher socioeconomic groups whereas the majority of 'low involvement' patients were in the lowest socioeconomic groups.

This resonates with the review of socioeconomic factors and communication carried out by Verlinde et al. (2012) in which patients of low socioeconomic status appeared to exercise less control over the communication in consultations than their counterparts in the higher socioeconomic groups. This lack of involvement has been partly explained by the social distance between patient and doctor discouraging verbal assertiveness (Street 1991). However, lack of involvement is also explained, to some extent, by some patients of low socioeconomic status conforming to what they perceive is their expected role as a passive recipient of the doctor's advice (Protheroe et al. 2013). The authors suggest that some patients view negatively the notion of querying the doctor's decisions since this might threaten their standing as 'a good patient' (p. 1053).

In the current study less patient involvement led to less opportunity to discuss treatment in a shared way with the doctor and less opportunity for patients to present themselves as candidates for continued access to an IIR. Additionally, the strong links found in the current study between lack of involvement and socioeconomic status appears to have implications for equitable access, particularly in light of the majority of 'low involvement' patients in the sample having a status of long term unemployed.

7.2.7 The Multi-Disciplinary Team Assists Vulnerable Groups in Maintaining Access

It appeared that some patients were more diffident and less able to communicate with the doctor, although they were able to communicate satisfactorily with other members of the multi-disciplinary team. This finding seems to reflect research which has noted that patients of low socioeconomic status are reticent to communicate with doctors. This interactional asymmetry was not as apparent when the patient communicated with either the nurse or dietitian. This may be explained by the following: use of technical language by the doctor; the doctor's focus on the HbA1c target; and a more patient-centred approach by the nurse and dietitian.

Medical terms versus lay language

The use of 'technical' language appeared to inhibit some patients from engaging with the doctor. It was observed that in one consultation it was necessary for the diabetes specialist nurse to intervene to explain medical terminology to the patient. This barrier to communication echoes previous findings that the use of technical language may deter patient involvement (Dixon-Woods et al. 2005) and may also serve to exacerbate the impact of cultural distance on patient-provider communication (Street 1991).

The biomedical focus versus patient-centred approach

The doctor, nurse and dietitian appeared to have different approaches to communicating with the patient. These findings resonate with a study comparing consecutive doctor and nurse appointments involving patients with diabetes in a primary care setting. Utilising a conversation analytic approach, Collins (2005) revealed that nurses adopted an approach incorporating an 'everyday' style of communication, and the consultation agenda was influenced by patient responses. In contrast doctor's 'talk' was more 'technical' and tended to be narrowly focused on biomedical assessments and the need to set targets, hence minimising the scope for patient involvement (Collins 2005). This appears to correspond with the current study's findings that the nurse and dietitian adopted a more patient-centred approach whereas the doctor largely adopted a biomedical focus. As in the study by Collins (2005), these communicative styles appeared to relate to the different roles adopted by the nurse and doctor (and the dietitian in the current study). For example, in the current study the doctor had a dominant role in setting HbA1c targets and attending to other medical matters within the consultation whereas the nurse and dietitian were predominantly involved in helping patients to solve problems in relation to the regimen. The presence of the nurse or the dietitian assisted some patients in communicating with the doctor and there were many instances in the data of interventions on behalf of patients. The current study demonstrates the influence that the wider members of the multi-disciplinary team can have in assisting vulnerable patients to maintain access to an IIR and this appears to be a novel finding in relation to issues of equitable access.

7.3 Study Contributions

The primary aim of this thesis was to explain how it is that individuals of low socioeconomic status may experience inequitable access to an IIR. This study has made an original contribution to research in the following areas by the provision of:

- The first systematic review of the literature investigating socioeconomic disparities in health outcomes, diabetes management and access to health care for adults with type 1 diabetes.
- The influences on inequities in access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes.
- Further empirical evidence in support of Candidacy theory.
- A demonstration of the value of conversation analysis in investigating equitable access to health care.
- A further addition to the body of literature on institutional interaction focusing on multi-disciplinary communication.

7.3.1 Systematic Review

The review documented in Chapter 3 identified that inequalities in health outcomes, diabetes management and access to health care were associated with socioeconomic factors for adults with type 1 diabetes. The review identified a paucity of evidence on the causal pathways involved in the persistence of these inequalities. The primary research carried out as part of this study was designed to explain these observed inequalities.

Two main pathways were identified. First, individuals of low socioeconomic status faced barriers to access due to the organisation of specialist services health care services for adults with type 1 diabetes. Second, these patients also faced barriers to access through their interactions with health care professionals.

7.3.2 Candidacy Theory Explains Inequitable Access to an IIR

Candidacy theory was used to frame the findings in relation to gaining and maintaining access. Patient presentation and health care adjudications were common themes across the two data sets. The study has provided further empirical evidence in support of the relevance of Candidacy theory as an explanation for inequitable access to health care by vulnerable groups. In forming their theory Dixon-Woods et al. (2005) focused on a number of vulnerable groups. In relation to accessing an IIR for patients with type 1 diabetes the current study found that the model has relevance for patients from lower socioeconomic groups who face barriers to access relating principally to the permeability of services and to issues of patient-provider alignment.

7.3.3 Patient-Provider Communication Influences Equitable Access

Brown et al. (2004) postulated that patient-provider communication was one of the causal pathways influencing the way that individuals of low socioeconomic status would be disadvantaged in accessing health care. The current study provides evidence of this pathway by explaining how issues relating to patient-provider communication affect equitable access to health care for adults with type 1 diabetes in an English setting.

A key finding in this study was the important influence of communication between patients and health care professionals in terms of selecting individuals who will benefit from intensive regimens. Candidacy theory concepts of patient presentation, health care adjudications and patient-provider alignment were able to disentangle the complexity of influencing factors involved in barriers to equitable access.

Contributions to conversation analytic and decision-making research

Whilst thematic analysis identified the crucial importance of patient presentation and health care adjudications in relation to accessing an IIR, conversation analytic techniques were able to provide a nuanced understanding of patient-provider communication influencing equitable access. Conversation analysis demonstrated empirically the interrelatedness of patient presentation and health care adjudications. In line with a number of other studies, the current research shows that the asymmetry observed in the dominance of the doctor's agenda was coconstructed with the patient (Street 1991). However, a number of novel findings were identified in relation to conversation analysis and access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes. First, patient alignment, already identified as a key influence in gaining access, was identified as important in maintaining access. Conversation analytic techniques were able to demonstrate how patient alignment influenced communication between the patient and the doctor. Second, patient involvement appeared to be a principal influence in facilitating continued access to an IIR. Observation of the impact of a 'passive' stance in consultations seemed to explain how individuals of low socioeconomic status were less able to assert their candidacy for an IIR. These conversation analytic findings in relation to equitable access to an IIR appear to be an original research contribution.

The study adds to the relatively small body of knowledge concerning treatment decisionmaking in diabetes care that has utilised conversation analysis. The findings extend previous research that reported 'bilateral' and 'unilateral' approaches in doctor-patient interaction (Collins et al. 2005). The current study findings suggest that these communication styles may be influenced by patient characteristics and hence may have implications for equity of access. In this study patients who were less involved in decisions about their treatment appeared to be at risk of losing access to an IIR.

The study makes a contribution to the body of research focusing on institutional interaction and addresses a relatively under-researched area investigating the way that health care professionals communicate together within the multi-disciplinary team setting in chronic care management (Pilnick et al. 2009). This study provides an original contribution to the investigation of the dynamics of the multi-disciplinary team within an insulin pump clinic setting and demonstrates how the different communicative styles adopted by health care professionals influence opportunities for patient involvement. As the study demonstrates, these interactions offer examples of 'more complex and variable forms of participation than are exhibited within general practice doctor-patient encounters' (Pilnick et al. 2009, p. 792)

7.4 Strengths and Limitations of the Study

This study explored equity of access to an IIR for adults with type 1 diabetes. There were strengths and limitations of the study and these are discussed in the sections below.

7.4.1 Strengths

The study had five main strengths. First, the study methods succeeded in providing an in-depth exploration of the complex factors involved in accessing an IIR. Second, the study was able to draw on two forms of data collection: interviews with participants and observations of consultations. The interviews provided a method to explore the dynamics of access over time whereas observations of consultations allowed an in-depth investigation of the communication practices within consultations that may influence the maintenance of access. The findings of both interviews and consultations provided a source to illuminate each set of findings. Third, the study addressed a range of perspectives, both patients and health care professionals, from which to explore the pathways involved in accessing an IIR. A fourth strength was the diversity of patient participants involved in the study. This was accomplished through a strategy of purposively sampling a range of participants to take account of sociodemographic and clinical factors. The sample included patients who appeared to be managing their regimens effectively and also those who struggled to achieve optimum outcomes in terms of HbA1c results. This diversity allowed a more nuanced analysis of the impact of socioeconomic factors on access to an IIR. Although the sample had very few participants who were not accessing specialist services at the time of the study, several patients had previously disengaged with these services and hence their earlier experiences provided directly relevant data on issues related to reasons for disengagement. Finally, a key strength was the use of Candidacy theory to frame the findings. This allowed the current study findings to build on previous well established theory in order to gain an understanding of inequity of access to an IIR.

7.4.2 Limitations

Single site in a specialist services setting

There were a number of limitations with the study. The study was undertaken in a single specialist services location in which insulin pump technology was available to patients. It may have been that the influencing factors identified in this study differed according to setting; however, it is not possible to comment on the effects of these differences. The study findings may have been strengthened by the inclusion of another hospital site for comparison purposes. However, choices of sites were limited by the resources available since this was a PhD project.

Limited numbers of health care professionals

The study was also limited by the numbers of health care professionals. For example the sample included one well regarded diabetes specialist nurse. Patient satisfaction with this nurse may have influenced the findings. However, the findings on diabetes specialist nurses were consistently reported by participants in connection with other nurses both at this location and at two other hospitals. In addition, in relation to the recorded consultations it was observed that the diabetes specialist dietitian also had an important role in supporting patients, with or without the presence of the nurse.

Due to the small number of primary care health care professionals the views expressed may not have been representative of a range of primary care health care professionals. For example, other primary care health care professionals may have had different views about care for individuals with type 1 diabetes. However, it was noted that even within this small health care professional group a range of differing views were expressed about where the care of adults with type 1 diabetes should be situated. It was also the case that it was never the intention to undertake a full study in primary care. This aspect of the study was designed to capture the experiences of individuals who had not necessarily engaged with specialist services and to investigate pathways between both specialist services and primary care.

Focus on insulin pump patients

The initial aim of the study was to explore decision-making in relation to gaining access to an insulin pump, hence the focus on this clinic. As the study progressed it was apparent that owing to the very small numbers of new starters on insulin pumps, these decisions would not be captured. Hence the study was widened to look at access more generally. This led to a large

number of insulin pump users in the study. However, it could be argued that an in-depth investigation of this group of participants enabled some important insights into the ways in which individuals had gained access to this technology.

Under-representation of individuals in lower socioeconomic groups

In looking for socioeconomic factors affecting access it is important to have diversity in the sample in terms of socioeconomic background. It would have been preferable to have had more individuals from lower socioeconomic backgrounds participating in the study; however, these individuals appeared not to be well represented at the insulin pump clinic.

Saturation of themes may not have been achieved

The aim of the study was to collect data until a 'saturation point' had been reached (Pope et al. 2006b, p. 66). In terms of the numbers of consultations (25) and interviews (28) diversity of participants and repetition of themes was achieved across both data sets. There were fewer individuals from lower socioeconomic backgrounds than desired, hence the study may have not have achieved complete saturation of themes.

Ideally the study would have given equal weighting to the interactions in primary care and specialist services in order to explore comprehensively the patient pathways involved in gaining access. Since there were limited resources for the study (a single researcher undertaking a PhD) it was necessary to focus on where the key decisions were being made with regard to an IIR; in this geographical context this was specialist services. The data collection in primary care was extremely small and unable to reach any level of data saturation. Therefore no inferences about primary care can be drawn. However, the few interviews in primary care were extremely useful for offering some insight into the wider context in which specialist services operates.

The numbers of health care professionals participating in the study was small because the team offering specialist care in the study hospital was small. There was no data saturation in terms of obtaining the views of health care professionals offering specialist care but since these health care professionals interviewed were responsible for caring for the patients in the sample their input was crucial to understanding the context of the care on offer.

Limitations of observation methods

Recording one consultation provided only a snapshot in time of the patient-provider communication. Several of the patients had previously seen the consultant and therefore they

had had time to get used to each other. It is plausible that their experiences may have been different to those patients seeing the consultant for the first time.

One of the disadvantages of overt observational studies is that being observed may have an effect on the behaviour of study participants (Pope et al. 2006a). The phenomenon known as the Hawthorne effect was first described in a study carried out in the Hawthorne plant of the Western Electricity Company in Chicago during the 1920's and 1930s. A potential threat to the legitimacy of findings could be the effect on participants' behaviour (both patients and health care professionals) of being observed in consultations. As discussed in the methods chapter it was decided for a number of reasons that audio recording would be preferable to video recording. It could be argued that the presence of the recorder may have affected the consultation agenda. However, it was found that consultations were similar in content across the patient group and the study focus was on the moment by moment interactions of participants rather than simply the topic agenda. However, whilst it is not possible in relation to the current study to comment on the possible effect recording the observations had on participant behaviour, the literature suggests that audio recording rather than video recording has less of an negative impact on patients concerns at being observed (Themessl-Huber et al. 2008).

7.4.3 Transferability

Transferability has been suggested as a more appropriate criterion for qualitative research than generalisability (Murphy et al. 2001). Although it is not possible in qualitative research to make direct comparison between settings because the 'phenomena are intimately tied to the times and contexts in which they are found' (Murphy et al. 2001, p. 170) nevertheless it should be possible for the reader to identify from descriptions, that are sufficiently detailed, whether or not similarities exist with other settings. The site for this research was an acute hospital in an area of deprivation and there is no reason to suppose that this hospital differs markedly from other hospitals in similar settings. However, the purpose of the current study was to provide plausible explanations for inequities in access widely observed amongst adults of low socioeconomic status. Hence rather than making claims for generalisability, the aim of the study was to provide insights into aspects of health care organisation and patient-provider interactions that have a bearing on equitable access. The study findings will be more likely to be transferable to other locations in England with a similar organisation of care for adults with type 1 diabetes rather than countries whose health care provision is managed differently or areas of England where services are focused on primary care.

7.4.4 Reflexivity

Reflexivity refers to an attention, by the researcher, to the ways in which through their own input to the study they may have 'shaped' the findings of the research (Murphy et al. 2001, p. 189) and is particularly important when adopting a subtle realist stance. A number of variables may influence the type of data collected by researchers including their gender, age and social class (Murphy et al. 2001). In health care research, whether or not a researcher is a health care professional may also affect what may be reported by participants in interviews (Britten 2006). My background as a non-clinical researcher may have enhanced my ability to converse with patient participants since they would have viewed my stance as neutral. Also it may have been that patients with a similar background to my own revealed more to me owing to the lack of cultural distance between us. However, I believe that largely this was not the case. My stance of empathetic neutrality allowed me to interact with most participants effectively. It is difficult to comment on the two interviews that were much shorter than the others as I do not have access to patients' perceptions about me. However, I detected no discernible differences in the way that the majority of the patient participants interacted with me. I was made welcome in patients' houses and participants were very willing to make time for me. This is probably not something that would have happened if I had not been able to establish a rapport with them.

My status as a non-clinical researcher may not have enhanced my credibility with health care professionals. These participants may have been wary of revealing their views to a non-clinical researcher. Inevitably, there were more data from the patient interviews than the health care professionals' interviews because there were fewer of the latter participants. Therefore, it is likely that there is some bias towards reporting the patient perspective in this thesis. However, this would appear to be appropriate given that the subject of the enquiry is inequitable access to an IIR relating to *patients*. However, to some extent this potential bias was counteracted by having two forms of data collection and the recorded consultations focusing on the interactions between patients and health care professionals.

7.4.5 Reflections on the Study and Methods Used

How the study changed over time

This study used multi-methods to explore access to an IIR from the perspective of equity. The study was able to draw on interviews with patients and health care professionals to explore, using these diverse perspectives, the issues of equity involved in access to an IIR. The aim was to carry out an exploratory study of patient pathways involved in accessing an IIR and to

observe communication in action between patients and health care professionals as part of the diabetes review process. It was noted in Chapter 3 that the study aims changed during the course of the primary research. Initially, the aim was to explore the decision-making processes involved in *gaining* access to an IIR, particularly an insulin pump. Both methods (interviews and recorded consultations) were chosen with this in mind. As the study progressed it became apparent that, in the data collection time frame, there were insufficient patients having consultations about whether or not to have a pump. Consequently the recorded consultations focused on patients who had already adopted an IIR (insulin pump or MDI). However, it became clear that the recorded conversations provided an excellent source of data from which to gain insights into the barriers and facilitators involved in *maintaining* access. This became a new focus of the study.

Reflections on methods

Previous research relating to patient-provider communication has utilised many different approaches (Salmon et al. 2011). Observations and interviews have been used solely or in combination. The ways in which these combined methods have been used has also differed. For example some have used consultation data as a framework for the interviews. Tapeassisted recall (TAR) is a method that has been used to explore participants' reflections on segments of recorded consultations in both primary care (Cape et al. 2010; Chew-Graham et al. 2013) and secondary care settings (Salmon et al. 2011). This approach to communication research has a number of advantages, not least the ability to obtain the participant's thoughts on the consultation whilst reducing recall bias. In the current study the TAR approach may well have yielded interesting insights into the patient and health care professional experience of the consultation. The links between interview data and consultation data may well have been strengthened using TAR, resulting in a more comprehensive understanding of the interaction within the consultation. Nevertheless, for this study the focus was on pathways involved in gaining access to an IIR as well as on interactions within the consultation. The methods used were designed to take account of the wider issues involved in access to an IIR and patientprovider communication since both were important aspects of the study. Hence, the use of TAR would not have fully captured the experience of patients' health care journeys in relation to decisions about insulin regimens.

As a trainee researcher, adopting this multi-methods approach had advantages and disadvantages. The drawbacks were largely those involving both time and resources required to collect and analyse the data. Having never carried out any primary research previously my

aim was to try and become proficient in two forms of data analysis in order to do justice to the time invested in the PhD project by my supervisors and study participants. It has been a challenge within the timescales to accomplish this. Each part of the study (interviews or recorded consultations) could have been the subject of a PhD. However, I believe that combining the two methods has been worthwhile since any disadvantages were outweighed by the insights provided by each method. Triangulation of the different data sources revealed a complex picture of the ways in which patients gained and maintained access to IIR. The findings contributed to an understanding of how and why inequities may occur in relation to access to an IIR for disadvantaged individuals.

Patient and public involvement in research

There are two key drivers to patient and public involvement (PPI) in research (INVOLVE 2012). First, user involvement is widely thought to ensure the quality and relevance of health care research for users and communities and second, people should have a say in publicly funded research which may affect them. PPI has become an important part of health and social care research both in the UK and internationally (Brett et al. 2014). In the UK, PPI has been supported through INVOLVE (the organisation who promote PPI in the UK) and encouraged by the need to demonstrate PPI in order to achieve successful grant applications (NIHR 2014).

More recently the growing interest in PPI has been strengthened by an international systematic review providing evidence of the benefits accruing to research using the approach; that is, PPI has a beneficial effect on the design, implementation and dissemination of health and social care research (Brett et al. 2012). Although PPI is recognised to have benefits for those involved in the process (service users, the community and researchers) difficulties integrating PPI have also been reported by researchers in relation to deficits in time and money available (Brett et al. 2014).

PPI may comprise a number of activities including for example: assisting in the identification of research priorities; helping to develop patient leaflets; assisting with data collection; and participating in advisory groups (INVOLVE 2012). INVOLVE describe three approaches to PPI in research: consultation; collaboration; and user controlled (INVOLVE 2012). Each approach has benefits and challenges.

In the current study I involved patients at the very beginning, to elicit their input on the relevance of the research and to obtain their help in the design of the study. Hence the involvement of patients in this study may be categorised as 'consultation'. As noted in Chapter

4, patient involvement played an important part in the early stages of the study design. INVOLVE suggest that when researchers are new to PPI, a small scale approach is acceptable, for example, involving people in one stage of the research. This experience can be used to build expertise for future research (INVOLVE 2012). As this was both my first project and the first time that I had involved people in my research it seemed appropriate to undertake a modest start to public involvement.

In some studies patients are involved in the data collection process and data analysis phase and in the current study this approach may well have yielded benefits. However, it should be noted that more extensive public involvement also requires a degree of expertise by the researcher. As this was a PhD both time and resources were limited and hence the level of patient involvement was commensurate with these factors. In future research I intend to maximise the use of PPI in order to optimise its potential benefits.

PPI is also important at the dissemination stage where user involvement can help to ensure that the study findings are communicated in a way that is relevant to both patients and policy makers. It is likely that patients involved in relevant groups (for example Diabetes UK) will have suggestions about how and where to disseminate the study findings so that they are accessible to a lay audience (NIHR 2014). I intend to involve relevant groups in the dissemination stage of this research.

7.5 Implications for Policy and Practice

In terms of facilitating equitable access to an IIR, the findings of this thesis add weight to policy in two key areas:

- Providing more accessible services
- Improving patient-provider communication

7.5.1 Improving Access to Care for Vulnerable Groups with Type 1 Diabetes

Access to a specialist services

There are considerable challenges facing the NHS in England in terms of diabetes care. Key areas of concern are: variation in care both in primary and secondary care services; a feeling amongst individuals with diabetes that their care is fragmented; poor uptake of and access to structured education; and for adults with type 1 diabetes, the evidence suggests that large numbers with poor glycaemic control will result in avoidable complications (NHS diabetes

2013). In addition, despite the known benefits of near-normal glycaemia, the data from a recent National Diabetes Audit shows that there has been little improvement in glycaemic control for adults with type 1 diabetes in recent years (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013).

There is recognition that most adults with type 1 diabetes require specialist care (Royal College of Physicians 2013), although some patients may be managed satisfactorily in primary care (Sharp et al. 2012). However, concerns have been expressed that the growing prevalence of type 2 diabetes may lead to less attention being paid to adults with type 1 diabetes since these patients will represent a very small proportion of the total diabetes patients in a given GP practice (Sharp et al. 2012). There are estimates that 15% to 20% of people with type 1 diabetes do not attend specialist services (Sharp et al. 2012) and 30% of individuals participating in a recent survey reported not being referred to specialist care when needed (Diabetes UK 2013). Concerns have also been expressed that in relation to commissioning services there is no distinction made between type 1 and type 2 diabetes and hence no proper consideration of the different needs of both conditions (Sharp et al. 2012).

The current study adds to the debate by suggesting that vulnerable groups of patients face additional barriers in terms of attending specialist services. The findings support the opinion that commissioners of services should focus on the health needs of patients with complex needs since ultimately poor metabolic control will result in both poorer outcomes for these individuals and ultimately greater consumption of health care resources (Goenka et al. 2011).

The current findings support the promotion of better ways to commission diabetes services that incorporate a whole systems ethos rather than the current piecemeal approach which results in fragmentation of care (NHS diabetes 2013). The concept of eroding boundaries between primary and secondary care with specialist service providers working within the community setting is an approach endorsed in 'Teams without Walls' (Royal College of Physicians et al. 2008). Hence specialist services need not be limited to the hospital environment and patients can receive services closer to their homes. The re-design of services for vulnerable groups is necessary in order to 're-focus on care delivery to patients who all too often are on the fringes of health care and do not fit in with established norms for service

provision' (Future Hospital Commission 2013, p. 19). Integration of diabetes services³³ in order to provide seamless health care for adults with type 1 diabetes appears to offer a solution to the fragmentation and duplication of services currently experienced by some patients. The current study endorses the calls for patients to be treated closer to home where possible. This is particularly important for vulnerable groups who find attending specialist services difficult due to transport issues or have problems taking time off for appointments due to low paid work.

Insulin pumps are offered in specialist services; therefore helping individuals from low socioeconomic groups to access specialist services, by reducing their transport and time off work difficulties, will address socioeconomic disparities in access to insulin pumps. Insulin pump usage remains low in the UK compared with the USA (40%) and other European countries (>15%) (White et al. 2014) so further efforts to address the barriers to uptake of this technology and to ensure that uptake is equitable will also reduce international variation in access.

Access to a Structured Education Programme

In the current study health literacy appeared to influence the ways that individuals navigated the health care system, processed health information, presented themselves as candidates for services and engaged with health care professionals. Low levels of health literacy found amongst individuals of low socioeconomic status in this research resonate with previous findings associating low health literacy with low socioeconomic status (Paasche-Orlow et al. 2005). Diabetes education and knowledge were found to be strongly linked to an ability to gain access to an IIR in this study. There were also indications that the Structured Education Programme could ameliorate some of the disparities associated with barriers to access by improving health literacy. However, the national picture suggests that access to Structured Education would seem to be at diagnosis. The National Diabetes Audit (2011-12) reported that only 2.2% of newly diagnosed individuals with type 1 diabetes are offered structured education and even fewer attend (0.6%) the course (Health and Social Care Information Centre 2013). Some of the same barriers to accessing specialist services, relating to socioeconomic

³³ Integration of care is defined as 'an approach that seeks to improve the quality of care for individual patients, service users and carers by ensuring that services are well co-ordinated around their needs'. (The King's Fund et al. 2012)

factors, also apply to the Structured Education Programme in that people in lower socioeconomic groups experience similar difficulties in travelling to the course and managing to take time off if they are in low paid work. The findings of the study endorse the integration of services accomplished in some parts of England resulting in diabetes education being made available in a community as well as hospital setting (Rea et al. 2011). The current study recommendations go further in suggesting that provision should include evenings and weekends in order to facilitate attendance by those who experience difficulty taking time off due to low paid work. This would both reduce barriers to undertaking the Structured Education Programme for people in low socioeconomic groups and facilitate access to an IIR by improving health literacy levels.

7.5.2 Patient-Provider Communication

Patient-centred communication

Despite the known benefits of effective communication in terms of improved health outcomes (Greenfield et al. 1988), this study found a number of barriers to good quality patient-provider interactions. In relation to health care disparities, patients from low socioeconomic groups reported dissatisfaction with some health care interactions. They perceived that they were not 'heard', that they were being 'judged' and that they lacked involvement in key decisions. Many of the findings on patient-provider communication in this study resonate with previous research. For example dissatisfaction with provider communication has been found to be more commonly experienced amongst individuals of low socioeconomic status. (Verlinde et al. 2012) and poor patient-provider communication has been found to negatively impact on the ability of individuals with diabetes (type 1 and type 2) to self-care (Wilkinson et al. 2014). In terms of equitable access, therefore, it seems imperative that communication practices by both patients and health care professionals are addressed. This relates to patient-provider communication and also to decision-making processes.

Within the current study patients in low socioeconomic groups described variation in the way they experienced communication with some doctors and nurses, preferring, in general, the patient-centred approach of the latter. Vulnerable patients in the sample valued health care professionals who listened to them although they reported that this was not always their experience. The current study endorses previous research that finds that patients are more likely to engage with health care professionals if they perceive that the latter are listening to them (Gao et al. 2009).

One of the key tenets for successful patient-centred communication is the recommendation that doctors engage in 'active listening' (Matusitz et al. 2014) or 'attentive listening' (Jagosh et al. 2011; Silverman et al. 2005). 'Active listening' requires an approach that includes open ended questions, regular summaries, clarification and negotiation. An advantage of 'active listening' or 'attentive listening' is that the approach gives patients permission to speak (Jagosh et al. 2011; Matusitz et al. 2014). This is important because low socioeconomic patients do not always feel able to participate (Protheroe et al. 2013).

The Calgary-Cambridge guide is currently used to educate trainee health care professionals in the skills required for effective communication and provides excellent evidence-based guidelines in relation to a patient-centred approach to communication (Kurtz et al. 2003; Silverman et al. 2005). Training in communication skills, however, should not cease at the qualification stage; learning the skills involved in effective communication should form an important part of continuous professional development (Maguire et al. 2002). More recently the need for training in communication skills was identified as an important requirement by health care professionals themselves in a study involving a specialist team caring for young people with type 1 diabetes (Brierley et al. 2012). Yet despite communication skills training being a well developed and integrated element of the undergraduate medical curricula, with some exceptions, 'communication training so often disappears into a black hole after doctors qualify especially in hospital based specialities' (Silverman 2011).

For qualified health care professionals, education and refresher training should focus on what constitutes good communication from the patient perspective. In this study, it was noted across both data sets that doctor-patient communication had a predominantly biomedical focus. Patient-provider communication will be more equal when patients perceive it to be centred on their requirements and for some patients focusing on targets may not be helpful. Ideally the consultation agenda should be negotiated jointly at the outset with both the patient and the doctor agreeing on the parameters for the review (Silverman et al. 2005). A review that begins with the patient's experience of living with diabetes may reveal patient problems with the regimen much earlier in the consultation. Previous research has shown that a patient-centred approach to communication does not necessarily lead to lengthier consultations (Levinson et al. 2010; Street et al. 2005) although time pressures have been identified as a major concern for some health care professionals (Pooley et al. 2001). Additionally, a patient-centred approach is an important precursor to shared decision-making since it is only through listening attentively to patients that health care professionals will be able to determine the level of involvement desired by patients.

Promoting shared decision-making

Shared decision-making appears to offer a way to lessen health inequalities (Durand et al. 2014); however, in the current study it was not always experienced by individuals of low socioeconomic status. In this study patients who were less involved in decision-making were also less able to influence the consultation trajectory and were less able to present themselves as candidates for continued access to an IIR. This study supports previous research reporting that the way decisions are framed may influence patient involvement and that generally a 'unilateral' style of communication excludes patients from involvement in decision-making (Collins et al. 2005).

The drive to involve patients in decisions about their care assumes that all patients want to participate in decision-making (Protheroe et al. 2013). Although it is recognised that not all patients want to be involved in decision-making to the same extent (Bensing et al. 2003) and preference for involvement appears to be related to socioeconomic status (McKinstry 2000; Protheroe et al. 2013) the current study demonstrates the implications for inequitable access when patients are unable to participate effectively. Inability to share decisions is likely to exacerbate existing health inequalities particularly when disadvantaged groups are the least knowledgeable, least healthy and least engaged (McCaffery et al. 2010).

Shared decision-making appears to offer the potential to engage patients of low socioeconomic status thus improving outcomes for this group and reducing health inequalities (Durand et al. 2014). Hence every effort should be made to involve these patients. This will entail adopting an approach most likely to engage these patients. Strategies to improve doctor-patient communication with low socioeconomic status patients include having a greater awareness of their needs within the consultation and the potential impact of particular styles of communication (Verlinde et al. 2012). Interventions have already provided an evidence base in relation to the benefits of involving patients from all backgrounds (Durand et al. 2014). These need to be implemented more widely.

However, health care professionals should be careful about assuming that everyone wants to be involved in decision-making (Verlinde et al. 2012). Although it appears to be important to empower the 'passive' patient and encourage greater involvement, for patients who do not want this level of interaction, respect for patients as individuals and the need to gauge the level of involvement desired by the patient is of greater importance (Verlinde et al. 2012). Empathetic and supportive health care professionals are valued by patients with diabetes (Entwistle et al. 2008; Richards et al. 2006); however, it would appear that an empathetic approach that also attends to the patient's personal situation is particularly important for individuals of low socioeconomic status with chronic conditions (Smith et al. 2009).

Patients may be unwilling to engage in discussions with health care professionals for a variety of reasons. Unfortunately assumptions may be made about lack of patient engagement and these may disproportionately disadvantage individuals including those from lower socioeconomic groups, those suffering from psychosocial problems and patients struggling with diabetes. A heightened awareness of the possible reasons for lack of involvement coupled with a patient-centred approach would assist in addressing these communication barriers.

Addressing health literacy issues in patient-provider communication

In the current study socioeconomic variation in health literacy was identified in both data sets. For example high levels of health literacy appeared to facilitate good communication with health care professionals (section 5.6.2) whereas poor health literacy appeared to disrupt the flow of communication (section 6.5.5). In this study those with lower levels of health literacy were in lower socioeconomic groups. Despite a growing body of research from the US, relatively little health literacy research been conducted in the UK (Protheroe et al. 2009). However, more recently there appears to be a growing interest in the implications of health literacy (Royal College of General Practitioners 2014) and in addressing inequalities in health arising from poor health literacy (Public Health England and UCL Institute of Health Equity 2015).

Low health literacy poses a challenge to the goal of increasing patient participation in health care (Protheroe et al. 2009), however, there are, a number of ways to improve communication amongst individuals with low health literacy and to promote patient involvement. As a first step health care professionals should consider the health literacy of their patients. For example health care professionals should be 'sensitised' to the difficulties faced by patients and avoid communicating in technical terminology; instead wherever possible lay language should used (Protheroe et al. 2009). The current study endorses recommendations to raise awareness of health literacy issues amongst heath care professionals, training providers, commissioners and NHS trusts (Royal College of General Practitioners 2014).

It is known that patients recall or comprehend approximately half of what doctors communicate in a given encounter and that although this is the case, assessing patient understanding is rarely carried out (Schillinger et al. 2003). Techniques for improving communication have used the 'teach-back' strategy which is designed to assist patients with

low health literacy to recall and comprehend their communication with health care professionals (Nath 2007). The approach involves explaining concepts and instructions in a simple and clear way and then asking patients to repeat back to the health care professional, in their own words, what they have just heard. The interactive nature of the approach facilitates patient involvement and the strategy has been found to improve outcomes amongst low health literacy individuals with diabetes (Rothman et al. 2004). This approach has the advantage that misunderstandings may be addressed immediately with the patient.

Continuity of care

The current study identified the importance of continuity of care both as an aspect of service valued by patients and also in relation to the important influence it appeared to have on gaining access to an IIR. Continuity of care should be viewed as an essential aspect of care for individuals with type 1 diabetes and is particularly important for vulnerable groups. Continuity of contact with health care professionals allows the fostering of mutual trust and respect, an aspect of patient-provider relationships valued by patients with long terms conditions (Entwistle et al. 2008), and considered important to the success of shared decision-making (Lown et al. 2009). A patient-provider relationship based on trust and mutual respect is key to enabling patients with diabetes to self-manage their condition (Montori et al. 2006).

Role of the diabetes specialist nurse

The findings of this study endorse the calls for diabetes specialist nurses to play an increasingly important role in the management of adults with type 1 diabetes. In the current study diabetes specialist nurses appeared to bridge a communication gap between some patients and their doctors. Their role appeared to be particularly influential in facilitating access to treatment for vulnerable patients. The current study found that the patient-centred approach adopted by diabetes specialist nurses appeared to be very important for patients who struggled with diabetes management. In addition diabetes specialist nurses have an important role to play in assisting patients in lower socioeconomic groups who struggle to be heard by other health care professionals. This study adds weight to the concerns that diabetes specialist nurse posts have been frozen and that cuts to services have not taken into account the long-term implications of terminating services (National Audit Office 2012).

7.6 Summary of Key Recommendations

The following summarises the key recommendations that would assist in improving access to an IIR for vulnerable groups:

- Commissioners and health care professionals involved in designing services should consider ways of improving access to specialist health care services for adults with type 1 diabetes. For example, specialist services could be provided closer to patients' homes to facilitate attendance for those who face difficulties due to transport or to low paid work.
- Structured Education Programmes should be made available at places convenient for the patient, for example, in the community setting and not just hospitals in order to overcome barriers to access experienced by low socioeconomic groups. It is important that a Structured Education Programme is offered to patients at diagnosis.
- Communication practices and interventions designed to encourage patient involvement amongst low socioeconomic groups and those with low health literacy should be adopted by health care professionals (including the 'teach-back' method).
 Promoting patient involvement requires raised awareness amongst health care professionals that some low socioeconomic patients do not feel as able as their counterparts in higher socioeconomic groups to participate in patient-provider communication.
- Continuous professional development should encompass training to improve communication skills in 'active listening', since by hearing the patient's story, self-care problems including psychosocial issues will be elicited and the patient will be given a 'voice'. This is particularly important for patients in low socioeconomic groups who struggle to be 'heard'. This approach will assist in reducing health care access disparities to an IIR by enabling health care professionals to view people in lower socioeconomic groups as candidates for an IIR.
- Recognition should be given to the expertise of the diabetes specialist nurse in assisting vulnerable groups of patients to access an IIR. Commissioners of services should ensure that diabetes specialist nurse posts continue to be funded. Continuity of

care should be a priority and would be facilitated by assigning each patient with type 1 diabetes a diabetes specialist nurse.

7.7 Future Research

This study has been exploratory. It has identified that patients may experience inequitable access to an IIR. Further research could focus predominantly on hard to reach groups and individuals not currently accessing specialist services. The focus of this study was socioeconomic inequity; however, it appeared that older participants were an under-represented group amongst insulin pump users. In addition, most of the participants were white British. Inequity of access involving age and ethnicity could be the subject of future research. A longitudinal design would offer a more comprehensive investigation so that patient experiences could be captured over time. Owing to the limitations of PhD resources this was not an option in the current study.

Quantitative research has been carried out in the United States and has focused on children in relation to socioeconomic inequalities in access to insulin pumps. These results cannot be applied to the UK since the United States does not have a universal health care system. Replication of these studies in the UK for both adults and children would quantify progress towards equal access to technology for all groups.

Psychosocial issues were a key barrier to access and further research could explore the impact of depression and other mental health problems on gaining access to an IIR.

The importance of health literacy in relation to health inequalities is an area that is gaining interest in the UK. The current study has identified health literacy as an influencing factor in relation to gaining and maintaining access to an IIR. Further research is needed to assess the impact of interventions designed to improve low health literacy amongst adults with type 1 diabetes.

7.8 Conclusions

The aim of this study was to explain how and why adults with type 1 diabetes from low socioeconomic groups experienced inequitable access to health care. The study has made an original contribution to the evidence base for inequity in access to health care for adults with type 1 diabetes, using complementary qualitative methods to generate new insights into the underlying inequalities observed.

First, this study has produced the first comprehensive systematic review of health outcomes, access to diabetes care and diabetes management for adults with type 1 diabetes. Second, the study has provided plausible explanations for inequitable access to specialist services and an IIR in adults with type 1 diabetes. The study has provided a detailed and to my knowledge original exploration of the influencing factors involved in equitable access to an IIR. Third, the study provides further empirical evidence to support the value of Candidacy theory in explaining inequitable access. Fourth, the study has made an original contribution to the body of literature using conversation analysis in relation to institutional interactions. Finally, the study has made a contribution to the literature on patient-provider decision-making and has demonstrated the potential of conversation analysis to offer new insights into inequitable access and the dynamics of the multi-disciplinary team.

Equitable access to intensive regimens was impeded for people from lower socioeconomic groups by a complex mix of factors relating to patients, their interactions with the health care system and patient-provider communication. Permeability of access was influenced by personal social circumstances including low paid work and transport difficulties. Factors diminishing candidacy for an IIR were low health literacy, non-alignment with health care professional goals, psychosocial problems and poor quality patient-provider communication. Some of the barriers associated with access were modifiable through contact with diabetes specialist nurses, a structured education programme and continuity of care.

Conversation analysis identified that patient involvement was important for maintaining access to an IIR and that the multi-disciplinary team approach was advantageous for vulnerable patients. Efforts to improve the quality of communication with these patients could lessen inequities in access to intensive regimens.

Appendix 1: Example Search Strategy

Medline via Ovid (final search up to March week 1 2014 – no date limit)

No	Search	Result
1	Type 1 diabet*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	25580
2	Diabetes Mellitus, Type 1/or type 1 diabetes.mp	65868
3	Insulin dependent diabet*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	24325
4	1 or 2 or 3	78907
5	Socioeconomic Factors/ or socioeconomic.mp	143387
6	Socio-economic.mp	18501
7	Social class*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	36204
8	Social class.mp or Social Class/	35630
9	Social status.mp	3924
10	Poverty/ or Impoverished.mp	29809
11	Inequit*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	4438
12	Inequity.mp or Health Status Disparities/ or Healthcare Disparities/	14296
13	Health status disparit*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	7142
14	Healthcare disparit*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	7166
15	Equity.mp or Health Services Accessibility/	55766
16	Access.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	175351
17	Access*.mp [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	325611
18	5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17	513350
19	4 and 18	1474
20	Limit 19 to (English language and humans)	1291
21	Limit 20 to "all adults"	698
Appendix 2: Data Extraction Checklist

Author:		
Title:		
Journal:		
Year:	Volume:	Pages:
Study Aims:		
Correct population?		
Study design:		
Study location:		
Total number of	Male:	Female:
participants:		
Age of participants:		
Ethnicity if given:		
Inclusion criteria:		
Exclusion criteria:		
Clinical variables:		
Non-clinical variables or SES \	/ariables:	
Analysis – statistical techniqu	es used:	
Quality assessment carried ou	ıt?	
Results:		

Appendix 3: Study Appraisal Form

A	uthor:				
ті	tle:				
Jo	urnal:				
Ye	ear: Volume:		Pages	:	
Stu (Cr	dy Appraisal checklist based on CASP itical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) 2006)	Yes	No	Unclear	Not applicable
1.	Did the study address a clearly focused issue?				
2.	Was an appropriate method used to answer the question?				
3.	Were inclusion/exclusion criteria reported?				
4.	Were participants recruited to minimise selection bias?				
5.	Were objective measures used?				
6.	Did measures used minimise bias?				
7.	Did the study take account of the confounding factors in the design and analysis?				
8.	Was the follow up of subjects complete enough?				
9.	Was the follow up long enough?				
10.	Are the results reported adequately?				
11.	Can the results be believed?				
12.	Can the results be applied to the local population?				
13.	Do the results of this study fit with other available evidence?				

e/ oe	Country	Study type Cross sectional	N 1621	Study sample Type 1 diabetes	Clinical variables HbA1c. blood pressure.	Non-clinical/SES variables
5			(42.3% women)	type 1 diabetes adults aged 16-92 years) years)	modulate, mood pressure, medication for neuropathic pain, estimated glomerular filtration rate, cholesterol, BMI, diagnosis of depression/anxiety disorder	deprivation deprivation
Can	epe	Cross sectional	1994 (255 individuals with admission for diabetic ketoacidosis)	Type 1 diabetes adults ≥18 years of age, diabetes duration less than 6 months excluded	Diabetes duration, BMI, care type, blood pressure medication, statin medication, self- report: retinopathy, neuropathy, gastroparesis, other specified conditions, psychiatric conditions, eating disorder, HbA1c (median) and median estimated glomerulur filtration rate	Age, sex, Statistics Canada was used to obtain median household income and education by small geographic area: family income mean, proportion with university degree, certificate or diploma
31 E cour	uropean htries	Cross sectional	1217 men 1170 women	Type 1 diabetes Onset <30 Continuous need for insulin 1 year after diagnosis Aged ≥25 years	Diabetes duration, blood pressure, height, weight, hip and waist circumference, ECG, HbA1c (previous 8), cholersterol, fasting triglyceride, urinary albumin, retinopathy, heart disease -H/O myocardial infarction	Age, sex, education (measured by age of completion). Primary up to 14 years, secondary 15- 18, college after age 19, social class (UK Registrar General Classifications of Occupations) smoking , exercise and diet

Non-clinical/SES variables	Age, sex, deprivation measured using Carstairs index, smoking status.	Age, sex, occupation, defined by Statistics Finland	Age, sex, occupation defined by Statistics Finland	Age, sex, occupation defined by Statistics Finland education, disposable income, employment status, living alone, municipality
Clinical variables	Diabetes duration, diabetes type, bold pressure, cholesterol, height and weight	Mortality	Mortality	Mortality
Study sample	Type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Type 1 diabetes defined as requiring insulin within 3 months of diagnosis	Type 1 and type 2 age 30-79 . Type 1 defined by medication usage/ or onset <30 years of age	Type 1 and type 2 Type 1: reimbursement for medication < 30 Type 2: onset > 40 Mortality comparison 40-59	Type 1 and type 2 Diabetes patients aged 30-79 at the end of 1999 Type 1: if insulin the only drug used all others type 2 or if no medication information type 1: age at onset <30,
z	1553 (402 type 1)	1,407,025 person years 59,917 deaths	All people aged 30-74 in 1980 and 1990 census	528,734 person years 18,841 deaths
Study type	Cross sectional	Cohort	Cohort	Cohort
Country	Scotland	Finland	Finland	Finland
Author/Date/ Review scope	Connolly and Kesson (1996) Morbidity	Forssas et al. (2010) Mortality	Forssas et al. (2003) <u>Mortality</u>	Forssas et al. (2012) <u>Mortality</u>

Non-clinical/SES variables	Age, sex, education, area of birth	Age, sex, ethnicity, education, household income	e Age, sex, occupation (Office of Population Censuses and Surveys 1980) and number of years in full time education	e Social status (occupation)	Age, sex, ethnicity, educational attainment, income, (group level) alcohol and smoking status, expenditure on glucometer strips
Clinical variables	Mortality	Diabetes duration, Structured interview BMI, attendance on course, frequency of physician visits	Diabetes duration, ag at onset, personality, intelligence, forgetfulness, self- report compliance, HbA1c	Diabetes duration, ag at onset, HbA1c, questionnaire on self- care and diabetes knowledge	Diabetes duration, BMI, Number of daily injections, self - reported monitoring o blood glucose levels
Study sample	Type 1 and type 2 Type 1: based on diagnosis ≤ 35years Type 2: > 35 years Age ≥ 20 years in 1991	Adults with type 1 or type 2 diabetes ≥ 18 years of age. Type 1 defined by BMI, < 30 years at diabetes onset	Type 1 patients (in study 1) 18-50 years of age	Insulin dependent diabetes	Type 1 and type 2. Type 1 based on an algorithm
z	31,264 diabetes patients 874,801 general population	2405 (124 type 1 patients)	121	37 (Study 1) 20 (study 2)	44,181 (2818 type 1)
Study type	Cohort Follow up from recruitment (1991 onwards) to 1999	Cross sectional survey	Cross sectional	Cross sectional	Cross sectional survey
Country	Italy	USA	Scotland	Denmark	USA
Author/Date/ Review scope	Gnavi et al. (2004) <u>Mortality</u>	Harris et al. (1993) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u>	Hepburn et al. (1994) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u>	Johansen (1986) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u>	Karter et al. (2000) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u>

Author/Date/ Review scope	Country	Study type	z	Study sample	Clinical variables	Non-clinical/SES variables
Kibbey et al. (2013) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u>	Australia	Cross sectional survey	86 (response 24%)	Type 1 diabetes Target sample Aged 18-30	Diabetes duration , age at onset of diabetes, BMI, HbA1c Questionnaires relating to depression, diabetes and illness perception	Age, sex, education, income, alcohol and smoking status
Leese et al. (2003) <u>Morbidity</u>	Scotland	Cohort 12 month follow up	69 adults with 112 events (Type 1 diabetes)	Type 1 and type 2 Type 1 if diagnosed <35 years with a requirement for insulin or evidence of ketonuria and insulin requirements with 28 days	Diabetes duration, severe hypoglycaemia HbA1c	Age, sex, Carstairs index of social deprivation based on postcode (Carstairs et al. 1991)
Lievre et al. (2005) <u>Morbidity</u>	France	Cross sectional	562 children 1691 adults	Type 1 diabetes Children <16 years of age . Adults aged 16-45	Diabetes duration, weight, height, HbA1c, blood pressure. Complications: retinal, renal, cardiovascular, lower limb, ketoacidosis, severe hypoglycaemia	Age, sex, aggregate score based on employment status, occupation and education, smoking status
Lloyd et al. (1993) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u>	USA	Cohort	592	Type 1 diabetes ≥ 18 years < 17 years at diagnosis and to be on insulin therapy at discharge 2% non-white	Diabetes duration, HbA1c, BMI, questionnaires on self- care health behaviour , neuropathy, cardiovascular and peripheral vascular disease, renal function, retinopathy	Age, sex, education, household income

Author/Date/ Review scope	Country	Study type	z	Study sample	Clinical variables	Non-clinical/SES variables
Matsushima et al. (1996) <u>Mortality</u>	nedel	Case control	180	Insulin dependent diabetes Onset of diabetes <18 Years Placed on insulin at diagnosis Exclusions: diabetes secondary to other causes	Age at diabetes onset, insulin dose/regimen, frequency of clinic attendance, number of times doctor changed, hospital admissions, complications/coma, psychiatric disease, school phobia, emotional instability, mortality	Age, sex, education (years of), patient income, household income, marital status, living alone, smoking/alcohol status, access time required for hospital visit
Mühlhauser et al. (1998a) <u>Morbidity</u>	Germany	Cohort Mean follow up 19 months	684 adults (41% women)	Type 1 diabetes ≥18 years Initiation of insulin before 31 years of age 684 out of 932 participated (73%)	Diabetes duration, HbA1c, C-peptide, protein in urine, body weight, blood pressure, foot examination, renal parameters, questionnaire about treatment goals, structured interview about hypoglycaemia	Age, sex, baseline: social class based on aggregate score of education, occupation and income, smoking history
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u> <u>Morbidity</u>	Germany	Cross sectional	684 adults (41% women)	Type 1 diabetes ≥18 years Initiation of insulin before 31 years of age 684 out of 932 participated (73%) Mean age 36 (range 18-77)	Diabetes duration, HbA1c, C-peptide, Protein in urine, body weight, blood pressure, foot examination, renal parameters, eye examination for retinopathy, diabetes quality of life	Age, sex, baseline: social class based on aggregate score of education, occupation and income, smoking history

Non-clinical/SES variables	Age, sex, social class score based on educational attainment and present or last occupation	Age, sex, education, diet and smoking status	Age, sex, education (primary school, high school, university), alcohol consumption and smoking status, marital status
Clinical variables	Diabetes duration, HbA1c, Nephropathy, Foot complications Retinopathy, BMI, cholesterol, Hypertension, Smoking and alcohol status, mortality	HbA1c, Albumin, blood pressure, waist circumference, serum triglycerides, cholesterol	Diabetes duration, episodes of severe hypoglycaemia for the preceding one year, awareness of hypoglycaemia, history of diabetes and complications, HbA1c
Study sample	Type 1 patients attending a 5 day course on intensive therapy Exclusion: diabetes resulting from disease of exocrine pancreas Gestational diabetes	Type 1 diabetes ≥25 years Diabetes onset before 30 years of age, insulin within 1 year Ethnicity Caucasian	Type 1 diabetes Adults (< 18 years of age), diagnosis before the age of 40 and insulin at the time of diagnosis. Exclusions : end-stage renal disease, malignant disease, pregnancy or inability to complete questionnaire
z	3674	209 men 228 women	1076
Study type	Cohort Followed up after 10±3 (mean ±SD) years	Cross sectional	Cross sectional
Country	Germany	Hungary	Denmark and UK
Author/Date/ Review scope	Mühlhauser et al. (2000) <u>Mortality</u>	Nadas et al. (2009) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u> Morbidity	Pederson- Bjergaard et al. (2004) Morbidity

iriables Non-clinical/SES variable	uration, age Age, sex, smoking status, isulin occupation (% professional), equency of marital status, education oring of measured in years ose levels,	ular disease Age, sex, social class based c ory of occupation (Registrar yocardial General's classification for Body mass England and Wales), smokin, iopathy, status and alcohol 1 glucose consumption ion,	uration, Age, sex, occupation defined control (poor by the British Registrar Gene phications, Classifications of Occupatior missions, education, housing, employment status	uration, Age, sex, occupation definec hary by classification of Danish lood National Institute of Social IbA1c, Research (Class I-IV) atus, / status
Clinical va	Diabetes di at onset, in regimen, fr self-monitc blood glucc HbA1c	Cardiovasci or past hist possible my infarction. I index, retin fasting bold concentrat cholesterol triglyceride	Diabetes d glycaemic c vs fair) com hospital ad mortality	Diabetes d height, urir albumin, bl pressure, H smoking stt retinopath
Study sample	Type 1 diabetes. Age ≥ 18 years. Exclusion age > 55, diabetes duration < 3years, duration of current insulin regimen < 1 year. Type 1 diabetes clinically determined	Type 1 and type 2 diabetes Aged between 35-59	Type 1 and type 2 adults (17-65) Type 1 defined as diagnosed prior to age 36 and treated with insulin. Type 2 all others	Insulin dependent diabetes, aged ≥18 years, diabetes duration ≥5 years , aged ≤ 40 at onset of diabetes
z	60 (men 40)	95 type 1 79 type 2 155 controls	2104	939
Study type	Cross sectional	Case control	Cross sectional	Cohort
Country	Scotland	¥	ž	Denmark
Author/Date/ Review scope	Perros et al. (1998) <u>Diabetes</u> Management	Robinson et al. (1984) Morbidity	Robinson et al. (1998) <u>Mortality</u>	Rossing et al. (1996) <u>Mortality</u>

on-clinical/SES variables	se, sex, social class based on gregate of education and cupation, smoking history	se, sex, ethnicity, educational vel, smoking status	se, sex, occupation ollingshead Index of social ssition) lucation, uusehold income, noking status
Clinical variables No	Urinary albumin, blood Ag pressure, annual HbA1c ag Retinopathy oc	Diabetes duration, age Ag at onset, presence of lev cardiovascular risk factors, blood pressure, cholesterol, BMI, HbA1c, insulin therapy type, hypoglycaemia, creatinine, urea	Diabetes duration, Ag HbA1c, cholesterol, (H hypertension, BMI, po serum and urinary Ed albumin, creatinine, ho complications, srr depression intensive insulin therapy, mortality
Study sample	Type 1 diabetes ≥ 18 years, diabetes duration ≥5 years Age ≤40 at onset normoalbuminurea and not taking anti- hypertensive drugs	Type 1 diabetes aged ≥ 16 years with diabetes for at least 5 years. Type 1 diabetes clinically determined. Mean age 39 (range 16-83)	Type 1 (childhood onset < 17) Assessed as close to age 28 as possible ± 4 years
z	537 adults	1465	317 adults (10.7% deaths during follow up)
Study type	Cohort Follow up ≥10 years (median 9 years)	Cross sectional	Cohort
Country	Denmark	Spain	NSA
Author/Date/ Review scope	Rossing et al (2002) <u>Morbidity</u>	Sastre et al. (2012) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u> <u>Morbidity</u>	Secrest et al. (2011a) <u>Mortality</u>

Clinical variables Non-clinical/SES variab	Diabetes duration, blood pressure, depressive symptoms, HbA1c, cholesterol, triglycerides, intensity of insulin regimen, coronary artery disease, end stage renal disease, end stage renal disease, end stage rentinopathy, proliferative extremity arterial diseaseAge, sex, occupation houlingshead Index of soci position), education, household income, smokin household income, smokin hou	Diabetes duration, blood pressure, albumin, HbA1c, cholesterolAge, sex, Carstairs index (Carstairs et al. 1991), smoking status smoking status or death from macrovascular disease or death from severe retinal disease	Body mass index, Age, sex, deprivation, smo serum cholersterol, status proteinurea
Study sample	Type 1 (childhood onset < 17) Assessed as close to age 28 as possible ± 4 years	Type 1 diabetes Age ≤35 years at diagnosis Insulin treated Ethnicity : >98 white	Type 1 and type 2 diabetes Aged 20-69
z	317	2228 adults	1246 (296 type 1)
Study type	Cohort Median 8-12 years follow up after age 28 depending on complication	Cohort Follow up period varied by disease	Cross sectional
Country	NSU	Scotland	ž
Author/Date/ Review scope	Secrest et al. (2011b) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Morbidity</u>	Swaminthan et al. (2004) <u>Morbidity</u>	Unwin et al. (1996) <u>Diabetes</u> <u>Management</u> Morbidity

Author/Date/ Review scope	Country	Study type	z	Study sample	Clinical variables	Non-clinical/SES variables
Weinstock et al. (2013) <u>Morbidity</u>	USA	Cross sectional	7012	Type 1 diabetes age at least 26 years old with type 1 diabetes for ≥2 years, 54% female 91% non-Hispanic white	Diabetes duration, information on severe hypoglycaemia and diabetes ketoacidosis in previous 12 months (from records and self- report)	Age, sex, ethnicity, education, household income, private insurance or non-private/no insurance
Wolf et al. (2011) Morbidity	Germany	Cohort	174	Type 1 and type 2 diabetes Caucasian	Diabetes duration, creatinine, albumin, chronic kidney disease categories, HbA1c, blood pressure	Age, sex, socioeconomic status measured using an aggregate of occupation, education and household net income, smoking status
Zgibor et al. (2000) <u>Diabetes</u> Management	NSA	Cross sectional analysis of data provided as part of 10 year follow up cohort study	429	Type 1 diabetes Childhood onset (<17 years of age)	Diabetes duration, questionnaire relating to self-care, specialist non-specialist care, HbA1c, retinopathy, nephropathy, renal failure/transplant, coronary artery disease (medical records), lower extremity arterial disease, blood pressure	Age, sex, education and income

Author/ Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Matsushima et al. (1996)	To evaluate the social and behavioural risk factors of mortality in patients with insulin dependent diabetes.	Education: Deceased cases were more likely to have lower educational attainment (RR 2.5 (CI 0.9-7.2). Income: No association found. Living alone: No association found.
Rossing et al. (1996)	To evaluate risk factors for cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in insulin dependent diabetes.	Clinical factors as well as socioeconomic group predict mortality: Microalbuminuria was an independent predictor of all cause and cardiovascular mortality. Smoking, hypertension, male sex, age, height and low socioeconomic group were associated with increased mortality. Social class V versus social class IV RR 1.70 95% CI: 1.25-2.31, p <0.001. Poor glycaemic control was an independent risk factor. HbA1c (RR 1.11, 95% CI: 1.03-1.20, p <0.02).
Robinson et al. (1998)	To investigate deprivation in relation to mortality in adults with diabetes.	Occupation: Mortality rates higher for those of lower vs higher social class (OR 1.34, CI: 0.61-2.96). This was more pronounced in type 2 patients. Education: Mortality rates higher for those who left school >16 years compared to those who left at 16 or later (OR 4.0, CI 1.96-8.06, p<0.05). Unemployed: Higher mortality rate than those employed (OR 3.10, CI 1.67-5.79, p<0.001). Unemployed for over a year OR 6.8, 95% CI 1.47-31.77 p<0.001. Those who were unemployed were significantly more likely to be of low social class, living in rented accommodation, to have left school prior to 16 and to be registered disabled. Housing: Those living in council houses had higher mortality than those living in other accommodation (OR 2.57, CI 1.35-4.91, p<0.01).
Mühlhauser et al. (2000)	To assess predictors of mortality and end stage diabetic complications for patients with type 1 diabetes on intensified regimens.	Clinical factors as well as socioeconomic group predict mortality: Nephropathy (HR 3.85, 95% CI: 2.6-5.6) is the most important predictor of mortality together with the following: Smoking 1.9 (1.4-2.6) Diabetes duration 1.5 (1.2-1.8) for a difference of 10 years Serum cholesterol 1.1 (1.0-1.2) for a difference of 10 mmol/1 Lower social status 1.4 (1.1-1.8), Age 1.3 (1.1-1.16), Male sex 1.4 (1.1-1.9), Systolic blood pressure 1.1 (1-1.2). Conventional risk factors similar to general population. HbA1c predicted complications but not mortality.

Author/ Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Forssas et al. (2003)	To explore socioeconomic differences in the diabetic population in Finland in 1991- 1996 and carry out a comparison with findings from the early 1980s.	Occupation: In the 1980's no major socioeconomic differences in mortality for people with diabetes were found, whereas there were in the general population. In the 1990's substantial socioeconomic differentials emerged due to a reduction in mortality in the higher groups and very little progress in lower socioeconomic groups. Disease contribution to mortality disparities: For type 1 men circulatory diseases contributed 48% and diabetes 34% of the mortality disparities between blue and white collar workers. Among women with type 1 the socioeconomic gradient was mainly due to diabetes 42%.
Gnavi et al. (2004)	To compare diabetes and non- diabetes populations in terms of mortality and socioeconomic differences.	Comparisons with general population: Risk of death for men with type 1 diabetes was double that of non-diabetic population SMR 197.7 (95% CI: 155.7, 247.4). Risk of death for women with type 1 diabetes was triple that of non-diabetic population SMR 336 (95% CI: 259.3, 428.2). Education: Among men disparities relating to education and mortality were more evident amongst type 1 and in the youngest age group. Among women compared to type 2 where no statistically significant educational inequalities were found, there were significant disadvantages amongst the youngest and least educated.
Forssas et al. (2010)	To investigate the socioeconomic gradient in Finland amongst people with diabetes in the period from the 1980's to 2003.	 Changes in disparities over time: From 1991-94 to 1995-1999 socioeconomic disparity among people with diabetes increased in almost all major causes of death. Disease contribution to mortality disparities: The relative increase was largest in deaths strongly related to smoking alcohol and cardiovascular disease. This was due to a decrease in rates amongst higher socioeconomic groups.
Secrest et al. (2011a)	To examine the role of socioeconomic status and all-cause mortality in childhood-onset type 1 diabetes.	Comparisons with general population (by income and education): Individuals in the highest income and education group had similar mortality rates to local general population. Individuals with lower income and education had rates of mortality that were five times higher than the general population. Univariate analysis: Individuals without a college degree were three times more likely to die than those without a college degree HR 3.0, 95% CI: 1.2-7.8, p = 0.02.

Author/ Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Forssas et al.	To examine the role	Five aspects of socioeconomic position were related to
(2012)	of six	mortality:
	socioeconomic	Occupation, education, income, employment and living
	factors (income,	alone.
	occupational	Unemployment and income for men:
	position, education,	Among type 1 men mortality differences largest for long term
	unemployment,	unemployed (aged 30-64).
	living alone and	RR 3.85 (3.00-4.94) compared with employed and for low
	type of residential	versus high income RR 1.96 (1.78-2.17).
	area) in relation to	Findings similar for type 2.
	all-cause mortality	Unemployment and education for women:
	and specific causes	For women mortality differences largest for unemployment
	of death (for	RR 3.32 (1.88-5.88) and education; RR 2.35 (1.84-3.00).
	example alcohol	Municipality:
	disease).	No significant mortality differences were found for type of
		municipality of residence.

Author/Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Robinson et al. (1984)	To study the risk factors for microvascular and macrovascular complications in type 1 and type 2 diabetes.	Microvascular and Macrovascular: There were no significant socioeconomic differences found in men with type 1 diabetes in relation to risk factors for large or small vessel disease complications. Women with type 1 diabetes smoked more and had higher mean triglyceride levels.
Chaturvedi et al. (1996)	To explore the relationship between socioeconomic factors and diabetes control and complications in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Microvascular: Significantly lower rates of microalbuminurea and proliferative retinopathy for college educated men versus primary educated men. Little difference in rates of microvascular complications except for proliferative retinopathy which appeared to be more in college educated versus primary educated women. Macrovascular: No differences for men found with regard to heart disease. Risk factors for coronary artery disease: College educated men had lower smoking rates, exercise rates were higher, more favourable diet and lipid profile than primary educated men. Heart disease prevalence was lower for college educated women versus primary educated women. Education was the socioeconomic variable of choice however similar results were obtained by social class but not tabulated.
Connolly et al. (1996)	To examine the relationship of socioeconomic status and risk factors for cardiovascular disease in individuals with diabetes.	Cardiovascular disease risk factors: The proportion of patients with three or more risk factors was higher in the most deprived groups ($p < 0.001$). The most affluent categories had the highest proportion of patients without additional risk factors. The proportion of patients with no cardiac risk factors fell by 30.6% (comparing category 1 to 7) $p < 0.001$). 34% of individuals in deprived categories smoked compared with 13% in the affluent categories ($p < 0.001$).
Unwin et al. (1996)	To investigate the relationship between cardiovascular risk factors and socio- economic status in people with diabetes.	Cardiovascular disease risk factors: Increasing deprivation was significantly associated with both mean serum cholesterol and the proportion smoking (p < 0.01 and p < 0.01 respectively).
Mühlhauser et al. (1998a)	To identify the risk factors for severe hypoglycaemia in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Hypoglycaemia: Multivariate analysis - Social status (aggregate of education, income, occupation) was a statistically significant predictor of severe hypoglycaemia) HR: 0.78 95% CI: 0.63-0.96 (p =0.0162) for every 5 social levels (0 = lowest to 24 = highest).

Author/Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Mühlhauser et al. (1998b)	To investigate diabetes care and education in association with socioeconomic status in adults with type 1 diabetes.	Nephropathy: Social status (higher) was associated with a lower risk of nephropathy even when adjustments were made for blood pressure and smoking status. Prevalence of overt nephropathy 7 vs 20% for highest vs lowest quintiles of social class (OR 3.5, 95% CI: 1.6-7.5, p = 0.002). Foot complications: Fewer adults of higher social status had foot complications (OR 0.69, CI 0.55-0.86, p = 0.001). Macrovascular: Fewer adults of higher social status had macrovascular complications (OR 0.56, CI: 0.739-0.79 p = 0.0013). Retinopathy: No association found for risk of retinopathy.
Mühlhauser et al. (2000)	To assess predictors of mortality and end stage diabetic complications for patients with type 1 diabetes on intensified	Complications: Low socioeconomic status was a significantly predictive of complications (a combination of blindness or amputations or renal replacement therapy). Other predictors were nephropathy, foot complications, HbA1c, smoking, cholesterol, systolic blood pressure, retinopathy, and hypertension.
Rossing et al. (2002)	To evaluate risk factors for micro- albuminurea and macro- albuminurea.	Microalbuminurea/ macroalbuminurea: In normoalbuminuric patients social class did not a predict the development of microalbuminurea or macroalbuminurea.
Leese et al. (2003)	To determine the incidence, risk factors and costs of hypo-glycaemia in adults with type 1 and type 2 diabetes.	Hypoglycaemia: Increasing deprivation measured by Carstairs index (Carstairs et al. 1991) was associated with severe hypoglycaemia in type 1 diabetes (p < 0.001).
Swaminathan et al. (2004)	To explore socio- economic status and cardiovascular risk factors/micro- vascular and macro- vascular disease.	Microvascular /macrovascular: No association found between socioeconomic deprivation and either microvascular or macrovascular disease.
Pederson- Bjergaard et al. (2004)	To assess the rate and distribution of severe hypoglycaemia in a specialist secondary care setting.	Hypoglycaemia: Univariate analyses: Primary school education was associated with higher rate of severe hypoglycaemia (RR = 0.57 (0.38-0.85, p = 00162)). University education compared to primary school education was not found to be associated with severe hypoglycaemia. Individuals consuming both alcohol and smoking compared with those who did neither were significantly at higher risk of severe hypoglycaemia (RR = 2.1 (1.4-3.2, p = 0.0004). Multivariate analyses: Education was no longer associated with severe hypoglycaemia. The remaining risk markers were reduced awareness, symptomatic neuropathy and smoking.

Author/Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Lievre et al. (2005)	To study the relationship between clinical and socioeconomic variables on disease management and complications in young French adults.	Complications: The risk of having at least one complication was increased by 16% 95% CI: (0%; 29%) for each decrease in the socioeconomic score by 1 point, by 13.5% (11.1%;16.0%) for five years of diabetes duration, and by 25% (12.7%; 38.8%) for each 1% increase in HbA1c. Ketoacidosis : was associated with socioeconomic score (OR= 0.71 95% CI (0.51-0.97) for a 1% increase) Smoking inversely correlated with socioeconomic score (p < 0.006) Hypoglycaemia : Severe hypoglycaemia in the year prior to the study adults (18.7%) was not related to any study parameters. Increase in HbA1c significantly and independently linked with prevalence of complications.
Nadas et al. (2009)	To investigate the association between educational level and cardiometabolic risk.	Metabolic syndrome: Prevalence of metabolic syndrome was higher in patients with low (primary) compared with high (university) educational levels 42.9% versus 21.5%, (p = 0.0006). Treatment for hypertension and cardiovascular disease was more prevalent in patients with low versus high educational level (46.4% versus 26.2%, p = 0.01, 12.5% versus 2.3%; P = 0.02 respectively). Smoking associated with low versus high educational level (smokers: 28.6% versus 11.6%, p = 0.01) and regular physical activity (5.4% versus 33.1%; p = 0.0001).
Secrest et al. (2011b)	To explore the relationship between socioeconomic status and risk of complications.	Complications: All complications significantly associated with at least one socioeconomic measure. At age 28 prevalence of overt nephropathy did not differ by SES status. At age 28 coronary artery disease (CAD) and lower extremity arterial disease (LEAD) prevalence was low as was autonomic neuropathy (AN) and proliferative retinopathy (PR). Smoking was less prevalent in the top three Socioeconomic groups ($p < 0.01$ for all. At baseline: Education at age 28 was the only significant SES measure associated with end stage renal disease (ESRD) ($p = 0.01$) or CAD ($p = 0.002$). Income at age 28 associated with LEAD ($p = 0.04$), but not with education or occupation. Low income and non-professional status associated with AN p = 0.02 and 0.03 respectively). No SES measure associated with proliferative retinopathy. After adjustments for other key variables: low Income and association with LEAD persisted. Income continued to show association with AN after adjustment. Income but not education was persistently associated with ESRD and Lead after adjustment for other risk factors.

Author/Date	Study aims	Study findings reported for adults with type 1 diabetes
Wolf et al. (2011)	To investigate socioeconomic status associations and renal function.	Renal function: Socioeconomic status was not an independent factor for low renal function in type 1 diabetes.
Sastre et al. (2012)	To assess glycaemic control, cardiovascular risk factors and treatment regimens in type 1 diabetes.	Cardiovascular risk factors : In univariate analysis low educational level (or no primary education was associated with a greater prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors. Patients with a greater number of risk factors had higher HbA1c levels (7.8% for one factor versus 8.5% for four factors, p < 0.001).
Butalia et al. (2013)	To identify the clinical and socio- demographic factors associated with hospitalization for diabetic ketoacidosis.	Diabetic ketoacidosis: (DKA) No association between hospitalization for DKA and income. Associations found with DKA : longer duration of diabetes, associated with lowered odds (OR 0.96 per year, 95% CI: 0.95-0.98), gastroparesis (OR 4.13 95% CI 1.82-9.35) and psychiatric disorders (OR 1.98, 95% CI: 1.22-3.19) and higher HbA1c (OR 1.25, 95% CI: 1.16-1.35).
Weinstock et al. (2013)	To determine the frequency and factors associated with severe hypoglycaemia and diabetic ketoacidosis.	Hypoglyacemia: Lower socioeconomic status was associated with higher frequency in both severe hypoglycaemia and diabetic ketoacidosis. Severe hypoglycaemia was more likely in those with low education (p = 0.003), lower household income (p <0.001) and those that did not have private insurance (p <0.001). Severe hypoglycaemia was associated with diabetes duration (p < .001)(with 18.6% of those having diabetes for ≥40 years having an event in the last 12 months), was less frequent in those whose HbA1c levels were in the range 7.0% (53 mmol/mol) - 7.5% (58 mmol/mol) and more frequent in those whose HbA1c levels were <7.0% (<53 mmol/mol) or >7.0% (>58 mmol/mol). Diabetic ketoacidosis was associated with lower education level, lower income and insurance status (p >0.001 for each). Diabetic ketoacidosis was associated with higher HbA1c levels (p < 0.001), particularly those with HbA1c ≥ 10.0% (≥ 86 mmol/mol).
Anderson et al. (2014)	To investigate the association of socioeconomic factors and prescribing for painful neuropathy.	Neuropathic pain: In univariate analysis each unit increase in Townsend score was associated with 11.5% increased risk of being prescribed medication for neuropathic pain (OR 1.11 95% CI: 1.06-1.17). In multivariate analysis each unit increase in Townsend score was associated with an 11% increased odds of requiring pain treatment (OR 1.11 95% CI: 1.05-1.17, p < 0.001), independent of age, male gender, systolic blood pressure and estimated glomerular filtration rate.

Appendix 7: Study Documents

- Appendix 7.1: Ethics Approval Letter
- Appendix 7.2: Information Sheet for Staff (Parts One and Two)
- Appendix 7.3: Patient Information Sheet (Parts One and Two)
- Appendix 7.4: Information Sheet for Accompanying Individuals (Part One)
- Appendix 7.5: Information Sheet for Staff (Part Three)
- Appendix 7.6: Information Sheet for Patients (Part Three)
- Appendix 7.7: Letter of Invitation to Patient (Parts One and Two)
- Appendix 7.8: letter of Invitation to Patient (Part Three)
- Appendix 7.9: Reply Form All Study Parts
- Appendix 7.10: Consent Form for Staff (Part One)
- Appendix 7.11: Consent Form for Patients (Part One)
- Appendix 7.12: Consent Form for Accompanying Individuals (Part One)
- Appendix 7.13: Consent Form for Staff Interviews (Parts Two and Three)
- Appendix 7.14: Consent Form for Patient Interviews (Parts Two and Three)
- Appendix 7.15: Example Topic Guide for Patients
- Appendix 7.16: Example Topic Guide for Staff
- Appendix 7.17: Field Notes Form

NHS National Research Ethics Service

NRES Committee East Midlands - Nottingham 2

The Old Chapel Royal Standard Place Nottingham NG1 6FS

Telephone: 0115 8839428 Facsimile: 0115 9123300

16 November 2011

Mrs Anne Scott Postgraduate Research Student University of Sheffield ScHARR, University of Sheffield, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield S1 4DA

Dear Mrs Scott

Study title:

REC reference:

Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes: Lay and Clinician Perspectives: Impact on Access and Allocation 11/EM/0381

Thank you for your email of 8th November 2011, responding to the Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair.

Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

Ethical review of research sites

NHS Sites

The favourable opinion applies to [*CTIMPs*: all NHS sites listed in the application] [*Other studies*: all NHS sites taking part in the study], subject to management permission being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see "Conditions of the favourable opinion" below).

Conditions of the favourable opinion

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

<u>Management permission or approval must be obtained from each host organisation prior to</u> the start of the study at the site concerned.

Management permission ("R&D approval") should be sought from all NHS organisations involved in the study in accordance with NHS research governance arrangements.

This Research Ethics Committee is an advisory committee to the East Midlands Strategic Health Authority The National Research Ethics Service (NRES) represents the NRES Directorate within the National Patient Safety Agency and Research Ethics Committees in England Guidance on applying for NHS permission for research is available in the Integrated Research Application System or at <u>http://www.rdforum.nhs.uk</u>.

Where a NHS organisation's role in the study is limited to identifying and referring potential participants to research sites ("participant identification centre"), guidance should be sought from the R&D office on the information it requires to give permission for this activity.

For non-NHS sites, site management permission should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the relevant host organisation.

Sponsors are not required to notify the Committee of approvals from host organisations.

Approved documents

ı

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document	Version	Date
Covering Letter		07 October 2011
Investigator CV	Anne Scott	06 October 2011
Investigator CV	Alicia O'Cathain	03 October 2011
Letter of invitation to participant	1 - Study parts 1 and 2	04 October 2011
Letter of invitation to participant	1 - study part 3	04 October 2011
Other: ESRC+3 Postgraduate Studentship		02 August 2010
Other: Outline Topic Guide - decision making processes in the use of technology for type 1 diabetes	1	04 October 2011
Other: Reply form research study - Study parts 1, 2 and 3	1	04 October 2011
Participant Consent Form: Patients - Interviews - Study parts 2 and 3	2	07 November 2011
Participant Consent Form: Patients - Clinic 5 - Study part 1	2	07 November 2011
Participant Consent Form: Staff interviews - Study pars 2 and 3	2	07 November 2011
Participant Consent Form: Staff - Clinic 5 - Study part 1	2	07 November 2011
Participant Consent Form: Individuals accompanying patients - Clinic 5	2	07 November 2011
Participant Information Sheet: Information for staff - clinic 5 - Study parts 1 and 2	1	04 October 2011
Participant Information Sheet: Information for GP practice staff - study part 3	1	04 October 2011
Participant Information Sheet: Individuals accompanying patients - Clinic 5 - Study part 1	2	07 November 2011
Participant Information Sheet: Patients - Clinic 5 - Study parts 1 and 2	2	07 November 2011
Participant Information Sheet: Patients - GP practice - Study Part 3	2	07 November 2011
Protocol	1	04 October 2011
REC application	85473/255111/1/257	06 October 2011
Referees or other scientific critique report	Reviewers checklist 1	
Referees or other scientific critique report	Scientific Reviewers Comments 1 - Maxine Johnson	29 September 2011

Referees or other scientific critique report	Scientific reviewers checklist 2	
Referees or other scientific critique report	Scientific reviewers comments 2 - Annette Haywood	27 September 2011
Response to Request for Further Information		08 November 2011
Summary/Synopsis	1	04 October 2011

Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

After ethical review

Reporting requirements

The attached document "After ethical review – guidance for researchers" gives detailed guidance on reporting requirements for studies with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Adding new sites and investigators
- Notification of serious breaches of the protocol
- Progress and safety reports
- Notifying the end of the study

The NRES website also provides guidance on these topics, which is updated in the light of changes in reporting requirements or procedures.

Feedback

You are invited to give your view of the service that you have received from the National Research Ethics Service and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the website.

Further information is available at National Research Ethics Service website > After Review

11/EM/0381	Please quote this number on all correspondence

With the Committee's best wishes for the success of this project

sincerely Yours PΡ **Dr Martin Hewitt** Chair

E-mail: heather.harrison@nottspct.nhs.uk

Enclosures:

"After ethical review - guidance for researchers"

Appendix 7.2: Information Sheet for Staff (Parts One and Two)

Printed on headed notepaper

INFORMATION FOR STAFF – CLINIC X

Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes

This leaflet tells you about a study looking at how decisions are made regarding different insulin treatments for Type 1 diabetes.

We are asking individuals with Type 1 diabetes who attend Clinic X to take part in a study.

We would like to study how decisions are made about insulin treatments when individuals attend clinic appointments.

To do this a researcher would like to record patient consultations with medical staff.

You are being invited because your patients are being selected to take part in this study.

We require your consent to audio digitally record these consultations.

We would also like to invite you to participate in an interview with a researcher to discuss your input into the decision making process.

Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of the study?

The study aims to find out about how decisions are made regarding insulin regimens and what influences these decisions. To carry out the research we would like to record consultations in diabetic clinics (Clinic X). We would also like to invite you to participate in a follow up interview.

Why have I been chosen?

You are being invited because your patients are being invited to take part in this study. We will be selecting patients who attend Clinic X appointments and who have had diabetes for at least one year.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide. You will be asked at clinic if you would be interested in taking part in the study. We will go through this information sheet and answer any questions you may have. You will be given time to consider if you want to take part. If you want further information, please telephone us (the number is at the end of the information sheet). If you decide to take part you can withdraw at any time without giving a reason.

What will happen if I take part?

If you decide to take part, the researcher will ask you to sign a consent form to show you have agreed. Consent will be for the duration of the study.

During the appointment

The researcher will sit in on the consultation and record what is said (using an audio digital recorder). The researcher will make other brief notes about the consultation including: who is present and details about the patient's current insulin regimen. The researcher will ask the medical staff for details about the patient's last recorded HbA1c test but will not have access to the patient's medical record.

Follow up interview

The researcher will invite you to take part in an interview to discuss the decision making processes involved in allocating different treatment regimens and influences on these choices. If you agree, the researcher will arrange to interview at Clinic X on a different day. The interview will last approximately 40-50 minutes.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

We do not anticipate immediate benefits to the research participants involved in this study. However, the research findings have the potential to inform improvements in the allocation of technology. The findings will be disseminated to staff and this may inform future patient/clinician interactions. Participating in the study may lead to improved patient awareness about their condition.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

We do not expect that there will be any disadvantages or risks to you taking part. At any time during the course of the consultation you may ask the researcher to leave, for example if you or the patient would prefer to speak privately. If the patient becomes upset at any point during your consultation, the researcher will leave without needing to be asked. In this last case the researcher will turn off and erase the recording.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes. We will follow ethical and legal requirements to ensure that all information about you is stored securely. All information stored about you will be kept strictly confidential. We will keep your name separate from any information collected. This information will be identified by a study number. Your information will only be viewed by the researcher and her academic supervisors.

What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

You can withdraw from the study at any time, (including during the consultation or interview) but data will be used up to the point that you withdraw unless you request that data collected is excluded.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The findings will be written up as a thesis for a PhD. A shorter report will be written and disseminated to staff involved in the study. This will also be shared with Diabetes UK. The results will also be written up and submitted to academic journals.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The study is being organised by the University of Sheffield. The research is being undertaken as part of a PhD project funded by the Economic and Social Research Council.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by independent Research Ethics Committees. This is to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. This study has been reviewed by Nottingham Local Research Ethics Committee 2.

Further information and contact details

If you have any questions about the study, wish to discuss taking part or have any concerns, please contact the researcher leading the study: Anne Scott University of Sheffield

ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 07785 230725 Email: anne.scott@sheffield.ac.uk

The Academic Supervisor for the project is: Professor Alicia O'Cathain University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 0114 2220770 Email: <u>a.ocathain@sheffield.ac.uk</u>

Finally, thank you for reading this leaflet.

Appendix 7.3: Patient Information Sheet (Parts One and Two)

Printed on headed notepaper

PATIENT INFORMATION SHEET – CLINIC

Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes

This leaflet tells you about a study looking at how decisions are made regarding different insulin treatments for Type 1 diabetes.

We are asking individuals with Type 1 diabetes who attend Clinic 5 to take part in a study.

We would like to study how decisions are made about insulin treatments when individuals attend clinic appointments.

To do this a researcher would like to record your appointment conversation with medical staff.

We may also invite you to participate in an interview with a researcher to discuss your treatment choices in the past as well as the present.

If you would like to find out more, please read the rest of this leaflet. A larger type version of this leaflet is available.

Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Talk about the study with others if you wish, for example a friend, relative, nurse or doctor. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of the study?

The study aims to find out about how decisions are made regarding insulin regimens and what influences these decisions. To carry out the research we would like to record your consultation. We may also ask you to participate in a follow up interview.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you have type 1 diabetes and you attend a specialist diabetes clinic as part of your care. We will be selecting patients who attend Clinic 5 appointments and who have had diabetes for at least one year. Your consultant or specialist diabetes nurse has helped us to identify who to invite to take part. We need a range of individuals on different insulin regimens. In total we need about 40 people to help with this study.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide. You may be contacted by letter or asked at clinic if you would be interested in taking part in the study. You will be given time to consider if you want to take part. If you decide that you would like to take part, please return the reply form (in postage paid envelope). Alternatively if you prefer you may telephone clinic 5 (contact details are on the attached letter). If you want further information, please telephone or e-mail us (the details are at the end of the information sheet). At your clinic appointment we will go through this information sheet and answer any questions you may have. If you decide to take part you can withdraw at any time without giving a reason. This would not affect the standard of care you receive.

What will happen if I take part?

If you decide to take part, the researcher will arrange to meet you at your next clinic appointment. The researcher will check that you still want to be involved in the study. The researcher will ask you to sign a consent form to show you have agreed. If you are accompanied by a friend or family member and they will be sitting in on your appointment we will also ask them to sign a consent form as well. If you have to stay longer at the hospital because of the research (talking to the researcher before and after your appointment) we will reimburse your car parking charges.

Before the appointment

We will ask you for some background details such as your age and how long you have had diabetes.

During the appointment

The researcher will sit in on your appointment with the doctor or nurse and record what is said (using an audio digital recorder). This will record the conversation. The researcher will make other brief notes about your consultation including: who is present and details about your current insulin regimen. The researcher will ask the medical staff for details about your last recorded HbA_{1c} test but will not have access to your medical record.

After the appointment

The researcher may invite you to take part in an interview to discuss the consultation and the types of treatment you have had since being diagnosed. If you agree the researcher will arrange to meet you at a place of your choosing (for example at home or hospital) on a different day. The interview will last approximately 60 minutes. If you attend the hospital for the purposes of the interview you will be reimbursed car parking and travel expenses.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

We do not anticipate immediate benefits to the research participants involved in this study. However, the research findings have the potential to inform improvements in the allocation of technology. The findings will be disseminated to staff and this may inform future patient/clinician interactions. Participating in the study may lead to improved patient awareness about their condition.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

We do not expect that there will be any disadvantages or risks to you taking part. At any time during the course of the consultation you may ask the researcher to leave, for example if you would prefer to speak privately with the doctor or nurse. If you become upset at any point during your consultation the researcher will leave without you needing to ask. In this last case the researcher will turn off and erase the recording. Sensitive issues will not be included in the interview, however, If you become distressed or worried for any reason during the conversation, the researcher will ask if you want to continue. If you decide not to proceed, the researcher will stop the recording and end the interview. Any concerns that cannot be resolved with the researcher will be referred to the clinical care team.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes. We will follow ethical and legal requirements to ensure that all information about you is stored securely. All information stored about you will be kept strictly confidential. We will keep your name separate from any information collected. This information will be identified by a study number. Your information will only be viewed by the researcher and her academic supervisors.

What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

You can withdraw from the study at any time, (including during the consultation or interview) but data will be used up to the point that you withdraw unless you request that data collected is excluded.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The findings will be written up as a thesis for a PhD. A shorter report will be written and to be disseminated to staff involved in the study. This will also be shared with Diabetes UK. The results will also be written up and submitted to academic journals.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The study is being organised by the University of Sheffield. The research is being undertaken as part of a PhD project funded by the Economic and Social Research Council.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by independent Research Ethics Committees. This is to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. This study has been reviewed by Nottingham Local Research Ethics Committee 2.

Further information and contact details

If you have any questions about the study, wish to discuss taking part or have any concerns, please contact the researcher leading the study:

Anne Scott University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 07785 230725 Email: anne.scott@sheffield.ac.uk

If you have any queries about participating in research or complaints you can contact the hospital's Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) (contact details are on the bottom of this page).

The Academic Supervisor for the project is: Professor Alicia O'Cathain University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 0114 2220770 Email: a.ocathain@sheffield.ac.uk

Finally, thank you for reading this leaflet.

Version 3 – 05/01/2012 – Study Parts One and Two

Appendix 7.4: Information Sheet for Accompanying Individuals (Part One)

Printed on headed notepaper INFORMATION SHEET - INDIVIDUALS ACCOMPANYING PATIENTS – CLINIC X

Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes

Introduction

We are conducting a study in Clinic X looking at how decisions are made regarding insulin treatments for type 1 diabetes. To carry out the research we would like to record a number of consultations in Clinic X. You are accompanying a patient who has been invited to participate in the study. If you are accompanying the patient during their consultation we will need your consent as well as that of the patient. This is because we will be recording the conversations during the consultation and you may be involved in these discussions.

The researcher will sit in on the appointment with the doctor or nurse and record what is said (using an audio digital recorder). You or the patient can choose to withdraw from the study at any time. If the patient becomes upset at any point during the consultation the researcher will leave without needing to be asked. In this last case the researcher will turn off and erase the recording.

The study is being organised by the University of Sheffield. The research is being undertaken as part of a PhD project funded by the Economic and Social Research Council.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes. We will follow ethical and legal requirements to ensure that all information about you is stored securely. All information stored about you will be kept strictly confidential.

Further information and contact details

If you have any questions about the study, or have any concerns, please contact the researcher leading the study:

Anne Scott, University of Sheffield, ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St, Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 07785 230725 Email: <u>anne.scott@sheffield.ac.uk</u>

If you have any queries about participating in research or complaints you can contact the hospital's Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) (contact details are on the bottom of this page).

The Academic Supervisor for the project is: Professor Alicia O'Cathain, University of Sheffield, ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA, Tel: 0114 2220770 Email: <u>a.ocathain@sheffield.ac.uk</u>

Version 3 – 05/01//2012 – Study Part One

Appendix 7.5: Information Sheet for Staff (Part Three)

Printed on headed notepaper with patient's address

INFORMATION FOR GP PRACTICE STAFF

Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes

This leaflet tells you about a study looking at how decisions are made regarding different insulin treatments for Type 1 diabetes.

We are asking individuals with Type 1 diabetes who attend a specialist diabetes clinic to take part in a study.

In this part of the study we would like to explore how decisions are made about insulin treatments when individuals attend clinic appointments.

We would also like to interview patients registered at your practice who do not currently access specialist diabetes services.

We would like to invite you to participate in an interview with a researcher to discuss your input into the decision making processes involved in treatment for these patients.

Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of the study?

The study aims to find out about how decisions are made regarding insulin regimens and what influences these choices. The study is in two parts. Part one focuses on patients attending a specialist diabetes clinic and involves both observations of consultations as well as follow up interviews. We would also like to interview patients who do not currently access specialist diabetes services as well as clinicians who provide their diabetes care.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because we are inviting patients in your practice to take part in the study who have type 1 diabetes and who do not currently attend specialist diabetes services.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide. We will go through this information sheet and answer any questions you may have. You will be given time to consider if you want to take part. If you want further information, please telephone us (the number is at the end of the information sheet). If you decide to take part you can withdraw at any time without giving a reason.

What will happen if I take part?

If you decide to take part in the interview, the researcher will ask you to sign a consent form to show you have agreed. The interview will last approximately 40-50 minutes.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

We do not anticipate immediate benefits to the research participants involved in this study. However, the research findings have the potential to inform improvements in the allocation of technology. The findings will be disseminated to staff and this may inform future patient/clinician interactions. Participating in the study may lead to improved patient awareness about their condition.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

We do not expect that there will be any disadvantages or risks to you taking part.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes. We will follow ethical and legal requirements to ensure that all information about you is stored securely. All information stored about you will be kept strictly confidential. We will keep your name separate from any information collected. This information will be identified by a study number. Your information will only be viewed by the researcher and her academic supervisors.

What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

You can withdraw from the study at any time, (including during the interview) but data will be used up to the point that you withdraw unless you request that data collected is excluded.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The findings will be written up as a thesis for a PhD. A shorter report will be written and disseminated to staff involved in the study. This will also be shared with Diabetes UK. The results will also be written up and submitted to academic journals.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The study is being organised by the University of Sheffield. The research is being undertaken as part of a PhD project funded by the Economic and Social Research Council.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by independent Research Ethics Committees. This is to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. This study has been reviewed by Nottingham Local Research Ethics Committee 2.

Further information and contact details

If you have any questions about the study, wish to discuss taking part or have any concerns, please contact the researcher leading the study:

Anne Scott University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 07785 230725

The Academic Supervisor for the project is: Professor Alicia O'Cathain University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 0114 2220770

Finally, thank you for reading this leaflet.

Version 1 – 04/10/2011 – Study Part Three

Appendix 7.6: Information Sheet for Patients (Part Three)

Printed on headed notepaper with patient's address

PATIENT INFORMATION SHEET – GP PRACTICE

Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes

This leaflet tells you about a study looking at how decisions are made regarding different insulin treatments for Type 1 diabetes.

We are asking individuals with Type 1 diabetes who attend different clinics to take part in this study.

The aim of the study is to look at the decision making processes involved in treatment for Type 1 diabetes.

You have been chosen because your care is currently being managed by your GP surgery.

We would like to invite you to take part in an interview with a researcher to discuss your insulin treatment (in the past as well as the present).

If you would like to find out more, please read the rest of this leaflet.

A larger type version of this leaflet is available.

Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Talk about the study with others if you wish, for example a friend, relative, nurse or doctor. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of the study?

The study aims to find out about how decisions are made regarding insulin regimens and what influences these decisions. We would like to invite you to take part in an interview with a researcher.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you have type 1 diabetes and your care is currently being managed by the GP surgery. We will be selecting a number of individuals with Type 1 diabetes on a range of different insulin treatments. In total we need about 40 people to help with this study.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide. If you decide that you would like to take part, please return the reply form (in the postage paid envelope). A researcher will telephone you to discuss the study and if you are in agreement will arrange to interview you. If you want further information, please telephone us (the number is at the end of the information sheet). If you decide to take part you can withdraw at any time without giving a reason. This would not affect the standard of care you receive.

What will happen if I take part?

If you decide to take part, the researcher will arrange to interview you at a place of your choosing (for example at home or GP surgery). The interview will last approximately 60 minutes.

Before the interview

The researcher will check that you still want to be involved in the study. The researcher will ask you to sign a consent form to show you have agreed. We will ask you for some background details such as your age and how long you have had diabetes.

The interview

The researcher will discuss the types of treatment you have had since being diagnosed, how these were chosen and the clinics you have attended.

After the interview

The researcher will ask the GP surgery for details about your last recorded HbA_{1c} test but will not have access to your medical record.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

We do not anticipate immediate benefits to the research participants involved in this study. However, the research findings have the potential to inform improvements in the allocation of technology. The findings will be disseminated to staff and this may inform future patient/clinician interactions. Participating in the study may lead to improved patient awareness about their condition.
What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

We do not expect that there will be any disadvantages or risks to you taking part. You may stop the interview at any time. In addition, you may decline to answer specific questions.

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

Yes. We will follow ethical and legal requirements to ensure that all information about you is stored securely. All information stored about you will be kept strictly confidential. We will keep your name separate from any information collected. This information will be identified by a study number. Your information will only be viewed by the researcher and her academic supervisors.

What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

You can withdraw from the study at any time, (including during the interview) but data will be used up to the point that you withdraw unless you request that data collected is excluded. Sensitive issues will not be included in the interview, however, If you become distressed or worried for any reason during the conversation, the researcher will ask if you want to continue. If you decide not to proceed, the researcher will stop the recording and end the interview. Any concerns that cannot be resolved with the researcher will be referred to the clinical care team.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The findings will be written up as a thesis for a PhD. A shorter report will be written and disseminated to staff involved in the study. This will also be shared with Diabetes UK. The results will also be written up and submitted to academic journals.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The study is being organised by the University of Sheffield. The research is being undertaken as part of a PhD project funded by the Economic and Social Research Council.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by independent Research Ethics Committees. This is to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. This study has been reviewed by Nottingham Local Research Ethics Committee 2.

Further information and contact details

If you have any questions about the study, wish to discuss taking part or have any concerns, please contact the researcher leading the study:

Anne Scott University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 07785 230725

If you have any queries about participating in research or complaints you can contact the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) Phone number given.

The Academic Supervisor for the project is: Professor Alicia O'Cathain University of Sheffield ScHARR, Regent Court, 30 Regent St Sheffield, S1 4DA Tel: 0114 2220770

Finally, thank you for reading this leaflet.

Version 2 – 07/11/2011 – Study Part Three

Appendix 7.7: Letter of Invitation to Patient (Parts One and Two)

Printed on headed notepaper with patient's address

Dear

We are collaborating in a study being organised by the University of Sheffield. You have been invited to take part because you attend Clinic X as part of the management of your Type 1 diabetes care.

The aim of the study is to look at the decision making processes involved in the treatment of Type 1 diabetes. To do this we would like to audio digitally record your next appointment at Clinic X. A researcher would be present at this appointment and would make notes about the conversation you have with medical staff. The researcher would ask medical staff for your last HbA1c result but would not have access to your medical record.

Some patients will also be asked to participate in a follow up interview with the researcher. This would be arranged at a time to suit you either at the hospital or your home whichever you would prefer. The interview would take about an hour.

If you are interested in the study please read the attached information sheet which provides more details. If having read the leaflet you are still interested, please sign, date and return the attached form to me (giving a contact telephone number). Alternatively, if you would prefer, please phone my secretary with your details on (insert phone number).

This will allow us to give your phone number to the researcher who will then contact you to discuss the study and if you are in agreement will make arrangements to meet you at your next appointment.

Your car parking charges will be reimbursed if your stay at the hospital is longer due to your involvement in the research.

The study is being undertaken as part of a PhD and is funded by an Economic and Social Research Council grant.

Thank you for taking the time to read this letter.

Yours sincerely

Diabetes Consultant

Version 2 – 05/01/2012 – Study Parts One and Two

Appendix 7.8: letter of Invitation to Patient (Part Three)

Printed on headed notepaper with patient's address

Dear

We are collaborating in a study being organised by the University of Sheffield. The aim of the study is to look at the decision making processes involved in the treatment of Type 1 diabetes. You have been chosen to take part because your care is currently being managed by the team at the Surgery.

We would like to invite you to take part in an interview with a researcher. This would be arranged at a time to suit you either at the Surgery or your home whichever you would prefer. The interview would take about an hour.

If you are interested in the study please read the attached information sheet which provides more details. If having read the leaflet you are still interested please sign, date and return the attached form to me (giving a contact telephone number). This will allow us to give your phone number to the researcher who will then contact you to discuss the study and if you are in agreement will make arrangements to interview you.

Thank you for taking the time to read this letter.

Yours sincerely

General Practitioner

Version 1 – 04/10/2011 – Study Part Three

Appendix 7.9: Reply Form all Study Parts

Printed on headed notepaper

REPLY FORM RESEARCH STUDY:

DECISION MAKING PROCESSES IN THE USE OF TECHNOLOGY FOR TYPE 1 DIABETES

I consent to my phone number being given to the researcher who will then be able to contact me about the above study.

My phone number is _____

Name of Participant

Date

Signature

Please return this form in the reply paid envelope

Version 1 - 04/10/2011 - Study Parts One Two and Three

Page 1 of 1

Appendix 7.10: Consent Form for Staff (Part One)

Printed on headed notepaper

CONSENT FORM – STAFF – CLINIC X

Title of Research Project: Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes					
Name of Researcher: Anne Scott					
Sponsor: University of Sheffield					
Participant Identification Number fo	r this Project:		Please Initial Box		
 I confirm that I have read and un dated (insert date) and I have had the opportunity to 					
 I understand that my particip withdraw at any time without ginegative consequences (Data w unless I request that data collect 					
 I understand that the clinic apport recording will be written out we used in reports, publications and 	digitally recorded. The ymous quotes may be				
 I understand that my response permission for members of the anonymised responses. I unders the research materials, and I will or reports that result from the response of the result from the res					
 I understand that data collected authorised individuals from the or the NHS Trust, where it is rele permission for these individuals 					
 I agree for the anonymised dat research. 	ta collected from me	to be used in future			
7. I agree to take part in the above r	research project.				
Name of Participant (or legal representative)	Date	Signature			
Name of person taking consent (Lead Researcher) To be signed and dated in presence of	Date f the participant	Signature			
2 Copies : 1 copy for participant (with letter and/or information sheet), 1 copy for the project file Version 3 – 01/03/2012 – Study Part One					

Appendix 7.11: Consent Form for Patients (Part One)

Printed on headed notepaper

CONSENT FORM – PATIENTS – CLINIC X

Title of Research Project: Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes Name of Researcher: Anne Scott Sponsor: University of Sheffield

Participant Identification Number for this Project:

Please Initial Box

- I confirm that I have read (had read to me) and understand the information sheet Final Version dated (insert date) explaining the above research project and I have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without there being any negative consequences (Data will be used up to the point that I withdraw unless I request that data collected is excluded).
- I understand that the clinic appointment will be audio digitally recorded. The recording will be written out word-for-word and anonymous quotes may be used in reports, publications and journals.
- 4. I understand that my responses will be kept strictly confidential. I give permission for members of the research team to have access to my anonymised responses. I understand that my name will not be linked with the research materials, and I will not be identified or identifiable in the report or reports that result from the research.
- 5. I understand that data collected during the study may be looked at by authorised individuals from the University of Sheffield, regulatory authorities or the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my study data.
- 6. I agree for the anonymised data collected from me to be used in future research.

7. I agree to take part in the above research project.

Name of Participant (or legal representative)	Date	Signature
Name of person taking consent (Lead Researcher)	Date	Signature
To be signed and dated in presence	of the participant	
3 Copies: 1 copy for participant (wi	th letter and/or inform	ation sheet), 1 copy for the project file
1 copy to be placed in the patient's	medical record (with le	etter and/or information sheet)
Version 3 - 01/03/2012 - Study Par	t One	

Appendix 7.12: Consent Form for Accompanying Individuals (Part One)

Printed on headed notepaper

	CONSENT FORM – INDIVIDUALS ACCOMPANYING PATIENTS – CLINIC X					
	Title of Research Project: Decision ma	aking processes in the us	se of technology for T	/pe 1 diabetes		
	Name of Researcher: Anne Scott					
	Sponsor: University of Sheffield					
	Participant Identification Number for	this Project:		Please Initial Box		
	 I confirm that I have read (had re sheet Final Version (insert date) project and I have had the opport 	ead to me) and unders explaining tunity to ask questions.	tand the information the above research			
	 I understand that my participa withdraw at any time without giv negative consequences (Data wi unless I request that data collecter 	ation is voluntary and ring any reason and wit Il be used up to the p ed is excluded).	that I am free to hout there being any oint that I withdraw			
	 I understand that the clinic appoint recording will be written out work used in reports, publications and 	intment will be audio di rd-for-word and anonyi journals.	igitally recorded. The mous quotes may be			
4. I understand that my responses will be kept strictly confidential. I give permission for members of the research team to have access to my anonymised responses. I understand that my name will not be linked with the research materials, and I will not be identified or identifiable in the report or reports that result from the research.						
5. I understand that data collected during the study may be looked at by authorised individuals from the University of Sheffield, regulatory authorities or the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my study data.						
	 I agree for the anonymised data research. 	a collected from me t	o be used in future			
	7. I agree to take part in the above re	esearch project.				
	Name of Participant (or legal representative)	Date	Signature			
	Name of person taking consent (Lead Researcher) To be signed and dated in presence of 2 Copies : 1 copy for participant (with Version 3 – 01/02/2012 – Study Part (Date the participant letter and/or informati	Signature on sheet), 1 copy for t	he project file		
1	version 5 – 01/05/2012 – 5000y Part (one				

Appendix 7.13: Consent Form for Staff Interviews (Parts Two and Three)

Printed on headed notepaper

Ple Final Version project and I am free to ere being any at I withdraw uld I not wish The recording by be used in	ease Initial Box
Ple Final Version project and I am free to ere being any at I withdraw uld I not wish The recording by be used in	ease Initial Box
Final Version project and I am free to ere being any at I withdraw uld I not wish The recording by be used in	
am free to ere being any at I withdraw uld I not wish The recording by be used in	
The recording ay be used in	
ential L give	
ccess to my e linked with in the report	
looked at by ry authorities esearch. I give	
sed in future	
Signature	
Signature	
	ccess to my e linked with in the report looked at by ry authorities esearch. I give sed in future Signature t), 1 copy for the

Appendix 7.14: Consent Form for Patient Interviews (Parts Two and Three)

Printed on headed notepaper

CONSENT FORM – PATIENTS – INTERVIEWS						
Title of Research Project: Decision making processes in the use of technology for Type 1 diabetes						
Sponsor: University of Sheffield						
Participant Identification Number for this Project:	Please Initial Box					
 I confirm that I have read (had read to me) and understan sheet Final Version dated (insert date) exp research project and I have had the opportunity to ask ques 	d the information laining the above tions.					
2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without there being any negative consequences (Data will be used up to the point that I withdraw unless I request that data collected is excluded). In addition, should I not wish to answer any particular question, I am free to decline.						
 I understand that the interview will be audio digitally record will be written out word-for-word and anonymous quote reports, publications and journals. 	led. The recording s may be used in					
4. I understand that my responses will be kept strictly confidential. I give permission for members of the research team to have access to my anonymised responses. I understand that my name will not be linked with the research materials, and I will not be identified or identifiable in the report or reports that result from the research.						
5. I understand that data collected during the study may be looked at by authorised individuals from the University of Sheffield, regulatory authorities or the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my study data.						
 I agree for the anonymised data collected from me to be used in future research. 						
7. I agree to take part in the above research project.						
Name of Participant Date (or legal representative)	Signature					
Name of person taking consentDateSignature(Lead Researcher)To be signed and dated in presence of the participantSignature						
2 Copies : 1 copy for participant (with letter and/or information sheet), 1 copy for the project file Version 3 – 01/03//2012 – Study Parts Two and Three						

Appendix 7.15: Example Topic Guide for Patients

Outline Topic Guide-Decision Making Processes in the use of Technology for Type 1 Diabetes

Individuals with Diabetes

Demographics

Just to get started it would be really helpful to know a little bit about you. This is useful for the research

I know a little about you already from the consultation. Can you just start by letting me know who you live with:

Cover education and occupation since leaving school

So if we can move onto the diabetes can you think about when you were diagnosed? Can you tell me what happened?

If we can move onto the diabetes can you think back to when you were first diagnosed. What happened

Firstly how long ago is since you were diagnosed

- History of the patient's diabetes symptoms how it was diagnosed
- Impact on life
- Key events in disease trajectory
- Long and short term complications

I want to ask about the various regimens you have been on

First/Previous regimens

- What were you started on
- Who was involved (GP specialist clinic
- Why was this chosen
- What part did you play in the decision
- What part did others play
- **impact** on daily life

Current regimen

- when did current regimen start
- why did the regimen change
- who was involved in changing the regimen
- what part did you play in the decision
- what were the key influences on the change
- describe current daily regimen
- **how** does it compare
- Impact on daily life
- Carb counting what's involved
- Blood glucose monitoring how often and what are the results
- **HbA1c** have there been any changes since being on the new regimen
- How often do you get blood checked
- **Comparison** with previous regimen

Clinic Consultations in general

Have you attended the specialist clinic in the past for your diabetes care

- How did you get to clinic
- What's involved in attending time off work etc
- What clinics did you attend
- How frequently

- How do you feel about frequency
- **How** long were the clinics

Last clinic consultation

- Who referred you to the clinic
- Do you recall your last visit
- What do you think about how that consultation went
- What did you want to discuss
- Did you feel you were able to discuss
- What were you expecting would happen
- Did you ask all your questions
- What were your feelings about the outcome of the consultation
- What part did you feel you played in the consultation decisions

Compare consultant clinics and nurse clinics

Decision making

• What part do you feel you play in deciding what treatments to have for managing the diabetes

Continuity and support

- How often have you seen this consultant /team
- How would you describe the relationship you with staff in the clinic What help and support have you had:
 - From clinic staff and other clinical staff
 - Family members
 - Courses/other sources

GP

- How often do you see your GP
- How long does it take to get to GP
- **How** do you get there
- What support do you get from the GP
- What kind of relationship do you have with the GP

Information

• Where do you get information about diabetes from

Before closing is there anything you would like to mention

We could talk for a long time and I could ask many more questions but we will have to draw this to a close now. Is there anything that you would like to mention to me that has occurred to you during this interview

I am really grateful to you for giving up your time today and inviting me into your home

Just to say again everything you have said will be treated in strictest confidence. Please contact us if you want to ask any questions our contact details are on the leaflet.

Do you have any questions about anything we have talked about Thank you for taking part in the study

26/09/2012

Appendix 7.16: Example Topic Guide for Staff

Outline Topic Guide-Decision Making Processes in the use of Technology for Type					
1 Diabetes					
Clinicians					
Clinic Background					
 How long has clinician worked in this setting and as a clinician 					
 How long involved with diabetes care 					
• What is the role of the clinician in this setting					
Do you sit in on any other clinics					
Pump technology - I would like to start with asking about access to pump technology					
 How do patients access pump technology in this hospital 					
Who refers patients to the pump clinic					
• is there a system or is at the discretion of clinicians					
 Would some be more likely to refer 					
• Other than clinical characteristics what would influence the decision to refer					
 What assessments would staff undertake before referring 					
• I have heard that other hospitals utilise a panel approach to allocating pump					
technology – this seems a more formal approach than here can you give me your					
thoughts on that					
 Where would you say the decision to allocate pump technology is made 					
• In terms of who gets pumps how fair do you think the system is in terms of who gets a					
pump or who might be referred for consideration for a pump					
 What part do non clinical factors play 					
 Is it luck of the draw who you see in terms of doctors and nurses 					
 Are some people more likely to be seen as potential candidates for a pump 					
due to non clinical factors - have a lot of health related people or professiona					
people in my sample is this typical					
 Are the right people getting the pumps now and in the past 					
What influences the number of pumps that can be issued					
 Is there a limit 					
Pump technology other influences to access					
 What impact can a change of consultants have on access to pumps 					
 Changes over recent years 					
 Policy on discharging patients to GP 					
• Who is eligible to attend a course					
 Are enough type 1 patients attending courses 					
o If not why not					
 What is the impact of education on patients with type 1 diabetes 					
Consultation – referring to the nump clinic					
What is the objective of the numn clinic consultation					
• what is the team trying to achieve in 15 mins					
 What is the team of ying to demote in 15 mins What do you feel about the appointment slot of 15 mins 					
What are the respective roles of staff present					

• How does the MDT approach work

- How do you feel your clinic is running now
 - What changes have you made why
 - What problems have you encountered associated with the clinic
- Can you tell me about the approach to individuals who are struggling to manage their diabetes
 - Ideally on a pump HbA1c would improve what if it doesn't
 - HbA1c is deteriorating over time how is this managed
- To what extent is withdrawal of pump an option
 - \circ $\;$ What part does quality of life play in these decisions
- Can you tell me about the system you have instigated where patients e-mail their results
 - Why was instigated how is it working
 - How do patients feel about it

Decision making

- What is your approach to treatment decision making regarding the different insulin regimens
- what part do you play and what part is played by the patient
- What influences patients to take up the offer of a change of regimen
- What do you feel helps patients to make decisions in the consultation

Accessing Specialist Care – more generally

- What are the barriers/difficulties for patients in accessing specialist services
- The hospital is situated in an area of deprivation are these people represented amongst pump users

For people with Type 1 diabetes there is an obvious trend with the mortality rate increasing as the level of deprivation rises (national diabetes audit 2011)

- What are the challenges your service faces for this population in terms of access and their management of diabetes
- What services or support are available to patients who cannot attend the hospital clinic
- Describe the type of patient who is invited to attend clinic but does not attend
 What about pump patients who do not attend
- What kinds of regimens are people on who have not attended clinic for several years

The role of Primary and Secondary Care in type 1 diabetes

- What are your views on the split care received by type 1 patients between GPs and hospital
 - o does it work
- Are there any disadvantages to patients in being seen only by the GP
- How could the management of type 1 patients be improved
 - what is your vision for diabetes care in the coming years in this hospital

Just to say again everything you have said will be treated in strictest confidence. Please contact us if you want to ask any questions our contact details are on the leaflet. Thank you for taking part in the study.

19/03/213

Appendix 7.17: Field Notes Form

Field Notes					
Participant No		Participant No(s) (Staff):			
Other attendees:					
Clinic ¹ :	Date	:		Clinic Dur	ation:
Socio-Demographic De	tails				
Sex: Age:		Ethnic O	rıgın:	Occupation:	Post Code:
Background Diabetes					
			HBA_{1c}		
Complications: None					
Treatment:					
Past Treatment:			Current	Treatment:	
Consultation (Scope)					
The researcher will reco	ord notes to	aid analy	sis of trar	nscribed consultati	ons
		,			
08/09/2011					Page 1 of 2

Field Notes (Cont)			
Consultation (Outcome)			
Appointment under 6 weeks	Appointment over 6 weeks -		
Referral to other clinic:			
Discharge (reasons):			
טוטרומוצר (ולמטווט).			
¹ Clinic Codes: General Diabetes (A), Under 25's (E	3), Insulin Intensification Clinic (C), Nurse Led (D)		
08/09/2011	Page 2 of 2		

Appendix 8: Conversation Analysis - Transcription Conventions

Speaker identifier: Patient (P); Doctor (D); Diabetes specialist nurse (N); Diabetes specialist				
dietitian (A); Partner (B).				
Characteristics of speech including timings a	nd delivery adapted from Heritage and			
Maynard (2006b)				
Use of brackets				
[]	Overlapping speech			
	Empty brackets or words in single brackets			
()	denotes lack of clarity in recording or name			
	of participant omitted			
	Either an aspects of the recording is not			
	straight forward to transcribe, for example			
	coughing, or actions by participants, for			
	example 'looking up records on a computer'			
Timing of utterances	I			
(0,0)	Intervals in speech timed in tenths of a			
(0.0)	second			
(.)	Timings that are less than 0.2 of a second			
=	No pause between utterances			
Speech delivery				
Period indicates a fall in intonation				
$\uparrow\downarrow$	A marked rise or fall in pitch			
Increased volume in relation to c				
<u>onacrimea</u> works	utterances			
::	Colons indicate stretching of words			
awarda aawardaa	Use of degree sign indicates softly spoken			
	words. Two degrees very softly spoken			
><	Speech speeded up			
<>	Speech slowed down			
.hhh	Audible inbreath			
hhh	Audible outbreath			
Hah hah	Laughter			
-	Word cut-off or self-interruption			

Code	Regimen	Gender	Age	HbA1c %	HbA1c m/mol	Diabetes years/ Months	SEC-2010 [#]
P1	MDI	Male	26	11.2	99	16 months	3
P2	Pump	Female	49	8.80	73	24 years	3
Р3	Pump	Female	35	7.30	56	22 years	1
P4	Pump	Female	54	6.80	51	21 years	1
P5	Pump	Male	49	7.80	62	17 years	3
P6	Pump	Female	37	7.60	60	30 years	3
Ρ7	Pump	Female	56	6.80	51	33 years	1
P8	Pump	Male	39	7.80	62	32 years	1
Р9	Pump	Male	65	6.20	44	12 years	2
P10	Pump	Male	21	9.40	79	12 years	3
P11	Pump	Female	54	7.10	54	41 years	1
P12	Pump	Male	40	8.10	65	20 years	1
P13	Basal/Bolus	Male	34	8.50	69	7 years	2
P14	Pump	Male	79	6.70	50	57 years	1
P15	MDI	Female	31	9.70	83	14 years	2
P16	Pump	Female	46	8.30	68	37 years	1
P17	Pump	Male	44	9.90	85	14 years	3
P18	Pump	Female	38	9.70	83	3 years	1
P19	Pump	Female	49	8.60	70	26 years	2
P20	MDI	Male	47	14.00	130	6 years	3
P21	MDI	Female	21	15.20	143	8 years	2
P22	Pump	Male	44	7.50	58	33 years	1
P23	Pump	Female	20	7.80	62	14 months	Ν
P24	MDI	Female	60	8.10	65	19 years	1
P25	MDI	Female	55	9.70	83	16 years	2
P26	MDI	Female	39	7.50	58	12 years	2
P27	Basal/Bolus	Male	48	7.50	58	36 years	3
P28	MDI	Male	48	7.00	53	37 years	3

Appendix 9: Individual Characteristics of Patient Participants

[#]Socioeconomic status – Standard Occupation Classification

Three classes: 1 = Higher Managerial and Professional; 2 = Intermediate; 3 = Routine and Manual; N = Not Classified (Office for National Statistics 2010b).

References

Adams, A. S., Mah, C., Soumerai, S. B., Zhang, F., Barton, M. B., & Ross-Degnan, D. 2003, Barriers to self-monitoring of blood glucose among adults with diabetes in an HMO: a cross sectional study, *BMC Health Services Research*, 3(1), p.6.

Al Sayah, F., Majumdar, S. R., Williams, B., Robertson, S., & Johnson, J. A. 2013, Health literacy and health outcomes in diabetes: a systematic review, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28(3), p.444-452.

American Diabetic Association 2010, Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus, *Diabetes Care*, 33(Suppl 1), p.S62-9.

Anderson, S. G., Malipatil, N. S., Roberts, H., Dunn, G., & Heald, A. H. 2014, Socioeconomic deprivation independently predicts symptomatic painful diabetic neuropathy in type 1 diabetes, *Primary care diabetes*, 8(1), p.65-69.

Arthur, A. & Nazroo, J. 2003, Designing Fieldwork Strategies and Materials, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, Ritchie J & Lewis J, eds., Sage, London, p.109-137.

Atkinson, J. M. & Heritage, J. 1984, *Structures of Social Action: Studies in Conversation Analysis* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Bachmann, M. O., Eachus, J., Hopper, C. D., Davey, S. G., Propper, C., Pearson, N. J., Williams, S., Tallon, D., & Frankel, S. 2003, Socio-economic inequalities in diabetes complications, control, attitudes and health service use: a cross-sectional study, *Diabetic Medicine*, 20(11), p.921-929.

Bailey, S. C., Brega, A. G., Crutchfield, T. M., Elasy, T., Herr, H., Kaphingst, K., Karter, A. J., Moreland-Russell, S., Osborn, C. Y., Pignone, M., Rothman, R., & Schillinger, D. 2014, Update on health literacy and diabetes, *Diabetes Educator*, 40(5), p.581-604.

Baker, D. W., Gazmararian, J. A., Scott, T., Parker, R. M., Green, D., Ren, J., & Peel, J. 2002, Functional health literacy and the risk of hospital admission among Medicare managed care enrollees, *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(8), p.1278-1283.

Baker, D. W., Gazmararian, J. A., Williams, M. V., Scott, T., Parker, R. M., Green, D., Ren, J., & Peel, J. 2004, Health literacy and the use of outpatient physician services by Medicare managed care enrollees, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 2004(19), p.3-215.

Barbour, R. S. 1998, Mixing qualitative methods: quality assurance or qualitative quagmire?, *Qualitative Health Research*, 8(3), p.352-361.

Barnard, K. 2012, Time to embrace a new approach to diabetes care?, *Practical Diabetes*, 29(5), p.181.

Barnard, K. D., Skinner, T. C., & Peveler, R. 2006, The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with Type 1 diabetes: systematic literature review, *Diabetic Medicine*, 23(4), p.445-448.

Barry, C. A., Stevenson, F. A., Britten, N., Barber, N., & Bradley, C. P. 2001, Giving voice to the lifeworld. More humane, more effective medical care? A qualitative study of doctor-patient communication in general practice, *Social Science & Medicine*, 53(4), p.487-505.

Bartley, M. 2003, *Health Inequality: An Introduction to Concepts, Theories and Methods* Polity Press, Cambridge.

Bäz, L., Muller, N., Beluchin, E., Kloos, C., Lehmann, T., Wolf, G., & Müller, U. A. 2012, Differences in the quality of diabetes care caused by social inequalities disappear after treatment and education in a tertiary care centre, *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(5), p.640-645.

Belsey, J. D., Pittard, J. B., Rao, S., Urdahl, H., & Jameson, K. 2009, Self blood glucose monitoring in type 2 diabetes. A financial impact analysis based on UK primary care, *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 63(3), p.439-448.

Bensing, J., van Dulmen, S., & Tates, K. 2003, Communication in context: new directions in communication research, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 50(1), p.27-32.

Bergenstal, R. M., Gavin, J. R., & Global Consensus Conference on Glucose Monitoring Panel 2005, The role of self-monitoring of blood glucose in the care of people with diabetes: report of a global consensus conference, *American Journal of Medicine*, 118(Suppl:9A), p.9A-6S.

Berkman, N. D., Sheridan, S. L., Donahue, K. E., Halpern, D. J., & Crotty, K. 2011a, Low health literacy and health outcomes: an updated systematic review, *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 155(2), p.97-107.

Berkman, N. D., Sheridan, S. L., Donahue, K. E., Halpern, D. J., Viera, A., Crotty, K., Holland, A., Brasure, M., Lohr, K. N., Harden, E., Tant, E., Wallace, I., & Viswanathan, M. 2011b, Health literacy interventions and outcomes: an updated systematic review, *Evidence Report/Technology Assessment*, (199), p.1-941.

Beverly, E. A., Ganda, O. P., Ritholz, M. D., Lee, Y., Brooks, K. M., Lewis-Schroeder, N. F., Hirose, M., & Weinger, K. 2012, Look who's (not) talking: diabetic patients' willingness to discuss self-care with physicians, *Diabetes Care*, 35(7), p.1466-1472.

Bilous, R. & Donnelly, R. 2010, Handbook of diabetes, 4 edn, Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester.

Blanc, X., Collet, T. H., Auer, R., Fischer, R., Locatelli, I., Iriarte, P., Krause, J., Légaré, F., & Cornuz, J. 2014, Publication trends of shared decision making in 15 high impact medical journals: a full-text review with bibliometric analysis, *BMC Medical Informatics & Decision Making*, 14 p.71.

Bloor, M. 1976, Bishop Berkeley and the adenotonsillectomy enigma: an exploration of the social exploration of the social construction of medical disposals, *Sociology*, 10 p.43-61.

Booth, A., Papaioannou, D., & Sutton, A. 2012, *Systematic Approaches to a Successful Literature Review* Sage, London.

Bowling, A. 2002, *Research Methods in Health: Investigating Health and Health Services* Open University Press, Maidenhead.

Boyd, E. & Heritage, J. 2006, Taking the history: questioning during comprehensive historytaking, in *Communication in Medical Care*, J. Heritage & W. Maynard, eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.151-184.

Braun, V. & Clarke, V. 2006, Using thematic analysis in psychology, *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), p.77-101.

Brett, J., Staniszewska, S., Mockford, C., Herron-Marx, S., Hughes, J., Tysall, C., & Suleman, R. 2012, Mapping the impact of patient and public involvement on health and social care research: a systematic review, *Health Expectations*, 17(5), p.637-650.

Brett, J., Staniszewska, S., Mockford, C., Herron-Marx, S., Hughes, J., Tysall, C., & Suleman, R. 2014, A systematic review of the impact of patient and public involvement on service users, researchers and communities, *The Patient: Patient-Centered Outcomes Research*, 7(4), p.387-395.

Brierley, S., Eiser, C., Johnson, B., Young, V., & Heller, S. 2012, Working with young adults with Type 1 diabetes: Views of a multidisciplinary care team and implications for service delivery, *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(5), p.677-681.

Bristow, K., Edwards, S., Funnel, E., Fisher, L., Gask, L., Dowrick, C., & Chew-Graham C. 2011, Help seeking and access to primary care for people from "hard-to-reach" groups with common mental health problems, *International Journal of Family Medicine Print*, 2011 p.490634.

Britten, N. 1995, Qualitative interviews in medical research, BMJ, 311(6999), p.251-253.

Britten, N. 2006, Qualitative interviews, in *Qualitative Research in Health Care*, C. Pope & N. Mays, eds., Blackwell, UK, p.12-20.

Brown, A. F., Ettner, S. L., Piette, J., Weinberger, M., Gregg, E., Shapiro, M. F., Karter, A. J., Safford, M., Waitzfelder, B., Prata, P. A., & Beckles, G. L. 2004, Socioeconomic position and health among persons with diabetes mellitus: a conceptual framework and review of the literature, *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 26 p.63-77.

Brown, R. F., Butow, P. N., Henman, M., Dunn, S. M., Boyle, F., & Tattersall, M. H. 2002, Responding to the active and passive patient: flexibility is the key, *Health Expectations*, 5(3), p.236-245.

Bryman, A. 2008, Social Research Methods, 2nd edn, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Bugge, C. & Jones, A. 2007, Methods for studying patient participation, in *Patient Participation in Health Care Consultations: Qualitative Perspectives*, S. Collins et al., eds., Maidenhead, p.22-40.

Buszewicz, M., Pistrang, N., Barker, C., Cape, J., & Martin, J. 2006, Patients' experiences of GP consultations for psychological problems: a qualitative study, *British Journal of General Practice*, 56 p.496-503.

Butalia, S., Johnson, J. A., Ghali, W. A., & Rabi, D. M. 2013, Clinical and socio-demographic factors associated with diabetic ketoacidosis hospitalization in adults with Type 1 diabetes, *Diabetic Medicine*, 30(5), p.567-573.

Byrne, B. 2004, Qualitative Interviewing, in *Researching Society and Culture*, 2nd edn, C. Seale, ed., Sage, London, p.179-206.

Byrne, P. S. & Long, B. E. L. 1976, *Doctors Talking to Patients: A study of the Verbal Behaviour of General Practitioners Consulting in their Surgeries* Royal College of General Practitioners, Exeter.

Cape, J., Geyer, C., Barker, C., Pistrang, N., Buszewicz, M., Dowrick, C., & Salmon, P. 2010, Facilitating understanding of mental health problems in GP consultations: a qualitative study using taped-assisted recall, *British Journal of General Practice*, 60 p.837-845.

Carstairs, V. & Morris, R. 1991, *Deprivation and Health in Scotland* Aberdeen University Press, Aberdeen.

Charles, C., Gafni, A., & Whelan, T. 1997, Shared decision-making in the medical encounter: what does it mean? (or it takes at least two to tango), *Social Science & Medicine*, 44(5), p.681-692.

Charles, C., Whelan, T., Gafni, A., Reyno, L., & Redko, C. 1998, Doing nothing is no choice: lay constructions of treatment decision-making among women with early-stage breast cancer, *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 20(1), p.71-95.

Chaturvedi, N., Jarrett, J., Shipley, M. J., & Fuller, J. H. 1998, Socioeconomic gradient in morbidity and mortality in people with diabetes: cohort study findings from the Whitehall Study and the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetes, *BMJ*, 316(7125), p.100-105.

Chaturvedi, N., Stephenson, J. M., & Fuller, J. H. 1996, The relationship between socioeconomic status and diabetes control and complications in the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study, *Diabetes Care*, 19(5), p.423-430.

Chew-Graham, C. A. & Hogg, T. 2002, Patients with chronic physical illness and co-existing psychological morbidity: GPs' views on their role in detection and management, *Primary Care Psychiatry*, 8(2), p.35-40.

Chew-Graham, C. A., Hunter, C., Langer, S., Stenhoff, A., Drinkwater, J., Guthrie, E. A., & Salmon, P. 2013, How QOF is shaping primary care review consultations: a longitudinal qualitative study, *BMC Family Practice*, 14 p.103.

Chew-Graham, C. A., May, C. R., Cole, H., & Hedley, S. 2000, The burden of depression in primary care: A qualitative investigation of general practitioners' constructs of depressed people in the inner city, *Primary Care Psychiatry*, Vol.6(4), p.137-141.

Collins, S. 2005, Explanations in consultations: the combined effectiveness of doctors' and nurses' communication with patients, *Medical Education*, 39(8), p.785-796.

Collins, S. & Britten, N. 2006, Conversation Analysis, 3rd edn, C. Pope & N. Mays, eds., Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, p.43-52.

Collins, S., Britten, N., Ruusuvuori, J., & Thompson, A. 2007a, *Patient Participation in Health Care Consultations: Qualitative Perspectives* Open University Press, Maidenhead.

Collins, S., Britten, N., Ruusuvuori, J., & Thompson, A. 2007b, Understanding the process of patient participation, in *Patient Participation in Health Care Consultations*, S. Collins, N. R. J. Britten, & A. Thompson, eds., Open University Press, Maidenhead, p.3-21.

Collins, S., Drew, P., Watt, I., & Entwistle, V. 2005, 'Unilateral' and 'bilateral' practitioner approaches in decision-making about treatment, *Social Science & Medicine*, 61(12), p.2611-2627.

Colquitt, J. L., Green, C., Sidhu, M. K., Hartwell, D., & Waugh, N. 2004, Clinical and costeffectiveness of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion for diabetes, *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, 8(43), p.iii-171.

Connolly, V. M. & Kesson, C. M. 1996, Socioeconomic status and clustering of cardiovascular disease risk factors in diabetic patients, *Diabetes Care*, 19(5), p.419-422.

Cortina, S., Repaske, D. R., & Hood, K. K. 2010, Sociodemographic and psychosocial factors associated with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion in adolescents with type 1 diabetes, *Pediatric Diabetes*, 11(5), p.337-344.

Coster, S., Gulliford, M. C., Seed, P. T., Powrie, J. K., & Swaminathan, R. 2000, Monitoring blood glucose control in diabetes mellitus: a systematic review, *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, 4(12).

Coulter, A. 2010, Do patients want a choice and does it work?, BMJ, 341 p.c4989.

Coulter, A. & Collins, A. Making shared decision-making a reality: No decision about me, without me. The Kings Fund . 2011. The Kings Fund. Accessed on 21-4-2015. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/Making-shared-decision-making-a-reality-paper-Angela-Coulter-Alf-Collins-July-2011_0.pdf</u>

Coulthard, M. & Ashby, M. 1975, Talking with the doctor, 1, *Journal of Communication*, 25(3), p.140-147.

Coventry, P. A., Hays, R., Dickens, C., Bundy, C., Garrett, C., Cherrington, A., & Chew-Graham, C. 2011, Talking about depression: a qualitative study of barriers to managing depression in people with long term conditions in primary care, *BMC Family Practice*, 12 p.10.

Coyle, J. 1999, Exploring the meaning of dissatisfaction with health care: the importance of personal identity threat, *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 21(1), p.95-123.

Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP). 10 Questions to help you make sense of qualitative research. Public Health Resource Unit . 2006. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.casp-uk.net</u>

Cummins, E., Royle, P., Snaith, A., Greene, A., Robertson, L., McIntyre, L., & Waugh, N. 2010, Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion for diabetes: systematic review and economic evaluation, *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, 14(11). DAFNE Study Group 2002, Training in flexible, intensive insulin management to enable dietary freedom in people with type 1 diabetes: dose adjustment for normal eating (DAFNE) randomised controlled trial, *British Medical Journal*, 325 p.746.

Davidson, J. 1984, Subsequent versions of invitations, offers, requests, and proposals dealing with potential or actual rejection, in *Structures of Social Action: Studies in Conversation Analysis*, J. M. Atkinson & J. Heritage, eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.102-128.

DCCT Research Group 1989, The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, *New England Journal of Medicine*, 329 p.977-976.

Denscombe, M. 2010, *The Good Research Guide for Small-Scale Social Research Projects*, 4th edn, Open University Press, Maidenheah.

Department for Business Innovation and Skills. The 2011 Skills for Life Survey: A Survey of Literacy, Numeracy and ICT Levels in England. Department for Business, Innovation and Skills . 2012. London, Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. Accessed on 4-5-2015. Available from: URL:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/36000/12p168-2011-skills-for-life-survey.pdf

Department for Communities and Local Government. The English Indices of Deprivation 2010. Department for Communities and Local Government . 2011. Accessed on 15-8-2015. Available from: URL:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6871/18712 08.pdf

Department of Health. National Service Framework for Diabetes: Standards. Department of Health . 2001. Accessed on 16-2-2016. Available from: URL: https://www.gov.uk/govorpment/uploads/custom/uploads/attachment_data/file/108826/N

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198836/Nati onal_Service_Framework_for_Diabetes.pdf

Department of Health 2002, *Learning from Bristol: the Department of Health's Response to the Report of the public Inquiry into Children's Heart Surgery at the Bristol Royal Infirmary 1984-1995* The Stationery Office Ltd, London.

Department of Health. Your health, your way: A guide to long term conditions and self care. Department of Health . 2009. Accessed on 9-3-2015. Available from: URL: <u>http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_cons</u> <u>um_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_097586.pdf</u>

Department of Health. Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS. Department of Health . 2010. Accessed on 9-2-2014. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213823/dh</u> 117794.pdf

Department of Health. The Mandate: A mandate from the Government to the NHS Commissioning Board. Department of Health . 2013. Accessed on 15-2-2015. Available from: URL:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/256497/13-15_mandate.pdf Department of Health & Medical Research Council. Current and Future Research on Diabetes: A Review for the Department of Health and the Medical Research Council. Department of Health . 2002. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidan</u> <u>ce/DH_4091473</u>

Devries, J. H., Snoek, F. J., & Heine, R. J. 2004, Persistent poor glycaemic control in adult Type 1 diabetes. A closer look at the problem, *Diabetic Medicine*, 21(12), p.1263-1268.

Dewalt, D. A., Berkman, N. D., Sheridan, S., Lohr, K. N., & Pignone, M. P. 2004, Literacy and health outcomes: a systematic review of the literature, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 19(12), p.1228-1239.

Diabetes UK. Improving supported self-management for people with diabetes. Diabetes UK . 2009. Accessed on 9-3-2015. Available from: URL: http://www.diabetes.org.uk/Documents/Reports/Supported_self-management.pdf

Diabetes UK. Insulin pump therapy (also known as continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII)): Position statement. Diabetes UK . 2011a. Accessed on 19-11-2014a. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.diabetes.org.uk/About_us/What-we-say/Medication-medical-devices-monitoring/</u>

Diabetes UK. Position statements: Continuous glucose monitoring. Diabetes UK . 2011b. Accessed on 25-10-2011b. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.diabetes.org.uk/cgm</u>

Diabetes UK. State of the nation 2013. Diabetes UK . 2013. Accessed on 3-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.diabetes.org.uk/About_us/What-we-say/Improving-services--standards/State-of-the-Nation-2013/</u>

Dingwall, R. 1992, Don't mind him - he's from Barcelona: qualitative methods in health studies, in *Researching Health Care*, J. Daly, McDonald I., & E. Willis, eds., Tavistock/Routledge, London, p.161-175.

Dinneen, S. F. 2008, Structured education for people with type 2 diabetes, *BMJ*, 336(7642), p.459-460.

Dixon, A., Le Grand, J., Henderson, J., Murray, R., & Pateliakhoff, E. Is the NHS equitable: a review of the evidence. 2003. London, London School of Economics.

Dixon-Woods, M., Cavers, D., Agarwal, S., Annandale, E., Arthur, A., Harvey, J., Hsu, R., Katbamna, S., Olsen, R., Smith, L., Riley, R., & Sutton, A. J. 2006, Conducting a critical interpretive synthesis of the literature on access to healthcare by vulnerable groups, *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 6(35).

Dixon-Woods, M., Kirk, D., Annandale, E., Arthur, A., & Harvey, J. Vulnerable groups and access to health care: Report for the National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service and Organisation R&D (NCCSDO). NCCSDO . 2005. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: http://www.sdo.nihr.ac.uk/files/project/SDO ES 08-1210-025 V01.pdf

Docherty, A., Bugge, C., & Watterson, A. 2012, Engagement: an indicator of difference in the perceptions of antenatal care for pregnant women from diverse socioeconomic backgrounds, *Health Expectations*, 15(2), p.126-138.

Dorman, J. S., Tajima, N., LaPorte, R. E., Becker, D. J., Cruickshanks, K. J., Wagener, D. K., Orchard, T. J., & Drash, A. L. 1985, The Pittsburgh Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus (IDDM) Morbidity and Mortality Study: case-control analyses of risk factors for mortality, *Diabetes Care*, 8 p.Suppl-60.

Drew, P. 2002, Out of context, Language and Communication, 22 p.477-494.

Drew, P. 2003, Conversation Analysis, in *Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods*, J. A. Smith, ed., Sage, London, p.132-158.

Drew, P. 2005, Conversation Analysis, in *Handbook of Language and Social Interaction*, K. L. Fitch & R. E. Sanders, eds., Lawrence Erbaum Associates, London, p.71-102.

Drew, P. 2009, "Quit talking while I'm interrupting": a comparison between positions of overlap onset in conversation, in *Talk in Interaction: Comparative Dimensions*, M. Haakana, M. Laakso, & J. Lindstrom, eds., Finnish Literature Society, Helsinki, p.70-93.

Drew, P., Chatwin, J., & Collins, S. 2001, Conversation analysis: a method for research into interactions between patients and health-care professionals, *Health Expectations*, 4(1), p.58-70.

Drew, P. & Heritage, J. 1992, Analyzing talk at work, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, p.3-65.

Durand, M. A., Carpenter, L., Dolan, H., Bravo, P., Mann, M., Bunn, F., & Elwyn, G. 2014, Do interventions designed to support shared decision-making reduce health inequalities? A systematic review and meta-analysis, *PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]*, 9(4), p.e94670.

Dwamena, F., Holmes-Rovner, M., Gaulden, C. M., Jorgenson, S., Sadigh, G., Sikorskii, A., Lewin, S., Smith, R. C., Coffey, J., & Olomu, A. 2012, Interventions for providers to promote a patientcentred approach in clinical consultations. [Update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2001;(4):CD003267; PMID: 11687181], *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 12 p.CD003267.

Easton, P., Entwistle, V. A., & Williams, B. 2010, Health in the 'hidden population' of people with low literacy. A systematic review of the literature, *BMC Public Health*, 10 p.459.

Easton, P., Entwistle, V. A., & Williams, B. 2013, How the stigma of low literacy can impair patient-professional spoken interactions and affect health: insights from a qualitative investigation, *BMC Health Services Research*, 13 p.319.

Edwards, A. & Elwyn, G. 2009a, Shared Decision-Making in Health Care: Achieving Evidenced-Based Patient Choice, 2nd edn, A. Edwards & G. Elwyn, eds., Oxford University Press, Oxford, p.3-10.

Edwards, M., Davies, M., & Edwards, A. 2009b, What are the external influences on information exchange and shared decision-making in healthcare consultations: a meta-synthesis of the literature, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 75(1), p.37-52.

Edwards, R., Burns, J. A., McElduff, P., Young, R. J., & New, J. P. 2003, Variations in process and outcomes of diabetes care by socio-economic status in Salford, UK, *Diabetologia*, 46(6), p.750-759.

Elwyn, G. & Charles, C. 2001, Shared decision making: the principles and competencies, in *Evidence Based Patient Choice: Inevitable or Impossible?*, A. Edwards & G. Elwyn, eds., Oxford University Press, Oxford, p.118-143.

Elwyn, G., Elwyn, B., & Miron-Shatz, T. 2009, Measuring 'decision quality': irresolvable difficulties and an alternative proposal, in *Shared Decision-Making in Health Care: Achieving Evidence-Based Patient Choice*, 2nd edn, G. Edwards & G. Elwyn, eds., Oxford University Press, Oxford, p.144-149.

Elwyn, G., Frosch, D., Thomson, R., Joseph-Williams, N., Lloyd, A., Kinnersley, P., Cording, E., Tomson, D., Dodd, C., Rollnick, S., Edwards, A., & Barry, M. 2012, Shared decision making: a model for clinical practice, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 27(10), p.1361-1367.

Elwyn, G., Laitner, S., Coulter, A., Walker, E., Watson, P., & Thomson, R. 2010, Implementing shared decision making in the NHS, *BMJ*, 341 p.c5146.

Elwyn, G., Lloyd, A., May, C., van der, W. T., Stiggelbout, A., Edwards, A., Frosch, D. L., Rapley, T., Barr, P., Walsh, T., Grande, S. W., Montori, V., & Epstein, R. 2014, Collaborative deliberation: a model for patient care, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 97(2), p.158-164.

Entwistle, V., Prior, M., Skea, Z. C., & Francis, J. J. 2008, Involvement in treatment decisionmaking: its meaning to people with diabetes and implications for conceptualisation, *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(2), p.362-375.

Evans, J. M., Newton, R. W., Ruta, D. A., MacDonald, T. M., Stevenson, R. J., & Morris, A. D. 1999, Frequency of blood glucose monitoring in relation to glycaemic control: observational study with diabetes database, *BMJ*, 319(7202), p.83-86.

Fagerlin, A., Sepucha, K. R., Couper, M. P., Levin, C. A., Singer, E., & Zikmund-Fisher, B. J. 2010, Patients' knowledge about 9 common health conditions: the DECISIONS survey, *Medical Decision Making*, 30(5:Suppl), p.Suppl-52S.

Feldman, J. J., Makuc, D. M., Kleinman, J. C., & Cornoni-Huntley, J. 1989, National trends in educational differentials in mortality, *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 129(5), p.919-933.

Fiscella, K., Goodwin, M. A., & Stange, K. C. 2002, Does patient educational level affect office visits to family physicians?, *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 94(3), p.157-165.

Flick, U. 2006, An Introduction to Qualitative Research, 3rd edn, Sage, London.

Forssas, E., Arffman, M., Koskinen, S., Reunanen, A., & Keskimaki, I. 2010, Socioeconomic differences in mortality among diabetic people in Finland, *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 38(7), p.691-698.

Forssas, E., Keskimaki, I., Reunanen, A., & Koskinen, S. 2003, Widening socioeconomic mortality disparity among diabetic people in Finland, *European Journal of Public Health*, 13(1), p.38-43.

Forssas, E., Manderbacka, K., Arffman, M., & Keskimaki, I. 2012, Socio-economic predictors of mortality among diabetic people, *European Journal of Public Health*, 22(3), p.305-310.

Fox, J. & Macintyre, S. 1989, The role of health services in relation to inequalities in health in Europe, in *Health Inequalities in European Countries*, J. Fox, ed., Gower, Aldershot, p.317-332.

Freeman, J. & Loewe, R. 2000, Barriers to communication about diabetes mellitus. Patients' and physicians' different view of the disease, *Journal of Family Practice*, 49(6), p.507-512.

Frosch, D. L. & Elwyn, G. 2014, Don't blame patients, engage them: transforming health systems to address health literacy, *Journal of Health Communication*, 19 p.Suppl-4.

Future Hospital Commission. 'Future hospital: caring for medical patients'. A report from the Future Hospital Commission to the Royal College of Physicians. Royal College of Physicians . 2013. Accessed on 3-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/future-hospital-commission</u>

Gao, G., Burke, N., Somkin, C. P., & Pasick, R. 2009, Considering culture in physician-- patient communication during colorectal cancer screening, *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(6), p.778-789.

Garrett, C. R., Gask, L. L., Hays, R., Cherrington, A., Bundy, C., Dickens, C., Waheed, W., & Coventry, P. A. 2012, Accessing primary health care: a meta-ethnography of the experiences of British South Asian patients with diabetes, coronary heart disease or a mental health problem, *Chronic Illness*, 8(2), p.135-155.

Gask, L., Bower, P., Lamb, J., Burroughs, H., Chew-Graham, C., Edwards, S., Hibbert, D., Kovandzic, M., Lovell, K., Rogers, A., Waheed, W., Dowrick, C., & AMP Research Group 2012, Improving access to psychosocial interventions for common mental health problems in the United Kingdom: narrative review and development of a conceptual model for complex interventions, *BMC Health Services Research*, 12 p.249.

Gask, L., Macdonald, W., & Bower, P. 2011, What is the relationship between diabetes and depression? A qualitative meta-synthesis of patient experience of co-morbidity, *Chronic Illness*, 7(3), p.239-252.

Gask, L., Rogers, A., Oliver, D., May, C., & Roland, M. 2003, Qualitative study of patients' perceptions of the quality of care for depression in general practice, *British Journal of General Practice*, 53(489), p.278-283.

Gazmararian, J. A., Williams, M. V., Peel, J., & Baker, D. W. 2003, Health literacy and knowledge of chronic disease, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 51(3), p.267-275.

General Medical Council. Good Medical Practice: Working with doctors working for patients. General Medical Council . 2013. Accessed on 17-3-2015. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.gmc-uk.org/static/documents/content/Good_medical_practice_-_English_0914.pdf</u>

Gnavi, R., Petrelli, A., Demaria, M., Spadea, T., Carta, Q., & Costa, G. 2004, Mortality and educational level among diabetic and non-diabetic population in the Turin Longitudinal Study: a 9-year follow-up, *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 33(4), p.864-871.

Goddard, M. & Smith, P. Equity of access to health care. University of York . 1998. York, University of York. Accessed on 10-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.york.ac.uk/che/pdf/op32.pdf</u>

Goddard, M. K. Quality in and equality of access to health care services in England: CHE research paper 40. University of York . 2008. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: http://www.york.ac.uk/che/pdf/rp40.pdf

Goddard, M. K. & Smith, P. 2001, Equity of access to health care services: Theory and evidence from the UK, *Social Science & Medicine*, 53(9), p.1149-1162.

Godolphin, W. 2009, Shared decision-making, *Healthcare Quarterly*, 12 p.Spec-90.

Goenka, N. & Vora, J. 2011, Commissioning specialist diabetes care, *Practical Diabetes*, 28(2), p.58-59.

Golin, C., Dimatteo, M. R., Duan, N., Leake, B., & Gelberg, L. 2002, Impoverished diabetic patients whose doctors facilitate their participation in medical decision making are more satisfied with their care, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 17(11), p.857-866.

Gooberman-Hill, R., Sansom, A., Sanders, C. M., Dieppe, P. A., Horwood, J., Learmonth, I. D., Williams, S., & Donovan, J. L. 2010, Unstated factors in orthopaedic decision-making: a qualitative study, *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 11 p.213.

Gosden, C. A., Barnard, K., Williams, D. R., Tinati, T., Turner, B., & Holt, R. I. 2015, A decade in diabetes specialist services, 2000 to 2011, in England: the views of consultant diabetologists and diabetes specialist nurses amidst persistent healthcare delivery change, *Diabetic Medicine*, 32(12), p.1662-1666.

Goyder, E. C., McNally, P. G., & Botha, J. L. 2000, Inequalities in access to diabetes care: evidence from a historical cohort study, *Quality in Health Care*, 9(2), p.85-89.

Green, J. K., Rothman, R. L., & Cavanaugh, K. L. 2012, Patient-provider communication in patients with diabetes and depressive symptoms, *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 95(1), p.e10-e13.

Greenfield, S., Kaplan, S. H., Ware, J. E. Jr., Yano, E. M., & Frank, H. J. 1988, Patients' participation in medical care: effects on blood sugar control and quality of life in diabetes, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 3(5), p.448-457.

Gulliford, M. 2003, Equity and access to health care, in *Access to Health Care*, M. Gulliford & M. Morgan, eds., Routledge, London, p.36-60.

Gulliford, M., Figuero-Munoz, J., & Morgan, M. 2003, Introduction: meanings of 'access' in health care, in *Access to Health Care*, M. Gulliford & M. Morgan, eds., Routledge, London, p.1-12.

Gulliford, M., Figuero-Munoz, J., Morgan, M., Hughes, D., Gibson, B., Beech, R., & Hudson, M. 2002, What does 'access to health care' mean?, *Journal of Health Services Research and Policy*, 7(3), p.186-188.

Gulliford, M., Morgan, M., Hughes, M., Arumugam, C., Connell, P., Mohidden, A., & Sedgwick, J. 2001, Access to Health Care. Report of a Scoping Exercise for the National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organisation R&D (NCCSDO) NCCSDO, London.

Haakana, M. 2001, Laughter as a patient's resource: Dealing with delicate aspects of medical interaction, *Text*, 21((1/2)), p.187-219.

Hamilton, W., Round, A., & Sharp, D. 2002, Patient, hospital, and general practitioner characteristics associated with non-attendance: a cohort study, *British Journal of General Practice*, 52(477), p.317-319.

Hammersley, M. 1992, What's Wrong with Ethnography Routledge, London.

Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. 1995, *Ethnography: Principles in Practice*, 2nd edn, Routledge, London.

Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. 2007a, *Ethnography: Principles in Practice*, 3rd edn, Routledge, London.

Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. 2007b, *Ethnography: Principles in practice*, 3rd edn, Taylor and Francis Ltd e-library.

Hanas, R. 2012, *Type 1 Diabetes in Children, Adolescents and Young Adults*, 5th edn, Class Publishing, London.

Hansen, M. V., Pedersen-Bjergaard, U., Heller, S. R., Wallace, T. M., Rasmussen, A. K., Jorgensen, H. V., Pramming, S., & Thorsteinsson, B. 2009, Frequency and motives of blood glucose self-monitoring in type 1 diabetes, *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 85(2), p.183-188.

Harris, M. I., Cowie, C. C., & Howie, L. J. 1993, Self-monitoring of blood glucose by adults with diabetes in the United States population, *Diabetes Care*, 16(8), p.1116-1123.

Health and Care Professions Council. Standards of conduct, performance and ethics. Health and Care Professions Council . 2008. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.hcpc-uk.org/assets/documents/10003B6EStandardsofconduct,performanceandethics.pdf</u>

Health and Social Care Information Centre. National Diabetes Audit 2011-2012. Report 1: Care Processes and Treatment Targets. HSCIC . 2013. Accessed on 16-1-2014. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12421/nati-diab-audi-11-12-care-proc-rep.pdf</u>

Heisler, M., Bouknight, R. R., Hayward, R. A., Smith, D. M., & Kerr, E. A. 2002, The relative importance of physician communication, participatory decision making, and patient understanding in diabetes self-management, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 17(4), p.243-252.

Heisler, M., Vijan, S., Anderson, R. M., Ubel, P. A., Bernstein, S. J., & Hofer, T. P. 2003, When do patients and their physicians agree on diabetes treatment goals and strategies, and what difference does it make?, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 18(11), p.893-902.

Hepburn, D. A., Langan, S. J., Deary, I. J., Macleod, K. M., & Frier, B. M. 1994, Psychological and demographic correlates of glycaemic control in adult patients with type 1 diabetes, *Diabetic Medicine*, 11(6), p.578-582.

Heritage, J. 2004, Conversation analysis and institutional talk, in *Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice*, Second edn, D. Silverman, ed., Sage, London, p.222-245.

Heritage, J. & Robinson, J. R. 2006a, The structure of patients' presenting concerns: physicians opening questions, *Health Communication*, 19(2), p.89-102.

Heritage, J. 1984, A change of state token and aspects of its sequential placement, in *Structures of Social Action: Studies in Conversation Analysis*, J. M. Atkinson & J. Heritage, eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.299-345.

Heritage, J. & Maynard, D. W. 2006b, *Communication in Medical Care: Interaction between Primary Care Physicians and Patients* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Hibbard, J. H. & Greene, J. 2013, What the evidence shows about patient activation: better health outcomes and care experiences; fewer data on costs, *Health Affairs*, 32(2), p.207-214.

Hibbard, J. H., Mahoney, E. R., Stockard, J., & Tusler, M. 2005, Development and testing of a short form of the patient activation measure, *Health Services Research*, 40(6:Pt 1), p.t-30.

Hibbard, J. H., Peters, E., Dixon, A., & Tusler, M. 2007, Consumer competencies and the use of comparative quality information: it isn't just about literacy, *Medical Care Research & Review*, 64(4), p.379-394.

Holman, N., Forouhi, N. G., Goyder, E., & Wild, S. H. 2011, The Association of Public Health Observatories (APHO) Diabetes Prevalence Model: estimates of total diabetes prevalence for England, 2010-2030, *Diabetic Medicine*, 28(5), p.575-582.

Holt, R. I. G. & Katon, W. J. 2012, Dialogue on Diabetes and Depression: Dealing with the double burden of co-morbidity, *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 142, Supplement p.S1-S3.

Holt, T. & Kumar, S. 2010, ABC of diabetes, Sixth edn, Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester.

Hughes, D. & Griffiths, L. 1997, "Ruling in" and "ruling out": two approaches to the microrationing of health care, *Social Science & Medicine*, 44(5), p.589-599.

Hunter, C., Chew-Graham, C., Langer, S., Stenhoff, A., Drinkwater, J., Guthrie, E., & Salmon, P. 2013, A qualitative study of patient choices in using emergency health care for long-term conditions: the importance of candidacy and recursivity, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 93(2), p.335-341.

Hutchby, I. & Wooffitt, R. 2008, *Conversation Analysis*, 2nd edn, Polity Press, Cambridge.

INVOLVE. Briefing notes for researchers. INVOLVE . 2012. Accessed on 9-1-2016. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.invo.org.uk/wp-</u> content/uploads/2014/11/9938 INVOLVE Briefing Notes WEB.pdf

Ishikawa, H. & Yano, E. 2008, Patient health literacy and participation in the health-care process, *Health Expectations*, 11(2), p.113-122.

Ishikawa, H., Yano, E., Fujimori, S., Kinoshita, M., Yamanouchi, T., Yoshikawa, M., Yamazaki, Y., & Teramoto, T. 2009, Patient health literacy and patient-physician information exchange during a visit, *Family Practice*, 26(6), p.517-523.

Jagosh, J., Donald, B. J., Steinert, Y., Macdonald, M. E., & Ingram, L. 2011, The importance of physician listening from the patients' perspective: enhancing diagnosis, healing, and the doctor-patient relationship, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 85(3), p.369-374.

Jani, B. D., Purves, D., Barry, S., Cavanagh, J., McLean, G., & Mair, F. S. 2013, Challenges and implications of routine depression screening for depression in chronic disease and multimorbidity: a cross sectional study, *PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]*, 8(9), p.e74610.

Jefferson, G. 1980, On 'trouble-premonitory' response to inquiry, *Sociological Inquiry*, 50(3-4), p.153-185.

Jefferson, G. 1983, Notes on 'latency' in overlap onset, Human Studies, 9 p.153-183.

Johansen, K. 1986, Diabetes control and social class, *Practical Diabetes*, 3(2), p.93-95.

Jonassaint, C. R., Haywood, C., Jr., Korthuis, P. T., Cooper, L. A., Saha, S., Sharp, V., Cohn, J., Moore, R. D., & Beach, M. C. 2013, The impact of depressive symptoms on patient-provider communication in HIV care, *AIDS Care*, 25(9), p.1185-1192.

Kaplan, S. H., Gandek, B., Greenfield, S., Rogers, W., & Ware, J. E. 1995, Patient and visit characteristics related to physicians' participatory decision-making style. Results from the Medical Outcomes Study, *Medical Care*, 33(12), p.1176-1187.

Karter, A. J., Ferrara, A., Darbinian, J. A., Ackerson, L. M., & Selby, J. V. 2000, Self-monitoring of blood glucose: language and financial barriers in a managed care population with diabetes, *Diabetes Care*, 23(4), p.477-483.

Katon, W. J., Lin, E. H., Von, K. M., Ciechanowski, P., Ludman, E. J., Young, B., Peterson, D., Rutter, C. M., McGregor, M., & McCulloch, D. 2010, Collaborative care for patients with depression and chronic illnesses, *New England Journal of Medicine*, 363(27), p.2611-2620.

Katon, W. J., Von, K. M., Lin, E. H., Simon, G., Ludman, E., Russo, J., Ciechanowski, P., Walker, E., & Bush, T. 2004, The Pathways Study: a randomized trial of collaborative care in patients with diabetes and depression, *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 61(10), p.1042-1049.

Kerr, D. 2010, Poor numeracy: the elephant in the diabetes technology room, *Journal of Diabetes Science & Technology*, 4(6), p.1284-1287.

Kibbey, K. J., Speight, J., Wong, J. L., Smith, L. A., & Teede, H. J. 2013, Diabetes care provision: barriers, enablers and service needs of young adults with Type 1 diabetes from a region of social disadvantage, *Diabetic Medicine*, 30(7), p.878-884.

Kilvert, A. 2010, NICE guidance and insulin pumps: has it made a difference?, *Practical Diabetes International*, 27(2), p.48-49.

King, J. S., Eckman, M. H., & Moulton, B. W. 2011, The potential of shared decision making to reduce health disparities, *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics,* 39 p.Suppl-3.

Kinnersley, P., Edwards, A., Hood, K., Cadbury, N., Ryan, R., Prout, H., Owen, D., Macbeth, F., Butow, P., & Butler, C. 2007, Interventions before consultations for helping patients address their information needs, *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (3), p.CD004565.

Kolb, H., Kempf, K., Martin, S., Stumvoll, M., & Landgraf, R. 2010, On what evidence-base do we recommend self-monitoring of blood glucose?, *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 87(2), p.150-156.

Kovandzic, M., Chew-Graham, C., Reeve, J., Edwards, S., Peters, S., Edge, D., Aseem, S., Gask, L., & Dowrick, C. 2011, Access to primary mental health care for hard-to-reach groups: from 'silent suffering' to 'making it work', *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(5), p.763-772.

Krentz, A. J. & Bailey, C. B. 2005, *Type 2 diabetes in practice*, 2nd edn, Royal Society of Medicine Press Ltd, London.

Kuhn, T. S. 1970, *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*, 2nd edn, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Kurtz, S., Silverman, J., Benson, J., & Draper, J. 2003, Marrying content and process in clinical method teaching: enhancing the Calgary-Cambridge guides, *Academic Medicine*, 78(8), p.802-809.

Laing, S. P., Swerdlow, A. J., Slater, S. D., Botha, J. L., Burden, A. C., Waugh, N. R., Smith, A. W., Hill, R. D., Bingley, P. J., Patterson, C. C., Qiao, Z., & Keen, H. 1999, The British Diabetic Association Cohort Study, I: all-cause mortality in patients with insulin-treated diabetes mellitus, *Diabetic Medicine*, 16(6), p.459-465.

Lawton, J., Kirkham, J., Rankin, D., White, D. A., Elliott, J., Jaap, A., Smithson, W. H., Heller, S., & REPOSE Group 2016, Who gains clinical benefit from using insulin pump therapy? A qualitative study of the perceptions and views of health professionals involved in the Relative Effectiveness of Pumps over MDI and Structured Education (REPOSE) trial, *Diabetic Medicine*, 33(2), p.243-251.

Lawton, J. & Rankin, D. 2010, How do structured education programmes work? An ethnographic investigation of the dose adjustment for normal eating (DAFNE) programme for type 1 diabetes patients in the UK, *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(3), p.486-493.

Leese, G. P., Wang, J., Broomhall, J., Kelly, P., Marsden, A., Morrison, W., Frier, B. M., Morris, A. D., & Collaboration, M. E. M. O. 2003, Frequency of severe hypoglycemia requiring emergency treatment in type 1 and type 2 diabetes: a population-based study of health service resource use, *Diabetes Care*, 26(4), p.1176-1180.

Legard, R., Keegan, J., & Ward, K. 2003, In-depth Interviews, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Scientists and Researchers*, J. Ritchie & J. Lewis, eds., SAGE, London, p.138-169.

Légaré, F., Ratte, S., Gravel, K., & Graham, I. D. 2008, Barriers and facilitators to implementing shared decision-making in clinical practice: update of a systematic review of health professionals' perceptions, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 73(3), p.526-535.

Légaré, F., Ratte, S., Stacey, D., Kryworuchko, J., Gravel, K., Graham, I. D., & Turcotte, S. 2010, Interventions for improving the adoption of shared decision making by healthcare professionals, *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (5), p.CD006732.

Légaré, F., Stacey, D., Turcotte, S., Cossi, M. J., Kryworuchko, J., Graham, I. D., Lyddiatt, A., Politi, M. C., Thomson, R., Elwyn, G., & Donner-Banzhoff, N. 2014, Interventions for improving the adoption of shared decision making by healthcare professionals.[Update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;(5):CD006732; PMID: 20464744], *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 9 p.CD006732.

Levinson, W., Lesser, C. S., & Epstein, R. M. 2010, Developing physician communication skills for patient-centered care, *Health Affairs*, 29(7), p.1310-1318.

Lewis, J. 2003, Design issues, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, Ritchie J & Lewis J, eds., Sage, London, p.47-76.

Lewis, J. & Ritchie, J. 2003, Generalising from qualitative research, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, J. Ritchie & J. Lewis, eds., Sage, London, p.263-286.

Liddell, A., Adshead, S., & Burgess, E. 2008, *Technology in the NHS: Transforming the Patient's Experience of Care* The Kingsfund.

Lievre, M., Marre, M., Robert, J. J., Charpentier, G., Iannascoli, F., Passa, P., & On behalf of the Diabetes Therapeutic Strategies & Complications (DISCO) investigators 2005, Cross-sectional study of care, socio-economic status and complications in young French patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus, *Diabetes & Metabolism*, 31(1), p.41-46.

Lindstrom, A. & Sorjonen, M. L. 2013, Affiliation in conversation, in *The Handbook of Conversation Analysis*, J. Sidnell & T. Stivers, eds., Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Chichester, p.350-369.

Lloyd, C. E., Wing, R. R., Orchard, T. J., & Becker, D. J. 1993, Psychosocial correlates of glycemic control: the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications (EDC) Study, *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 21(2-3), p.187-195.

Lown, B. A., Hanson, J. L., & Clark, W. D. 2009, Mutual influence in shared decision making: a collaborative study of patients and physicians, *Health Expectations*, 12 p.160-174.

Lustman, P. J., Anderson, R. J., Freedland, K. E., de, G. M., Carney, R. M., & Clouse, R. E. 2000, Depression and poor glycemic control: a meta-analytic review of the literature, *Diabetes Care*, 23(7), p.934-942.

Lutfey, K. & Freese, J. 2005, Towards some fundamentals of fundamental causality: socioeconomic status and health in the routine clinic visit for diabetes, *American Journal of Sociology*, 110(5), p.1326-1372.

Maguire, P. & Pitceathly, C. 2002, Key communication skills and how to acquire them, *BMJ*, 325(7366), p.697-700.

Makoul, G. & Clayman, M. L. 2006, An integrative model of shared decision making in medical encounters, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 60(3), p.301-312.

Marden, S., Thomas, P. W., Sheppard, Z. A., Knott, J., Lueddeke, J., & Kerr, D. 2012, Poor numeracy skills are associated with glycaemic control in Type 1 diabetes, *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(5), p.662-669.

Marmot, M. Fair Society Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review. Strategic Review of Health Inequalties in England post-2010. UCL Institute of Health Equity . 2010. Accessed on 13-112014. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review</u>

Marmot, M. & Wilkinson, R. 2005, *Social Determinants of Health*, 2nd edn, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Marmot, M. G., Rose, G., Shipley, M., & Hamilton, P. J. S. 1978, Employment grade and coronary heart disease in British civil servants, *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 32 p.244-249.

Marmot, M. G. & Smith, G. D. 1997, Socio-economic Differentials in Health, *Journal of Health Psychology*, 2(3), p.283-296.

Matsushima, M., Shimizu, K., Maruyama, M., Nishimura, R., LaPorte, R. E., & Tajima, N. 1996, Socioeconomic and behavioural risk factors for mortality of individuals with IDDM in Japan: population-based case-control study. Diabetes Epidemiology Research International (DERI) US-Japan Mortality Study Group, *Diabetologia*, 39(6), p.710-716.

Matusitz, J. & Spear, J. 2014, Effective doctor-patient communication: an updated examination, *Social Work in Public Health*, 29(3), p.252-266.

Maxwell, M., Harris, F., Hibberd, C., Donaghy, E., Pratt, R., Williams, C., Morrison, J., Gibb, J., Watson, P., & Burton, C. 2013, A qualitative study of primary care professionals' views of case finding for depression in patients with diabetes or coronary heart disease in the UK, *BMC Family Practice*, 14 p.46.

Mays, N. & Pope, C. 1995a, Qualitative research: observational methods in health care settings, *BMJ*, 311(6998), p.182-184.

Mays, N. & Pope, C. 1995b, Rigour and qualitative research., BMJ, 311(6997), p.109-112.

Mays, N. & Pope, C. 2006, Quality in qualitative health research, in *Qualitative Research in Health Care*, 3rd edn, C. Pope & N. Mays, eds., Blackwell, Malden, MA, p.82-101.

McCaffery, K. J., Holmes-Rovner, M., Smith, S. K., Rovner, D., Nutbeam, D., Clayman, M. L., Kelly-Blake, K., Wolf, M. S., & Sheridan, S. L. 2013, Addressing health literacy in patient decision aids, *BMC Medical Informatics & Decision Making*, 13 p.Suppl.

McCaffery, K. J., Smith, S. K., & Wolf, M. 2010, The challenge of shared decision making among patients with lower literacy: a framework for research and development, *Medical Decision Making*, 30(1), p.35-44.

McKinstry, B. 2000, Do patients wish to be involved in decision making in the consultation? A cross sectional survey with video vignettes, *BMJ*, 321(7265), p.867-871.

Mechanic, D. & Meyer, S. 2000, Concepts of trust among patients with serious illness, *Social Science & Medicine*, 51 p.657-668.

Mehan, H. 1991, The school's work of sorting students, in *Talk and Social Structure: Studies in Ethnomethodology and Conversation Analysis*, D. Boden & D. H. Zimmerman, eds., Polity Press, Cambridge, p.71-90.

Melin, E. O., Thunander, M., Svensson, R., Landin-Olsson, M., & Thulesius, H. O. 2013, Depression, obesity, and smoking were independently associated with inadequate glycemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes, *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 168(6), p.861-869.

Miles, M. B. & Huberman, M. 1994, *Qualitative Data Analysis*, 2nd edn, London.

Miller, J. & Glassner, B. 2004, The "inside and the "outside": finding realities in interviews, in *Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice*, D. Silverman, ed., Sage, London, p.125-139.

Mishler, E. 1984, *The Discourse of Medicine: Dialectics of Medical Interviews* Ablex Publishing Corporation, New Jersey.

Misso, M. L., Egberts, K. J., Page, M., O'Connor, D., & Shaw, J. 2010, Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) versus multiple insulin injections for type 1 diabetes mellitus, *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (1), p.CD005103.

Montori, V. M., Gafni, A., & Charles, C. 2006, A shared treatment decision-making approach between patients with chronic conditions and their clinicians: the case of diabetes, *Health Expectations,* 9(1), p.25-36.

Moser, C. S. 1999, *Improving Literacy and Numeracy: A fresh Start* DfEE, London.

Mühlhauser, I., Overmann, H., Bender, R., Bott, U., & Berger, M. 1998a, Risk factors of severe hypoglycaemia in adult patients with Type I diabetes: a prospective population based study, *Diabetologia*, 41(11), p.1274-1282.

Mühlhauser, I., Overmann, H., Bender, R., Bott, U., Jörgens, V., Trautner, C., Siegrist, J., & Berger, M. 1998b, Social status and the quality of care for adult people with type I (insulindependent) diabetes mellitus: a population-based study, *Diabetologia*, 41(10), p.1139-1150.

Mühlhauser, I., Overmann, H., Bender, R., Jörgens, V., & Berger, M. 2000, Predictors of mortality and end-stage diabetic complications in patients with Type 1 diabetes mellitus on intensified insulin therapy, *Diabetic Medicine*, 17(10), p.727-734.

Murphy, E., Dingwall, R., Greatbatch, D., Parker, S., & Watson, P. 2001, Qualitative research methods in health technology assessment: a review of the literature, *Health Technology Assessment*, 2(16).

Murphy, K., Casey, D., Dinneen, S., Lawton, J., & Brown, F. 2011, Participants' perceptions of the factors that influence diabetes self-management following a structured education (DAFNE) programme, *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 20(9-10), p.1282-1292.

Murray, E., Charles, C., & Gafni, A. 2006, Shared decision-making in primary care: tailoring the Charles et al. model to fit the context of general practice, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 62(2), p.205-211.

Nadas, J., Putz, Z., Fovenyi, J., Gaal, Z., Gyimesi, A., Hidvegi, T., Hosszufalusi, N., Neuwirth, G., Oroszlan, T., Panczel, P., Vandorfi, G., Winkler, G., Wittmann, I., & Jermendy, G. 2009, Cardiometabolic risk and educational level in adult patients with type 1 diabetes, *Acta Diabetologica*, 46(2), p.159-162.
Nath, C. 2007, Literacy and diabetes self-management., *American Journal of Nursing*, 107(6:Suppl), p.Suppl-9.

National Audit Office. Tackling inequalities in life expectancy in areas with the worst health deprivation. NAO . 2010. Accessed on 13-11-2014. Available from: URL: http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/07/1011186es.pdf

National Audit Office. The management of adult diabetes services in the NHS. National Audit Office . 2012. Department of Health. Accessed on 18-5-2013. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/121321.pdf</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Guidance on the use of patient-education models for diabetes. Technical appraisal 60. NICE . 2003. Accessed on 2-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>http://guidance.nice.org.uk/TA60/Guidance/pdf/English</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Type 1 diabetes: diagnosis and management of type 1 diabetes in children young people and adults. Clinical guideline 15. NICE . 2004. Accessed on 2-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg15</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Technology Appraisal Guidance No 151. NICE . 2008. Accessed on 2-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta151</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Depression in adults with a chronic physical health problem: recognition and management. Clinical guideline 91. NICE . 2009a. Accessed on 15-1-2016a. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/CG91</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Type 2 diabetes: The management of type 2 diabetes. Clinical guideline 87. NICE . 2009b. Accessed on 22-11-2010b. Available from: URL: http://www.gserve.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG87NICEGuideline.pdf

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Diabetes in adults quality standard: NICE quality standard 6. NICE . 2011. Accessed on 9-3-2015. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs6/resources/guidance-diabetes-in-adults-quality-standard-pdf</u>

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Type 1 diabetes in adults: Diagnosis and Management (NICE Guideline17). NICE . 2015. Accessed on 9-2-2016. Available from: URL: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng17

NHS diabetes. Self monitoring of blood glucose in non-insulin-treated type 2 diabetes. A report prepared by an NHS Diabetes Working Group. NHS diabetes . 2010. Accessed on 22-10-2010. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.diabetes.nhs.uk/news.php?o=171</u>

NHS diabetes. Best practice for commissioning diabetes services: an integrated care framework. Diabetes UK . 2013. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Documents/Position%20statements/best-practice-</u>commissioning-diabetes-services-integrated-framework-0313.pdf

NHS Employers. Quality and Outcomes Framework for 2012/13: Guidance for PCOs and practices. Health & Social Care Information Centre . 2012. Accessed on 14-7-2015. Available

from: URL: <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/media/14017/QOF-Guidance-GMS-Contract-2012-13/pdf/QOF_guidance_GMS_contract_2012_13.pdf</u>

Nicholson, T. R. J., Taylor, J.-P., Gosden, C., Trigwell, P., & Ismail, K. 2009, National guidelines for psychological care in diabetes: how mindful have we been?, *Diabetic Medicine*, 26(4), p.447-450.

NIHR. Patient and public involvement in health and social research: A handbook for researchers. National Institute for Health Research . 2014. Accessed on 18-1-2016. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.rds.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/RDS-PPI-Handbook-2014-v8-FINAL.pdf</u>

Nursing and Midwifery Council. The Code: Standards of conduct, performance and ethics for nurses and midwives. Nursing and Midwifery Council . 2015. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.nmc.org.uk/globalassets/sitedocuments/nmc-publications/revised-new-nmc-code.pdf</u>

Nutbeam, D. 2000, Health literacy as a public health goal: a challenge for contemporary health education and communication strategies into the 21st century, *Health Promotion International*, 15(3), p.259-267.

O'Cathain, A., Coleman, P., & Nicholl, J. 2008, Characteristics of the emergency and urgent care system important to patients: a qualitative study, *Journal of Health Services & Research Policy*, 13 p.Suppl-25.

Office for National Statistics. Neighbourhood Statistics. Office for National Statistics . 2010a. Accessed on 6-10-2013a. Available from: URL: http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/dissemination/

Office for National Statistics 2010b, *Standard Occupation Classification 2010* Hobbs, Southampton.

Paasche-Orlow, M. K., Parker, R. M., Gazmararian, J. A., Nielsen-Bohlman, L. T., & Rudd, R. R. 2005, The prevalence of limited health literacy, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 20(2), p.175-184.

Paasche-Orlow, M. K. & Wolf, M. S. 2007, the causal pathways linking health literacy to health outcomes, *American Journal of Health Behaviour*, 31((Suppl 1)), p.S19-S26.

Paterson, B. 2001, Myth of empowerment in chronic illness, *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 34(5), p.574-581.

Paterson, B. L., Charlton, P., & Richard, S. 2010, Non-attendance in chronic disease clinics: a matter of non-compliance?, *Journal of Nursing and Healthcare of Chronic Illness*, 2(1), p.63-74.

Patton, M. Q. 2002, *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods*, 3rd edn, Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA.

Pederson-Bjergaard, U., Pramming, S., Heller, S. R., Wallace, T. M., Rasmussen, A. K., Jorgensen, H. V., Matthews, D. R., Hougaard, P., & Thorsteinsson, B. 2004, Severe hypoglycaemia in 1076 adult patients with type 1 diabetes: influence of risk markers and selection, *Diabetes-Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 20 p.479-486.

Peiris, D., Brown, A., Howard, M., Rickards, B. A., Tonkin, A., Ring, I., Hayman, N., & Cass, A. 2012, Building better systems of care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people: findings from the Kanyini health systems assessment, *BMC Health Services Research*, 12(369).

Pendleton, D. A. & Bochner, S. 1980, The communication of medical information in general practice consultations as a function of patients' social class, *Social Science & Medicine - Medical Psychology & Medical Sociology*, 14A(6), p.669-673.

Perros, P., Deary, I. J., & Frier, B. M. 1998, Factors influencing preference of insulin regimen in people with type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes, *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 39(1), p.23-29.

Pickup, J. C. 2006, Are insulin pumps underutilized in type 1 diabetes? Yes, *Diabetes Care*, 29(6), p.1449-1452.

Pickup, J. C., Keen, H., Parsons, J. A., & Alberti, K. G. 1978, Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion: an approach to achieving normoglycaemia, *British Medical Journal*, 1(6107), p.204-207.

Pilnick, A. & Dingwall, R. 2011, On the remarkable persistence of asymmetry in doctor/patient interaction: a critical review, *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(8), p.1374-1382.

Pilnick, A., Hindmarsh, J., & Gill, V. T. 2009, Beyond 'doctor and patient': developments in the study of healthcare interactions, *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 31(6), p.787-802.

Politi, M. C., Dizon, D. S., Frosch, D. L., Kuzemchak, M. D., & Stiggelbout, A. M. 2013, Importance of clarifying patients' desired role in shared decision making to match their level of engagement with their preferences, *BMJ*, 347 p.f7066.

Pomerantz, A. 1984, Agreeing and disagreeing with assessments: some features of preferred/disprerred turn shapes, in *Structures of Social Action: Studies in Conversation Analysis*, J. M. Atkinson & J. Heritage, eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.57-101.

Pooley, C. G., Gerrard, C., Hollis, S., Morton, S., Astbury, J., Pooley, C. G., Gerrard, C., Hollis, S., Morton, S., & Astbury, J. 2001, 'Oh it's a wonderful practice... you can talk to them': a qualitative study of patients' and health professionals' views on the management of type 2 diabetes, *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 9(5), p.318-326.

Pope, C. & Mays, N. 2006a, Observational methods, in *Qualitative Research in Health Care*, 3rd edn, C. Pope & N. Mays, eds., Blackwell, Uk, p.32-42.

Pope, C., Ziebland, S., & Mays, N. 2006b, Analysing qualitative data, in *Qualiative Research in Health Care*, 3rd edn, C. Pope & N. Mays, eds., Blackwell, Uk, p.63-81.

Protheroe, J., Brooks, H., Chew-Graham, C., Gardner, C., & Rogers, A. 2013, 'Permission to participate?' A qualitative study of participation in patients from differing socio-economic backgrounds, *Journal of Health Psychology*, 18(8), p.1046-1055.

Protheroe, J., Nutbeam, D., & Rowlands, G. 2009, Health literacy: a necessity for increasing participation in health care, *British Journal of General Practice*, 59(567), p.721-723.

Public Health England and UCL Institute of Health Equity. Local action on health inequalities: Improving health literacy to reduce health inequalities. Public Health England . 2015. Accessed on 21-1-2016. Available from: URL:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/460709/4a_ Health_Literacy-Full.pdf

Rankin, D., Cooke, D. D., Elliott, J., Heller, S. R., & Lawton, J. 2012, Supporting self-management after attending a structured education programme: a qualitative longitudinal investigation of type 1 diabetes patients' experiences and views, *BMC Public Health*, 12(652).

Rayman, G. & Kilvert, A. 2012, The crisis in diabetes care in England, *BMJ*, 345 p.e5446.

Rea, R. D., Gregory, S., Browne, M., Iqbal, M., Holloway, S., Munir, M., Rose, H., Gray, T., Prescott, D., Jarvis, S., DiStefano, G., & Tan, G. D. 2011, Integrated diabetes care in Derby: new NHS organisations for new challenges, *Practical Diabetes*, 28(7), p.312-313.

Ricci-Cabello, I., Ruiz-Perez, I., Olry, d. L.-L., & Marquez-Calderon, S. 2010, Do social inequalities exist in terms of the prevention, diagnosis, treatment, control and monitoring of diabetes? A systematic review, *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 18(6), p.572-587.

Richards, G., Morris, M., Booker, S., & Johnson, A. 2006, What do people with type 1 diabetes find helpful in health professionals? Results from a focus group study, *Practical Diabetes International*, 23(6), p.249-252.

Ritchie, J. 2003, The applications of qualitative methods to social research, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, Ritchie J & Lewis J, eds., Sage, London, p.24-46.

Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Elam, G. 2003, Designing and selecting samples, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Scientists and Researchers*, J. Ritchie & J. Lewis, eds., Sage, London, p.77-108.

Robinson, N., Edouard, L., Diehl, A., & Fuller, J. H. 1984, Social class and risk factors for vascular disease in diabetes, *Diabete et Metabolisme*, 10(4), p.245-249.

Robinson, N., Lloyd, C. E., & Stevens, L. K. 1998, Social deprivation and mortality in adults with diabetes mellitus, *Diabetic Medicine*, 15(3), p.205-212.

Rogers, A. & Hassell, K. N. G. 1999, *Demanding Patients? Analysing the use of Primary Care* Open University Press, Buckingham.

Rogers, A., Kennedy, A., Nelson, E., & Robinson, A. 2005, Uncovering the limits of patientcenteredness: implementing a self-management trial for chronic illness, *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(2), p.224-239.

Rosen, R., Florin, D., & Dixon, J. 2001, *Access to health care - taking forward the findings of the scoping exercise. Report of a rapid appraisal of stakeholder views and review of existing literature* Service Delivery Organisation, London.

Rossing, P., Hougaard, P., Borch-Johnsen, K., & Parving, H. H. 1996, Predictors of mortality in insulin dependent diabetes: 10 year observational follow up study, *BMJ*, 313(7060), p.779-784.

Rossing, P., Hougaard, P., & Parving, H. H. 2002, Risk factors for development of incipient and overt diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetic patients - A 10-year prospective observational study, *Diabetes Care*, 25(5), p.859-864.

Roter, D. L. & Frankel, R. 1992, Quantitative and qualitative approaches to the evaluation of the medical dialogue, *Social Science & Medicine*, 34(10), p.1097-1103.

Roter, D. L. & Hall, J. A. 2006, *Doctors Talking with Patients/ Patients Talking with Doctors: Improving Communication in Medical Visits*, 2nd edn, Praeger, Westport.

Roter, D. L., Stewart, M., Putnam, S. M., Lipkin, M., Jr., Stiles, W., & Inui, T. S. 1997, Communication patterns of primary care physicians, *JAMA*, 277(4), p.350-356.

Rothman, R. L., Dewalt, D. A., Malone, R., Bryant, B., Shintani, A., Crigler, B., Weinberger, M., & Pignone, M. 2004, Influence of patient literacy on the effectiveness of a primary care-based diabetes disease management program, *JAMA*, 292(14), p.1711-1716.

Roy, T. & Lloyd, C. E. 2012, Epidemiology of depression and diabetes: a systematic review, *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 142 p.Suppl-21.

Royal College of General Practitioners. Health Literacy: Report from an RCGP-led health literacy workshop. Royal College of General Practitioners . 2014. Accessed on 21-1-2016. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/health-literacy-report.aspx</u>

Royal College of Physicians. Consultant physicians working with patients. Royal College of Physicians [5th]. 2013. Available from: URL: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/resources/consultant-physicians-working-patients-0

Royal College of Physicians, Royal College of General Practitioners, & Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. Teams without walls: the value of medical innovation and leadership. Royal College of Physicians . 2008. Accessed on 3-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/resources/teams-without-walls-value-medical-innovation-andleadership</u>

Sacks, H., Schegloff, E. A., & Jefferson, G. 1974, A simplest systematics for the organization of turn-taking for conversation, *Language*, 50(4, Part 1), p.696-735.

Sainio, C., Lauri, S., & Eriksson, E. 2001, Cancer patients views and experiences of participation in care and decision making, *Nursing Ethics*, 8(2), p.97-113.

Salmon, P., Mendick, N., & Young, B. 2011, Integrative qualitative communication analysis of consultation and patient and practitioner perspectives: towards a theory of authentic caring in clinical relationships, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 82(3), p.448-454.

Sastre, J., Pines, P. J., Moreno, J., Aguirre, M., Blanco, B., Calderon, D., Herranz, S., Roa, C., Lopez, J., & Grupo de estudio, D. I. A. C. 2012, Metabolic control and treatment patterns in patients with type 1 diabetes in Castilla-La Mancha: the DIAbetes tipo 1 in Castilla La Mancha study, *Endocrinologia y Nutricion*, 59(9), p.539-546.

Sawka, A. M., Boulos, P., Talib, A. S., Gafni, A., Thabane, L., Papaioannou, A., Booth, G., & Gerstein, H. C. 2007, Low socioeconomic status and increased risk of severe hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes: a systematic literature review, *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, 31(3), p.233-241.

Say, R., Murtagh, M., & Thomson, R. 2006, Patients' preference for involvement in medical decision making: a narrative review, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 60(2), p.102-114.

Scambler, G. 2003, Sociology as applied to medicine, 5th edn, Saunders, Edinburgh.

Schegloff, E. A. 2000, Overlapping talk and the organization of turn-taking for conversation, *Language in Society*, 29(1), p.1-63.

Schegloff, E. A. 2007, *Sequence Organization in Interaction: A Primer in Conversation Analysis* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Schenker, Y., Stewart, A., Na, B., & Whooley, M. A. 2009, Depressive symptoms and perceived doctor-patient communication in the Heart and Soul study, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 24(5), p.550-556.

Schillinger, D., Grumbach, K., Piette, J., Wang, F., Osmond, D., Daher, C., Palacios, J., Sullivan, G. D., & Bindman, A. B. 2002, Association of health literacy with diabetes outcomes, *JAMA*, 288(4), p.475-482.

Schillinger, D., Piette, J., Grumbach, K., Wang, F., Wilson, C., Daher, C., Leong-Grotz, K., Castro, C., & Bindman, A. B. 2003, Closing the loop: physician communication with diabetic patients who have low health literacy, *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 163(1), p.83-90.

Scorpiglione, N., el-Shazly, M., Abdel-Fattah, M., Belfiglio, M., Cavaliere, D., Carinci, F., Labbrozzi, D., Mari, E., Massi Benedetti, M., Tognoni, G., & Nicolucci, A. 1996, Epidemiology and determinants of blood glucose self-monitoring in clinical practice, *Diabetes Research & Clinical Practice*, 34(2), p.115-125.

Scott, T. L., Gazmararian, J. A., Williams, M. V., & Baker, D. W. 2002, Health literacy and preventive health care use among Medicare enrollees in a managed care organization, *Medical Care*, 40(5), p.395-404.

Seale, C. 1999, *The quality of qualitative research* Sage, London.

Secrest, A. M., Costacou, T., Gutelius, B., Miller, R. G., Songer, T. J., & Orchard, T. J. 2011a, Association of socioeconomic status with mortality in type 1 diabetes: the Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications study, *Annals of Epidemiology*, 21(5), p.367-373.

Secrest, A. M., Costacou, T., Gutelius, B., Miller, R. G., Songer, T. J., & Orchard, T. J. 2011b, Associations between socioeconomic status and major complications in type 1 diabetes: the Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complication (EDC) Study, *Annals of Epidemiology*, 21(5), p.374-381.

Shalowitz, D. I. & Wolf, M. S. 2004, Shared decision-making and the lower literate patient, *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 32(4), p.759-764.

Sharp, D. J. & Hamilton, W. 2001, Non-attendance at general practices and outpatient clinics, *BMJ*, 323((7321)), p.1081-1082.

Sharp, P. & Walton, C. 2012, Type 1 diabetes: not lost but possibly misplaced, *Practical Diabetes*, 29(8), p.308-309.

Sidnell, J. 2010, *Conversation Analysis* Wiley-Blackwell, Chicester.

Silverman, D. 1989, The child as social object: Down's Syndrome children in a paediatric cardiology clinic, *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 13 p.1-19.

Silverman, D. 2006, Interpreting qualitative data, 3rd edn, Sage, London.

Silverman, D. 2010, *Doing Qualitative Research*, 3rd edn, Sage, London.

Silverman, J., Kurtz, S., & Draper, J. 2005, *Skills for Communicating with Patients*, 2nd edn, Radcliffe Publishing Ltd, Oxon.

Simmons, D., English, P., Robins, P., Craig, A., & Addicott, R. 2011, Should diabetes be commissioned through multidisciplinary networks, rather than Practice Based Commissioning?, *Primary care diabetes*, 5(1), p.39-44.

Skelton, J. R., Wearn, A. M., & Hobbs, F. D. 2002, "I" and "we": a concordancing analysis of how doctors and patients use first person pronouns in primary care consultations, *Family Practice*, 19(5), p.484-488.

Smith, S. K., Dixon, A., Trevena, L., Nutbeam, D., & McCaffery, K. J. 2009, Exploring patient involvement in healthcare decision making across different education and functional health literacy groups, *Social Science & Medicine*, 69(12), p.1805-1812.

Smith, S. K., Nutbeam, D., & McCaffery, K. J. 2013, Insights into the concept and measurement of health literacy from a study of shared decision-making in a low literacy population, *Journal of Health Psychology*, 18(8), p.1011-1022.

Snape, D. & Spencer, I. 2003, The foundations of qualitative research, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Scientists and Researchers*, Ritchie J & Lewis J, eds., Sage, London, p.1-23.

Snow, R. & Fulop, N. 2012, Understanding issues associated with attending a young adult diabetes clinic: a case study, *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(2), p.257-259.

Somerset, M., Faulkner, A., Shaw, A., Dunn, L., & Sharp, D. J. 1999, Obstacles on the path to a primary-care led National Health Service: complexities of outpatient care, *Social Science & Medicine*, 48(2), p.213-225.

Spencer, I., Ritchie, J., & O'Connor, W. 2003, Analysis: practices, principles and processes, in *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, Ritchie J & Lewis J, eds., Sage, London, p.199-218.

St John, A., Davis, W. A., Price, C. P., & Davis, T. M. 2010, The value of self-monitoring of blood glucose: a review of recent evidence, *Journal of Diabetes & its Complications*, 24(2), p.129-141.

Stacey, D., Légaré, F., Col, N. F., Bennett, C. L., Barry, M. J., Eden, K. B., Holmes-Rovner, M., Llewellyn-Thomas, H., Lyddiatt, A., Thomson, R., Trevena, L., & Wu, J. H. 2014, Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. [Update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev.

2011;(10):CD001431; PMID: 21975733], *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews,* 1 p.CD001431.

Stacey, D., Légaré, F., Pouliot, S., Kryworuchko, J., & Dunn, S. 2010, Shared decision making models to inform an interprofessional perspective on decision making: a theory analysis, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 80(2), p.164-172.

Staley, K. Exploring Impact: Public Involvement in NHS, Public Health and Social Care Research. National Institute for Health Research . 2009. Accessed on 6-10-2013. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.invo.org.uk/posttypepublication/exploring-impact-public-involvement-in-nhs-public-health-and-social-care-research/</u>

Stenner, K. L., Courtenay, M., & Carey, N. 2011, Consultations between nurse prescribers and patients with diabetes in primary care: A qualitative study of patient views, *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48(1), p.37-46.

Stevenson, F. 2007, What is a good consultation and what is a bad one?, in *Patient Participation in Health Care Consultations*, S. Collins et al., eds., Open University Press, Maidenhead, p.65-82.

Stevenson, F. A., Barry, C. A., Britten, N., Barber, N., & Bradley, C. P. 2000, Doctor-patient communication about drugs: the evidence for shared decision making, *Social Science & Medicine*, 50(6), p.829-840.

Stevenson, F. A., Britten, N., Barry, C. A., Bradley, C. P., & Barber, N. 2003, Self-treatment and its discussion in medical consultations: how is medical pluralism managed in practice?, *Social Science & Medicine*, 57(3), p.513-527.

Stevenson, F. A., Cox, K., Britten, N., & Dundar, Y. 2004, A systematic review of the research on communication between patients and health care professionals about medicines: the consequences for concordance., *Health Expectations*, 7(3), p.235-245.

Stivers, T. 2008, Stance alignment and affiliation during storytelling: when nodding is a token of affiliation, *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, 41(1), p.31-57.

Stivers, T. & Heritage, J. 2001, Breaking the sequential mold: Answering 'more than the question' during comprehensive history taking, *Text*, 21((1/2)), p.151-185.

Street, R. L. 1992, Communicative styles and adaptations in physician-parent consultations, *Social Science & Medicine*, 34(10), p.1155-1163.

Street, R. L., Jr., Piziak, V. K., Carpentier, W. S., Herzog, J., Hejl, J., Skinner, G., & McLellan, L. 1993, Provider-patient communication and metabolic control, *Diabetes Care*, 16(5), p.714-721.

Street, R. L. Jr. 1991, Information-giving in medical consultations: the influence of patients' communicative styles and personal characteristics, *Social Science & Medicine*, 32(5), p.541-548.

Street, R. L. Jr., Gordon, H. S., Ward, M. M., Krupat, E., & Kravitz, R. L. 2005, Patient participation in medical consultations: why some patients are more involved than others, *Medical Care*, 43(10), p.960-969.

Stringer, B., Van, M. B., De, V. W., & Van der, B. J. 2008, User involvement in mental health care: the role of nurses. A literature review, *Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing*, 15(8), p.678-683.

Swaminathan, K., Lewis, S., Morris, A. D., Belch, J., Browning, M., Campbell, I., Carmichael, C., Chalmers, J., Chalmers, L., Connacher, A., Doig, J., Dow, E., Ferguson, M., Fowle, M., Fraser, D., Gold, A., Gray, S., Hanning, I., Hawthorne, V., Holliday, M., Jennings, P., Jung, R., Leese, G., MacDonald, M., MacLeod, M., Matthews, D., McBain, A., McCullough, D., McEwan, S., McKnight, J., Newton, R., Patrick, A., Peden, N., Prescott, R., Reith, S., Roger, J., Scott, M., Siann, T., Smith, A., Thompson, C., Walker, J., & Williamson, J. 2004, Socioeconomic status, cardiovascular risk factors and the incidence of microvascular and macrovascular disease in type 1 diabetes, *British Journal of Diabetes and Vascular Disease*, 4(3), p.180-188.

Swenson, S. L., Rose, M., Vittinghoff, E., Stewart, A., & Schillinger, D. 2008, The influence of depressive symptoms on clinician-patient communication among patients with type 2 diabetes, *Medical Care*, 46(3), p.257-265.

Taplin, J. & Allen, N. 2013, Carbohydrate counting and insulin dose adjustment group sessions for type 1 diabetes: a pilot of their effectiveness at a primary care diabetes centre, *Practical Diabetes*, 30(9), p.366-368.

Tashakkori, A. & Teddlie, C. 2003, *Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioural Research* Sage publications, London.

ten Have, P. 1991, Talk and institution: a reconsideration of the 'asymmetry' of doctor-patient interaction, in *Talk and Social Structure*, D. Boden & D. H. Zimmerman, eds., Polity Press, Cambridge.

ten Have, P. 1999, Doing Conversational Analysis: A Practical Guide, First edn, Sage, London.

The Information Centre & Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory. Prescribing for Diabetes in England. Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory . 2007. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.yhpho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=45983</u>

The Information Centre for Health and Social Care. National diabetes audit executive summary 2008-2009. The Information Centre . 2010. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/webfiles/Services/NCASP/audits%20and%20reports/National_Diabetes_Audit_Executive_Summary_2008_2009.pdf

The King's Fund & Nuffield Trust. Integrated care for patients and populations: improving outcomes by working together - A report to the Department of Health and the NHS Future Forum. The King's Fund . 2012. Accessed on 3-11-2014. Available from: URL: http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-patients-and-populations-improving-outcomes-working-together

Themessl-Huber, M., Humphris, G., Dowell, J., Macgillivray, S., Rushmer, R., & Williams, B. 2008, Audio-visual recording of patient-GP consultations for research purposes: a literature review on recruiting rates and strategies, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 71(2), p.157-168.

Thorne, S. E. & Paterson, B. L. 2001, Health care professional support for self-care management in chronic illness: insights from diabetes research, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 42(1), p.81-90.

Toerien, M. 2014, Conversations and Conversation Analysis, in *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis*, U. Flick, ed., Sage, London, p.327-340.

Towle, A. & Godolphin, W. 1999, Framework for teaching and learning informed shared decision making, *BMJ*, 319(7212), p.766-771.

Townsend, P. & Davidson, N. 1988a, *Inequalities in Health: the Black Report* Penguin Books, London.

Townsend, P., Phillimore, P., & Beattie, A. 1988b, *Health and Deprivation: Inequality in the North* Croom Helm, London.

Tuckett, D. & Boulton, M. O. C. W. A. 1985, *Meetings between experts: an approach to sharing ideas in medical consultations.* Tavistock Publications, London.

Tudor Hart, J. 1971, 'The inverse care law', *Lancet*, 7696 p.405-412.

Unwin, N., Binns, D., Elliott, K., & Kelly, W. F. 1996, The relationships between cardiovascular risk factors and socio-economic status in people with diabetes, *Diabetic Medicine*, 13(1), p.72-79.

van Dooren, F. E., Nefs, G., Schram, M. T., Verhey, F. R., Denollet, J., & Pouwer, F. 2013, Depression and risk of mortality in people with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis., *PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]*, 8(3), p.e57058.

Verlinde, E., De Laender, N., De, M. S., Deveugele, M., & Willems, S. 2012, The social gradient in doctor-patient communication, *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 11 p.12.

Waitzkin, H. 1985, Information giving in medical care, *Journal of Health & Social Behavior*, 26(2), p.81-101.

Walker, J. & Judson, J. C. 2011, Insulin pump provision in the UK: another national lottery, *Practical Diabetes*, 28(8), p.327-328.

Watkins, P. 2003, ABC of Diabetes, 5th edn, BMJ, London.

Weinger, K. & Leighton, A. 2009, Living with diabetes: the role of diabetes education, in *Educating your patient with diabetes*, Weinger K & Carver C, eds., Humana Press, Boston, MA, p.3-14.

Weinstock, R. S., Xing, D., Maahs, D. M., Michels, A., Rickels, M. R., Peters, A. L., Bergenstal, R. M., Harris, B., DuBose, S. N., Miller, K. M., Beck, R. W., & Clinic Network, D. E. 2013, Severe hypoglycemia and diabetic ketoacidosis in adults with type 1 diabetes: results from the T1D Exchange clinic registry, *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 98(8), p.3411-3419.

White, H. D., Goenka, N., Furlong, N. J., Saunders, S., Morrison, G., Langridge, P., Paul, P., Ghatak, A., & Weston, P. J. 2014, The UK service level audit of insulin pump therapy in adults, *Diabetic Medicine*, 31(4), p.412-418.

Whitehead, M. 1988, *The Health Divide* Pelican Books, London.

Whitehead, M. & Dahlgren, G. 1994, Why not now? action on inequalities in health, *European Journal of Public Health*, 4 p.1-2.

Whitehead, M., Evandrou, M., Haglund, B., & Diderichsen, F. 1997, As the health divide widens in Sweden and Britain, what's happening to access to care?, *BMJ*, 315((7114)), p.1006-1009.

Wikblad, K. F. 1991, Patient perspectives of diabetes care and education, *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 16(7), p.837-844.

Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R., & King, H. 2004, Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030, *Diabetes Care*, 27(5), p.1047-1053.

Wilkinson, A., Whitehead, L., & Ritchie, L. 2014, Factors influencing the ability to self-manage diabetes for adults living with type 1 or 2 diabetes, *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51(1), p.111-122.

Wilkinson, R. & Marmot, M. Social Determinants of Health: the Solid Facts. World Health Organisation . 2003. Accessed on 14-11-2014. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/social-determinants-of-health.-the-solid-facts</u>

Willems, S., De, M. S., Deveugele, M., Derese, A., & De, M. J. 2005, Socio-economic status of the patient and doctor-patient communication: does it make a difference?, *Patient Education & Counseling*, 56(2), p.139-146.

Williams, M. V., Baker, D. W., Parker, R. M., & Nurss, J. R. 1998, Relationship of functional health literacy to patients' knowledge of their chronic disease. A study of patients with hypertension and diabetes, *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 158(2), p.166-172.

Wolf, G., Busch, M., Muller, N., & Muller, U. A. 2011, Association between socioeconomic status and renal function in a population of German patients with diabetic nephropathy treated at a tertiary centre, *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 26(12), p.4017-4023.

Wood, J., Lin, M., Connor, C., Ruedy, K., Beck, R., Kollman, C., Buckingham, B., Redondo, M. J., Schatz, D., Haro, H., Lee, J., & Tamborlane, W. 2013, Race and socioeconomic status are associated with insulin pump therapy in youth in the first year following diagnosis of type 1 diabetes, *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics*, 15 p.A25-A26.

World Health Organisation. Health Promotion Glossary. World Health Organisation . 1998. Accessed on 15-4-2015. Available from: URL: http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/about/HPR%20Glossary%201998.pdf?ua=1

World Health Organisation & International Diabetes Federation. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia. Internal Diabetes Federation . 2006. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: http://www.idf.org/webdata/docs/WHO_IDF_definition_diagnosis_of_diabetes.pdf

World Medical Association. Declaration of Helsinki - Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. World Medical Association . 2008. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html.pdf?print-</u> <u>media-type&footer-right=[page]/[toPage]</u> Yin, H. S., Dreyer, B. P., Vivar, K. L., MacFarland, S., van, S. L., & Mendelsohn, A. L. 2012, Perceived barriers to care and attitudes towards shared decision-making among low socioeconomic status parents: role of health literacy, *Academic pediatrics*, 12(2), p.117-124.

Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory. Prescribing for diabetes in England - An update 2002-2008. Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory . 2009. Accessed on 23-11-2010. Available from: URL: www.yhpho.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=9711

Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory. Insulin Pump Audit Findings for England. Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory . 2010. Accessed on 20-9-2011. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.yhpho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=91531</u>

Zgibor, J. C. & Songer, T. J. 2001, External barriers to diabetes care: addressing personal and health systems issues, *Diabetes Spectrum*, 14(1), p.23-28.

Zgibor, J. C., Songer, T. J., Kelsey, S. F., Weissfeld, J., Drash, A. L., Becker, D., & Orchard, T. J. 2000, The association of diabetes specialist care with health care practices and glycemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes: a cross-sectional analysis from the Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications study, *Diabetes Care*, 23(4), p.472-476.

Zolnierek, K. B. & Dimatteo, M. R. 2009, Physician communication and patient adherence to treatment: a meta-analysis, *Medical Care*, 47(8), p.826-834.